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Introduction

This annual report of the Town of Merrimack has been compiled through the efforts of
your local public officials, to serve as a permanent record of the past year.

It is our hope that you find this report to be informative as well as readable. Many hours
of time and energy have been put toward the preparation of this report.

We would like to take this opportunity to thank all of the local Town officials who
provided the information which is contained within the covers of this report, for without

their efforts, there would be no report.

We welcome your questions and comments regarding any of the information contained
in this report. Please contact us or our staff at 424-2331.

The Merrimack Board of Selectmen

Norman V. Carr, Chairman
Fran L'Heureux, Vice-Chairman
Anthony Pellegrino
Nancy Gagnon
David W. McCray
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In Memory

(No Picture Available)

Elizabeth “Helen” Ahrens

Former Supervisor of the Checklist

1915 - 2002

Elizabeth “Helen” Ahrens, formerly of 25 Cathy Street, passed away on May 15, 2002 at
the age of 86. She was born in St. Albans, VT on April 11, 1915. Helen served as a
Supervisor of the Checklist for the Town of Merrimack from 1986 to 1992, plus she
served as the Treasurer for the Republican Women’s Club for a number of years.

Helen was also an exceptional seamstress.




In Memory

(No Picture Available)

Oscar E. Decato

Former Public Works Department Foreman

1932 — 2002

Oscar Decato of 34 Amherst Road passed away on May 25, 2002 at the age of 70. He
was born in Grafton, New Hampshire on March 30, 1832. He retired from the Town of
Merrimack where he worked as a foreman for the Public Works Department, an
equipment operator for Local 98 in Longmeadow, MA, and also a driver for Footer
Trucking and NE Chemical, both in Merrimack. Oscar joined the Merrimack Fire
Department as a call firefighter on August 8, 1960 and resigned in June of 1978. He
was an Army veteran, serving from 1952 — 1954 during the Korean conflict. Hewas a
life member and past commander of the American Legion Post 98 and the VFW Post
8641, both in Merrimack. Oscar was also a member and past commander of the Seam

Squirre! Military Order of the Puptent No. 1 Cooties.




John F. Pelletier

Chief of Police

1925 - 2002

John F. Pelletier, Merrimack’s first full-time Police Chief, passed away on September
15, 2002 at his home in Florida at the age of 77. John was born on June 2, 1925. He
was the Chief of Police in Merrimack from 1970 untii 1981. Updating the equipment
within the Police Department to the current technology was one of Chief Pelletier's
biggest achievements. John was a valuable asset to the community and will be greatly
missed.




In Appreciation

Joseph R. Devine
Chief of Police

1981 - 2002

Joseph R. Devine began working as the Police Chief for the Town of Merrimack on July
18, 1981. He came to us witha long history in law enforcement. His career began in
1956 as a Special Police Officer in Johnston, Rhode Island. By 1971 he had reached
the rank of Deputy Police Chief. In 1975 Chief Devine retired from the Johnston Police
Department and accepted the position of Chief of Police in St. Johnsbury, Vermont.
Before coming to work for the Town of Merrimack, Joe Devine served as Police Chief
for six years in Claremont, New Hampshire. Chief Devine gave 21 years of dedicated
service to the Town of Merrimack Police Department and is regarded as a true leader.
We would like to thank him and wish him a very long and enjoyable retirement.




In Appreciation

Ruth Liberty

Supervisor of the Checklist

1972 — 2002

Ruth first ran for Supervisor of the checklist in 1972 and was elected for her first six-
year term. She won re-election to the position every six years until her retirement in




In Recognition

EMT of the Year

Matt Pfeifer

vision in 1993 as a Youth Observer. In October 1995, be
that time he has served as Assistant Team Leader, Team
Leader, and Ambulance Officer. In the proposed reorganization of the EMS Division, he
became a Lieutenant. Matt has been instrumental in the reorganization of the Division,
working both to support the EMS Division members, and with administration to improve
the service to the residents of the community. Matt's employer, Saint-Gobain, also
recognized him for his volunteer efforts in serving his community.

Matt Pfeifer joined the EMS Di
became a full member. Since




In Recognition

) ‘_- J M"‘l"‘v.l_
). o

Fire Fighter of the Year

Danny Belanger

Danny Belanger joined the fire department in 1974. In 1986, he was promoted to
Master Firefighter. He has served as union president, vice president and Association
president. He coordinated the Boot Drive last year that raised over $12,000 for the City




In Recognition

Police Officer of the Year

Chief Joseph R. Devine
(Retired)

Police Chief Joseph R. Devine was honored with the Police Officer of the Year Award
for 2002. Under his leadership, the Merrimack Police Department has been able to
implement many community oriented programs which are of great benefit to the Town.
Some examples of these programs are Good Morning Merrimack, Officer Appraisal,
Merrimack Police Bicycle Patrol, and Elementary School Reading. All of which support
the Department goal of “Service to the Community”™. In addition, Chief Devine lead the
way to improved technology in the Department, including the use of laptop computers in
the patrol cars. Chief Devine retired in September 2002. We would like to thank him for
his 21 years of service to the Town of Merrimack and wish him well in his retirement.




Town of Merrimack
Employee Recognitions

The Town of Merrimack recognized the following employees in 2002 for their years of
dedicated service to the Town.

30 years of service
Becky Sullivan — Waste Water

25 years of service
James Taylor - Waste Water
Cecil Peters — Waste Water

20 years of service
Robert Levan - Finance
Charles Smith — Fire

15 years of service
Evelyn Gillis — Community Development
Mark Akerstrom - Fire

Richard Barrows - Fire

Marc Bechard - Fire

Gerard Beland - Fire

Norman Carr, Jr. — Fire

Bruce Cornelius - Fire

Thomas Kennedy - Fire

Carl Nelsen - Fire

Scott Simpson - Fire

David Trepaney - Fire
Suzanne Gerow - Highway
David Blaine — Waste Water
Lindsay Wilson — Waste Water

S years of service

Anna Chaput — Communications
Louis Lapointe —~ DPW

David Lent - DPW

Wayne Lombard - DPW

Richard Gagne - Fire

Sherry Kalish — Parks & Recreation
Janet Killpartrick — Town Clerk
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Town Meeting

March 5, 2002
Deliberative Session

The deliberative session of the Annual Town Meeting was convened at 7:15 p.m. in the All-
Purpose Room of the Mastricola Middie School on Baboosic Lake Road in Merrimack,

New Hampshire, with Town Moderator Lynn Christensen presiding. Moderator
Christensen led the Pledge of Allegiance and John Lyons led the invocation.

Moderator Christensen outlined the rules of the meeting and the procedures to be
followed. Moderator Christensen took a moment to recognize Tom Mahon and Ruth
Liberty for their many years of service to the Town. She noted that Tom is retiring from the
Budget Committee this year and Ruth is retiring from the Supervisors of the Checklist, a

position she has held for the past 30 years.

Chris Christensen, Chairman of the Board of Selectmen, introduced Board members Tony
Holevas, Tony Pellegrino, Vice Chairman Norman Carr, and Fran L'Heureux. He also
introduced Town Manager Dean Shankle and Town attorneys Steve Buckley and Dave

LeFevre.

Town Manager Dean Shankle introduced the Department Heads, Town Clerk/Tax
Collector Diane Pollock, Finance Administrator Robert Levan, Director of Community
Communications Heather Anderson, Police Chief Joseph Devine, Fire Chief Bill Pepler,
Public Works Director Chip Chesley, Community Development Director Jay Minkarah,
Administrative Assessor Anne Whitney, Library Director Janet Angus, Parks and
Recreation Director Michael Housman, and Welfare Director Pat Murphy.

Tom Mahon, Chairman of the Budget Committee, introduced the Budget Committee
members, Stanley Heinrich, Tom Koenig, Rosemary Robertson-Smith, Charles Hall, Karen
Laba, Ed Silva, Barbara Tucker, Tim Cahill, Richard Hinch, Robert Kelly, Norman Phillips,
ex-officio members Tony Peliegrino for the Selectmen, Davis Powell for the School Board,
and Bill Pock] for the Merrimack Village District, and Secretary Rita Carlton

Article 10. Passage of this article shall override the 10 percent limitation imposed on
this appropriation due to the non-recommendation of the Budget Committee. To see
if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $4,225,000 for the purchase of
approximately 563 acres of land to be used for conservation, open space, recreational
facilities and other allowable municipal purposes, said land being located westerly of
Naticook Road, southerly of Amherst Road, and northerly of Peaslee Road, including the
unbuilt subdivision known as Woodside Estates; to finance said sum by the issuance of
bonds or serial notes in accordance with the provisions of the Municipal Finance Act {RSA
33) and in an amount not to exceed $4,075,000, by the withdrawal of $150,000 from the
Land Use Change Tax Conservation Fund, and by any federal, state, or private grants that
may be made available in conjunction with said purpose, to authorize the Board of
Selectmen to issue, negotiate, sell, and deliver said bonds and notes and to determine the
rate of interest, the maturity, and other terms pertaining thereto; to authorize the Board of
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Selectmen to apply for and accept said grants of federal, state, and private aid; to
authorize the Board of Selectmen to take any other action or to pass any other vote
relative to said purpose and financing, including subdividing the land and Imposing
separate and distinct conservation limitations on portions of the land if so required by any
financing agency; and to raise and appropriate the sum of $96,188 for the purpose of
2002-03 interest on said bonds or serial notes. (60% ballot vote required)
(Recommended by the Board of Selectmen 4-0-0) (Not Recommended by the Budget
Committee 9-0-1)

Selectman Holevas moved to accept Article 10 as printed. Selectman Christensen
seconded the motion.

Debra Huffman, of 60 Amherst Road, spoke to the article stating that this piece of land
would be an enormous asset to the Town. She stated that grants have been recejved

Budget Committee Chairman Tom Mahon moved to accept Article 11 as printed.
Stan!ey Heinrich, of 31 Kearsarge Lane, seconded the motion.
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Chairman Mahon spoke to the article noting the article is the operating budget for the
Town. He noted that the budget contained contract settlements for two unions and had
very little changes other than personnel costs. He noted that the Budget Committee felt
that the Selectmen, Town Manager, and department heads exercised restraint in coming
forward with the budget. He noted that the largest impact on the budget was the increased
costs for health benefits, which saw a 39% increase. John Gibson, of 305 Baboosic Lake
Road, questioned account 01-15-8502 in the library budget asking if this was a library
building account and if surplus were available would it get transferred to this account. Pat
Heinrich, Library Trustee Chairman, clarified that this account is not for a new library
building; rather it is a line item placeholder in the budget in the event that anything needed
to be done to the building. John Gibson, of 305 Baboosic Lake Road questioned if there
was a capital reserve fund for building maintenance. Pat Heinrich, Library Trustee
Chairman, stated there was a capital reserve fund for the building of a new library only.
Tom Mahon, Budget Committee Chairman noted that the account in question was strictly a

maintenance account.

A motion was made by Heidi Doyon, of 20 Back River Road, to amend Article 11 as
follows: To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate as an operating
budget, not including appropriations by Special Warrant Articles, the amounts set
forth on the budget posted with the Warrant, less $102,001, with the express intent
that this deduction be taken out of account 01-15-8502, and 01-15-8510, namely the
library building account and the library capital reserve fund account, leaving as the
total operating budget $21,373,021. Should this article be defeated, the operating
budget shall be $19,977,200, which is the same as last year, with certain
adjustments required by previous action of the Town, or by law, or the governing
body may hold one special meeting in accordance with RSA 40:13, X and XVI, to
take up the issue of a revised operating budget only. Doris Foss, of 55 Wilson Hill
Road, seconded the motion.

Moderator Christensen informed the body that the wording of this article is prescribed by
law and cannot be changed. She stated that she would accept the motion as amending
the line items in the operating budget. Heidi spoke to the amendment stating she had two
concerns. One concern was that the account could be used for a new library building and
the other concern was that the library capital reserve funds are appropriated in different
places in the warrant. Library Trustee John Buckiey, of 3 Gerard Drive, spoke against the
amendment and clarified that there is a line item in the operating budget for a capital
reserve fund with two sub-accounts. One is for $2000.00 for roof maintenance and the
other is $100,000 to fund the previously established capital reserve fund for a new library
building. He noted that this is the fourth year the capital reserve fund for a new library has
been funded this way. He noted that it is a small amount of money to put aside for building
of a new library, and is intended for savings to jower future building costs. David McCray,
of 18 Trowbridge Drive, spoke against the amendment stating the importance of saving for
a new library. He noted that the Library Trustees have worked hard at trying to fund the
library in small increments as prior Town Meetings have shown that paying for it all at once
was not the will of the Town. Carol Lang, of 4 Greenwood Road, spoke against the
amendment stating that putting money into the capital reserve fund will lessen the tax
impact to build a future library. Arthur Stockhausen, of 41 Fairway Drive, spoke in
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opposition of the amendment stating that capital reserve funds are an economical way to
build for the future. Ray Swonger, of 6 Klara Drive, spoke in opposition of the amendment

when the building of a new library started to become an issue. He noted that it is common
practice to fund capital reserve funds in this manner. John Segedy, of 2 Wheeler Street,
spoke in support of the amendment stating he supports the library, believes in capital
reserve funds, but has a problem with capital items being in the operating budget.

Moderator Christensen announced she had received a request for a secret ballot
vote on the amendment. The results of the secret ballot vote were 73 yes, 238 no.
The amendment faiied.

Moderator Christensen explained that this motion would allow all landfill issue articles to be
discussed together, in the order that they appeared on the warrant.

Moderator Christensen called for vote on the motion, The motion passed.

Article 12. To see if the Town will vote to appropriate $2,100,000 for the acquisition of land
in an industrial or commercial zone of Merrimack, for the construction and equipping of a
new solid waste disposal facility on that land, and for related site improvements; to raise
said sum without taxation by a withdrawal from General Fund surplus; and, in
consideration of the pending closure of the landfill, to rescind Article 17 of the 1988 Town
Meeting, which created the Solid Waste Disposal Revenue Fund, and to transfer to the
General Fund all monies in said revenue fund at June 30, 2002. This is a special Warrant
Article per RSA 32:3, VI, reflecting an appropriation that will not lapse until the earlier of
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the completion of the project or June 30, 2004. If you support the construction of a transfer
station at a site other than the present landfill site, vote for this article and vote for Article
14. if you support the construction of a transfer station at the present landfill site, vote
against this article and vote for Article 14. If you support the curbside pickup of residential
solid waste and the continued use of the existing recycling facility at the present landfill
site, vote against this article and vote against Article 14. If you support the curbside pickup
of residential solid waste and the construction of a recycling facility at a site other than the
present landfill site, vote for this article and vote against Article 14. (Recommended by the
Board of Selectmen 5-0-0) (Not Recommended by the Budget Committee 9-4-0)

Selectman Christensen moved Article 12 as printed. Selectman L'Heureux second
the motion.

Selectman Christensen spoke to the article explaining that the intent of the article is to buy
a new site in an industrial/commercial zone, build a disposal facility on that site, and move
money from the special revenue fund (tipping fees) into the General Fund so that the $2.1
million dollars can be expended without impact on the tax rate. He noted the many
advantages to another location, such as the Mast Road area, are: that area has a low
traffic flow; the proximity to exit 10 and the F.E. Everett Turnpike will reduce traffic in
residential areas and truck traffic on Route 3; the proximity to the proposed Circumferential
Highway would reduce the distance to other competing disposal sites; and it would be a
better location for exportation of recyclables or municipal waste by rail. He noted that land
at the existing landfill could be freed up for other future purposes. He also noted that the
article is tied to Articte 14 and should be considered in context with Article 14. Norman
Phillips, of 18 Edward Lane, guestioned the funding mechanism noting that if both Articles
12 & 14 passed the amount approved would be more than the surplus amount. Selectman
Christensen explained that $2.1 million would be the extent of funding for this year
because of the 10% rule limitation and that the approval of Article 14 would be locked at as
guidance for how to proceed in the future. He noted that the votes on Articles 12 & 14 are
needed to give the Board of Selectmen a sense of direction. Dan Belanger, of 75
Baboosic Lake Road, spoke in support of the article stating that it was time to move to an
industrial zone or this issue will continue to impact Lawrence Road residents.

John Segedy, of 2 Wheeler Street, made a motion to remove the words “without
taxation” from Article 12. Evan Fulmer, of 36 Shelburne Road, seconded the motion.

David McCray, of 18 Trowbridge Drive, spoke in support of the amendment stating he felt
the money in the fund was from taxation, and leaving the wording there would be
misleading. Carol Lang, of 4 Greenwood Road, stated she agreed with the intent of the
amendment and expressed concern that if the wording “without taxation” is removed,
people may believe that new additional taxes will be raised to fund this article.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the amendment. The amendment failed.
Carol Lang, of 4 Greenwood Road, asked for clarification of the 10% rule and asked if

Articles 12 and 14 both passed, could Article 14 be funded. Selectman Christensen noted
that if both articles passed, Article 14 could not be funded. Carol Lang, of 4 Greenwood
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currently the Town is collecting minimal taxes on the property.
Article 13. To see if the Town of Merrimack will vote to appropriate $1,575,000 without

taxation for the construction and equipping of a solid waste disposal transfer station in an
industrially zoned area at the site of the toxic waste Super fund cleanup off of Wright

completion of the project or June 30, 2004, By Petition. (Not Recommended by the Board
of Selectmen 5-0-0) (Not recommended by the Budget Committee 13-0-0)

Mark Parker, of 49 Lawrence Road, moved Article 13 as printed. Mark Fitzgerald, of
77 Lawrence Road, seconded the motion.
amounts in the article to zero, thus voiding the article. Tom Mahon, of 31 Naticook

Road, seconded the motion.

Moderator Christensen called for vote on the amendment. The amendment passed.
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Article 14. To see if the Town will vote: to appropriate $1 /575,000 for the construction and
equipping of a solid waste disposal transfer station; to raise said sum without taxation by a
withdrawal from General Fund surplus; and, in consideration of the pending closure of the
landfill, to rescind Article 17 of the 1988 Town Meeting, which created the Solid Waste
Disposal Revenue Fund and to transfer to the General Fund all monies in said revenue
fund at June 30, 2002. Thisisa Special Warrant Article per RSA 32:3, VI, reflecting an
appropriation that will not lapse until the earlier of the completion of the project or June 30,
2004. if you support the construction of a transfer station at the present landfill site, vote
for this article and vote against Article 12. if you support the construction of a transfer
station at a site other than the present landfill site, vote for this article and vote for Article
12. If you support the curbside pickup of residential solid waste and the construction of a
recycling facility at a site other than the present landfill site, vote against this article and
vote for Article 12. If you support the curbside pickup of residential solid waste and the
continued use of the existing recycling facility at the present landfill site, vote against this
article and vote against Article 12. (Recommended by the Board of Selectmen 5-0-0) (Not

recommended by the Budget Committee 10-2-1)

Selectman Christensen moved Article 14 as printed. Selectman Carr seconded the
motion.

Selectman Christensen spoke to the article stating that the article was put forward in
combination with Article 12. He stated that if this article passed, the vote would be an
authorization to go forward with the transfer station concept. If the article failed, the Town
would have to do something else and Article 12 would be the determining factor for
location. He noted that because of the 10% Rule, if Article 12 and Article 14 passed no
money would be appropriated for this article this year. If Article 12 failed and this article
passed then this article could be funded and the project could go forward.

Susan Suprenant, of 69 Lawrence Road, moved to amend Article 14 as follows: To
see if the town will vote to appropriate $1 ,575,000 for the construction and

equipping of a solid waste disposal transfer station; to raise said sum without
taxation by a withdrawal from General Fund surplus; and, in consideration of the
pending closure of the landfill, to rescind Article 17 of the 1988 Town Meeting, which
created the Solid Waste Disposal Revenue Fund and to transfer to the General Fund
all monies in said revenue fund at June 30, 2002. Passage of this article to be
contingent on passage of Article 12. This is a Special Warrant Article per RSA 32:3,
VI, reflecting an appropriation that will not lapse until the earlier of the completion of
the project or June 30, 2004. Mark Fitzgerald, of 77 Lawrence Road seconded the

motion.

Susan Suprenant, of 69 Lawrence Road, spoke to the amendment stating that there were
100 acres of land at the 1andfill site that could be utilized for recreational purposes, and
that this would open up this parcel of land for the Town. Carol Lang, of 4 Greenwood
Road, spoke against the amendment stating she sympathizes with the Lawrence Road
residents but she believed the voters need a choice and she would like to see the original
wording put forward to the voters. Muriel Lortie, 51 Lawrence Road, spoke in support of
the amendment stating she wants a transfer station in a commercialfindustrial area. She
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reviewed her experiences and expressed frustration of living on the ‘dump road”. Pamela
Fitzgerald, of 77 Lawrence Road, spoke in favor of the amendment citing concerns with
infrastructure issues in placing a transfer station on Lawrence Road. Roy Swonger, of 6
Klara Drive, spoke against the amendment stating that it removes choice from voters,
changes the meaning of article, and puts the article in conflict with the wording of Article
12. Mark Fitzgerald, of 77 Lawrence Road, spoke in support of the amendment stating
that during the public hearings on this issue a consistent theme has been that a transfer
station should not be on Lawrence Road. Norman Phillips, of 18 Edward Lane, spoke in
support of the amendment stating that the transfer station should not be on Lawrence
Road and the choice for a transfer station on Lawrence Road should not be put forward.
David McCray, of 18 Trowbridge Drive, spoke in support of the amendment stating that a
transfer station doesn't belong on Lawrence Road. Janine Lawrence Winer, of 61
Lawrence Road, spoke in support of the amendment stating that Lawrence Road residents
were originally told the dump was temporary and this should be moved to another location.
Ken Coleman, of 39 Gail Road, spoke in support of the amendment stating that it clarifies

residents were originally were told that dump was a short-term solution for trash needs,
and this will fulfill the Town's commitment of a short term solution. Alex Frueauf, of 24
Maidstone Drive, spoke in support of the amendment stating that it would clarify the
choices to the voters. Mark Parker, of 49 Lawrence Road, spoke in support of the
amendment and addressed infrastructure needs should a transfer station be put on
Lawrence Road. Mitsy Frueauf, of 24 Maidstone Drive, spoke in support of the
amendment stating it was inappropriate to put the Lawrence Road option forward to the

voters.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the amendment. The amendment
passed.

Roy Swonger, of 6 Klara Drive, moved to reconsider Article 12. The audience
seconded the motion. Moderator Christensen called for vote on the request to
reconsider Article 12. The motion passed.

Roy Swonger, of 6 Klara Drive, moved to amend Article 12 to strike the advisory
language off of the end of the article so that the Article would read: To see if the
Town will vote to appropriate $2,100,000 for the acquisition of land in an industrial
or commercial zone of Merrimack, for the construction and equipping of a new solid
waste disposal facility on that land, and for related site improvements; to raise said
sum without taxation by a withdrawal from General Fund surplus; and, in
consideration of the pending closure of the landfill, to rescind Article 17 of the 1988
Town Meeting, which created the Solid Waste Disposal Revenue Fund, and to
transfer to the General Fund all monies in said revenue fund at June 30, 2002. This
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is a special Warrant Article per RSA 32:3, VI, reflecting an appropriation that will not
lapse until the earlier of the completion of the project or June 30, 2004. Ed Silva, of

51 Meetinghouse Road, seconded the motion.

Tom Werst, of 5 Forsythia Lane, spoke against the amendment stating he felt not all of the
verbiage needed to be removed. Norm Phillips, of 18 Edward Lane, spoke in support of
the amendment noting that the intent was to provide clean verbiage to voters on the ballot

and felt that this amendment would do this.

. Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the amendment. The amendment
passed.

Tim Tenhave, of 25 Souhegan Drive, moved to restrict reconsideration on Articles 12
and 14. Bob L’Heureux, of 94 Back River Road, seconded the motion.

Moderator Christensen called for vote on the motion. The motion passed.

Article 17. To see if the Town will vote to amend Chapter 138 of the Code of the Town of
Merrimack entitied “Solid Waste Facility”. The following amendment shall replace the
existing Section 138-4, Section D, in its entirety.

138-4. Fees

D. The Board of Selectmen of the Town of Merrimack shall have the authority to revise
the fees charged under this chapter and to impose fees charged, per ton, per trip,
per bag, by a user fee system (such as “pay per bag program”) or by such other
means they should deem appropriate, including the authority to charge and impose
fees for the disposal of solid waste requiring special handling. Before the adoption
of any such revised fee schedule or before the imposition of fee collection for the
special handling of certain materials, the selectmen shall hold a public hearing and
they shall publish a notice of any fee changes in a newspaper of general circulation
in the town at least thirty days prior to the implementation of any changes or the
implementation of a new fee schedule for the special handling of certain materials.

Selectman Pellegrino moved Article 17 as printed. Selectman Christensen
seconded the motion.

Selectman Pellegrino spoke to the article noting that the Town Code currently allows a fee
to be charged to commercial haulers, without this change to the ordinance, the Town
would not be able to implement a fee to residential customers for a program such as Pay-
as-You-Throw. Public Works Director Chip Chesley spoke to the article noting that it
authorizes the Selectman to set up a program such as Pay-As-You-Throw. Tom Mahon,
of 31 Naticook Road, spoke in support of the article noting it made economical sense to be
able to offset trash disposal costs. Norman Phillips, of 18 Edward Lane, spoke in support
of the article. Wayne Morrison, of 42 Maidstone Drive, spoke in support of the article
stating he felt it would encourage recycling; however, he also felt that it would encourage
illegal dumping as a result of people having to pay to dispose of trash. Pamela Fitzgerald,
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of 77 Lawrence Road, spoke in support of article as it allows a choice, noting that people
will choose their disposal costs by determining what they will throw away vs. recycling.
Tom Mahon, of 31 Naticook Road, stated that communities that have gone to a Pay-As-
You-Throw program have experienced no change in the amount of illegal dumping. He

illegal dumping was not a problem. Arthur Stockhausen, of 41 Fairway Drive, stated he is
against the article and Pay-as-You-Throw. Kim Smith, of 8 Marty Drive, supports the
article and Pay-as-You-Throw stating that increased recycling reduces trash disposal fees
and revenues are realized by recyclables. Mark Parker, of 49 Lawrence Road, stated he
would support Pay-As-You-Throw if recycling would support it.

Don Chisholm, of 55 Bates Road, moved to restrict reconsideration of Article 10.
Mark Fitzgerald, of 77 Lawrence Road seconded the motion. '

Moderator Christensen called for vote on the motion. The motion passed.

Stan Heinrich, of 31 Kearsarge Lane, moved to restrict reconsideration of Article 11.
Mark Fitzgerald, of 77 Lawrence Road, seconded the motion.

Moderator Christensen called for vote on the motion. The motion passed.

Norman Phillips, of 18 Edward Lane, moved Article 32 as printed. The audience
seconded the motion.

Norman Phillips, of 18 Edward Lane, spoke to the article stating there were economic
benefits of curbside. He presented cost figures from other communities as a comparison
of what expected costs would be if this were implemented in Town.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the amendment. The show of cards was
too close to call, and Moderator Christensen called for a hand count. The
amendment failed.
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Roy Swonger, of 6 Klara Drive, moved to amend Article 32 as follows: To see if the
Town will vote to direct the Board of Selectmen to institute weekly curbside pickup
of trash and curbside recycling. Pamela Fitzgerald, of 77 Lawrence Road, seconded
the motion.

Roy Swonger, of 6 Klara Drive, spoke to the amendment stating that the original article
was restrictive and retained the Lawrence Road site. Dennis King, of 10 Derry Street,
spoke in opposition of amendment stating his concern that if the transfer station article
failed, and this article passed there would be a problem with disposal of bulky items and
yard wastes.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the amendment. The amendment failed.

David McCray, of 18 Trowbridge Drive, spoke in support of article stating it provided an
option to the voters. Nat Fairbanks, of 5 Sandhill Drive, spoke in opposition of the article
explaining his past experiences with curbside collection. He noted concerns with animals
getting into the trash and garbage being strewn in the streets.

Dennis King, of 10 Derry Street, made a motion to amend Article 32 as follows: to
see if the Town will vote to direct the Board of Selectmen to institute weekly
curbside pickup of trash and curbside recycling, and continue the drop-off facility in
its present site on Lawrence Road for yard waste and other bulky items as is now
done for all Merrimack residents; approval of this article rendering invalid any
article approving a transfer station with the purchase of industrial land. Ed Silva, of
51 Meetinghouse Road, seconded the amendment.

Dennis King, of 10 Derry Street, spoke to the amendment noting that since Articles 12 and
14 were linked he felt this would clear up any confusion over the choices presented.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the amendment. The amendment failed.

Bob Hamm, of Jefferson Drive, made a motion to amend Article 32 as follows: To
see if the town will vote to direct the Board of Selectmen to institute weekly
curbside pickup of trash and curbside recycling and establish a drop-off facility in
an industrially zoned location for yard waste and other bulky items as is now done
for all Merrimack residents rendering invalid any article approving a transfer station.
Ed Silva, of 51 Meetinghouse Road, seconded the amendment.

Bob Hamm, of 10 Jefferson Drive, spoke to the amendment stating that the change would
place the drop-off location in an industrial location rather than on Lawrence Road. Norman
Phillips, of 18 Edward Lane, spoke against the amendment noting that it was contingent on
Article 12 being passed. Mark Parker, of 49 Lawrence Road spoke in support of the
amendment noting it would eliminate the issue of trash collection in a residential area.
Dennis King, of 10 Derry Street, spoke in opposition of the amendment stating that existing
space should be used. Mark Fitzgerald, of 77 Lawrence Road, spoke against the
amendment stating that a common sense approach would be to use the existing site for
bulky drop off items. Chuck Mower, of 4 Depot Street spoke against the amendment
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noting that curbside pickup and maintenance of the drop-off site on Lawrence Road is the
common sense solution. He noted that not enough information on has been presented on
the issues.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the amendment. The amendment failed.

Stanley Heinrich, of 31 Kearsarge Lane, made a motion to suspend this meeting and
take up the discussion of Article 32 as the first item on the agenda on Thursday
evening. Pat Heinrich, of 31 Kearsarge Lane, seconded the motion.

The meeting recessed at 11:15 PM.
The Deliberative Session was re-convened on Thursday, March 7, 2002 at 7:08 PM.

Selectman Christensen spoke to the article noting that the number of attempts to amend
the article showed that the body was troubled by this article. He also stated that there is a
conflict with the language that renders other articles invalid. Norman Phillips, of 18
Edward Lane, noted that the phrase is in the article as a warning so that if the voters want
a transfer station they should not vote for Article 32. Bruce Parker, of 14 Iris Drive,
questioned if this was a binding article. Town Manager Dean Shankle noted that attorney
opinion was that since there is no funding tied to the article, if it passed it would not be able
to be implemented this year. It would direct the Selectman to study the issue and make a
proposal next year. Arthur Stockhausen, of 41 Fairway Drive, spoke against the article
stating that it was too restricting.

Arthur Stockhausen, of 41 Fairway Drive, made a motion to amend Article 32 as
follows: To see if the Town will vote to give the Board of Selectmen a choice to
offer weekly curbside pickup of trash via either a private contractor or a choice of
approved vendors and/or to develop a plan to purchase land, build and maintain a
transfer/recycling center for bulk waste, yard waste, in an industrial center other
than the Lawrence Road site. Evan Fulmer, 36 Shelburne Road, seconded the
motion.

Arthur Stockhausen, of 41 Fairway Drive, spoke to the amendment stating that it gives the
Board of Selectmen choices to research for an alternative to the trash solution. Roy
Swonger, of 6 Klara Drive, spoke against the amendment stating that this amendment
would start the whole process over. Dennis King, of 10 Derry Street, spoke against the
amendment stating that the Lawrence Road site should be left as an option for drop-off of
yard wastes and bulky items. Carolyn Whitlock, of 239 Baboosic Lake Road, spoke
against the amendment stating that it made no sense to start the process over again as
the Solid Waste Advisory Committee has spent years trying to create a plan for the landfill
closure. Mark Fitzgerald, of 77 Lawrence Road, spoke against the amendment stating the
bulky items and yard wastes should go on Lawrence Road. Carol Lang, of 4 Greenwood
Road, spoke against the amendment stating that it does not offer clarification of the issues
to the voters. David McCray, of 18 Trowbridge Drive, spoke against the amendment
stating that the original wording gave the voters a clear choice. Chuck Mower, of 4 Depot
Street, spoke against the amendment stating that the original article gave a clear choice
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and should go forward for vote. Pamela Fitzgerald, of 77 Lawrence Road, spoke in
opposition of the amendment stating that itis confusing and the original article gives voters

a choice and should go forward.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the amendment. The amendment failed.

Carol Lang, of 4 Greenwood Road, moved to amend Article 32 as follows: To see if
the Town will vote to direct the Board of Selectmen to institute weekly curbside
pickup of trash and curbside recycling, and continue the drop-off facility in its
present site on Lawrence Road for yard waste and other bulky items as is how done
for all Merrimack residents. You should not vote for this article if you want a
transfer station to be built. Norman Phillips, of 18 Edward Lane, seconded the

amendment.

Caro! Lang, of 4 Greenwood Road, spoke to the amendment stating that was being put
forth as compromise and that the advisory note should clear up the choice issues on this
matter. Tom Tyrrell, of 84 Bean Road, spoke in support of the amendment stating that the
choices are clear and the voters will understand the choices. Selectman Carr spoke in
support of the amendment stating that it cleared up the choice issue. Norm Phillips, of 18
Edward Lane, stated he supported the amendment. Roy Swonger, of 6 Klara Drive, spoke
against the amendment stating that the original article was clear and this amendment did
not clarify the issues. He stated that if all articles passed or failed there would be no clear
direction of the will of voters. Carol Lang, of 4 Greenwood Road, stated that the reason
she proposed the amendment was due to concern over an article invalidating another
article and the possibility of ending up in court over that issue. Mark Fitzgeraid, of 77
Lawrence Road, stated that he supported the amendment. Evan Fulmer, of 36 Shelburne
Road, spoke in support of the amendment noting it would aliow the Lawrence Road site to
continue to be used for a drop-off facility. Selectman Pellegrino spoke in support of the
amendment stating that it wouid allow a choice to the voters. Ed Silva, of 51
Meetinghouse Road, spoke in support of the amendment, and also noted that he was
concerned about how solid waste information had been brought to the public.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on amendment. The amendment passed.

David McCray, of 18 Trowbridge Road, moved to restrict reconsideration on Article
13. Chuck Mower, of 4 Depot Street, seconded the motion.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the motion. The motion passed.

Ed Silva, of 51 Meetinghouse Road, made a motion to restrict reconsideration of
Article 32. Stan Heinrich, of 31 Kearsarge Lane, seconded the motion.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the motion. The motion passed.




Article 15. Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $350,000 to be added
to the Library Construction Capital Reserve Fund? By Petition. (Recommended by the
Library Board of Trustees) (Recommended by the Board of Selectmen 4-0-1)
(Recommended by the Budget Commiittee 11-1-0)

Library Trustee John Buckley moved to accept Article 15 as printed. Pat Heinrich,
of 31 Kearsarge Lane, seconded the motion.

Library Trustee John Buckley spoke to the article stating that this would fund the existing
Library Construction Capital Reserve Fund and is part of a muiti-year strategy for funding a
new library. This article is similar to other articles presented during the past four years.

Dennis King, of 10 Derry Street, made a motion to amend the article to change the
amount from $350,000 to $200,000. Tom Tyrrell, of 84 Bean Road, seconded the
motion.

Ed Silva, of 51 Meetinghouse Road, spoke against the amendment stating that the article
is consistent with those presented in the past, and is part of the plan in place for a new
library. Stan Heinrich, of 31 Kearsarge Lane, spoke against the amendment stating that
this fund is for a savings account, noting that the Town has overwhelmingly supported
these accounts in past. Carolyn Whitlock, of 239 Baboosic Lake Road, spoke against the
amendment as she felt the original amount was reasonable. Library Trustee John Buckley
spoke against the amendment stating that the amount of money requested this year is less
than the amount approved last year. He noted that this is a consistent funding source that
will stabilize the tax rate in long-term as it will reduce the total cost needed to build a new
library.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the amendment. The amendment failed.
Tom Koenig, of 1 Danforth Road, spoke against the article stating that the appropriate way
to pay for the library is through bonding.

Stan Heinrich, of 31 Kearsarge Lane, made a motion to restrict reconsideration of
Article 15. John Buckley, of 3 Gerard Drive, seconded the motion,

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the motion, The motion passed.

Library Trustee John Buckley moved Article 16 as written. Pat Heinrich, 31
Kearsarge Lane, seconded the motion.

-24.




Library Trustee John Buckley spoke to the article stating that this will allow any surplus
monies from the current fiscal year to be placed into the capital reserve fund and that this
article is similar to those presented in prior years.

stan Heinrich, of 31 Kearsarge Lane, made a motion to restrict reconsideration on
Article 16. John Buckley, of 3 Gerard Drive, seconded the motion.

Moderator Christensen called for a2 vote on the motion. The motion passed.

Article 18. To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Selectmen to enter into a Land
Management Agreement to construct a public boat access facility on the Merrimack River
in Merrimack, New Hampshire, Tax Map Parcel 4D-1/10, with the New Hampshire Fish
and Game Department, acting through the Office of the Attorney General. The Land
Management Agreement shall he recorded at the Hillsborough County Registry of Deeds,
pursuant to which, the State shall be responsible for the construction, repair and
replacement of any capital improvements to the boat access facility, and the Town shall be
responsible for the management, operation and maintenance of the boat access facility.
The Town shall retain full ownership and control of the boat access facility, subject to the
covenant and restriction that usage of the boat access facility may not be restricted to
Town residents. (Recommended by the Board of Selectmen 5-0-0)

Selectman Carr moved Article 18 as printed. Selectman Christensen seconded the
motion.

Selectman Carr spoke to the article noting that the Town has limited access to the
Merrimack River via the existing boat ramp, which is mainly washed out, and that it would
be difficult to get other access to the river on the Merrimack side because of this
preexisting boat ramp. He noted that it would be an advantage to allow the Town to enter
into an agreement with the State to build a new boat ramp facility. Representative Robert
L'Heureux, of 94 Back River Road, spoke to the article stating that the boat ramp is
dilapidated and in need of repair. Itis the only access to launch powerboats on both the
Merrimack and Litchfield sides of the river between Nashua and Bedford. He stated it
would be the second key step taken by the Town to develop river front property as a
recreational area. The first step was when the Town replaced the bridge on the property.
He stated that it would be an advantage to the Town as well as the Fish and Game
Department as Fish and Game will construct a boat ramp and parking area in exchange for
the Town allowing them to use the area. All construction costs would be paid by the State
except for the daily maintenance, which would the Town's responsibility. Ed Silva, of 51
Meetinghouse Road, stated he supported the article. He also noted there is some
expense involved such as road improvements that are in this year's budget. Dennis King,
of 10 Derry Street, questioned if there would be an area for picnic tables at this riverfront
area. Selectman Carr responded that there would be an area available, and he aiso noted
that the proposal is handicapped accessible. Roy Swonger, of 6 Klara Drive, stated he
supported the article. He expressed a concern with traffic and signating. Parks and
Recreation Committee Chairman Janet Cormier, of 29 Walnut Circle, stated that the
committee supported the article and has a master plan proposal for the development and
utilization of the area.




Article 19. To see if the Town will vote to adopt the provisions of RSA 41:14-a, and to
authorize the Board of Selectmen to acquire or sell Town owned land, buildings, or both.

Selectmen to acquire or sell Town owned land or buildings, or both. Currently, such a
Proposed sale or acquisition is required to be presented to the legislative body at Town
Meeting. Under RSA 41:14-a, such a proposed sale or acquisition would be submitted to
the Planning Board and Conservation Commission. Following the receipt of the
recommendation of the Board and Commission, the Selectmen shall hold two public
hearings, at least 14 days apart, on the proposed sale or acquisition. The selectmen shall
then vote on the proposed sale or acquisition between 10 and 14 days after the second
public hearing. In the event that a written petition signed by 50 registered voters is

sale of certain Town owned conservation land, Town forest and real estate which has been
given, devised, or bequeathed to a Town for charitable or community purposes.

Selectman Carr moved Article 19 as printed. Selectman Christensen seconded the
motion.

Selectman Carr spoke to the article noting that a recent law was passed which allows
towns to purchase land between town meetings. The intention of the law is to aid towns
with the purchase of land if and becomes available and the sale would not wait until town

Article 20. To see if the Town will vote to deposit one hundred percent ( 100%) of the
revenues of all future payments collected by the Town pursuant to RSA 79-A (the Land
Use Change Tax) in the Conservation F und in accordance with RSA 36-A: 5 1il as

Selectman Christensen moved Article 20 as printed. Selectman L'Heureux
seconded the motion.

Conservation Commission Chairman Mike Burke, of 8 Hawthorne Road, spoke to the
article stating it will give funding for conservation purposes. He stated 87 municipalities in
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the State have all or some of the current use tax going to the Conservation Commission to
be used to preserve and protect open spaces, and the Commission is requesting funding
to do the same thing here. Ed Silva, of 51 Meetinghouse Road, spoke in support of the
article noting that should Article 10 fail there could be a substantial amount of money going
to conservation not the general fund. Debra Huffman, of 60 Amherst Road, spoke in
support of the article stating the importance of conserving open space.

Article 21. To see if the Town will vote to discontinue that portion of Ries Drive
northeasterly of the southwesterly boundary of Tax Map Parcel 7D/281. A turn-around
shall be constructed by the Town as shown on the plan entitled “Minor Subdivision Plan,
Map 7D Lot 281", prepared for Arnold and Claire Ries, by Granite State Surveying, dated
October 23, 1998, recorded at the Hillsborough County Registry of Deeds as Plan #29950
and at the Town of Merrimack Community Development Department as Plan #268A.

Once completed, said turn-around shall demarcate the limits of the Town maintained

portion of the remainder of Reis Drive.

Selectman L’Heureux moved Article 21 as written. Selectman Christensen
seconded the motion.

Selectman L'Heureux spoke to the article noting that it is to discontinue a portion of Ries
Drive. This portion represents a small piece of land that the Ries’ had given to build a road
where a turnaround was needed. The turnaround has been built and the Ries’ would like

to have their piece of land back.

Article 22. To see if the Town will vote to adopt the following ordinance regulating the sale
of fireworks:

1. Purpose; Statutory Authority.

This chapter is enacted by the legislative body of the Town of Merrimack for the
protection and preservation of the health, safety and welfare of the general public as
authorized pursuant to RSA 160-B: 10 and RSA 160-C:6.

2. Definitions.

As used in this Chapter, the following term(s) shall have the meanings indicated:

FIREWORKS — Any composition or device designed to produce a visible or audible
effect by combustion, deflagration, or detonation as defined by RSA 160-B:1 and
RSA 160-C:1. Fireworks shall include all fireworks, including but not limited to,
“consumer fireworks,” “disptay fireworks,” or “permissible fireworks” as defined by
RSA 160-B:1 and RSA 160-C:1. Fireworks shall not include auto flares, party
poppers, sparklers, paper caps containing an explosive content of .25 grain (16.2
mg) or less, and toy pistols, guns, canes of other devices for use of such caps, the
sale and use of which shall be permitted at all times.




PERSON - Any natural person, corporation, unincorporated association or other
legal entity, including that person’s agents, legal representatives, heirs, and/or
successors and assigns.

DISPLAY ~ The use, explosion, activation, ignition, discharge, firing of a firework as
defined by RSA 160-B:1.

SALE - To sell, give, or transfer to another, with or without consideration, as
defined by RSA 160-B:1 and RSA 160-C:1.

3. Sale of Fireworks.

Pursuant to RSA 160-B:10 and RSA 160-C:6, the sale of fireworks within the Town
of Merrimack shall be prohibited.

4. Disposal of Unfired Fireworks.

The Fire Chief shall be authorized to seize, take, remove or cause to be removed,
at the expense of the owner, all fireworks possessed or offered for sale in violation of this
Chapter.

5. Compliance with Other Laws; Conflicting Provisions

6. Penalties.

Any person who violates the provisions of this Chapter, in addition to the penalties
set forth in RSA §160-B:1 et seq. and RSA §160-C:1 et seq., shall be subject to civil fines
and penalties not to exceed $1 ,000.00 for each offense.

Selectman Pellegrino moved Article 22 as written. Selectman L’Heureux seconded
the motion.

John Segedy, of 2 Wheeler Street, made a motion to amend section four to read: The
Fire Chief shall be authorized to seize, take, remove or cause to be removed, at the
expense of the owner, all fireworks offered for sale in violation of this Chapter.
Dennis King, of 10 Derry Street, seconded the motion.
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John Segedy, of 2 Wheeler Street, spoke to the amendment stating that section four gave
the Fire Chief discretion to prevent ownership of fireworks. He noted his concern over the
word “possession” as a person may have fireworks for their own use. He noted that this
amendment would allow someone who purchased fireworks for their own use to be able to
do so. Town Manager Dean Shankle noted that the intent of the article was to prohibit the
storage of fireworks that are intended for sale. Fire Chief Bill Pepler noted that the goal of
the article was to restrict the possession of fireworks for sale.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the amendment. The amendment failed.

John Segedy, of 2 Wheeler Street, moved to amend section four to read: The Fire
Chief shall be authorized to seize, take, remove or cause to be removed, at the
expense of the owner, all fireworks possessed for or offered for sale in violation of
this Chapter. Dennis King, of 10 Derry Street, seconded the motion.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the amendment. The amendment
passed.

Stanley Heinrich, of 31 Kearsarge Lane, questioned the definition of sale in section two of
the ordinance. He expressed concern that if someone purchased fireworks, and then gave
them to someone else to use, they could be in violation of this ordinance as the definition
listed is to “give or transfer with or without consideration”. Fire Chief Bill Pepler stated that
it was the intent of the article to prohibit the sale of fireworks.

Stanley Heinrich, of 31 Kearsarge Lane, moved to amend section two of the
ordinance to remove the words “give or transfer to another with or without
consideration” and have a new sentence that would read to sell as defined by RSA
160-B:1 and RSA 160-C:1. Debra Huffman, of 60 Amherst Road seconded the

motion.

Stanley Heinrich, of 31 Kearsarge Lane, spoke to the amendment stating he felt it clarified
the issue and would altow for fireworks to be given away as the intent is to prohibit selling
of fireworks. Chief Pepler noted that he supported the change if it clarified the issue.
David Blake, of 93 Wilson Hill Road, questioned if the new definition of sale conflicted with
the definition in the RSA’'s. Roy Swonger, 6 Klara Drive, spoke against the amendment
stating that the original wording should be kept as it refers directly to the RSA. Dennis
King, of 10 Derry Street, spoke against the amendment stating that the RSA language as
defined could defeat the purpose of the language if the RSA contained the same wording.

Moderator Christensen postponed discussion of this article so that the RSA
definition could be found and discussed with the body.

Article 23. Shall we modify the elderly exemptions from property tax in the Town of
Merrimack, based on assessed value, for qualified taxpayers, to be as follows: fora
person 65 years of age up to 75 years, $75,000; for a person 75 years of age up to 80
years $100,000; for a person 80 years of age or older, $125,000. To qualify, the person
must have been a New Hampshire resident for at least 5 years, own the real estate
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individually or jointly, or if the real estate is owned by such person's spouse, they must
have been married for at least 5 years. In addition, the taxpayer must have a net income
of not more than $25,000 or, if married, a combined net income of less than $35,000; and -
own net assets not in excess of $50,000, excluding the value of the person’s residence.

Selectman L’Heureux moved Article 23 as written. Selectman Christensen
seconded the motion.

Selectman L'Heureux spoke to article stating that it is to raise the amounts for the elderly
exemption to assist the elderly in town.

John Rosa, of 169 Baboosic Lake Road made a motion to amend Article 23 to
increase the net assets not in excess of $100,000. Dennis King, of 10 Derry Street,
seconded the motion.

John Rosa, of 169 Baboosic Lake Road, spoke to the amendment stating that there are a
lot of elderly in town with antique items that they can not make a lot of money on that are
considered assets under this law. Susan Suprenant, of 69 Lawrence Road, spoke in favor
of the amendment noting that she felt the asset limitations were low. Ed Silva, of 51
Meetinghouse Road, spoke against the amendment as he felt the limits were too low and
asked for another motion to increase the amount. Dennis King, of 10 Derry Street, spoke
in support of the amendment.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the amendment. The amendment
passed.

Susan Suprenant, of 69 Lawrence Road, made a motion to amend the article to
change the $100,000 amount to $200,000. Ed Silva, of 51 Meetinghouse Road,
seconded the motion.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the amendment. The amendment
passed.

Norman Phillips, of 18 Edward Lane, questioned the effect on the tax rate if this passed.
Selectman Christensen responded that there is no way of predicting how many more
people would qualify for the exemption.

Dennis King, of 10 Derry Street, made a motion to amend the net income dollar
amounts from $25,000 to $35,000 and from $35,000 to $45,000. Sandy Russell, of 12
Bellaire Drive, seconded the motion.

Dennis King, of 10 Derry Street, spoke to the amendment stating that it would allow more
people to qualify for this exemption.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the amendment. The amendment
passed.
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Article 24. Shall we modify an exemption for the disabled? The exemption, based on
assessed value, for qualified taxpayers shall be $75,000. To qualify, the person must have
been a New Hampshire resident for at least five (5) years and own and occupy the real
estate individually or jointly, or if the real estate is owned by a spouse, they must have
been married for at least five (5) years. In addition, the taxpayer must have a net income
of not more than $25,000 or, if married, a combined income of not more than $35,000; and
own net assets not in excess of $50,000 excluding the value of the person’s residence. By

Petition.

Carlene Everly, of 15 Kimberly Drive, moved Article 24 as written. Selectman
L’Heureux seconded the motion.

Carlene Everly, of 15 Kimberly Drive, spoke to the article noting that it would increase the
qualification limits to provide property tax relief to the disabled.

Selectman Christensen made a motion to amend the amounts in this article from
$25,000 to $35,000 and from $35,000 to $45,000, and net assets to $200,000 to be
consistent with the amount approved in the prior article. Selectman L’Heureux
seconded the motion.

Norman Phillips, of 18 Edward Lane, questioned the definition of disabled. Carlene Everly,
of 15 Kimberly Drive, noted that it is the definition as defined by the Social Security
Administration. Selectman Christensen noted that this exemption is already in place in
Town, and that intent of the article is to increase the limits.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the amendment. The amendment
passed.

Article 25. Are you in favor of prohibiting the Town of Merrimack from creating,
developing, building, or rebuilding a new solid waste or hazardous waste disposal,
collection, incinerator, or transfer site in any residentially zoned area of Merrimack?
Whereas “solid waste” shall mean any garbage, trash, refuse, metal goods, tires,
demolition and construction waste, yard waste, full or partial animal carcass, medical,
sludge from a wastewater treatment plant, or other discarded materials, possessing no
value to the producer in its present form where it is located, produced by normai
residential, commercial and industriat activities, or recyclable materials, but does not
include hazardous waste.

Whereas “hazardous waste” shall mean any solid, semi-solid, liquid, or contained gaseous
waste, or any combination of these wastes, which because of its quantity, concentration, or
physical, chemical or infectious characteristics may: (a) cause, or significantly contribute
to an increase in mortality or an increase in serious irreversible, or incapacitating reversible
iliness: and (b) pose a substantial present or potential hazard to human health or the
environment when improperly treated, stored, transported, or disposed of, or otherwise
manage, or any waste classified as hazardous at any time under applicable laws and
regulations of the United States, New Hampshire, and Vermont or any subdivision thereof
pursuant to a valid grant of authority. By Petition.

-3%-




Mark Fitzgerald, or 77 Lawrence Road, moved Article 25 as printed. Roy Swonger,
of 6 Klara Drive seconded the motion.

Mike Burke, of 8 Hawthorm Road, moved to amend Article 25 to add the words “ or
hazardous substances” after the words “hazardous waste” in the second line, and
in the second paragraph after the word “mean” add “those substances as defined
by the US Environmental Protection Agency and the US Department of
Transportation and include” and the rest of the article would remain. Arthur
Stockhausen, of 41 Fairway Drive, seconded the motion.

Moderator Christensen called for vote on the amendment. The amendment passed.

Dennis King, of 10 Derry Street, questioned if curbside was instituted and there was no
transfer station would this article prohibit the disposal of metal goods and tires at the
current disposal site as the amended article could be interpreted that way. Selectman
Christensen agreed and noted that this is in conflict with Article 32.

Dennis King, of 10 Derry Street, moved to amend the article as follows: to add “with
the exception of the current solid waste handling facility” after the word
“Merrimack” in the first sentence. Ed Silva, of 51 Meetinghouse Road, seconded the

motion.

Mark Fitzgerald, of 77 Lawrence Road, spoke against the amendment stating it could
invalidate what has previously been done during the meeting. Roy Swonger, of 6 Klara
Drive, spoke against the amendment stating it would undo everything that has been done
and would not prohibit a site on Lawrence Road. Mark Parker, of 49 Lawrence Road,
spoke against the amendment stating it would allow a facility on Lawrence Road and it
treated residential areas differently against hazardous wastes. Ed Silva, of 51
Meetinghouse Road, spoke in favor of the amendment, as the intent is to give the voters a
choice between curbside pickup with a recycling center and a white goods drop off location
at the Ferron Road site. Ted Parmenter, of 48 Valleyview Drive, spoke in support of the
amendment stating it addressed the issue of drop off items that may need to temporarily
be moved during the closure of the landfill. Alex Frueauf, 24 Maidstone Drive, spoke
against the amendment stating it undid everything that had been done at the meeting and
would allow for a facility on Lawrence Road.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the amendment. The amendment failed.

Stan Heinrich, of 31 Kearsarge Lane, moved to amend Article 25 as follows: Are you
in favor of prohibiting the Town of Merrimack from creating, developing, or building
a new solid waste or hazardous waste or hazardous substances disposal,
collection, incinerator, or transfer site in any residentially zoned area of Merrimack?
Selectman Christensen seconded the motion.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the amendment. The amendment
passed.
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Article 26. Are you in favor of prohibiting the Town of Merrimack from changing the zoning
designation of any residential area to either commercial or industrial area for the purpose
of creating, developing, building, or rebuilding a new solid waste or hazardous waste
disposal, collection, incinerator, or transfer site in the Town of Merrimack? By Petition.

Mark Parker, of 49 Lawrence Road, moved Article 26 as printed. Susan Suprenant,
of 69 Lawrence Road, seconded the motion.

Mark Parker, of 49 Lawrence Road, spoke to the article stating that it would create equal
protection of all neighborhoods in Town with regard to rezoning for waste disposal.
Selectman Carr noted that this was an illegal article, as zoning changes and procedures
are determined by statue. John Segedy, of 2 Wheeler Street, noted this was an illegal
question, as it did not follow the zoning process as established by statute. Planning Board
Chairman, Nelson Disco, noted that this was an illegal article, as it did not conform to the
ZONing process.

Nat Fairbanks, of 5 sandhiil Drive, made a motion to amend Article 26 to add text at
the end of the article stating uthis article is illegal, don’t vote for it”. Dennis King, of
10 Derry Street, seconded the motion.

Town Manager Dean Shankle noted that the article is advisory in nature and language
could be added explaining this. David McCray, 18 Trowbridge Road, spoke against the
amendment stating that there should be a better way to phrase the language.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the amendment. The amendment failed.

Nat Fairbanks, of 5 Sandhill Drive, moved to amend the article to add text to the end
of the article stating that the article is advisory only. Stan Heinrich, of 31 Kearsarge
Lane, seconded the motion.

Rosemary Rung, of 21 Ministerial Drive, spoke against the amendment stating that other
language could be used to clarify this issue. Selectman Christensen spoke in support of

the amendment noting that there are other articles similar in nature on the warrant and this
would provide for consistency in dealing with these articles.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the amendment. The amendment
passed.

Norman Phillips, of 18 Edward Lane, moved to amend Article 26 as follows: Are you
in favor of advising the Town of Merrimack to not change the zoning designation of
any residential area to either commercial or industrial for the purpose of creating,
building, or rebuilding a hew solid waste or hazardous waste disposal, collection,
incinerator, or transfer site in the Town of Merrimack. Rosemary Rung, of 21
Ministerial Drive, seconded the motion.
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Norman Phillips, of 18 Edward Lane, spoke to the amendment stating that it is a modified
version of the original article showing it is advisory. Selectman Carr spoke against the
article as it has the same intent as the amended version.

Moderator Christensen calied for a vote on the amendment vote. The amendment
failed.

Chuck Mower, of 4 Depot Street, moved Article 27 as follows: To see if the voters of
the Town of Merrimack will vote to direct the Board of Selectmen to establish a
multiple use recreational plan for the Ferron Road landfill area and closed area
available for such use. Norman Phillips, of 18 Edward Lane, seconded the motion.

Article 28. To see if the voters of the Town of Merrimack will vote to direct the Board of
Selectmen to adopt a formal code of ethics and public conduct. By Petition.

Chuck Mower, of 4 Depot Street, moved Article 28 as printed. David McCray, of 18
Trowbridge Drive, seconded the motion.

Chuck Mower, of 4 Depot Street, spoke to the article noting that many towns have adopted
a code of ethics for their selectmen and that consistent rules of behavior should be
adopted. Selectman Christensen spoke to the article hoting that severat communities
have such a code and it is often incorporated into the town code.

Rosemary Rung, of 21 Ministerial Drive, moved to amend the article to remove the
words “and public conduct”. Fran White, of 12 Surrey Lane Seconded the motion,

Rosemary Rung, of 21 Ministerial Drive, spoke to the amendment stating that the wording
“and public conduct” was too broad and was open for interpretation. She stated that public
officials shouldn't be held to that standard when they are in public acting as private
citizens. Dennis King, of 10 Derry Street, spoke in support of the amendment agreeing
that the public conduct portion was too broad.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the amendment. The amendment
passed.
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David Hackney, of 32 Lawrence Road, moved to restrict reconsideration on Article
25. There were numerous seconds from the audience.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the motion. The motion passed.

Stan Heinrich, of 31 Kearsarge Lane, moved to restrict reconsideration on any
article that previously has not been restricted and has been discussed. Dennis
King, of 10 Derry Street, seconded the motion.

Moderator Christensen called fora vote on the motion. The motion passed.

Article 29. To see if the voters of the Town of Merrimack will vote to direct the Board of
Selectmen to hereafter identify and refer to exit 12 as Reeds Ferry and erect appropriate
signage. By Petition.

Chuck Mower, of 4 Depot Street moved Article 29 as printed. Carolyn Whitlock, of
239 Baboosic Lake Road, seconded the motion.

Chuck Mower, of 4 Depot Street, spoke to the article noting that Reed's Ferry is a discrete
portion of the community and this will he!p to identify the heritage of this portion of town.
He also noted that many motorists think they are exiting in Bedford when they get off at
exit 12. Roy Swonger, of 6 Klara Drive, spoke against the article stating that exits are
identified by roads and didn't believe we had the right to change public signs on the
turnpike. Selectman L'Heureux questioned if the intent was to change the signs above the
tolibooth to read “Reed’s Ferry exit”. Chuck Mower, of 4 Depot Street, stated that he
wanted signage in the area of exit 12 that identifies the area as Reed's Ferry Village.
Article 30. To see if the voters of the Town of Merrimack will vote to direct the Board of
Selectmen to immediately adopt and exercise a format parliamentary process, for public
meetings, that has consistent rules of order. By Petition.

Chuck Mower, of 4 Depot Street moved Article 30 as printed. Carolyn Whitlock, of
239 Baboosic Lake Road seconded the motion.

Chuck Mower, of 4 Depot Street, spoke to the article stating that this would provide
consistent rules of order during public meetings.

Dennis King, of 10 Derry Street, moved to amend the article to change the word
«direct” to “suggest”. Arthur Stockhausen, of 41 Fairway Drive seconded the

motion.

Dennis King, of 10 Derry Street, spoke to the motion stating he liked the format of the
Selectmen’s meetings and the Selectmen should choose how they run their meetings.
David McCray, of 18 Trowbridge Drive, spoke against the amendment stating that the
original articie would provide for consistency during meetings. Town Manager Dean
Shankle advised the body that this article is advisory as the law allows the Board of
Selectmen to set their own rules.




Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the amendment. The amendment failed.

David McCray, of 18 Trowbridge Drive, moved Article 31 as printed. Mark Parker, of
49 Lawrence Road, seconded the motion.

David McCrary, of 18 Trowbridge Road, spoke to the article stating that the intent is to
apply any monies in excess of two million dollars in the General Surplus Fund toward the
operating budget of the new fiscal year, thus reducing taxes. Stan Heinrich, of 31
Kearsarge Lane, spoke against the article noting the variety of ways that surplus has been
used. He also noted that surplus is used to stabilize the tax rate. Town Manager Dean
Shankie noted that legai opinion was that the article is advisory in nature. Carol Lang, of 4
Greenwood Road, spoke against the article, as it is advisory, she also noted that the
amount was restrictive and may go against the DRA recommendation.

Carol Lang, of 4 Greenwood Road, moved to amend the article by changing the
wording “two million dollars” to the “minimum amount recommended by DRA”,
Dennis King, of 10 Derry Street, seconded the motion.

Dennis King, of 10 Derry Street, spoke in support of the amendment noting that surplus
has been used to stabilize the tax rate. Ed Silva, 51 Meetinghouse Road, spoke against
the amendment stating that DRA’s recommendation was advisory and he felt that two
million dollars was enough to keep in surplus. David McCray, of 18 Trowbridge Drive,
spoke against the amendment stating that having an amount in the article would be clearer
to the voters.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the amendment. The amendment failed.

Article 32. To see if the Town will vote to direct the Board of Selectmen to institute weekly
curbside pickup of trash and curbside recycling, and continue the drop-off facility in its
present site on Lawrence Road for yard waste and other bulky items as is now done for all
Merrimack residents; approval of this article rendering invalid any article approving a
transfer station or the purchase of industrial land. By Petition.

Article 33. Shall we rescind the provisions of RSA 40:13 (known as SB2), as adopted by
the Town of Merrimack on May 14, 1996, so that the official ballot will no longer be used
for voting on all questions, but only for the election of officers and certain other questions
for which the official ballot is required by state law? (60% Ballot Vote Required) By
Petition.

Dennis King, of 10 Derry Street, moved Article 33 as written. Carolyn Whitlock, of
239 Baboosic Lake Road, seconded the motion.
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Dennis King, of 10 Derry Street, spoke to the article noting some of the issues inherent
with SB2 such as the ability to zero out articles and a small minority of people attending
the deliberative session deciding the format of what will go on the ballot. He stated that
this article proposes to bring back the traditional town meeting process. David McCray, of
18 Trowbridge Drive, spoke in opposition of the article noting that most voters do not
attend town meetings, with SB2 they have an opportunity to vote. Rosemary Rung, of 21
Ministerial Drive, spoke in opposition of the article as it gives those that cannot attend the
meeting an opportunity to vote. Cecelia Anderson, of 49 Back River Road, stated she
opposed the article. Heidi Doyen, 20 Back River Road, spoke against the article stating
that it allows everyone the opportunity to vote. £d Silva, of 51 Meetinghouse Road, stated

he opposed the article.

Article 22 was revisited.

Attorney Jay Hodes stated that the definition of sale in the ordinance is the same definition
as in the RSA's.

Moderator Christensen called for a vote on the amendment. The amendment failed.

A motion to adjourn was made by Heidi Doyon, of 20 Back River Road. Stan
Heinrich, of 31 Kearsarge Lane, seconded the motion.

The meeting adjourned at 11:51 PM.




Town Meeting
April 9, 2002
Second Session

The second session of the Merrimack Town Meeting was held on April 9, 2002. The
following offices and questions were on the ballot:

Selectmen (3 Years) vote for one:

D.L. “Chris” Christensen 2684 votes
David W. McCray 3138 votes

David W. McCray was elected to the position of Selectman and was so declared.

Trustee of Trust Funds (3 Years) vote for one:
John “Jack’ Balcom 4853 votes

John “Jack” Balcom was elected to the position of Trustee of Trust Funds and was so
declared.

Budget Committee (3 Years) vote for four:

Stanley R. Heinrich 3624 votes
Thomas “Tom” Koenig 3795 votes
Rosemary Robertson-Smith 3787 votes
Finlay Rothhaus 2986 votes

Stanley R. Heinrich, Thomas “Tom” Koenig, Rosemary Robertson-Smith, and Finlay
Rothhaus were elected to the position of Budget Committee member and were so
declared.

Library Trustee (3 Years) vote for two:

Robert Bergin 2403 votes
John F. Buckley 3101 votes
Patricia Heinrich 3499 votes

John F. Buckley and Patricia Heinrich were elected to the position of Library Trustee and
were so declared.
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Moderator (2 Years) vote for one:

Lynn Christensen 4671 votes

Lynn Christensen was elected to the position of Moderator and was SO declared.

Supervisor of the Checklist (6 Years) vote for one:

Donald Botsch 2124 votes
Mary “Jane” Coelho 3036 votes

Mary “Jane” Coelho was elected to the position of Supervisor of the Checklist and was sC

declared.

Zoning Questions:

Article 2. Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 1, as proposed by the
Planning Board for the Town Zoning Ordinance as follows:

Amend Section 11.10 — Adoption of Life Safety Code, to adopt by reference the Life Safety
Code, NFPA-101, 2000 and amend Section 11.11 to adopt by reference the Fire

Prevention Code NFPA-1, 20007

1148 Yes
960 No

The question passed and was so declared.

Article 3. Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 2, as proposed by the
Planning Board for the Town Zoning Ordinance as follows:

Amend Section 1.03, Definitions, to clarify that frontage on the F.E. Everett Turnpike and
other limited access highways cannot be used to satisfy the minimum lot frontage

requirement?

4894 Yes
1060 No

The question passed and was s0 declared.

Article 4. Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 3, as proposed by the
Planning Board for the Town Zoning Ordinance, as follows:
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Amend Section 3.02 (A), Lot And Yard Regulations, to require that all principal residential
building and septic systems be located within the minimum, contiguous non-wetland area?

5067 Yes
985 No

The question passed and was so declared.

Article 5. Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 4, as proposed by the
Planning Board for the Town Zoning Ordinance, as follows:

Amend Section 2.02.1 A, District R-Permitted Uses and 2.02.1.B District R-Special
Exceptions to permit camouflaged telecommunication towers and co-location of

telecommunication antenna on non-tower structures by special exception in the residential
Zone, and to allow co-location of new antenna on existing telecommunication towers?

3543 Yes
2517 No

The question passed and was so declared.
Article 6. Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. S, as proposed by the
Planning Board for the Town Zoning Ordinance, as follows:

Amend Section 17.10, Signs-Commercial and Industrial Districts to require ground signs to
display the property address?

4545 Yes
1424 No

The question passed and was so declared.
Article 7. Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 8, as proposed by the
Planning Board for the Town Zoning Ordinance, as follows:

Amend Section 2.02.7, Wetlands Conservation District, to clarify the purpose and intent of
the Wetlands Conservation District?

5140 Yes
819 No

The question passed and was so declared.
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Article 8. Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 7, as proposed by the
Planning Board for the Town Zoning Ordinance, as follows:

Amend Sections 10.02 and 11.02 of the Zoning Ordinance and Building Code to increase
the maximum daily fine for local land use and building code violations from $100.00 to

$275.00 as provided in RSA 676:177

3895 Yes
2043 No
The question passed and was soO declared.

Article 9. Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 8, as proposed by the
Planning Board for the Town Zoning Ordinance, as follows:

Amend Sections 2.02.7, Wetlands Conservation District-Permitted Uses to clarify that the
Wetlands Conservation District includes wetlands, wetland soils and buffer areas as

defined in the ordinance?

4828 Yes
997 No

The question passed and was so declared.

Article 10. Passage of this article shall override the 10 percent limitation imposed on this
appropriation due to the non-recommendation of the Budget Committee. To see if the
Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $4,225,000 for the purchase of
approximately 563 acres of land to be used for conservation, open space, recreational
facilities and other allowable municipal purposes, said land being located westerly of
Naticook Road, southerly of Amherst Road, and northerly of Peaslee Road, including the
unbuilt subdivision known as Woodside Estates; to finance said sum by the issuance of
honds or serial notes in accordance with the provisions of the Municipal Finance Act (RSA
33) and in an amount not to exceed $4,075,000, by the withdrawal of $150,000 from the
Land Use Change Tax Conservation Fund, and by any federal, state, or private grants that
may be made available in conjunction with said purpose; to authorize the Board of
Selectmen to issue, negotiate, sell, and deliver said bonds and notes and to determine the
rate of interest, the maturity, and other terms pertaining thereto; to authorize the Board of
Selectmen to apply for and accept said grants of federal, state, and private aid; to
authorize the Board of Selectmen to take any other action or to pass any other vote
relative to said purpose and financing, including subdividing the land and imposing




separate and distinct conservation limitations on portions of the land if so required by any
financing agency; and to raise and appropriate the sum of $96,188 for the purpose of
2002-03 interest on said bonds or serial notes. (60% ballot vote required)
(Recommended by the Board of Selectmen 4-0-0) (Not Recommended by the Budget
Committee 9-0-1)

4196 Yes
2064 No

The question passed and was so declared.

Article 11. To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate as an operating budget,
not including appropriations by Special Warrant Articles, the amounts set forth on the
budget posted with the Warrant or as amended by vote of the first session, for the
purposes set forth therein, totaling $21 475,022. Should this Article be defeated, the
operating budget shall be $19,977,200, which is the same as last year, with certain
adjustments required by previous action of the Town or by law, or the governing body may
hold one special meeting in accordance with RSA 40:13, X and XV, to take up the issue of
a revised operating budget only. (Recommended by the Budget Committee 10-0-0)
(Recommended by the Board of Selectmen 4-0-0)

3717 Yes
2241 No

The question passed and was so declared.

Article 12. To see if the Town will vote to appropriate $2,100,000 for the acquisition of land
in an industrial or commercial zone of Merrimack, for the construction and equipping of a
new solid waste disposal facility on that land, and for related site improvements; to raise
said sum without taxation by a withdrawal from General Fund surplus; and, in
consideration of the pending closure of the landfill. to rescind Article 17 of the 1988 Town
Meeting, which created the Solid Waste Disposal Revenue Fund, and to transfer to the
General Fund all monies in sajd revenue fund at June 30, 2002. This is a special Warrant
Article per RSA 32:3, VI, reflecting an appropriation that will not lapse until the earlier of
the completion of the project or June 30, 2004. (Recommended by the Board of
Selectmen 5-0-0) (Not Recommended by the Budget Committee 9-4-0)

2783 Yes
3357 No

The question failed and was so declared.

-42 .




Article 13. To see if the Town of Merrimack will vote to appropriate $0.00 without taxation
for the construction and equipping of a solid waste disposal transfer station in an
industrially zoned area at the site of the toxic waste Super fund cleanup off of Wright
Avenue in the central part of Merrimack off of the Daniel Webster highway; to raise said
sum without taxation by a withdrawal from the General Fund Surplus, and for the Town to
acquire said site at virtually no cost to the taxpayer and to appropriate the sum of $0.00 for
potential site improvements from the General Fund Surplus without taxation. The $0.00
appropriation will provide the site, transfer station, and surroundings with monies to create
a pleasant as reasonably possible a transfer station site such that it does not become an
ugly and unsightly entity. In addition, trash haulers that remove the solid waste from the
transfer station will do so during non-peak hours as to have little impact on the Daniel
Webster vehicle traffic. In addition, to rescind Article 17 of the 1988 town meeting which
created the Solid Waste Disposal Revenue Fund and to transfer all monies in said revenue
fund to the General Fund at June 30, 2002. Said site will allow for the curbside pickup
trash hauling vehicles for such residents who wish to privately participate in that activity. If
you support this article, vote against article Article 14 which places a transfer station in a
residential area which is not recognized by the Solid Waste Advisory Committee (SWAC)
as a long term solution for the Town of Merrimack. This is a Special Warrant article per
RSA 32:3 VI, reflecting an appropriation that will not lapse until the earlier of the
completion of the project or June 30, 2004. By Petition. (Not Recommended by the Board
of Selectmen 5-0-0) (Not recommended by the Budget Committee 13-0-0)

2018 Yes
3816 No

The question failed and was so declared.

Article 14. To see if the Town will vote to appropriate $1,575,000 for the construction and
equipping of a solid waste disposal transfer station; to raise said sum without taxation by a
withdrawal from General Fund surplus; and, in consideration of the pending closure of the
landfill, to rescind Article 17 of the 1988 town meeting, which created the Solid Waste
Disposal Revenue Fund and to transfer to the General Fund all monies in said revenue
fund at June 30, 2002. Passage of this article to be contingent on passage of Article 12.
This is a Special Warrant Article per RSA 32:3, VI, reflecting an appropriation that will not
lapse until the earlier of the completion of the project or June 30, 2004. (Recommended
by the Board of Selectmen 5-0-0) (Not recommended by the Budget Committee 10-2-1)

2837 Yes
3329 No

The question failed and was s0 declared.




Article 15. Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $350,000 to be added
to the Library Construction Capital Reserve Fund? By Petition. (Recommended by the
Library Board of Trustees) (Recommended by the Board of Selectmen 4-0-1)
(Recommended by the Budget Committee 11-1-0)

3359 Yes
2951 No

The question passed and was so declared.

Article 16. Shall the Town transfer to the Library Construction Capital Reserve Fund from
any unencumbered surplus funds in the Library Operating Budget on hand at the end of
the fiscal year 2001-2002, $50,000 or 100% of the surplus, whichever amount is less? By
Petition. {Recommended by the Library Board of Trustees) (Recommended by the Board
of Selectmen 5-0-0) (Recommended by the Budget Committee 12-0-0)

4180 Yes
1983 No

The question passed and was so declared.

Article 17. To see if the Town will vote to amend Chapter 138 of the Code of the Town of
Merrimack entitled “Solid Waste Facility”. The following amendment shall replace the
existing Section 138-4, Section D, in its entirety.

138-4. Fees

D. The Board of Selectmen of the Town of Merrimack shall have the authority to revise the
fees charged under this chapter and to impose fees charged, per ton, per trip, per bag, by

2646 Yes
3285 No

The question failed and was so declared.
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Article 18. To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Selectmen to enter into a Land
Management Agreement to construct a public boat access facility on the Merrimack River
in Merrimack, New Hampshire, Tax Map Parcel 4D-1/10, with the New Hampshire Fish
and Game Department, acting through the Office of the Attorney General. The Land
Management Agreement shall be recorded at the Hillsborough County Registry of Deeds,
pursuant to which, the State shall be responsible for the construction, repair and
replacement of any capital improvements to the boat access facility, and the Town shall be
responsible for the management, operation and maintenance of the boat access facility.
The Town shall retain full ownership and control of the boat access facility, subject to the
covenant and restriction that usage of the boat access facility may not be restricted to
Town residents. (Recommended by the Board of Selectmen 5-0-0)

4732 Yes
1481 No

The question passed and was so declared.

Article 19. To see if the Town will vote to adopt the provisions of RSA 41:14-a, and to
authorize the Board of Selectmen to acquire or sell Town owned land, buildings, or both.
Once adopted these provisions shall remain in effect until specifically rescinded by the
Town at any duly warned meeting. Description: RSA 41:14-a authorizes a Board of
Selectmen to acquire or sell town owned land or buildings, or both. Currently, such a
proposed sale or acquisition is required to be presented to the legislative body at Town
Meeting. Under RSA 41:14-a, such a proposed sale or acquisition would be submitted to
the Planning Board and Conservation Commission. Following the receipt of the
recommendation of the Board and Commission, the Selectmen shalil hold two public
hearings, at least 14 days apart, on the proposed sale or acquisition. The Selectmen shall
then vote on the proposed sale or acquisition between 10 and 14 days after the second
public hearing. In the event that a written petition signed by 50 registered voters is
presented to the Selectmen prior to the Selectmen’s vote, the proposed acquisition or sale
shall instead be inserted as a warrant article and presented to the legislative body at Town
Meeting. The authority granted to selectmen under RSA 41:14-a does not extend to the
sale of certain town owned conservation land, town forest and real estate which has been
given, devised, or bequeathed to a town for charitable or community purposes.

2840 Yes
3030 No

The question failed and was so declared.



Article 20. To see if the Town will vote to deposit one hundred percent (100%) of the
revenues of all future payments collected by the Town pursuant to RSA 79-A (the Land
Use Change Tax) in the Conservation Fund in accordance with RSA 36-A: 51l as
authorized by RSA 79-A: 25 |I.

3959 Yes
1812 No

The question passed and was so declared.

Article 21. To see if the Town will vote to discontinue that portion of Ries Drive
northeasterly of the southwesterly boundary of Tax Map Parcel 7D/281. A turn-around
shall be constructed by the Town as shown on the plan entitled “Minor Subdivision Plan,
Map 7D Lot 281", prepared for Arnold and Claire Ries, by Granite State Surveying, dated
October 23, 1998, recorded at the Hillsborough County Registry of Deeds as Plan #29950
and at the Town of Merrimack Community Development Department as Plan #269A.

Once completed, said turn-around shall demarcate the limits of the Town maintained
portion of the remainder of Ries Drive.

3851 Yes
1439 No

The question passed and was so declared.

Article 22. To see if the Town will vote to adopt the following ordinance regulating the sale
of fireworks:

1. Purpose; Statutory Authority.

This chapter is enacted by the legislative body of the Town of Merrimack for the
protection and preservation of the health, safety and welfare of the general public as
authorized pursuant to RSA 160-B:10 and RSA 160-C-6.

2. Definitions.
As used in this Chapter, the following term(s) shall have the meanings indicated:

FIREWORKS ~ Any composition or device designed to produce a visible or audible
effect by combustion, deflagration, or detonation as defined by RSA 160-B:1 and
RSA 160-C:1. Fireworks shall include all fireworks, including but not limited to,
“‘consumer fireworks,” “display fireworks,” or “permissible fireworks” as defined by
RSA§160-B:1 and RSA 160-C:1. Fireworks shall not include auto flares, party
poppers, sparklers, paper caps containing an explosive content of .25 grain (16.2
mg) or less, and toy pistols, guns, canes or other devices for use of such caps, the
sale and use of which shall be permitted at all times.
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PERSON - Any natural person, corporation, unincorporated association or other
legal entity, including that person’s agents, legal representatives, heirs, and/or

successors and assigns

DISPLAY — The use, explosion, activation, ignition, discharge, firing of a firework as
defined by RSA 160-B:1.

SALE — To sell, give, or transfer to another, with or without consideration, as
defined by RSA 160-B:1 and RSA 160-C:1

3. Sale of Fireworks.

Pursuant to RSA 160-B:10 and RSA§160-C:6, the sale of fireworks within the Town of
Merrimack shall be prohibited.

4. Disposal of Unfired Fireworks.

The Fire Chief shall be authorized to seize, take, remove oOr cause to be removed,
at the expense of the owner, all fireworks possessed or offered for sale in violation of this

Chapter.

5. Compliance with Other Laws; Conflicting Provisions

The regulations set forth in this Chapter are to be read in the context of and in
concert with all applicable local, state and federal regulations. To the extent that these
regulations differ from other applicable local, state and federal regulations, the more

stringent regulations apply.
6. Penalties.

Any person who violates the provisions of this chapter, in addition to the penalties
set forth in RSA 160-B:1 et seq. and RSA 160-C:1 et seq., shall be subject to civil fines
and penalties not to exceed $1,000.00 for each offense.

3724 Yes
2230 No

The question passed and was so declared.

Article 23. Shall we modify the elderly exemptions from property tax in the Town of
Merrimack, based on assessed value, for qualified taxpayers, to be as foliows: fora
person 65 years of age up to 75 years, $75,000; for a person 75 years of age up to 80
years $100,000; for a person 80 years of age or older, $125,000. To qualify, the person
must have been a New Hampshire resident for at least 5 years, own the real estate




individually or jointly, or if the real estate is owned by such person’s spouse, they must

have been married for at least 5 years. [n addition, the taxpayer must have a net income
of not more than $35,000 or, if married, a combined net income of less than $45,000; and
own net assets not in excess of $200,000, excluding the value of the person'’s residence.

4660 Yes
1352 No

The question passed and was so declared.

Article 24. Shall we modify an exemption for the disabled? The exemption, based on
assessed value, for qualified taxpayers shall be $75,000. To qualify, the person must have
been a New Hampshire resident for at least five (5) years and own and occupy the real
estate individually or jointly, or if the real estate is owned by a spouse, they must have
been married for at least five (5) years. In addition, the taxpayer must have a net income
of not more than $35,000 or, if married, a combined income of not more than $45,000; and
own net assets not in excess of $200,000 excluding the value of the person’s residence.
By Petition.

4416 Yes
1677 No

The question passed and was so declared.

Article 25. Are you in favor of prohibiting the Town of Merrimack from creating,
developing, or building a new solid waste or hazardous waste or hazardous substances
disposal, collection, incinerator, or transfer site in any residentially zoned area of
Merrimack? By Petition.

3937 Yes
2176 No

The question passed and was so declared.

Article 26. Are you in favor of prohibiting the Town of Merrimack from changing the zoning
designation of any residential area to either commercial or industrial area for the purpose
of creating, developing, building, or rebuilding a new solid waste or hazardous waste
disposal, collection, incinerator, or transfer site in the Town of Merrimack? This article is
advisory in nature only. By Petition.

3911 Yes
2161 No

The question passed and was so declared.
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Article 27. To see if the voters of the Town of Merrimack will vote to direct the Board of
Selectmen to establish a multiple use recreational plan for the Ferron Road landfill area
and closed area available for such use. By Petition.

3513 Yes
2298 No

The question passed and was so declared.
Article 28. To see if the voters of the Town of Merrimack will vote to direct the Board of
Selectmen to adopt a formal code of ethics. By Petition.

4865 Yes
1145 No

The question passed and was so declared.
Article 29. To see if the voters of the Town of Merrimack will vote to direct the Board of

Selectmen to hereafter identify and refer to exit 12 as Reeds Ferry and erect appropriate
signage. By Petition.

3080 Yes
2874 No

The question passed and was so declared.

Article 30. To see if the voters of the Town of Merrimack will vote to direct the Board of
Selectmen to immediately adopt and exercise a formal parliamentary process, for public
meetings, that has consistent rules of order. By Petition.

4545 Yes
1417 No

The question passed and was so declared.



Article 31. To see if the voters of the Town of Merrimack will vote to direct the Board of
Selectmen at the end of each fiscal year to retain up to two million dollars in the total
General Surplus Revenue Fund for fiscal emergencies and to utilize all other
unencumbered surplus funds for providing property tax relief in the fiscal year next by
using the extra surplus to reduce the revenues needed to be raised by taxation. By
Petition.

4256 Yes
1646 No

The question passed and was so declared.

Article 32. To see if the town will vote to direct the Board of Selectmen to institute weekly
curbside pickup of trash and curbside recycling, and continue the drop-off facility in its
present site on Lawrence Road for yard waste and other bulky items as is now done for all
Merrimack residents. You should not vote for this article if you want a transfer station to be
buiit. By Petition.

2885 Yes
3175 No

The question failed and was so declared.

Article 33. Shall we rescind the provisions of RSA 40:13 (known as SB2), as adopted by
the Town of Merrimack on May 14, 1996, so that the official ballot will no longer be used
for voting on all questions, but only for the election of officers and certain other questions
for which the official ballot is required by state law? (60% Ballot Vote Required) By
Petition.

1348 Yes
4570 No

The guestion failed and was so declared.
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Vachon, Clukay & Co., PC

Certified Public Accountants

45 Market Street

Manchester, New Hampshire 03101 .
(603) 622-7070

FAX: 622-1452

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Board of Selectmen and Town Manager
Town of Merrimack, New Hampshire

We have audited the accompanying general purpese financial statements of the Town of
Merrimack, New Hampshire as of and for the year ended June 30, 2002, as listed in the table of contents.
These general purpose financial statements are the responsibility of the Town of Memmack, New
Hampshire's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these general purpose financial
statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the general purpose financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the general
purpose financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall general purpose financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

The general purpose financial statements referred to above do not inctude the financial statements
of the Generzal Fixed Asset Account Group which should be included in order to conform with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The amount that should be recorded in the
General Fixed Asset Account Group is not known.

In our opinion, except for the omission of the financial statements described in the third paragraph,
the general purpose financial statements referred to in the first paragraph present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the fund types and account groups of the Town of Merrimack, New
Hampshire as of June 30, 2002 and the results of its operations and the cash flows of its non-expendable
and pension trust fund types for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America.
Yooy (jﬂa U,

August 22, 2002




EXHIBIT A
TOWN OF MERRIMACK, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Combined Balance Sheet - All Fund Types and Account Groups

June 30, 2002
Fiduciary Account Totais
Governmental Fund Types Fund Types Group (Memorandum Only)
' Special Trust General Long- June 30,
ASSETS General Revenue & Apgency Term Debt 2002 2001
Cash and cash equivalents 3 6,427 s 16,853 $ 107,140 Y 130420 § 236,459
Equity in pooled cash and investrments 18,383,035 5,457,589 356,303 24,196,927 22,397,185
Investiments 105,258 15,773,581 15,878,339 14,718,757
Taxes receivable 7,869,324 7,869,324 7,240,453
Accounts receivable 630,990 1,382,082 9,434 2,022,506 2,046,536
Due from other governments 536,798 14,415 571,213 255,318
Prepaid expenditures 92,249 92,249 95,373
Ioventory 13,336 13,385 27,284
Due from other funds 457,688 226,465 684,153 812,621
Amount to be provided for retirement
of general long-term obligations $_ 8955990 8,955,990 9,896,546
Total Assets $ 23,009,897 $ 7188247 3 16,260,873 $ 8955990 3 60415007 $ 57,726,532
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
Accounts payable 3 247,820 S 90,009 s 337829 3 583,707
Accrued liabilities 322,420 322,420 520,798
Performance deposits 92,455 92,465 98,314
Retainage payable 34,603 29,277 63,830 63,730
Deferred revenue 21,583,205 123,784 21,706,989 19,452,704
Due to others 10,000 3 088,748 998,748 689,809
Due to other funds 143,037 541,116 684,153 812,621
General obligation debt pavable $ 4136249 4,136,249 4,723,905
Accrued compensated absences pavable 339,564 859,641 1,199,205 1,089,392
Estimated liability for tandfill closure and
postclosure care costs 3,960,100 3,960,100 4,345,165
Total Liabilites 22,630,077 386,107 1,529,864 8,955,950 33,502,038 32,380,145
Fund Balances:
Reserved for endowments 1,610,019 1,610,019 1,874,123
Reserved for encumbrances 870,333 80,863 951,196 709,054
Reserved for employees’ retirement 1,538,876 1,538,875 1,836,042
Unreserved: .
Designated 73,992 10,503,380 10,577,372 10,844,377
Undesignated 4,435,495 6,721,277 1,078,734 12235506 10,082,791
Total Fund Balances 3,379,820 6,802,140 14,731,009 - 26,912,969 25,346,387
Total Liabilities and Fund Balances S 28,000,897 $ 7188247 $ 16,260,873 $ 3955990 $ 60415007 $ 57,726,532

See notes to financial statements
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EXHIBIT B

TOWN OF MERRIMACK, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

All Governmental and Similar Trust Fund Types

For the Year Ended June 30, 2002

Revenues:
Taxes
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental revenues
Charges for services
Fines & forfeits
Miscellaneous revenues

Total Revenues

Expenditures:

Current:
General government
Public safety
Highways and streets
Health and welfare
Sanitation
Culture and recreation

Capital outlay

Debt service:
Principal of debt
Interest and fiscal charges

Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues Over
{Under) Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses):

Operating transfers in

Operating transfers out
Total Other Financing
Sources (Uses)

Excess of Revenues and Other

Sources Over Expenditures
and Other Uses

Fund Balances - July 1
Fund Balances - June 30

) Fiduciary Totals
Governmental Fund Types Fund Types (Memorandum Only)
Special Expendable June 30,
General Revenue Trust 2002 2001
$ 9,726,147 $ 245,935 $ 9,972,082 § 9,434,164
4,201,574 400 4,201,974 4,168,117
1,700,592 72,451 $ 326409 2,099,452 2,107,252
1,042,841 4,722,518 5,765,359 5,505,779
19,133 19,133 23,486
522,998 139,927 277,441 940 366 1.805.889
17,213,285 5,181,231 603,850 22,998,366 23,444 687
2,412,069 1,619 2,419,688 2,329,396
6,870,753 28,563 6,899,316 6,242,509
2,292,597 2,292,597 2,207,502
162,449 162,449 150,428
3,042,908 3,042,908 2,886,397
1,558,902 159,335 £,718,237 1,442,357
937,391 62,900 2,372,258 3,372,549 4,699,572
392,719 194,937 587,656 922,481
76,764 172,512 249,276 302,642
14,703 644 3,661,155 2,379,877 20,744,676 21,183,284
2,509,641 1,520,076 {1,776,027} 2,253,690 2,261,403
1,500 3,483,589 3,485,089 3,150,500
(3,435,089) (50,000) (3,485,089) (3,150,500)
(3,435,089) (48,500) 3,483,589 - -
(925,448) 1,471,576 1,707,562 2,253,690 2,261,403
6,305,268 5,330,564 8,795,818 20,431,650 18,170,247
$ 5,379,820 $ 6,802,140 $ 10,503,380 $ 22,685,340 £ 20,431,650

See notes to financial statements
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EXHIBIT D

TOWN OF MERRIMACK, NEW HAMPSHIRE

Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Balances
All Non-Expendable and Pension Trust Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2002

Totals
Non- (Memorandum Only)
Expendable Pension June 30,
Trust Trust 2002 2001
Operating Revenues:
Contributions $ 91,803 $ 91,803 $ 54,600
Investment loss $ (316,922) {129,238) {446,160) (114,846)
Miscellancous revenucs - - 21,168
(316.922) (37.435) (354,357 (39.078)
Operating Expenses 73,020 259,731 332,751 260,168
Net Loss (389.942) (297,166) (687,108) (299,246)
Fund Balances - July t 3,078,695 1,836,042 4,914,737 5,213,983
Fund Balances - June 3¢ $ 2.688,753 $ 1.518.876 $ 4227629 $ 4914737
EXHIBITE
TOWN OF MERRIMACK, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Cormbined Statement of Cash Flows
All Non-Expendable and Pension Trust Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2002
Totals
Nen- {Memorandum Only)
Expendable Pension June 30,
Trust Trust 2002 2001
Cash Flows from Operating Activitics:
Cash received from trust investments $ 36,837 $ 16,837 b 11,096
Cash paid in accordance with trust agreements $  (56,581) {10,534) (73.115) (88,723}
Other cash paid C 0 _gquesse)  __(legas)  (1356)
Net Cash (Used) by Operating Activities (56,581) (96,543) (153,124)  __ (109.983)
Cash Flows lrom Investing Activitics:
Interest on 1rust investments . 80,149 80,149 90,982
Net (increase) decrease in investment securitics 4,971 (5,894) (923) 54,448
Gain on investment transactions 5,300 (28,965) __ {(23,665) 20,613
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities %0420 (34839 55,561 166,043
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and
Cash Equivalents 33,839 (131,402) (97.563) 56,060
Cash and Cash Equivalents, July | 31,515 171,584 203,09% 147,039
Cash and Cash Equivalents, June 30 $ 65354 $ 40,182 $ 105536 $ 203009
Reconciliation of Net Operating Income to
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Net Operating Income (Loss} $ (389,942) § (297.166) § (687,108)  $ (299,246)
Less invesiment income 316,922 165,437 482,359 114 846
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Operating Income
1o Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:
Change in asscts and liabilities:
{Increasc) decrease in accrued interest receivable 638 638 (10,072)
Increase in due to other funds 16,439 34,548 50,987  __ B4.489
Net Cash (Used) $ (56581) § (96,543) § (1 53,124 3 (1 09,983}
Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing activities
Net increase (decrease) in fair value of investments $ (402332) § (136472) 3% (538.804) § 14,612

See notes 10 financial statemenls
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TOWN OF MERRIMACK, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2002

NOTE 1-SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Financial Reporting Entity

The Town of Merrimack, New Hampshire (the "Town") was incorporated in 1746. The Town operates
under the Town Meeting/Town Manager form of government and performs local governmental functions
authorized by State law.

The accompanying financial statements of the Town present the financial position of the various fund types
and account groups, the results of operations of the various fund types, and the cash flows for
non-expendable trust funds,

The financial statements include those of the various departments governed by the Board of Selectmen and
other officials with financial responsibility, including the Town Trustees of Trust Funds and the Trustees
of the Merrimack Public Library. The Town has no organizational units that meet criteria for inclusion in
the financial statements as defined by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board.

Fund Accounting

The accounts of the Town are organized on the basis of funds and account groups, cach of which is a
scparate accounting entity. The operations of each fund are accounted for with a separate set of
self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund balance, revenues, and expenditures/
expenses. The various funds are summarized by type in the financial statements.

Individual funds and account groups summarized in the financial statements are classified as follows:

Governmental Funds

General Fund - used to account for all revenues and expenditures that are not accounted for in other funds
or account groups.

Special Revenue Funds - used to account for specific restricted revenues and expenditures for various
purposes. The following funds have been accounted for as Special Revenue Funds:

Sewer Operating Fund Solid Waste Disposal Fund
Library Fine Fund Fire Protection Area Fund
Cable Television Fund Heritage Commission Fund
DARE Fund
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TOWN OF MERRIMACK, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

June 30, 2002

Fiduciary Funds

Assets held by the Town in a fiduciary capacity or as an agent for individuals, private organizations, and
other governmental units, and/or other funds for various purposes. Receipts and expenditures of each fund
are governed by statutes, local law, or the terms of the gift.

Trust Funds - Expendable Trust Funds are accounted for in essentially the same manner as governmental
funds. The non-expendable funds are accounted for and teported as proprietary funds since capital
maintenance is critical. These include non-expendable and pension trust funds.

Agency Funds - The School Agency Fund consists of capital reserve funds of the School District that are
held by the Town as required by State law, while the COPS Grant Agency Fund accounts for certain Police

grants.

Account Groups

Account groups are not funds; they do not reflect avaitable financial resources and related liabilities, but
are accounting records of general fixed asscts and general long-tenm obligations, respectively. The
following is a description of the account groups of the Town.

General Fixed Asset Account Group - The Town does not record the acquisition of fixed assets in the
General Fixed Asset Account Group, as required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. Fixed assets acquired or constructed for general government services are recorded as
expenditures in the fund making the expenditure. Funds used to acquire general fixed assets and/or debt
service payments on borrowings in connection therewith are accounted for as expenditures in the year
payments arc made.

General Long-Term Debt Account Group - used to record the outstanding long-term debt obligations of
the Town.

Basis of Accounting

The accrual basis is used for the non-expendable and pension trust funds. The measurement focus of these
funds is determination of net incomne, financial position and cash flows ("capital maintenance” focus).

Governmental funds utilize the modified accrual basis whereby revenues are recorded when susceptible to
accrual, i.e., both measurable and available. Available means collectible within the current period or soon
enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. Expenditures, other than interest on
long-term debt, are recorded when the liability is incurred, if measurable.

In applying the susceptible to acerual concept to intergovernmental revenues, the legal and contractual
requirements of the numerous individua! programs are used as guidance. There are, however, essentially
two types of revenues. In one, monies must be expended on the specific purpose or project before any
amounts will be paid to the Town; therefore, revenues are recognized based upon the expenditures
recorded.  In the other, monies are virtually unrestricted as to purpose of expenditure and are usually
revocable only for failure to comply with prescribed compliance requirements. These resources are
reflected as revenues at the time of receipt or earlier if the susceptible to accrual criteria arc met.




TOWN OF MERRIMACK, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
June 30, 2002

Licenses and permits, charges for services, and miscellaneous revenues (except investment eamings) are
recorded as revenues when received in cash because they are generally not measurable until actually
received. Investment earnings are recorded as earned, since they are measurable and available.

During the course of normal operations, the Town has transactions between funds, including expenditures
and transfers of resources to provide services, construct assets, and service debt. The accompanying
govemmental and fiduciary funds financial statements reflect such transactions as transfers.
Non-expendable trust funds report these transactions as revenues and expenses.

Total columns on the accompanying financial statements are captioned "Memorandum Only" to indicate
that they are intended to facilitate financial analysis. Interfund eliminations have not been made at arriving
at the data and it is not intended to present financial position, results of operations or cash flows in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Budgetary Data

The budget represents departmental appropriations as authorized by annual or special Town meetings. The
Selectmen may transfer funds between operating catcgories, as they deem necessary. The Town adopts its
budget under regulations of the New Hampshire Department of Revenue Administration that differ
somewhat from accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America in that the focus
is on the entire governmental unit rather than on the basis of fund types. Budgets for capital projects funds
are adopted in the year the project is authorized and may extend over multiple accounting periods.
Following is a reconciliation between the budget and the adopted budget as they are presented for
reporting purposes.

Total Appropriations Voted at

March 14, 2001 Town Meeting § 22315196
Supplemental Appropriations RSA 31:95b 899,211
Less nonmonetary items (313,652)
Timing Differences:

Continued Appropriations, June 30, 2001 141,559

Continued Appropriations, June 30, 2002 (30,000)
General Fund $ 18,733,554
Special Revenue Funds 4,028,760
Capital Projects Fund 250,000

Total 3 23012314

State law requires balanced budgets but permits the use of beginning budgetary basis fund balance to
reduce the property tax rate. For the year ended June 30, 2002, the Town applied $1,907,000 of its
unreserved/undesignated fund balance to reduce taxes.

Encumbrances
Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders and other commitments for the expenditure of

montes are recorded in order to reserve a portion of the applicable appropriation, is employed as an
extension of formal budgetary integration in Governmental Funds. Encumbrances outstanding at year-end
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TOWN OF MERRIMACK, NEW HAMPSHIRE
NOTES TO GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

June 30, 2002

are reported as a component of fund balance since they do not constitute expenditures or liabilities and are
detailed by fund type and function as follows:

Special
General Revenue
Fund Funds
Gereral government 3 42,596
Public safety 15,476
Highway and streets ' 47,677
Sanitation 3 68,199
Culture and recreation 1,323
Capital outlay 763,261 12,664

$ 870,333 5 80.863

Assets, Liabilities and Fund Equity

Investments — Monetary investments are stated at market value in all funds. The investment in land in the
non-expendable trust funds is stated at cost. Certificates of deposit with a maturity of greater than ninety
days from the date of issuance are included in investments.

Taxes Receivable - Taxes levied during the current fiscal year and prior years and uncollected at June 30,
2002 are recorded as receivables net of reserves for estimated uncollectibles of $40,752.

Inventory - The Town accounts for fuel and equipment repair parts under the consumption method on a
first-in, first-out basis. Inventories are recorded at cost.

Deferred Revenue - The Town has recorded deferred property tax revenues of $20,569,123 due July 1,
which is the first installment of 2002-2003 taxes. The Town has also deferred taxes of $407,475 that were
levied and not received within the sixty-day recognition period. Other deferred revenue consists of
receivables that will be recognized when earned.

Revenues, Expenditures and Expenses

Property Taxes - Taxes are levied on the assessed value of all taxable real property as of the prior April 1
($1,899,727,513 as of April 1, 2001) and are due in two installments on July 2 and December 3. Taxes
paid after the due dates accrue interest at 12% per annum.

The Town collects taxes for the Merrimack School District and Hillsborough County, independent
governmental units, which are remitted to them as required by law. The Town also collects State of New
Hampshire Education taxes, which are remitted directly to the school district. Taxes appropriated during
the year were $27,760,570 and $2,998,048 for the Merrimack School District and Hillsborough County,
respectively. These taxes are not recognized as revenues in these financial statements. The Town bears

responsibility for uncollected taxes.
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Under State law, the Tax Collector obtains tax liens on properties which have unpaid taxes in the calendar
year after taxes were due for the amount of unpaid taxes, interest and costs. These priority tax liens accrue
interest at 18% per annum. If the property is not redeemed within a two-year redemption petiod, the
property is tax deeded to the Town.

Accrued Vacation and Sick Leave - Employees eamn vacation and sick leave as they provide services.
Provision is made in the annual budget for vacation and sick leave. The total estimated value of
accumulated compensated absences at June 30, 2002 is $1,199,205. The current portiont of $339,564 has
been recognized in the general fund and the long-term portion of $859,641 has been recorded in the
General Long-Term Debt Account Group,

NOTE 2-STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Compliance with Finance Related Legal Provisions - The Town has no material violations of finance
related legal provisions.

NOTE 3—-RISK MANAGEMENT

The Town is exposed to various risks of losses related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. During the year ended June 30,
2002, the Town was a member of the New Hampshire Municipal Association Property-Liability Insurance
Trust, Inc. (NHMA-PLIT) and the New Hampshire Public Risk Management Exchange. The Town
currently reports all of its risk management activities in its General Fund. These Trusts are classified as
“Risk Pools” in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The Trust agreements permit the Trusts to make additional assessments to members should there be a
deficiency in Trust assets to meet its liabilities. Accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America require members of pools with a shaning of risk to determine whether or not such
assessment is probable and, if so, a reasonable estimate of such assessment. At this time, the Trusts
foresee no likelihood of an additional assessment for any of the past years.

Claims expenditures and liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount
of that loss can be reasonably estimated. These losses include an estimate of claims that have been
incurred but not reported. Based on the best available information there is nio liability at June 30, 2002.

New Hampshire Municipal Association Property-Liability Insurance Trust, Inc.

The NHMA-PLIT is a Trust organized to provide certain property and liability insurance coverages to
member towns, cities, and other qualified political subdivisions of New Hampshire. As a member of the
NHMA-PLIT, the Town shares in contributing to the cost of and receiving benefits from a self-insured
pooled risk management program. The program includes a Self Insured Retention Fund from which is
paid up to $500,000 for each and every covered property, crime and/or liability loss.
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New Hampshire Public Risk Management Exchange

PRIMEX was organized to provide statutory worker's compensation coverage to member towns, cities, and
other qualified political subdivisions of New Hampshire. The Trust is self-sustaining through annual
member premiums and provides coverage for the statutorily required workers' compensation benefits and
employer's liability coverage up to $1,000,000. The program includes a Loss Fund from which is paid up
to $300,000 for each and every covered claim.

NOTE 4—CASH AND INVESTMENTS

The Town maintains a cash and investment pool that is available for use of all governmental fund types
that under state law are in the custody of the Town treasurer. Each fund type's portion of this pool is
displayed on the combined balance sheet as "Equity in pooled cash and investments”. If a cash deficiency
oceurs it is recorded as an interfund balance. Investment earnings are allocated to each fund on the basis of
average monthly balances. The deposits and investments of the Library Trustees Fund, the Capital
Reserve and Insurance Expendable Trust Funds, the Non-expendable Trust Funds, the Pension Trust are
held separately from those of other Town funds.

The Town's deposit and investment policies arc governed by New Hampshire State law and wrtten
policies adopted by the Board of Selectmen. The policy for Govemnmental Fund Types requires that
deposits and investments be made in institutions that are participants in federal insurance programs. A
maximum of $2,000,000 may be invested without perfected collateral in any one bank. An unsecured
deposit or an investment of more than $100,000 must meet criteria set by the Board of Selectmen regarding
the bank's financial condition. Investments for other funds are at the discretion of the trustees of those
funds.

The Town participates in the New Hampshire Public Deposit Investment Pool, (NHPDIP) an external
investment pool. The NHPDIP is not registered with the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission as an investment company. NHPDIP was created by state law and is administered by a public
body of state, local and banking officials.

At year-end, the carrying amount of all the Town's cash deposits was $5,215,243 and the bank balance was
$4.255,586 all of which was insured or collateralized with securities held by an agent in the Town's name.

The Town's investments are categorized to provide an indication of the level of risk assumed by the Town
of Merrimack. Category 1 includes investments that are insured or registered or for which the securitics
are held by the Town or its agent in the Town's name. Category 2 included uninsured and unregistered
investments for which the securities are held by the broker’s or dealer's trust department or agent in the
Town's name. Category 3 includes uninsured or unregistered investments for which the securities are held
by the broker or dealer, or by its trust department or agent but not in the Town's name.
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Category Carrying

' 1 2 3 Amount
Government Securities $ 1,051,961 3 1,051,961
Corporate Bonds 3 258312 258,312
Corporate Stocks 2,845,817 2,845 817
Repurchase agreements : 14,666,773 14,666,773
: 3 15,718,734 3 3,104,129 3 - 18,822,863
Land 1,575
Mutual funds 920,861

Investments in New Hampshire Public

Deposit Investment Pool (NHPDIP) 15,245,644
Total Investments 34,990,943
Book value of cash and deposits 5,215,243
Total Cash and Investments , $ 40,206,186

Investments in mutual funds and NHPDIP are not investment securities and, as such, are not categorized
by risk.

NOTE 5-EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Defined Benefit Pension Plan

The Town has a non—contributory defined benefit pension plan for all non-union employees who are not a
member of another retirement plan, who have completed a year of service, worked 1,000 or more hours in
the plan year, and have attained the age of 21 (49 participants for the year ending June 30, 2002). The
Town makes actuarially determined annual contributions to the pension plan equal to amounts allowed by
the Internal Revenue Code (394,789 for the year ended June 30, 2002). Significant actuarial assumptions
are described below. Covered wages under the plan were $916,257 or 10% of total wages paid to all
employees of $9,425,052. Pension costs include current service costs, which are acerued and funded on a
current basis, and prior costs, which are amortized over ten years.

The pension plan provides pension and death benefits. A member may retire after reaching the age of 55
and five years participation in the plan. Benefits vest at 100% after 5 years of service. Employees who
retire at or after age 55 with 15 or more years of service are entitled to pension payments for the remainder
of their lives equal to 30% of their final five-year average compensation, reduced for less than 15 years of
service. The plan provides a death benefit equal to the present value of the deceased member's total
accrued benefit,

Contnbutions from the Town are recognized as revenue in the period in which employees provide services
to the Town. Investment income is recognized as earned by the pension plan. The net appreciation
(depreciation) in the fair value of investments held by the pension plan is recorded as an increase
(decrease) to investment income based on the market value of investments as of the date of the balance
sheet. (See Note 4 for investment composition). There are no investments with parties related to the
pension plan. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable. The Town includes pension
administrative costs in its annual operating budget
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The annual required contribution for the year ending June 30, 2002, of $94,789 was determined as part of
the July 1, 2001, actuarial valuation using the aggregate actuarial cost method, which does not identify or
separately amortize unfunded actuarial liabilities. Because of the Town’s contribution policy described
above there is no net pension obligation. Significant actuarial assumptions used in the valuation include a
rate of return on pre and post retirement assets of 7.5% annually, no pre-retirement withdrawal assumed,
.59 level increase in salary scale, and a rate of 7.34% on pre and post retirement current liabilities. No
changes in actuarial assumptions or benefit provisions that would significantly affect the valuation of the
plan have occurred for the last six years.

Additional information required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board follows these notes.
This information is presented to enmable the reader to assess the progress made by the Town in
accumulating sufficient assets to pay pension benefits as they become due.

New Hampshire Retirement System

Plan Description

The Town contributes to the New Hampshire Retirement System (NHRS), a cost-sharing multiple-
employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the NHRS Board of Trustees. The plan provides
service, disability, death and vested retirement allowances to plan members and beneficiaries. Benefit
provisions are established and may be amended by the New Hampshire State legislature. The NHRS
issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary
information for NHRS. That report may be obtained by writing to New Hampshire Retirement System, 4
Chenell Drive, Concord, New Hampshire 03301.

Funding Policy

Covered public safety employees are required to contribute 9.3% of their covered salary and the Town is
required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate. The Town's contribution rates for the covered
payroll of police officers and fire employees were 5.33% and 6.61%, respectively. The Town contributes
65% of the employer cost for police officers and fire employees and the State contributes the remaining
35% of the employer cost. The State portion of these retirerent contributions of $147,072 has been
reported as a revenue and expenditure of the general fund in these financial statements.

Under State law (RSA-100:16), plan member contribution rates are established and may be amended by
the New Hampshire State legislature and employer contribution rates are determined by the NHRS Board
of Trustees based on an actuarial valuation. The Town's contributions to the NHRS for the years ending
June 30, 2002, 2001, and 2000 were $273,133, $220,895, and $203,568, respectively, equal to the
required contributions for each year.

NOTE 6—~GENERAL DEBT OBLIGATIONS

Changes in Long-term Debt - the changes in long-term obligations for the year ended June 30, 2002 were
as follows: '
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Balance Balance
Type 07/01/01 Additions Reductions 06/30/02
Debt . $ 4,723,905 b - $ 587,656 $ 4,136,249

General Long-term Obligations

General Obligation Debt - payable at June 30, 2002 is comprised of the following individual issues:

$1,550,000 1989 Camp Naticook Bond due in annual installments
of $50,750 - $180,899 through January 2, 2005; interest at 9.5% $ 496,828

$£1,100,000 1992 Road Improvement Bord due in annual install-
ments of $110,000 through January 15, 2003; interest at 5,0% to 5.4% 110,000

$4,725,549 Organic Waste Composting Facility Bonds due in

annual payments of $367,449, including interest at 4.632%,

through April 1, 2003 3,529,421
$ 4,136,249

Summary of Debt Service Requirements to Maturity -

The annual requirements to amortize all outstanding long-term obligations as of June 30, 2002 including
interest of $1,350,612 are as follows:

Year Ending

June 30, Debt
2003 ' $ 681,388
2004 565,449
2005 565,534
2006 367,449
2007 367,449

2008-2012 _ 1,837,245

2013-2015 1,102,347

$ 5486861

Debt Authorized/Unissued - Article 10 of the April 9, 2002 Town meeting authorized $4,075,000 of
debt for land purchase (See Note 13).

Available Debt Margin - The Town is subject to State statute which limits debt outstanding to a
percentage (dependent on purpose) of a valuation calculation made annually by the State. As of June 30,
2002, the Town had an available debt margin of $60,459,763 for general purposes. Debt incurred for
sewer expansion is not included in the limitation calculations.

NOTE 7-INTERFUND BALANCES

Interfund receivables/payables at June 30, 2002 were as follows:
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Interfund Interfund
Fund Receivables Pavables
General Fund $ 457,688
Special Revepue Funds: :
Sewer Operating Fund 226,465
Solid Waste Disposal Fund $ 143,037
Trust and Agency Funds:
Capital Reserve Funds 358,868
- Nonexpendable Trust Fund A 16,439
Cops Grant Agency 14,415
Pension Trust Fund 151,394
Total $ 684,153 $ 684,153

NOTE 8—-NON-EXPENDABLE TRUST FUNDS

The principal amounts of all Non-expendable Trust Funds are restricted in that only income earned may be
expended. Principat and income balances at June 30, 2002 were as follows:

Principal Income Total
Fund A $ 539,769 $ 518,602 $ 1,058,371
Fund B 55,931 43,946 99,877
Fund C 677,542 180,106 857,648
Fund D 310,228 336,080 646,308
Library 26,549 26,549

$ 1,610,019 $ 1,078,734 $ 2,688,753

NOTE 9—UNRESERVED DESIGNATED FUND BALANCES

General Fund

Article 16 of the April 9, 2002 annual meeting designated $43,992 of June 30, 2002 fund balance for the
Library Construction Capital Reserve Fund.

Appropriations for certain projects and specific items not fully expended at year end are carried forward as

continuing appropriations to the next year in which they supplement the appropriations of that year. At
year end, continuing appropriations are reported as a component of fund balance and are as follows:

Town Hall siding $ 30,000

Expendable Trust Funds

At June 30, 2002, the designated fund balance of the Expendable Trust Funds consists of the following:
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Capital Reserve Funds:
Landfill : 3 3,876,294
Highway Equipment 634,061
Fire Equipment 109,985
Ambulance 116,443
Waste Water Treatment Facility 53,675
Property Reappraisal 5,723
Land Bank 221,785
Sewer Line Extension 562,512
Sidewalks and Bike Paths 101,439
Bridge Replacement 86,021
Library Construction 1,447,568
Library Roof 12,780
Drainage Improvements 145,116
Communication Equipment 157,853
Sewer System 1,561,547
Computer Equipment 79,576
Playground Equipment 37,873
Salt Shed _ 116,322
Athletic Fields 102,334
Road Improvements 383,009
NW Fire Station 86,815
DW Highway Improvements 60,745
South Mermrimack Fire Station 147,479

Total Capital Reserve Funds 10,106,955
Conservation Trust 356,303
Insurance Trust Funds 40,122

Total Expendable Trust Funds $ 10,503,380

NOTE 10-PERFORMANCE BONDS

The Town holds performance bonds from developers until projects have been completed to Town
standards. Due to the nature of the bonds they are not included as part of the financial statements. As of
June 30, 2002, the performance bonds are comprised of the following:

Letters of credit $ 351,528
Surety bonds 1,242,773
$ 1594301

NOTE 11--COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Litigation
Town officials estimate that any potential claims against the Town that are not covered by insurance are

immaterial. Certain tax assessments are the subject of appeal to the New Hampshire Board of Land and
Tax Appeals.
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NOTE 12-LANDFILL CLOSURE AND POSTCLOSURE CARE COSTS

State and federal laws and regulations require that the Town place a final cover on its landfill when closed
and perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the landfill site for thirty years after closure.
An estimated liability has been recorded in the long-term account group based on the future closure and
postclosure care costs that will be incurred near or after the date the landfill no Jonger accepts waste.
These landfill closure and postclosure care costs are based on the amount of the landfill used. The
estimated liability for landfill closure and postclosure care costs has a balance of $3,960,100 as of June 30,
2002, which is based on 99.5% usage of the landfill. The estimated total cost of landfill closure and
postclosure care of $3,980,000 is based on the amount that would be paid if all equipment, facilities, and
services required to close, monitor and maintain the landfill were acquired as of June 30, 2002. However,
the actual cost of closure and postclosure care may be higher due to inflation, changes in technology, or
changes in landfill laws and regulations.

The Town has established a landfill capital reserve to partially finance the closure and postclosure costs. At

June 30, 2002, the balance in the landfill capital reserve is $3,876,294. The remaining closure and
postclosure care costs are expected to be financed through transfers of fund balances and state grants.

NOTE 13—SUBSEQUENT EVENT

During July 2002, the Town issued $4,075,000 in general obligation bonds through the New Hampshire
Municipal Bond Bank (See Note 6).




Vachon, Clukay & Co., PC

Certified Public Accountants

45 Market Street

Manchester, New Hampshire 03101 .
(603) 622-7070

FAX: 622-1452

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION REQUIRED BY THE.
GOVERNMENTAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD

To the Board of Selectmen and Town Manager
Town of Merrimack, New Hampshire

The historical pension information on page 19 is not a required part of the general purpose
financial statements of the Town of Merrimack, New Hampshire but is supplementary information
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. We have applied certain limited procedures,

which consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods of measurement and
presentation of the supplementary information. However, we did not audit the information and €Xpress no

%44‘", ﬂ%rg./ﬁé

August 22, 2002
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Defined Benefit Pension Plan
Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Funding Progress

Excess of Assets Excess
Actuarial {over) under Annual {deficiency) as a
Actuariat Actuarial Accrued Actuarial Accrued Covered Percentage of

Valuation Date  Value of Assets Liability Liability Funded Ratio Payroll Covered Payroll
July 1, 1995 $ 1,174,303 $1,266,270 3 91,967 92.74% $ 2,006,878 (4.58)%
July 1, 1996 1,437,000 1,377,207 (59,793) 104.34% 1,906,228 3.14%
July 1, 1997 1,612,857 1,379,317 (233,540) 116.93% 1,112,825 20.99%
July 1, 1998 1,870,702 1,369,812 (500,890) 136.57% 1,022,175 49.00%
July 1, 1999 2,189,339 1,519,819 (669,520) 144.05% 1,014,980 65.96%
July 1, 2000 1,952,888 1,601,038 (351,850) 121.98% 896,860 39.23%
July 1, 2001 1,690,270 1,580,158 (110,112) 106.97% 916,257 12.02%

Emploeyer Contributions

Annual
Year Ended Required Percentage
June 30 Contribution Contributed
1996 5 88,284 145%
1997 111,435 116%
1998 86,406 114%
1999 49,037 136%
2000 86,376 114%
2001 46,454 118%

2002 94,789 97%



Vachon, Clukay & Co., PC

Certified Public Accountants

45 Market Street

Manchester, New Hampshire 03101
(603) 622-7070

FAX: 622-1452

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
ON SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

To the Board of Selectmen and Town Manager
‘Town of Merrimack, New Hampshire

Qur report on our audit of the general purpose financial statements of the Town of Merrimack,
New Hampshire as of June 30, 2002 and for the year then ended appears on page one. That audit was
made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the general pumpose financial statements of the Town of
Merrimack, New Hampshire taken as a whole. The supplemental schedules listed in the table of contents
are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the general purpose
financial statements of the Town of Merrimack, New Hampshire. Such information has been subjected to
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the general purpose financial statements and, in our opinion,
is fairly presented in all material respects in relation to the general purpose financial statements taken as a

B Yaelin, (’Lﬁ s

August 22, 2002
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SCHEDULE 3

TOWN OF MERRIMACK, NEW HAMPSHIRE
Combining Balance Sheet - All Trust and Agency Funds

June 30, 2002
Non-
Expendable Expendable Pension Cops Grant Schoot Combining
Trust Funds Trust Funds Trust Fund  AgencyFund  Agency Fund Totals
ASSETS
Cash and equivalents $ 1,604 § 65354 s 40,182 $§ 107,140
Equity in pooled cash and
investments 356,303 356,303
Investments 10,504,341 2,639,838 1.640,654 $ 988,748 15,773,581
Accounts receivable 9434 9,434
Due from other governments $ 14415 14,415
Total Assets $10,862,248 $2,705,192 $1690270 § 14415 $ 088748 $16,260,873
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
Due to others $ 088,748 $ 988,748
Due to other funds $ 358.868 $ 16439 $ 151394 5 14415 541,116
Total Liabilities 358,868 16,439 151,394 14,415 988,748 1,529,864
Fund Balances:
Reserved for endowments 1,610,019 1,610,019
Reserved for employees'
retirerment 1,538.876 1,538,876
Unreserved:
Designated 10,503,380 10,503,380
Undesignated 1,078,734 1,078,734
Total Fund Balances 10,503,380 2,688,753 1,538,876 - - 14,731,009
Total Liabilities and
Fund Balances $10,862,248  $2,705,192  $1,690270 § 14415 $ 988748 $16,260,873




Vachon, Clukay & Co., pPc

Certified Public Accountanis

45 Market Street

Manchester, New Hampshire 03101
(603) 622-7070

FAX: 622-1452

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON
INTERNAL CONTROL STRUCTURE BASED ON AN AUDIT OF
GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITIN G STANDARDS

To the Board of Selectmen and Town Manager
Town of Merrimack, New Hampshire

We have audited the general purpose financial statements of the Town of Merrimack, New Hampshire
as of and for the year ended June 30, 2002, and have issued our report thereon dated August 22, 2002.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditin g standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the general purpose financial statements are free of material misstatement.

The management of the Town of Merrimack, New Hampshire is responsible for establishing and
maintaining an internal control structure. In fulfillin g this responsibility, estimates and Judgments by
management are required to assess the expected benefits and related costs of internal control structure policies
and procedures. The objectives of an internal control structure are to provide management with reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use or disposition, and that
transactions are executed in accordance with management's authorization and recorded properly to permit the
preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. Because of inherent limitations in any internal control structure, errors or irregularities may
nevertheless occur and not be detected. Also, projection of any evaluation of the structure to future periods is
subject to the risk that procedures may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the
effectiveness of the design and operation of policies and procedures may deteriorate,

In planning and performing our audit of the general purpose financial statements of the Town of
Memimack, New Hampshire for the year ended June 30, 2002, we obtained an understanding of the internal
control structure. With respect to the internal control structure, we obtained an understanding of the design of
relevant policies and procedures and whether they have been placed in operation, and we assessed control risk
in order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the general purpose
financial statements and not to provide an opinion on the internal control structure. Accordingly, we do not
express such an opinion.

Our consideration of the intemnal control structure would not necessarily disclose all matters in the
internal control structure that might be material weaknesses under standards established by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. A material weakness is a reportable condition in which the design or
operation of one or more of the internal control structure elements does not reduce to a relatively low level the
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that would be material in relation to the general purpose financial

statements being audited may occur and not be detected within a timely period by employees in the normal
course of performing their assigned functions. We noted no matters involving the internal control structure and
its operation that we constder to be material weaknesses as defined above.

risk that errors and irregularities in amounts

This report is intended for the information of management and the Board of Selectmen. However, this
report is a matter of public record and its distribution is not limited.

2 Czcdm/ ( /ﬁ/;a Sze( L«/ /)C

August 22, 2002




EXPENDABLE TRUST FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2002

Landfill Capital Reserve Fund

Balance - 07/01/01 2.565,013.71 |
Expenditures: .

_Landfill closure o __ (102,15563) 63)

Tire shredding _ — (116,904.15)
_gonjgcgi__ L _(115,000.00)
State grant reimbursements o _32_91,09 .37
Transfer f_rgnlrsﬁqhg_ Waste Disposal : §pec:a| Revenue Fung__ﬁ | _ 5000000
Transfer “from General Fund | 1,182,000.00 |
Investment income 86,931.14
Balance - 06/30/02_ " " T 387620044
Fire Equipment Capitai Reserve Fund R
Bal@ge_ 07/01/01 . ~ R 625, 239 60
Aerial ladder truck e (708, .763.00)
Transfer er from General Fund~ ————ee . |_._ 17700000
Investment income 14,508.13
Baiance - 06/30/02 e [ T Y 7
Ambulance Capital Reserve Fund N ]
Balance - 07!01/01_ — e _79971‘9 49
Transfer from | General Fund o e . 35,000.00
Investment income 2,423.04
[Balance - 06/30/02 _ —— T T T T s a8
Highway Equi pment Capital Reserve Fund I -
Balance - 07/01/01 ] __720,449.22
Expenditures: _ -

| Dump truck bodies - 2 — ] (31, 217 _001
_Dump truck chassis - 5 el (234,248.90)
Transfer from General Fund e ___160,000.00 |
Investment income 19,135.41
Balance - 06/30/02 . ___634,060.73 |
Property . Revaluation Capital Reserve efund =~ T -
Batance - 07/01/01 1 558858
Investment income 124.13
Balance - 06/30/02 T s
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EXPENDABLE TRUST FUNDS |
JUNE 30, 2002
Wastewater Treatment Facility Capital Reserve efFund
Balance - 07/01/01_ b 208,050.73
Expenditures:
Odor controlftrickling filter I (19 96';_’ _4:{)
Mobile tromme! screenplant ~ (142,500.00)
[ Hypochlorite/chemical feed system _(14,152.39)
Investment income 22,244.62
Balance - 06/30/02 5367549
Land Bank Capital Reserve Fund o |
Balance - 07/01/01_  7.269.26 |
Transfer from General Fund _ 1 ~210,000.00 |
Investment income 4,515.37
Balance - 06/30/02 . ] 221,784.63
Bridge Replacement Capital Reserve Fund R -
Balance - 07/01/01 o 1 149.358.04
Expenditures: _ -
Thomton Road Bridge/Tinker Road Bridge project ] (5,881.04)
Thornton Ferry/Griffin Street Bridge . ~(60,791.73)
Investment income o ) _3,335.87
|Balance - 06/30/02 - B - _86,021.14
Sewer Line Extension Capital Reserve Fund - o
Balance - 07/01/01 o N ~ 653,787.73
 Expenditures: o
Turkey Hill area sewer line (206,677.11)
Transfer from General Fund 100.000.00 |
Investment income T o ~ 15401.18
Balance - 06/30/02 - - 562,511.80
Sidewalks and Bike Paths Capital Reserve Fund
Balance - 07/01/01___ - 163,695.93 |
Expenditures: B
Camp Sargent Road sidewalk (270,708.80)
State grant reimbursements B 146,839.48
Private grant reimbursements - 2730(70?
Transfer from General Fund 30,000.00 |
Investment income - h 3.712.10
101,438.71 |

Balance - 06/30/02




EXPENDABLE TRUST FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2002

lerg[y_Roof Capital Reserve Fund

Balance - 07/01/01 10,530.60
Transfer from General Fund 2,000.00
Investment income 249.63
| Balance - 06/30/02 B 12,780.23
Library Construction Capital Reserve Fund _
Balance - 07/01/01 817,732.21
Transfer from General Fund 600,000.00 |
Investment income 29,835.99
Balance - 06/30/02 _ 1,447,568.20
Drainage Improvements Capital Reserve 2 Fund o
Balance - 07/01/01 181,676.95
Expenditures:
‘Sunnydale Drive/Souhegan Drive drainage (90.612.73)
Transfer from General Fund__ - 50,000.00 |
Investment income B o 4,052.18
Balance-06/30/02 T T [ 145,116.40
Wastewater Treatment System Capital Reserve Fund . ]
Balance - 07/01/01 _ . 172570129
e
Loaders B B (30,235.00)
_Skid steer loader | - - (6,658.00)
_Electrical system upgrade (60,359.59)
_Rolling stee! doors ] (79,900.00)
Pickup truck - b (25,240.00)
Investment income o 1 38,238.04
Balance - 06/30/02 T 1,561,546.74
|
Playground Equipment Capital Reserve Fund _ - 4 -
[Balance - 07/01/01 63.438.20
[Expenditures: L I
_Skateboard park o _(44,481.80)
| Skateboard park fence - (8,250.00)
Private grant reimbursements _ _kjgggo
Transfer from General Fund _ __25,000.00
Investment income 1,402.07
Balance - 06/30/02 3787347
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EXPENDABLE TRUST FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2002

Computer Equipment Capital Reserve Fund

Balance - 07/01/01 53,195.10
Transfer from General Fund 25,000.00
Investment income 1,380.87
Balance - 06/30/02 79,675.97

Communication Equipment Capital Reserve Fund

Balance - 07/01/01 B 119,911.48
Transfer from General Fund 35,000.00
Investment income 2,941.46
Batance - 06/30/02 157,852.94
Salt Shed Capital Reserve Fund

Balance - 07/01/01 58,670.74
Transfer from General Fund 56,000.00
Investment income 1,751.04
[Balance - 06/30/02 116,321.78

South Fire Station Capital Reserve Fund

Balance - 07/01/01 74,259.33
Transfer from General Fund 71,000.00
Investment income 2,219.88
Batance - 06/30/02 147 479.21

Athietic Fields Capital Reserve Fund

Balance - 07/01/01 26,147.62
Transfer from General Fund 75,000.00
Investment income 1,186.26
Balance - 06/30/02 102,333.88 |

Daniel Webster Highway Capital Reserve Fund

Batance - 07/01/01 104,396.29 |
Transfer from General Fund 128,000.00
Investment income 3,348.86
Balance - 06/30/02 235,745.15

Road Improvement Capital Reserve Fund
Balance - 67/01/01 -

| Expenditures:

_Seaverns Bridge Road reconstruction (175,000.00)
Transfer from General Fund 375,000.00
[nvestment income 8,008.56

Balance - 08/30/02




EXPENDABLE TRUST FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2002

\Northwest Fire Station Capital Reserve Fund |
Balance - 07/01/01 -
Transfer from General Fund 85,000.00
Investment income 1,815.38
Balance - 06/30/02 86,815.38
Self Insurance  Trust Funds - _
Balance 07/01/01 36,408.52
Expendﬂures
_Claims paid (7,259.20)
Transfer from General Fund 10,000.00
Investment income 974.39
Balance - 06/30/02 _ e 4032177
Special Conservatlon Trust Fund - e
Balance - 07/01/01 25,735.95
Transfer from General Fund R S 2,588. 70
Investment income o T 568.11
Balance - 06/30/02 o 28,892.76
80 Acres Conservation Trust Fund T T
Balance - 07/01/01 7,920.40
Investment income 17787
Balance-06/30/02 ~ T~ . 809827
Use Change Tax Conservation Trust Fund T
Balance - 07/01/01 e 312,712.93
Expenditures: |

Forestry management services (360.00)
Investment income 6,958.96
Balance - 06/30/02 ] ___319,311.89 |
Grand Total )
Balance - 07/01/01 8,795,817.90
Expenditures (2,555,381. 54)
Private grant reimbursements 28.665. 00
State grant reimbursements __473248.85
Transfers from other funds 3,483,588.70
investment income 277,440.54
Balance - 06/30/02 ~10,503,379.45 |
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Year

2002-2003
2003-2004
2004-2005

Year
2002-2003

Yoar
2002-2003
2003-2004
2004-2005
2005-2006
2006-2007
2007-2008
2008-2009
2009-2010
2010-2011
2011-2012
2012-2013
2013-2014
2014-2015

3,529,421.75

$1,550,000 1989 Camp Naticook Bonds

Interest

July 2
23,599.00
16,436.00
8,593.00

9.5% Interest

Principal
January 2
150,802.00
165,128.00
480,896.00
496,826.00

Interest
Januvary 2
23,599.00
16,436.00
8,593.00
48,628.00

$1,100,000 1992 Road Improvement Bonds

Interest

January 15
2,970.00

Principal
April 1
203,966.24
213,413.96
223,299.30
233,642.52
244.464.84
255,788.45
267,636.57
280,033.50
293,004.65
306,576.63
320,777.26
335,635.66
351,182.17

5.0% - 5.4% Interast

Principal

January 15
4110,000.00

Interest

April 1
163,482.82
154,035.10
144,149.76
133,806.54
122,984.22
111,660.61
99,812.49
87,415.56
74,444.41
60,872.43
46,671.80
31,813.40
16,266.76

1,247,415.90

Interest

July 15
2,970.00

$4,725,549.33 1996 Organic Waste Composting Facility Bond
4.632% Interest

Total
367,449.06
367,449.06
367,449.06
367,449.06
367,449.06
367,449.06
367,449.06
367,449.06
367,449.06
367,449.06
367,449.06
367,449.06
367,448.93

4,776,837.65

LONG-TERM DEBT PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST PAYMENT SCHEDULES

Total
198,000.00
198,000.00
198,082.00

Total
115,940.00




LONG-TERM DEBT PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST PAYMENT SCHEDULES

$4,075,000 2002 Groens Pond Land Acquisition Bonds
4.08% Interest

Principal Interest Interest

Year August 15 August 15 February 15 Total
2002.2003 0.00 0.00 89,806.38 89,806.38
2003-2004 275,000.00 78,092.5¢ 73,967.50 427,060.00
2004-2005 275,000.00 73,967.50 69,842.50 418,810.00
2005-2008 275,000.00 69,842.50 65,717.50 410,560.00
2006-2007 275,000.00 65,717.50 60,905.00 401,622.50
2007-2008 275,000.00 60,905.00 56,092.50 391,997.50
2008-2009 270,000.00 56,092.50 50,692.50 376,785.00
2009-2010 270,000.00 §0,692.50 45,292.50 365,985.00
2010-2011 270,000.00 45,292.50 39,892.50 355,185.00
2011-2012 270,000.00 39,892.50 34,492.50 344,385.00
2012-2013 270,000.00 34,492.50 29,092,50 333,585.00
2013-2014 270,000.00 29,092.50 23,557.50 322,650.00
2014-201% 270,000.00 23,557.50 17,820.00 311,377.50
2015-2016 270,000.00 17,820.00 12,015.00 299,835.00
2016-2017 270,000.00 12,015.00 6,075.00 288,090.00
2017-2018 270,000.00 6,075.00 0.00 276,075.00
4,075,000.00 663,547.50 675,261.38 5,413.808.88

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE

Year Principal Interest Total
2002-2003 464,768.24 306,427.20 771,195.44
2003-2004 653,541.96 338,967.10 992,509.06
2004-200% 679,195.20 305,145.76 984,341.06
2005-2008 508,642.52 269,366.54 778,009.06
2006-2007 §519,464.84 249,606.72 769,071.56
2007-2008 530,788.43 228,658.11 759,4486.56
2008-2009 537,636.57 206,597.49 744,234.06
2009-2010 §50,033.50 183,400.56 733,434.06
2010-2011 563,004.65 159,629.41 722,634.06
2011.2012 576,576.63 135,257.43 711,834.06
2012-2013 590,777.26 110,256.80 701,034.06
2013-2014 605,635.66 84,463.40 690,099.06
2014-2015 621,182.17 57,644.26 678,826.43
2015-2016 270,000.00 29,835.00 299,835.00
2016-2017 270,000.00 18,090.00 238,090.00
2017-2018 270,000.00 6,075.00 276,075.00
8,211,247.75 2,689,420.78 10,900,668.53
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2002 SUMMARY INVENTORY OF VALUATION
| AssessedValuation
Taxablel ~  Total
Land: Acres I L
| Current use 4186.35| 49612 =~
_Residential 8025961 674014398
Commercial/industrial ___772,45737.60_ | 1_55,929,593 o
Total taxable land | 14,665.91 82@,_5;317,5_1_2_____§29L5§1,_5_1%
|_Tax exempt and non taxable 433424| | 76118900
Buildings: _ ) I
_Re§igen_tiaL L | 1,126,503,959 o
_Manufactured housing —— .} __.6852300| .
_Commercialfindustrial b ] 813,325,441 B
|_Total of taxable buildings 1,446,681,700 |  1,446,681,700
|_Tax exempt and non taxable I 116,924,700
Public utilities: S A O o o
,_‘A’.E!tef___ﬁ_,‘__,_k____,,__,, . ____ | _  2545,800 L
_ng__ﬁﬁ_ I e - 4796900 | )
Electric - _ 715_0537007 L
Total public utilities B e 272,3_9_7!4100 - 22,3})7,400
Total valuation before exemptions } 2,298 611 gEfz_:z'@fesng
Exemptions: | Number ___ - »___"7””_—' ]
| _Blind 9] _ 138000 = i}
_Elderly R 219 | 19292100
Disabled 1§ﬁ__‘7mL@B{ﬁQQHﬁ__‘fﬁ___Wq“
Endicapped . L 72 — 173,0007 o

Total exemptions 248 20,774,500 | B
Net valuation on which municipal, county, and . )
local schoo! tax rates are computed | 2,277,836,112 | o
Less public utilities 22397400 B
[Net valuation on which state school tax rate is N
computed | "2.255438712
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Year
2002 B
2001 B
2000 B
1999
1998
1997
1996
1995 B
1994
1993 A
1992
1991
1990
1989 B
1988
1987
1986
1985
1984
1983
1982
1981
1980

A - Reflects general 30% valuation reduction

Net
Assessed
Valuation
2,277,836,112
1,899,727,513
1,643,048,010
1,231,725,151
1,191,204,781
1,148,689,607
1,094,869,695
1,071,829,370
1,116,283,912
1,140,969,487
1,634,805,805
1,631,537,851
1,623,054,803
1,609,532,654

628,790,284
590,884,826
536,460,879
476,434,301
433,028,396
403,180,435
388,767,938
363,434,663
359,864,537

B - Reflects property revaluation

C - Not yet available

Ratio

C
88%
94%
76%
87%
92%
96%
97%
95%
94%
134%
123%
105%
100%
42%
43%
47%
58%
69%
73%
77%
81%
87%

NET ASSESSED VALUATION HISTORY

Estimated

100%
Valuation
C
2,158,781,265
1,747,923,415
1,620,690,988
1,369,200,898
1,248,575,660
1,140,489,266
1,104,978,732
1,175,035,697
1,213,797,327
1,220,004,332
1,326,453,537
1,545,766,479
1,609,532,654
1,497,119,724
1,374,150,758
1,141,406,126
821,438,450
627,577,386
552,301,966
504,893,426
448,684,769
413,637,399




STATEMENT OF APPROPRIATIONS, ESTIMATED REVENUES,
AND PROPERTY TAX ASSESSED FOR 2002

Appropriations

Election and voter registration 24,829
Property revaluation 263,630
Community development 673,403
General government building maintenance 271,111
Other general government 1,455,944
Police 3.611,019
Fire and ambulance 3,625,298
Emergency management 60,006
Cther public safety 493,406
Public works administration 184,762
Highways and streets 2,073,012
Other highways and streets 395,578
Solid waste disposal 517,688
Sewage collection and disposal 2,810,843
Heaith agencies 83,225
Welfare administration and direct assistance 78,395
Parks and recreation 692,621
Library 1,028,416
Patriotic purposes 40,500
Other culture and recreation ' 229,700
Conservation 5,345
Principal - long-term bonds and lease obligations 464,768
Interest - long-term bonds and lease obligations 312,809
Interest - tax anticipation notes 1
Land 4,225,100
Machinery, vehicles, and equipment 248,750
Buildings 51,851
Improvements other than buildings 421,200
Transfer to capital reserve funds 1,841,992
Transfer to other expendable trust funds 7,000
Total apprepriations 26,180,202
Estimated Revenues
Timber yield taxes 13,000
Land use change tax 100,000
Cable television franchise tax 220,000
Interest and penalties on delinquent taxes 154,450
Motor vehicle permit fees 4,000,000
Building permits 250,000
Other licenses and permits 165,143
Federal grants 93,825
State shared revenue 208,919
State meals and rooms tax distribution 736,226
State highway block grant 413,257
State water poliution grants 72,451
Other state grants 9,108
County grants 5,840
Charges for services 4,640,114
Sale of municipal property 5,500
Interest on deposits and investments 516,600
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STATEMENT OF APPROPRIATIONS, ESTIMATED REVENUES,
AND PROPERTY TAX ASSESSED FOR 2002

Payments in lieu of taxes 4100
Trust funds 153,000
General Fund fund balance 2,479,487
Bond proceeds 4,075,000
Other sources 172,533
Total estimated revenues 18,489,553
Property Tax Assessed
Total appropriations 26,190,202
Total estimated revenues 18,489,553
Net municipal appropriations 7,700,649
Tax cverlay 594,833
War service tax credits 150,700
Net municipal assessment 8,446,182
Net local school assessment 20,359,086
Net county assessment 3,133,571
State education assessment 10,123,344
Total municipa!, local school, and county assessments 42,062,183
- Assessed Valuation
Tax Rate Computation Assessment ($1,000's) Tax Rate”
Municipal 8,446,182 2,277.836.112 370
Local school 20,359,086 2,277.836.112 8.94
County 3,133,571 2,277.836.112 1.38
State education 10,123,344 2,255,438.712 4.49
Total 42 062,183 18.51
* Tax rate = assessment divided by property valuation
2002 Property Tax Rate
State education Municipal
24% / 20%
County
7%
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TAX RATE HISTORY

Year School Municipal County State Total Ratio Equalized
2002B 8.94 3.70 1.38 4.49 18.51 D D
2001B 9.00 5.07 1.56 567 21.30 88% 18.74
2000B 8.67 5.40 1.79 5.59 21.45 94% 20.16
1989 A 8.99 5.99 2.12 7.48 24.58 76% 18.68
1998 22.82 6.00 2.14 - 30.96 87% 26.94
1997 22.19 6.68 2.20 - 31.07 92% 28.58
1996 22.09 7.70 2.37 - 32.16 96% 30.87
1995 8B 21.44 7.87 2.50 - 31.81 97% 30.856
1994 19.83 8.67 2.39 - 30.89 95% 29.35
1993 C 18.98 7.44 2.39 - 28.81 94% 27.08
1992 12.61 422 1.61 - 18.44 134% 24.71
1991 12.71 4.14 1.59 - 18.44 123% 2268
1990 11.24 4.15 1.54 - 16.93 105% 17.78
1989 B 11.46 4.16 1.37 - 16.99 100% 16.99
1988 27.63 8.61 2.39 - 38.63 42% 16.22
1987 23.77 7.42 2.99 - 34.18 43% 14.70
1986 22.92 6.59 2.14 - 31.65 47% 14.88
1985 22.19 5.61 2.05 - 29.85 58% 17.31
1984 21.83 5.35 1.97 - " 29.15 69% 20.11
1983 21.10 6.39 1.99 - 29.48 73% 21.52
1982 19.90 6.70 1.60 - 28.20 7% 21.71
1981 20.90 6.70 1.40 - 29.00 81% 23.49
1980 19.00 6.20 1.30 - 26.50 87% 23.06

A - Reflects new state school tax and education adequacy grants
B - Reflects property revaluation

C - Reflects general 30% valuation reduction

D - Not yet available from State of New Hampshire

Municipal Property Tax Rate

9.00

- 8.00
7.00

—a -— 6.00
— 5.00
4.00

T T T T L) T T L 3.00
1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002

Tax Rate Per $1,000
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Town Clerk Report
Revenues
For Year Ended June 30, 2002

Town Agent Fee

Auto Registration Fees

Bad Check Fees

Boat Town

Boat Agent Fees

Certified Copies 1st - state
Certified Copies 1st - town
Certified Copies - Sub. State
Certified Copies - Sub. Town
Civil Forfeiture

State Dog License Fees
Town Dog License Fees
State Marriage License Fees
Town Marriage License Fees
Miscellaneous

Cash Over

Parking Fines

Cash Short

Title Application Fees

UCC Filing

UCC Search & Copy

UCC Terminations & Changes

TOTAL

Total Remitted to Treasurer

P H P H OO N A D AR A A A RS

56,238.00
3,901,177.90
2.100.00
13,016.39
552.00
2,112.00
1,060.00
2,335.00
1,401.00
1,660.00
6.924.00
12,856.50
5,168.00
952.00
5,200.88
1,239.14
40.00
(84.17)
12,790.00
2,070.00
2,573.00
870.00

4,032,251.64

4,032,251.64




Tax Collector's Report
Summary of Tax Accounts
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2002

Uncollected Taxes Levies
Beginning of Fiscal Year: 2002 2001 Prior
Property Taxes $ 6,679,205.36
Residential Sewer $  121,381.95
Hydrant 3 9,968.00
Current Use $ 18,900.00 § 29,261.54
Yield Tax 3 3,174.00
Commercial Sewer b3 5676.49 % 10,452.35
In Lieu of Taxes $ 1.782.00
Excavation Activity $ 3.389.00
Excavation Tax 3 5,446.00
Taxes Committed to Collector
During Fiscal Year:
Property Taxes $20,569,123.00 $21,925,939.00
Residential Sewer $ 31480100 $ 307.139.00
Hydrant 3 54,253.00 $ 49,086.00
Current Use $ 197.840.00 3% 15,000.00
Yield Tax $ 17,747.00
Commercial Sewer $ 2348498 $  184,102.37
In Lieu of Taxes k] 1,891.00 % 2,001.00
Excavation Activity $ 7,283.00
Excavation Tax % 498.00
Overpayments:
Property Taxes 3 484.02 $ 14665071
Residential Sewer 3 19.00 3 4,703.58
Hydrant $ 62.00
Cumrent Use $ 4,350.00
Yield Tax
Commercial Sewer $ 34.90
Excavation Activity
Excavation Tax
Interest Collected on Delinquent Taxes: $ 993 % 8332856 3 1,846.16
Penaities Collected on Delinquent Taxes: 3 8,588.25 % 723.00
Discrepancy 3 141.16
Total Debits $20,964,065.93 $29,779656.17 $ 66,044.21
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Tax Collector’s Report
Summary of Tax Accounts
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2002

Remitted to Treasurer 2002 2001 Prior
During Fiscal Year:
Property Taxes $13,194,093.17 $28,133,07265 $ {155.41)
Residential Sewer $ 19456800 $ 425858.30
Hydrant 3 40,740.00 % 58,648.71
Current Use $ 19471191 3 43,987.05
Yield Tax $ 15,586.00 $ 3,174.00
Commercial Sewer $ 300699 $ 180998.08 $ 7.385.36
In Lieu of Taxes 3 3,783.00
Excavation $ 498.00 % 5,446.00
Excavation Activity 3 10,672.00
Interest $ 933 % 57.284.94 3% 1.618.84
Costs/Penalties $ 287965 $ 576.75

Abatements Allowed:

Property Taxes $ 229,299.71
Residential Sewer $ 112.00
Hydrant
Current Use % 3,500.00
Yield Tax
Commercial Sewer 3 67.02 % 51.84
In Lieu of Taxes
Excavation
Excavation Activity
In Lieu of Taxes
Discrepancy ’ 3 155.54
Tax Liens Executed During Year: $ 42979994 § 3,535.87
Deeds to Town During Year: 3 671.00
Uncollected Taxes
End of Fiscal Year
Property Taxes $ 7,37484285 § {1,059.00)
Residential Sewer $ 120,252.00
Hydrant $ 13,513.00
Current Use 3 22,.878.06
Yield Tax $ 2,151.00
Commercial Sewer $ 20,387.99 % 8,74866 $ 422 91
in Lieu of Taxes $ 1,891.00
Excavation
Excavation Activity

Total Credits $20,064,065.33 $29,779656.17 3§ 66,044 21



Tax Collector's Report
Summary of Tax Accounts

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2002

Balance of Unredeemed Taxes
Beginning of Fiscal Year

Tax Liens Executed to Town
During Fiscal Year

Interest Collected After Lien Execution
Collected Redemption Costs
Overpayments
Total Debits:
Remittance to Treasurer During Fiscal Year
Redemptions
Interest and Costs

Abatements Allowed:

Deeded to Town During Year
(Taxes, Interest, & Costs)

Unredeemed Taxes End of Fiscal Year

Total Credits;

©® &

“ B e

L2 B - ]
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2001

429,799.94
1,605.63
860.40

922 84

433,188.81

99,442 32
 2,466.03

3,165.00

1,501.73

326,613.73

433,188.81

® 8 mw

L

2000

317,240.15

3,635.87
22,589.76

3,983.58

347,349.36

196,916.03
26,573.34

585.41

149.42

123,125.16

347,349.36

Prior

155,372.38

36,573.99

2,216.60

194,162.97

110,134.00
38,790.59

2,450.93

981.24

41,806.21

194,162.97




Treasurer's Report
POOLED CASH ACCOUNT

Balance - July 1, 2001

Receipts:
General Government
Fire Protection Area
Cable Television
Assessing
Fire and Ambulance
Police
Highway
Public Works Administration
Solid Waste Disposal
Wastewater Treatment
Parks and Recreation
Community Development
Town Clerk/Tax Collector
Welfare
Interest on pooled deposits and investments
Federal and state aid
Private grants
Trust fund reimbursements
Other expense reimbursements
Total receipts

Total cash available
Less selectmen's orders paid

Balance - June 30, 2002

22,397,186.11

92,367.42
129,801.34
231,925.49

6,218.25
266,149.82
405,655.58

6,745.54

2,856.50
733,747.56

3,902,915.25
169,350.26
334,498.45
46,170,204.49

22,126.77
405,186.17

1,456,642.61

68,975.25

2,453,586.88
250,413.84
57.109,367.47

79,506,553.58

55,309,627.15

24,196,926 .43




Treasurer's Report
POOLED CASH ACCOUNT

The cash in each fund is pooled for investment purposes. Interest earned on pooled
deposits and investments is allocated to each fund on the basis of its relative average
monthly equity in the pooled account. Fund equities in pooled cash at June 30, 2002 and

interest earned by each fund during the year then ended are as follows.

Fund

General Fund

Sewer

Cable Television

Fire Protection Area
Solid Waste Disposal
DARE

Heritage
Conservation-80 Acres
Conservation - Land Use Change Tax
Conservation-Special
Total

-98-

Interest Equity
312,693.29 18,382,383.19
57,518.47 3,666,429.04
2,937.11 176,308.32
670.95 101,940.86
23,494.14 1,508,982.46
135.29 3,074.60
31.98 1,505.04
177.87 8,098.27
6,958.96 319,311.89
568.11 28,892.76
405,186.17 24,196,926.43
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Town Officials

Representatives to the General Court

Jack Balcom Charles Hall
Peter Batula Peyton Hinkle
Robert Brundidge Robert L'Heureux
Chris Christensen Robert Milligan
Dennis Fields Maureen Mooney
John Gibson

Board of Selectmen

Norman V. Carr, Chairman Term expires 2003
Fran L'Heureux, Vice Chairman Term expires 2003
Nancy Gagnon (1-year term) Term expires 2003
Anthony Pellegrino Term expires 2004
David W. McCray Term expires 2005

Town Manager
Dean E. Shankle, Jr.

Assistant Town Manager
Betty J. Spence

Finance Administrator
Robert T. Levan

Moderator
Lynn Christensen

Town Treasurer
Linda Wilson

Town Clerk-Tax Collector
Diane M. Pollock

Deputy Town Clerk-Tax Collector
Linda P. Hall

Contract Assessor
Brett Purvis




Administrative Assessor

Anne Whitney
Community Development Director
A. J. Minkarah
Planning & Zoning Administrator
Wiil D'Andrea

Building/Health Official
David Mark

Health Officer
Cec Curran

Ambulance Director
Steve Bachand

Emergency Management Director
Chief William H. Pepler, Jr.

Library Director

Janet Angus

Director of Public Works
Earle M. Chesley

Assistant Director of Public Works - WWWTF
Larry R. Spencer

Assistant Director of Public Works - Highway
David Lent

Highway Coordinator

Bruce W. Moreau

Building & Grounds Maintenance

Philip F. Meschino

Equipment Maintenance

James H. Graham

Landfill Foreman
Steven S. Doumas
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Ballot Inspectors

Democrat Republican
Greta Moran, Chairman Maureen Mooney, Chairman
Mary Moriarity Yvonne Hinckley
Ann McCann ‘ Fern Jones
Geri Botsch Barbara Buker
Marguerite Ryan Joan Devogel
Norman Phillips Jo Plant
Ann Burrows Norma French

Abbie Griffin Park Advisory Committee

Ruth Liberty, Chairman
Vanessa Biron
Denise Leonard
Leonard Worster
Tina Benhardt
Fran L’'Heureux, Selectmen’s Representative

Budget Committee

Barbara Tucker Term expires 2003
Karen Laba Term expires 2003
Chartes Hall Term expires 2003
Ed Silva Term expires 2003
Carolyn Whitlock (1-year term) Term expires 2003
Norman Phillips Term expires 2004
Robert Kelly Term expires 2004
Richard Hinch, Vice Chairman Term expires 2004
Finlay Rothhaus Term expires 2005
Rose Robertson-Smith Term expires 2005
Stanley Heinrich Term expires 2005
Tom Koenig, Chairman Term expires 2005
Anthony Pellegrino Selectmen's Representative
Nancy Gagnon Selectmen’s Representative, Alternate
Davis Powell Schoo! Board Representative
Tom Nutting Merrimack Village District Rep.

Rita Carlton Secretary




Cable TV Advisory Committee

Florence Brown Mike Bradley
Pam Tinker, Chairman Greg Austin
Brian McCarthy, Vice Chairman Richard Morrissey

Anthony Pellegrino, Selectmen’s Representative

Conservation Commission

Andy Powell, Chairman Term expires 2003
Karen Mattor Term expires 2003
Eber Currier Term expires 2004
George Borrelli Term expires 2004
Robert Croatti Term expires 2005
Robert McNaught Term expires 2005
Anthony Pellegrino Selectmen’s Representative

District Court

Clifford R. Kinghorn, Justice
Gregory Michael, Special Justice
Lynn KillKelley, Clerk
Jayne Dimartino, Deputy Clerk
Barbara Duhaime, Court Assistant
Kristine Lowe, Court Assistant
Joseph Lanza, Bailiff

Forest Fire Warden and Deputy Fire Wardens

Clarence P. Worster, Warden
Martin Carrier
William Cashin

William H. Pepler, Jr.
David Parenti
Perley Rogers

Laurance Rothhaus
Richard Todd
Howard Young
Ronald Hansen
Richard Pierson
Charles Smith
Scoft Simpson
Shawn Allison
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Fourth of July Committee

Thomas Mahon, Chairman

Lex Keefe

Jack Balcom

Brenda Dulong

Jean Shankle

Ruth Liberty
Judy May

Carmen Vacchiano
Brian Wilson
David W. McCray, Selectmen’s Representative

Heritage Commission

Florence Brown, Chairman
Jackie Flood
Charles Hall
Ruth Roulx
Steven J. Mayo, Alternate
Ann Burrows, Alternate
M. Theresa Maloon, Alternate
Scott McPhie, Staff Member
Fran L'Heureux, Selectmen’s Representative

Highway Safety Committee

Joseph Devine, Chairman Robert L'Heureux
Roger Bellemore Bruce Moreau
Finlay Rothhaus William Mulligan
Joseph Comer Norman Pepin
Jack Balcom William H. Pepler, Jr.
Charles Hall Richard Todd

Fran L'Heureux, Selectmen’s Representative

Library Trustees

Pat Heinrich, Chairman
Robert Kelly
Ann Burrows
Duncan Morrill
John Buckley, Treasurer




Nashua Regional Planning Commission

Andrew Singelakis, Chairman
Jean Weston
Nelson R. Disco
Richard Roulx
Donald Wunderlich, Alternate
Norman V. Carr, Selectmen’s Representative

Parks and Recreation Committee

Janet Cormier, Chairman Term expires 2003
Stan Robinson, Vice-Chairman Term expires 2003
Ruth Roulx Term expires 2003
Chris Christensen : Term expires 2005
Jean Shankle Term expires 2005
David Denton School Board Representative
Norma French Senior Citizen Liaison
Fran L'Heureux Selectmen’s Representative
Nancy Gagnon Alternate Selectman'’s Representative
Brian Lawrence MYA Liaison

Planning Board

John Segedy Term expires 2003
Florence Brown Term expires 2004
Carmen Vacchiano, Alternate Term expires 2004
Nelson Disco, Chairman Term expires 2005
Arthur Gagnon Term expires 2005
Carol Ann Grondin-Morrison Term expires 2005
David W. McCray Selectmen’s Representative
Fran L'Heureux Alternate Selectmen’s Representative

Supervisors of the Checklist

Barbara Watson, Chairman Term expires 2004
Marjorie Petrovic Term expires 2006
Mary “Jane” Coelho Term expires 2008
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Trustees of the Trust Fund

John Lyons
David Johnsen
Jack Balcom
Zoning Board of Adjustment
Ross Hall

Mark Kanakis, Alternate

Timothy Dutton

Patricia Melior

William Barry,

Richard Hinch, Alternate
Richard Barry, Chairman

Term expires 2003
Term expires 2004
Term expires 2005

Term expires 2003
Term expires 2003
Term expires 2003
Term expires 2003
Term expires 2003
Term expires 2003
Term expires 2005




2002 Annual Report of the

Abbie Griffin Park Advisory Committee

Submitted by Ruth Liberty
Chairman

The most notable improvement in the Park this year was the lighting of the flagpole to
properly display the flag around the clock.

Rainy weekends prevented volunteers from adding a planting area around the flagpole
and service pole. Thatimprovement is scheduled for completion before the opening of
the 2003 Summer Concert Series.

The 2002 Summer Concert Series presented fourteen performances every Wednesday
night from June 5™ through September 4. Due to inclement weather, the first three
performances were held in the Merrimack High School Cafeteria. There were seven
groups from the previous year, including the NH National Guard 39" Army Band and the
Shaw Brothers, plus seven new groups were added. The July 3™ entertainment by the
Merrimack Concert Association put many residents in the holiday mood for the July 47
observance.

In addition to the Concert schedule inserted in the Merrimack News Connection, this
year brochures listing date, name of performing group, time, and type of music were
distributed at each performance and were left at cooperating businesses.

Through the summer and early fall, the park was the scene of eight weddings. High
School musical groups presented three Friday night concerts, as well as a Halloween
special. The Library sponsored the musical group "Toc Human" in Auﬂ?ust. and the
Police Department held it's annual Halloween Fun Day on October 27",

In spite of high winds, the September 11" Memorial Observance was well attended.

For this occasion the speakers were: Board of Selectmen Chairman Norman Carr, Fire
Chief William Pepler, Police Joseph Chief Devine, Pearl Harbor Survivors State
Chairman William Lefabvre, VFW Post 8641 Commander Max Quayle, American
Legion Post 98 Commander Jim Downing, and School Board member Rosemarie Rung.

Once again for the seventh year the Annual Candlelight Walk proved popular. Bob
Bergin acted as the Master of Ceremonies. With the help of members of the Merrimack
Concert Association and the Mastricola Middle School Third & Fourth Grade Chorus the
caroling went well. This activity would not be possible without the participation of the
‘volunteers' upon whom we depend - - Girl Scouts, Boy Scouts, the Christensen family,
our generous merchants, and our Committee members. A longer walking course was
introduced, but still the event was over too soon. Suggestions toward extending this
event would be deeply appreciated.
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The fact that our 'Walk' date confiicts with Nashua's 'Stroll’ date has been discussed and
the consensus is that a Merrimack tradition should be scheduled to fit Merrimack's
planned events. We look forward to the g Annual Candlelight Walk which is scheduled
for the Saturday after Thanksgiving 2003. All volunteers are gratefully welcome and

suggestions will be accepted.

It is gratifying to note the increasing interest in and attendance at activities at the Park
and bandstand. We find a number of 'regulars’ at the concerts, joining friends from
previous weeks. A form of ‘picnicking' has evolved and our residents are exceptionally
neat. These facilities are available to the public and can be scheduled through the

Selectmen's Office.

Abbie Griffin Park and the Community Bandstand were made possible through
generous donations, as well as participation in various fundraisers, by Merrimack
residents. This was planned by a sub-committee of the 250" Anniversary Committee as
a permanent remembrance for the enjoyment of all. Current members and former
members of this Committee are pleased with the results. We urge all residents to
continue using and enjoying the gift they have provided.

Abbie Griffin Park Advisory Committee

Ruth Liberty, Chairman
Tina Benhardt
Vanessa Biron
Denise Leonard
) Lenny Worster
Fran L'Heureux, Selectman Representative




2002 Annual Report of the

Assessing Department

Submitted by Brett S. Purvis
Assessor

Reflecting back on 2002, we had another busy and productive year in the assessing
field with all the new rules and changes going on. Every municipality in the State is
getting ready to be evaluated and certified by the Department of Revenue
Administration. Merrimack is preparing for that big event.

Our primary ?oal is governed by RSA 75:1 to assess property at the full and true value
as of April 1%, To comply with this statute, we are updating property assessments
annually using the data we have on file. We have also established a continuous four
year program to re-measure and re-list properties and to make sure various types of
properties are reasonably proportional to other types of properties within the Town. We
have conducted an assessment-to-sales ratio study. We are in the process of reviewing
current use, exemption and tax credit procedures, and checking with taxpayers on
required documentation. We are complying with these new changes with our present
staff to meet all the new requirements.

The Department welcomes a new employee, Danielle Irish, to the staff as a field
assessor.

You will find Danielle and Michael, our field assessors, out measuring and listing
properties. If they find no one at home, they will leave a door hanger to call for an
appointment. A significant portion of this project has been completed.

The market has been increasing with a strong economy growth in Merrimack. Our
parcel count has reached 10,229 and continues to grow. The average home
assessment is $194,750 from $162,000 in the year 2000. With the latest warrant
articles that passed for 2002, increases to the elderly and disabled programs went from
83 owners to 237 owners and is still increasing.

With all the new technology and professional staff we are able to keep the new

programs and assessment base accurate and maintain proportionality. The cooperation
and understanding of all the property owners has made this year a great success.

Assessing Staff

Brett S. Purvis, Assessor
Anne L. Whitney, Administrative Assessor
Michael N. Rotast, Field Assessor
Danielle Irish, Field Assessor
Tracy Doherty, Assessing Coordinator
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2002 Annual Report of the

Board of Selectmen

Submitted by Fran L’Heureux
Selectman

This past year was not only productive but also challenging. In addition to the many
public hearings, Eagle Scout projects, committee appointments, resignations and
employee recognitions, the Board of Selectmen worked on many issues facing the
Town. Some of the highlights are as follows:

January
« A consultant was hired to provide recommendations and a timeline for the

construction of a Northwest Fire Station.

« Contracts were negotiated for 1-year with the Teamster and ACFSME unions.
An Adelphia Performance Evaluation hearing was held on January 24, 2002.

« The Board reviewed a consultant's report on solid waste prepared by DSM
Associates.

February

A purchase and sales agreement was executed for the Greens Pond property
contingent on approval at the 2002 Town Meeting.

« Manchester Airport Director Kevin Dillon provided an update of expansion plans
for the airport.

« Police Chief Joseph Devine announced the Department's hosting of their first
Citizen Academy.

e The Board approved changes to the Merrimack Community Television Policies
and Procedures.

e Areport was sent to Adelphia regarding their performance review.

March

« The Town Deliberative Session was held on March 11, 2002.

« A withdrawal from the Wastewater Capital Reserve Fund was approved to
complete the second phase of electrical upgrades at the Wastewater Treatment
Facility and for professional engineering and related odor assessment services.

April

e Private Kyle McGovern, who was injured in Afghanistan, returned safely to

Merrimack with a welcoming at the Manchester Airport.

April 2, 2002 marked the 256 Anniversary of the Town of Merrimack.

Awarded the Boston Post Cane to long-time Merrimack resident, Louis Sperry,
94, on April 4, 2002.

o Town Meeting Election was held on April 8, 2002. The Board said goodbye to
Selectman Chris Christensen and welcomed new Selectman David McCray. The
results of this meeting are contained within this report.

» Voters approved the Greens Pond property purchase.

o The Board supported a Partnership of Sportsmanship Agreement between the
Merrimack Police Department, Merrimack Youth Association, and Merrimack
Elementary Schools for youths participating in sports or after school activities.
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A group of Armenians visited Merrimack to discuss how local government works.
The Board established a Solid Waste Ad-Hoc Committee and the Solid Waste
Advisory Committee was disbanded.

The Board sent a letter to Adelphia opposing their intention to stop including
cable modem revenues in their calculations of gross annual revenues for
purposes of paying franchise fees to the Town.

The Northwest Fire Station project was put on hold until the landfill closure issues
are resolved.

Public input at the beginning of Selectmen meetings was instituted.

Selectman Antone Holevas resigned due to health reasons.

The Board met with Library Trustees to discuss possible sites for a new Library.
Selectmen voted to dedicate 100% of the 2001-2002 CATV franchise fees to be
placed in the Cable Television Fund for the development and operation of the
cable television system.

The Selectman vacancy is discussed, interviews are held in public session and
the Board voted unanimously to appoint Nancy Gagnon to fill the vacancy until
Town Meeting 2003.

The “Soapbox™ is removed from the forum on the town’s website and anyone
using the forum must be a registered user.

David Bowen, a hydrologist from the New Hampshire Department of
Environmental Services, provided the Selectmen with an update on the
contamination at the Harcros property located at 411 DW Highway.

The Board approved a $500 sewer connection fee for the completed phase [!
Turkey Hill Road sewer project.

The Board accepted guidelines for the Merrimack Public Access Center,

Governor Sheehan and the Executive Council held their July 10, 2002 meeting in
Merrimack.

A Skateboard Park dedication was held in memory of Michael Flerra.

Danville Selectman Michael Asselin solicits the Board's interest in participating in
a political coalition of State Education Grant “Receiver” Towns to offset the
political influence of a “Donor” Town coalition led by the City of Portsmouth.
Chairman Carr attended the initial meeting.

Selectmen approve updating property values for 2002.

The Board sent a letter to Adelphia for breach of contract on their performance
bond.

Selectman McCray requested the Board's support for a “Merrimack Pride Day".
The Board adopted the Capital Improvement Program to forward to the Planning
Board.

Selectmen reinstate a procedure in which the accounts payabie and payroll
manifest must be signed by at least three Selectmen and the Town Manager. No
account payable checks are to be released until manifest is signed.
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Au'gust

The Board held a special Manchester Airport Public Hearing with Manchester
Airport Director Kevin Dillon and members of the Bedford Town Council to
discuss the airport expansion and concerns by residents on increased airport

noise.
The Board established and approved the charge of a Greens Pond Master Plan

Committee.

Stephen Williams, Assistant Director of the Nashua Regional Planning
Commission, updated the Board on the regional long-range transportation plan
and highway and transportation projects.

The Board discussed potential contaminated sites along the Souhegan River

bank.

September

Construction vehicles delivering sand to the landfill become an issue due to the
weight of the vehicles.

Hillsborough County Commissioner Caro! Holden updated the Board on county
government.

MYA President Terry Benhardt introduces the concept of a Teen Center in
Merrimack.

Letters are sent to Adelphia concerning call forwarding and power link issues.
The Board amended their appointment policy for boards, committees and
commissions.

Health Officer Cec Curran provided the Board with an update of current health
issues and a summary of his job duties.

The Board voted to retain $2 Million of the General Fund Surplus and the
remainder be used for property tax reduction in this year as Warrant Article 31 of
the 2002 Town Meeting advised.

Selectmen petitioned Hillsborough County Superior Court for permission to hold
a Special Town Meeting for the purpose of purchasing industrial land on Mast
Road.

The 2003-2004 budget process is discussed.

Police Chief Joseph Devine retires and Deputy Police Chief William Mulligan is
appointed as Merrimack’s new Police Chief.

A Parliamentary Procedure Policy was adopted.

A candlelight ceremony at Abbie Griffin Park to commemorate the first
anniversary of September 1 1" was well attended.

October

October was proclaimed as Heritage Month.

The Board received an update on mitigating odor control at the Wastewater

Treatment Facility.

Selectmen authorize a survey and professional engineering services to develop a
" conceptual plan for a transfer facility on Mast Road pending approval of a Special
Town Meeting by the Superior Court on Monday, October 7, 2002.




* The Board supported a resolution for the Town to express support for and
participate in a coalition of local government entitles and franchising authorities in
the Adelphia Bankruptcy Court proceedings.

» Reeds Ferry Signage is assigned to the Heritage Commission to investigate and
report back to the Board when appropriate.

* Selectmen hold a roundtable discussion with members of the Solid Waste Ad-
Hoc committee to review their final report on solid waste options and finite costs.

» The Board held a public hearing to discuss the E2 Bridge designations on
bridges located on Lawrence Road.

* Abond hearing on the Special Town Meeting was held on October 22, 2002.
Establishing a Merrimack Pride Day is postponed until 2004.

* The Special Town Meeting to purchase industrial land on Mast Road was
canceled.

November

¢ Town Manager Dean Shankle announced that he would not seek renewal of his
contract set to expire on June 30, 2003.

* The Board disbanded the Solid Waste Ad-Hoc Committee after reviewing and
accepting their report.

e The Board removed the community input forum and soapbox from the Town’s
website.

December

» The Heritage Commission presented a restoration and preservation project for

the 1753 Spaulding House located at 115 Naticook Road.

The Board discussed solid waste disposal options.

The Board approved a draft Code of Ethics to be placed on the 2003 Town
Meeting Warrant.

e The Board held their annual budget review session on December 12, 2002.

* Aletter of support was signed for the Lower Merrimack and Souhegan River
Watershed Management Plan.

» The recommended Selectmen's budget was forwarded to the Budget Committee
for their review.

The Board would like to thank all Town employees for their support and dedicated work
during the year. Without such dedication, the Board would not be able to address the
many issues that face the Town.

Merrimack Board of Selectmen

Norman V. Carr, Chairman
Fran L’Heureux, Vice Chairman
Nancy R. Gagnon
David W. McCray
Anthony J. Pellegrino
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2002 Annual Report of the

Cable TV Advisory Committee
Submitted by Pam Tinker
Chairman

The year 2002 brought major changes in the composition of the Merrimack Cable TV
Advisory Committee with three long-time Committee members resigning and a change in
Selectman representation. Even in the midst of these membership changes, the
Committee was able to carry out its charter and accomplish some of its additional goals.

As per its charter, the Committee spent most of its time and energy monitoring the
Town's Cable Franchise Agreement with Adelphia, the Town’s cable provider, striving to
advise the Board of Selectmen in their efforts to ensure better service for cable
subscribers. In January, a Performance Evaluation Hearing was held, with public input
validating the Committee’s assertion that customer service continued to be a major area
of weakness for Adelphia. As a result, the first Performance Review outlining areas of
subscriber and Franchise Authority dissatisfaction was submitted to Adelphia. While
some issues have been addressed during the year and there has been some
improvement in service, many issues remain unresolved. As many of the customer
service complaints were related to PowerLink, Adelphia’s Internet service, the Committee
hosted a public hearing specific to those issues on January 14, 2002. The Committee
continues to try to work with Adelphia representatives to address these unresolved
concerns. Adelphia’s declaration of bankruptcy this year has further impacted service
and has provided an additional chalienge to the Committee’s ability to maintain a
relationship with the Company’s local representatives.

In moving forward with other goals, the Committee, with guidance from Director of
Community Communications Heather Anderson, completed drafting policies and
procedures for MCTV, the Town’s Community Public Access Channel. The policies will
provide the Media Division staff and the community with guidelines for the use of this
resource once the Board of Selectmen approves them.

A related goal was completed when both the Board of Selectmen and the School Board
jointly approved a set of operational guidelines for the new Public Access Center. The
Center, which is located in Merrimack High School, is a television production facility for
the Public, Education, and Government channels.

Cable Advisory Committee

Pam Tinker, Chairman
Brian McCarthy, Vice-Chairman
Greg Austin
Mike Bradley
Florence Brown
Richard Morrissey
Tony Pellegrino, Selectmen’s Representative
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2002 Annual Report of the

Code Enforcement Division
Submitted by David Mark
Building/Health Official

During the year 2002, the Code Enforcement Division issued a total of 933 building
permits. The total valuation of these permits was $32,431,395.64. Listed below is a
breakdown of the various permits issued.

New Structure:

Single Family Dwellings 40
Multiple Family Dwellings (26 Units) 1
Townhouses (Units) 5
Commercial Buildings 5
Industrial Buildings 1
Additions/Expansions:
Single Family Dwellings (Garages, Family Rooms, etc.) 192
Commercial Buildings 7
Industrial Buildings 0
Septic Systems 66
Swimming Pools 53
Demolition of Structures 4
Signs 53
Miscellaneous Permits (sheds, decks, electrical, 506
plumbing, general specified renovations)
Total Square Footage for Permitted Residential Structures 199,414
Total Square Footage for Permitted Commercial Structures 84,407
Total Square Footage for Permitted Industrial Structures 56,000

The Building Department conducted over 2,563 code inspections for the year. In
addition, 92 Certificates of Occupancy were issued to 71 new homes and 21 to other
structures.

Building permits issued in the past five years:

1998 | 1999 | 2000 | 2001 | 2002 | Total
SFR 168 130 174 87 40 599
Town Houses 0 11 11 46 5 73
MF Units 0 56 0 104 1 161
Other 678 645 756 837 887 3,803
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2002 Annual Report of the

Community Development Department

Submitted by A.J. Minkarah
Community Development Director

General economic trends, market conditions and a number of other factors significantly
affected development during 2002. Economic pressures kept unemployment at
relatively high levels, though there were fewer layoffs than in 2001. However, as is
usually the case, a number of new businesses opened, existing businesses expanded,
and various commercial and industrial as well as residential developments continued to
be approved.

During 2002, single-family home construction decreased by over 50% for a second year
in a row, declining from a total of 87 units in 2001 to 40 units in 2002. In 2000, a total of
174 single-family units were built. Permits were issued for 26 multi-family units as
compared to 104 multi-family units in 2001 and for only 5 townhouse units compared
with permits for 46 townhouse units in 2001. As was true of most of townhouse units
built in 2001, the townhouse units built in 2002 were in an elderly housing development.
The largest residential project built in 2002 was the Bowers Landing apartment
complex, a 104-unit development that was completed during the past year on permits
issued in 2001. Since housing prices continued to increase over the course of 2002,
the declines in permits issued appear to be primarily due to a lack of inventory — many
of the larger residential developments in Town were completed in 2001 and there were
fewer newly approved developments available for new construction.

Commercial and industrial development activity in 2002 was surprisingly strong. Most
significant in terms of approvals as well as new construction was Reeds Ferry Crossing
where construction began on a new Shaw’s Supermarket. One of the largest
construction projects ever undertaken in Merrimack, a 260,000 square foot addition and
parking garage at the Fidelity site (started in 2001) was completed in the spring. Other
developments included construction of a new facility for GT Equipment on DW Highway,
completion of the new FAA Center near Exit 10, a new Dunkin Donuts and a Pizza Hut
on 101A, another Dunkin Donuts on DW Highway near Harris Pond and a new 7-Eleven
on DW Highway in the northern portion of Town.

Other projects and initiatives undertaken by the Department in 2002 included
completion of the Master Plan update. Copies of the final document will be available in
early 2003 in both paper and digital form. For much of 2002, the Department provided
staff support for the Greens Pond Master Plan Committee, an ad hoc committee formed
to develop recommendations for the newly acquired Greens Pond property. This 563
acre site is one of the most significant purchases ever made by the Town.

During 2002, the Department continued to air its weekly TV show, Community

Development Spotlight on public access Channel 20. The show provides coverage of
plans and projects pending before the Planning and Zoning Boards and other planning
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and community development related issues. The Department has also upgraded its
portion of the Town website to provide additional information on permits, regulations,
and building statistics. All of the board and commission meetings staffed by the
Department are also aired on Channe! 20 and the boards and commissions have
postings on the Web Site as well.

Significant highlights of the past year are also found in the individual reports of the
boards and commissions served by the Department including the Conservation
Commission, Heritage Commission, Planning Board and Zoning Board of Adjustment as
well as in the individual reports from the Building & Health Official and the Health
Officer. As always, the Community Development welcomes public inquiries, information
requests, and comments.

Community Development Department Staff

Karen Costello, Secretary
Joseph Comer, Building Inspector
Cecil Curran, Health Officer
William D' Andrea, Planning & Zoning Administrator
Susan Domanico, Planning Assistant
Evelyn Gillis, Office Manager
David Mark, Building/Health Official
Scott McPhie, Community Resources Planner
Carol Minor, Secretary
A.J. Minkarah, Community Development Director

-128 -




2002 Annual Report of the

Merrimack Conservation Commission
Submitted by Andy Powell
Chairman

Background

The Merrimack Conservation Commission (MCC) was established in 1967 to act as the
local commission to insure the proper utilization and protection of the natural resources
and watershed resources of Merrimack under State RSA 36-A:2. The MCC is
comprised of seven voting members and three alternate members made up of
concerned citizens. All are volunteers from the community and appointed by the Board
of Selectmen. An agenda is posted in several locations and on the Town website five
days prior to a meeting. The public is welcome to attend and to express their views.
Anyone wishing to present an item for the agenda should submit the information in
writing to the Community Development Department office seven days in advance of the
next scheduled meeting. The MCC meets at 7:00pm on the second and fourth
Mondays of each month in the Board of Selectman’s Conference Room, upper level of
the Town Hall. Members can be reached directly by phone or email, or by contacting
Scott McPhie in the Community Development Department office. See the Town'’s
website for additional information.

The MCC reviews all building permits and other activities in the Towns’ designated
wellhead protection and aquifer conservation districts. They submit recommendations
to the Planning Board to be considered during their review process. The MCC often
meets with developers and Town officials during the conceptual stages of project
planning in order to help minimize impact to wetlands, open spaces and ecologically
significant areas in town. The MCC acts as the local advisory board to the NH
Wetlands Board and reviews all NH Dredge & Fill Applications and makes
recommendations for the Board’s use.

The MCC oversees a fund that may be used for the purchase of open space land or
easements with the objective of maintaining, improving, and protecting the future use of
these parcels within the town. The MCC currently is responsible for the management of
900 plus acres of Town owned “open space” including 80 Acres Park, Gilmore Hill
Memorial Forest, Riverside Park, and the Grater Woods Town Forest. The MCC
maintains an index of wetlands, open spaces and natural aesthetic or ecologically
significant areas within the Town and plans and recommends for the proper utilization of
such areas. This information is open to the public along with a full library of related
materials in the Community Development Department office.



MCC Activities Summarized

The following is a list of many activities that have been completed during the past year,
or are on-going as of this report:

% Contributed $150,000 of available funds toward the Town's purchase of the 563-acre
“Greens Pond” parcel in the area of Naticook and Amherst Roads. Prepared the
groundwork, recommended and worked with Community Development Department
office to see that available EPA Superfund mitigation funds were available to apply to
the purchase of this parcel.

< Sponsored a warrant article to insure a continued source of funds for use in
protecting and managing open space within Merrimack which received overwhelming
approval by the voters. Actively continues to pursue parcels as outlined in the Town
Master Plan. Works to educate landowners as to the importance of protecting open
space and the rural character of Merrimack and the means they may use to protect the
parcels they own.

< Reviewed 16 plans that proposed construction activities on private and public
properties containing wetlands, and within the Aquifer Conservation District and
Wellhead Protection Areas. Recommended to the Planning Board actions to protect
these important Town resources.

< Reviewed and prepared letters of recommendation regarding six Dredge & Fill
applications which were brought before the MCC by developers, contractors, locaf
businesses, and homeowners. Advised the Wetlands Board on these applications and
their impact on Merrimack.

« One member represented the MCC on the Merrimack Master Plan Committee
throughout the past years. Two MCC members are currently serving on the Greens
Pond Master Plan Committee preparing to recommend the best use of the recently
purchased 563-acre Greens Pond parce!.

< Answered questions and investigated complaints from concerned citizens and Town
representatives relative to wetland protection, buffer zones, seasonal, and permanent
docking structures.

 Actively sought three middle and high school students to attend one of several no-
charge camps sponsored by UNH and the 4-H programs. Although no applications
were submitted, we will continue to offer the opportunity in the spring of 2003 for
students to becomne better educated on nature and conservation issues while enjoying a
week of camp.

** Provided financial and personal support for the University of New Hampshire Lay

Lakes Monitoring Program in their program to monitor the waters of Horseshoe Pond,
Souhegan River, Baboosic, and Naticook Lakes. Supports the Souhegan Watershed
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Association Corridor Plan and the Souhegan and Merrimack River Management ‘
Programs. Co-sponsored the Adopt-A-Salmon Program in the Reeds Ferry Elementary
School. Sponsored an Earth Day Walk at Wasserman Park. Participated in the
Merrimack Adopt-A-Road Program.

& Distributes annually at no charge 200 white spruce seedlings to Town residents.
The seedlings are grown in the NH State Nursery and intended for use in replanting this
species in Merrimack.

< Attended workshops and training programs including Open Space Preservation,
erosion control and storm water management work shops, Current Use Tax Rules and
the Annual NH Association of Conservation Commissions. Actively participated as
individuals in the UNH Coverts Cooperators Program and Tree Stewards Program.
Reviewed storm water handling recommendations and recommended upgrades to the
Planning Board in anticipation of the March 2003 deadline.

< Developed in conjunction with the Department of Public Works a new Beaver
Management Policy clarifying private and public responsibilities and providing
guidelines to follow for answering concerns or responding to potentially damaging
flooding due to beaver activity.

< Added an updated encyclopedia binder collection of all relevant forestry, deed and
easement information for all open space in the Town.

< Reached out and negotiated with open space land owners for potential sale or
donation of land to the Town.

< Improved boundary marking signage at Grater Road MCC managed lands. Worked
with various volunteer groups including the New England Mountain Bike Association
(NEMBA) to create useful trails for multiple uses at the Grater Road parcels.

& Welcomed Robert McNaught and Robert Croatti as a new members of the
Merrimack Conservation Commission.

% Reviewed 11 Intent to Cut requests.

& Reviewed NH DES complaints and permit renewal requests for various
environmentally sensitive uses in town.

& Offered current use money toward leveraging additional funds to benefit the Town
through the LCHIP State Grant Program.

% Completed Wasserman Park LCHIP yearly survey for environmental compliance.

& Submitted comments on options to scenic tree removal in the Town of Merrimack's
right of way, thus helping to preserve Merrimack’s rural character.




< Implemented an extensive checklist for applicants appearing before the MCC.
Strongly encouraged elimination of the use of ice melting compounds, pesticides, and
fertilizers in sensitive areas, proper storm water drainage, retention of water on site for
aquifer recharge, and maintenance of wildlife corridors and areas.

Membership

Currently the MCC has three alternate member positions open. Alternates serve in
nearly the same capacity as full-voting members except that they normally do not have
voting rights. An alternate position is a great way to become familiar with MCC
practices and activities and hopefully would lead to a subsequent full-voting position.
Visit our website at www ci merrimack nh us under Departments/Community
Development/Conservation to get information on our activities and to connect to many
interesting sights.

Conservation Commission

Andy Powell, Chairman
Eber Currier, Vice Chairman
Robert Croatti
George Borrelli
Robert McNaught
Karen Mattor
Anthony Pellegrino, Selectmen’s Representative
Scott McPhie, Community Resources Planner




2002 Annual Report of the

Finance Department
Submitted by Robert T. Levan
Finance Administrator

The responsibilities of the Finance Department include the following:

The recording and reporting of all financial transactions of the Town and the
preparation of various management and compliance reports.

The administration of a complex payroll accounting system (approximately 15,000
payroll checks per year and almaost 500 employees) and the maintenance of
employee vacation and sick leave accrual records.

The pre-audit of all purchase orders and vendor invoices, the recording of these
documents, the processing of related accounts payable checks, and the reporting of
the expenditures reflected thereby (approximately 2,300 purchase orders, 12,000
invoices, and 5,700 accounts payable checks per year).

Recording cash receipts reported by the Town Clerk/Tax Collector, depositing and
recording cash receipts from other departments, and reconciling cash accounts to
monthly bank statements and to the Treasurer's records.

Processing departmental allocations of group insurance, telephone, fuel, and vehicle
repair costs.

Advising the Board of Selectmen in the adoption of investment policies and assisting
the Treasurer in investing Town funds in accordance with those policies.

The preparation of the Town's annual budget and associated compliance reports
and participation in all budget-related meetings.

Coordinating the preparation of the annual capital improvements program on behalf
of the Planning Board.

Costing of collective bargaining agreements during the negotiation process.
The competitive bidding of all purchases of equipment costing $1,000 or more.
Coordinating the sale of tax-deeded properties and the auction of surplus Town
equipment and vehicles and unclaimed equipment received by the Police

Department.

Coordinating the billing and collection of ambulance fees.
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¢ The competitive bidding of the Town's group health, dental, life, and disability
insurance coverage, coordinating the related employee enroliment and re-enrollment
processes, auditing all related billings, and the processing of life and disability
insurance claims.

¢ The competitive bidding of the Town's workers compensation, unemployment
compensation, property, and liability insurance coverage, processing all related
claims, and ensuring that the Town's property and liability insurance coverage is
adequate.

e The general administration of the Town's defined benefit pension plan, including the
investment of plan assets and the processing of benefits, and the processing of
employee enroliments in ICMA 401(a) and 457 retirement plans and contributions
relating thereto.

* The administration of a fixed asset accounting system.
e Coordinating the issuance of bonds and other debt obligations.

*» Assisting the Town Manager, the Board of Selectmen, and other departments and
committees in various finance-related matters.

Financial Condition of Town

The Town’s financial condition at June 30, 2002 is excellent. There is an ample
unreserved fund balance (surplus) in each of the major operating funds for cash flow
purposes and to protect against contingencies. Long-term debt is well below the
maximum level recommended by credit rating agencies. Even more important,
significant amounts have been accumulated in capital reserve funds to provide for the
future replacement of major equipment, facilities, and infrastructure without significantly
increasing debt or property taxes.

Finance Department Staff

Robert T. Levan, CPA, Finance Administrator
Brenda S. DuLong, Accounting Supervisor
Sandra N. Degnan, Account Clerk Il
Xenia A. Carroll, Account Clerk i
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2002 Annual Report of the

Merrimack Fire Department

Submitted by William H. Pepler, Jr.
Fire Chief

The Merrimack Fire Department was founded on May 12, 1924. Since that time, the
Department has expanded and continued to advance meeting the needs of the residents
of Merrimack. The Department provides fire, rescue, advanced life support, ambulance,
hazardous material response, emergency management planning, fire code enforcement,
fire prevention education, and fire investigation services. The Department also
coordinates the activities of the Local Emergency Planning Committee.

The Town is fortunate to be served by a highly trained and dedicated emergency
response force. This force is comprised of full-time fire officers, firefighters and
firefighter/fparamedics, on call firefighters, volunteer ambulance personnel, and volunteer
emergency management members. The team works together cohesively to provide the
best service possible to the residents and visitors of our community.

Emergency Response

In 2002 the Department responded to 2,396 emergency calls. The emergency calls
included 1,070 fire/hazardous materials calls and 1,326 emergency medical calls. This
represents an increase of 6% above 2001 responses. Firefighters fought 2-alarm fires on
Hansom Drive, Bean Road, and Westborn Road. Building fires were also fought on
Vanden Road, Belmont Drive, Wilson Hili Road, Amherst Road, Baboosic Lake Road,
and Cedar Lane. Fire crews also extinguished several motor vehicle fires inside the
attached garage of homes. In addition, fire crews handled numerous other fire calls
including appliance fires, chimney fires, electrical fires, vehicle fires, trash fires, and brush

fires.

Rescue crews were busy throughout the year. The Department responded to many
serious motor vehicle accidents, several of which required the use of the “Jaws of Life" to
free the trapped occupants. On numerous occasions all three Department ambulances
have been used simultaneously in town. On February 21, 2002 one person died and
another barely survived when their snow machine went through the ice on Baboosic

Lake.

Dry conditions and an unprecedented drought resulted in several brush fires. During the
year outside burning was banned for several weeks. In April a large brush fire was
extinguished along the Merrimack River near Front Street. Several local youths were
arrested for starting this fire. Firefighters extinguished several brush fires along the
railroad tracks caused by a passing train. In July firefighters extinguished three brush
fires along the side of the Everett Turnpike. All three fires are considered suspicious.

Several storms kept emergency crews busy during the year. On July 23,2002 a quick
moving thunderstorm caused numerous calls for service within a short period of time.
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This storm caused several tense moments at the Dunkin Donuts at Bowers Landing. The
high wind blew a sheet of plywood from a nearby construction site into the gas meter at
the rear of the building. As firefighters were approaching the meter to shut off the gas,
the damaged meter blew off the building, causing a major natural gas leak. Firefighters
immediately called for additional assistance, while evacuating the surrounding buildings.
Fire crews then used a water spray to dissipate the gas cloud, while members of
KeySpan Energy repaired the gas main.

A storm with high winds on September 11, 2002 caused 27 emergency calls within a
short time on that day. The early snowstorm on October 23, 2002 resulted in 51
emergency calls in a few hours. Calls ranged from wires burning in trees, wires and trees
down in the street, and transformers on fire. The early arrival of winter, with several
snowstorms near the end of the year, resulted in numerous accidents and calls for
service.

Fire crews responded to several hazardous materials incidents this year, including a 250-
gallon kerosene spill on Longwood Lane and a chlorine leak at the YMCA.

The year also produced several unique calls. In March a resident reported that he caught
on fire while driving in his car. The cause of the fire was later determined to be careless

disposal of smoking materials. In June a fire in @ home, which originated in the area of a
large fish tank, caused the tank to burst. The resulting cascade of water extinguished the
fire.

Administration

The Department is fortunate to have a senior management staff that are veterans of the
Department. Assistant Chief Howard Young, a 28-year veteran, coordinates the
Operations Division. He also serves as second-in-command of the Department. The
Operations Division includes emergency response, full time shift personnel, apparatus
maintenance, station maintenance, and purchasing. Assistant Chief Dave Parenti, a 16-
year veteran, coordinates the Support Services Division. This division includes the Fire
Marshal’s Office, the Training Bureau, personnel, and both the Call firefighters and EMS
volunteers. Support Services is also responsible for all new and existing technology.

Apparatus

In February the Department took delivery of a new ladder truck. This vehicle, a 2002
American LaFrance with a 93’ ladder and a 2000 gpm pump, replaced the 1981 model.
After an extensive training and driving program, the vehicle was placed into service. In
December a 1995 ambulance was purchased to replace the 1990 unit.
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Call Firefighters

The Call firefighters play an important role within the community. They provide additional
support to the full-time personnel when needed. This includes assisting at structure fires,
motor vehicle accidents and brush fires. The Call personnel are made up of residents
that work full-time non-fire related jobs during the day, but have a passion to help in the
community or are working to obtaining the skills needed to become full-time firefighters.
The Call firefighters provide assistance to the career firefighters during the evening hours

and on weekends as well.

During the past year, the Call firefighters were reorganized. The firefighters were divided
into two companies, Operations and Support Services. The Operations Company is
staffed by certified firefighters who respond to emergency calls. The Support Services
Company is staffed by veteran firefighters and support personnel who no longer have
emergency response responsibilities, but still play an important role in the operations of
the Department including training (passing on their years of knowledge to the new
firefighters), “pilots” for mutual aid fire companies and rehabilitation of personnel at

emergency scenes.

Community Awareness

The Department has a comprehensive program to reach out to the community in areas
separate from emergency response. This program includes the annual Open House,
community training and education, and customer satisfaction surveys. '

A memorial service and Open House were held on October 12, 2002 at Central Fire
Station to commemorate Fire Prevention Week. Pastor William Balson, Department
Chaplain, conducted the service to honor all Fallen Firefighters and their families.

Immediately following the Memorial Service, Open House activities began. These
activities included firefighters demonstrating their skills with “live” fire evolutions; EMS
volunteer's demonstrating emergency medical skills, and rescue crews demonstrating the
use of the “Jaws of Life” rescue tool. During the Open House, Freddie the Fire Truck,
Sparky the Fire Dog, and Smokey Bear all made appearances and were a huge success
with the children as well as the parents.

Community training and education programs were expanded this year. Employees from
Public Works and the Merrimack School District received American Red Cross CPR
training. The staffs of several preschools were trained in Basic First Aid and CPR and
the coaches of MYA Pop Warner Football received American Red Cross Child CPR
training. Informational bulletins were provided through the cable access channel on the

West Nile Virus.

On May 29, 2002 the Department participated in the annual Driving While Intoxicated
(DW1) Awareness Demonstration for the senior class at Merrimack High School. Working
with the Merrimack Police Department, Merrimack School District, Bailey's Towing, and
Rivet's Funeral Home, personnel staged a serious motor vehicle accident, where one of
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the student drivers had been drinking. The goal of this program is to make Merrimack
High School seniors aware of the dangers and consequences of drinking and driving.

On August 28, 2002 the United States Postal Service presented the Merrimack Police
and Fire Departments with a framed copy of the new postage stamp commemorating the
9-11 emergency responders. The first class stamp depicts the famous photo of three
New York City Firefighters raising the American flag at Ground Zero.

Jim Adams, District Manager for the US Postal Service, along with Merrimack Postmaster
Don Snow, made the presentation at the Central Fire Station. Assistant Fire Chief
Howard Young accepted the stamp for the Fire Department and Police Chief Joseph
Devine accepted the stamp for the Police Department. The inscription attached to the
framed copy said: Presented to the Merrimack Police and Fire Departments in
recognition of your ongoing efforts To Serve and Protect. Given by the United States
Postal Service, August 2002.

In October personnel participated in the Merrimack Middle School project called “Meet
the Local Hero’s”. The purpose of this project was to allow eighth grade students to meet
the firefighters that serve the community. Information obtained during the interviews was
used by the students to write a report of their experience, and prepare a biography of
personnel.

In order to measure customer satisfaction, our monthly citizen survey program enters its
second successful year. Developed by Assistant Chief Dave Parenti, several emergency
calls, both fire and EMS, are selected randomly each month. A customer survey form js
sent to the residents who used the service and they are asked to complete the brief
questionnaire. To date, the results have been very successful, with the majority of
returns listing a very high rate of satisfaction.

Please stop in and see us when you have the opportunity. We consider every day “Open
House” and invite you to visit us. Please wear your safety belts and test your smoke
detectors. A “slow” day at the firehouse is always a good day for all of us.

Emergency Management and Planning

The Department coordinates emergency planning for the entire Town. The planning
process is a critical part of emergency response, because it establishes the framework in
which emergency crews operate. The Town is fortunate to have departments that share
a common interest in preparing for emergencies by working together. This is especially
prevalent with the Police Department and School District.

The Department has highly trained personne! and the necessary equipment and planning
to deal with chemical and biological threats. By being prepared for a typical chemical
spill and/or release, we have become prepared to deal with chemical and biclogical
weapons. The Town also has the capability for additional resources through its mutual
aid system. The Town is a member of Souhegan Mutual Aid Response Team {(SMART).
This is the regional hazardous material team headquartered in Nashua. The Town is
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also a member of the Souhegan Fire Mutual Aid Association and the Border Area Mutual
Aid Association for additional fire/rescue related resources.

The Town of Merrimack, in conjunction with the Nashua Regional Planning Commission,
received a grant from the NH Office of Emergency Management to develop a Hazard
Mitigation Plan. The Board of Selectmen accepted this plan in September of this year.
The purpose of this planis to identify potential hazards within the Town of Merrimack
allowing Town Officials to reduce and mitigate future losses from natural and man-made
hazard events. The plan contains specific hazards within the town, potential hazards and
threats, critical facilities, and areas of concern. This plan is considered a work in
progress and will be revised frequently to assess whether existing and suggested
mitigation strategies are obtainable and successful.

A Response to Terrorism annex was prepared and added to the Emergency
Management Plan (EMP) for the Town. The Town EMP is a comprehensive plan, which
defines actions necessary in the event of a major emergency. The plan includes
operation of the Emergency Operations Center (located at the police station), operation
of emergency shelters, evacuations, and roles of departments, and elected officials. The
plan would be utilized in the event of a town-wide emergency. These emergencies
include, but are not limited to, severe storms disrupting transportation, causing flooding,
or knocking out electrical power, chemical spills, transportation accidents, and domestic

terrorist incidents.

Through the efforts of Superintendent of Schools, Marge Chiafery, cooperation between
the School District and other Town departments continues at an all time high. The
emergency planning process for schools has been expanded, with a joint school/town
committee working to enhance the school evacuation plan. Planning is underway with
the School District, Police Department and other agencies to conduct a full-scale
emergency drill involving an elementary school in Spring 2003.

Emergency Medical Service

The Department operates a unique and effective advanced life support Emergency
Medical Service program for the residents and visitors of the community. We have a

combination full time and volunteer service.

The Department utilizes full-time firefighter/paramedics, full-time firefighter/EMT's, part-
time ambulance attendants, and volunteer EMS crews. The full-time, on duty
firefighter/paramedic responds to all EMS calls along with the closest fire company.
During weekdays a part-time ambulance attendant responds with the
firefighter/paramedic in the ambulance to provide emergency care and transports the
patient to the hospital. During the evening and on weekends volunteer EMS personnel
respond to the scene to assist the firefighter/paramedic. If advanced life support skills
are not needed, or if a volunteer paramedic is available, the EMS volunteer crew
transports the patient to the hospital, and the firefighter/paramedic returns to the station




and remains available for other calis. During weekdays, an additional fuli-time
firefighter/paramedic and full-time firefighter/EMT's staff the second and third ambulance.

This concept of EMS has several advantages and benefits. This unigue delivery system
allows our Department to be able to provide the highest level of pre-hospital care to our

by coverage at multiple events in the Town, including parades, sporting events,
graduations, and annual events including the Fourth of July day-long celebration and the
Library Cardboard Boat Race.

The Department operates three transporting ambulances. In 1999 the Board of
Selectmen authorized the Department to keep an ambulance scheduled for replacement
as a spare. The goal was to always have two ambulances available, especially when

ce for routine maintenance. Since that time, all three ambulances have
been used simultaneously on many occasions. All ambulances are housed at the Central
Fire Station.

EMS Volunteers

In 1967 volunteers from the newly formed Merrimack Ambulance Rescue Service

(MARS) began providing medical assistance to residents in Town. In 1980 full-time
paramedics were hired to cover the ambulance during the day, when the majority of
volunteers were working. In 1986 the Board of Selectmen transferred MARS from a

active in the Town today. Currently EMS Deputy Chief Steve Bachand coordinates the
volunteer EMS Division activities and a staff of fifteen members divided into five duty
nights.

Firefighter and EMT of the Year

Master Firefighter Danny Belanger was selected as Firefighter of the Year. EMS
Lieutenant Matt Pfeifer was selected as EMT of the Year. The Merrimack VFW, Post #
8641, sponsors these awards each year. Post Commander Max Quayle presented the
awards at their annual banquet on November 186, 2002.




thousands of dollars. He also mounted and installed the large picture of the FDNY flag
raising at Ground Zero, proudly displayed in the main stairwell of the Central Fire Station.

Matt Pfeifer joined the EMS Division in 1993 as a Youth Observer. In October 1995, he
became a full-time member. Since that time, he has served as Assistant Team Leader,
Team Leader and Ambulance Officer. In the proposed reorganization of the EMS
Division, he became a Lieutenant. Matt has been instrumental in the reorganization of
the division, working both to support the EMS Division members, and with administration
to improve the service to the residents of the community. Matt's employer, Saint-Gobain,
also recognized him for his volunteer efforts in serving his community.

Fire Education Program

The Fire Marshal is responsible for fire safety educational activities throughout the Town.
This includes the Juvenile Fire Setter Intervention Program. This program is partially
funded with a grant from the State of New Hampshire Division of Child, Youth and Family
Services through Hillsborough County. The program is designed to educate juveniles of
the dangers of fire, and the impact of their actions. The program provides proper
education and counseling that will inform students about the danger of fire and how they
can dramatically affect innocent people by their actions. During the year seven juveniles
who were involved in setting fires graduated from the program.

The Elementary Schoo! Fire Prevention Program was a great success this year. Fire
companies from all full-time shifts along with Fire Inspectors visited all public and private
elementary schools and all day care centers to teach fire safety to the students. The
program included instruction on, “How to protect your lungs,” “Stop, Drop and Roll”, and
“Crawi Low in Smoke”. Students also saw a firefighter in full protective clothing, while a
few were able to dress in firefighter clothing. At the conclusion of the program, the
students were able to view the fire apparatus. The success of this program would not
have been possible without the complete support and cooperation of the teachers and
staff at all the schools.

Fire Marshal’s Office

Lieutenant Michael Currier was promoted to Fire Marshal for the Town. Fire Marshal
Currier had previously been assigned as a lieutenant of Engine 3 at the Reed'’s Ferry
Station and is the Department's hazardous materials expert.

The Fire Marshal's office is responsible for all fire prevention activities in the community
including fire code enforcement, fire and life safety inspections, public education, and fire
and arson investigations. They are also responsible for all activities of the Local
Emergency Planning Committee. Fire Inspectors Lieutenant Leo LeBlanc and Lieutenant
Pip Adams assist Fire Marshal Currier. They have been busy dealing with several major
projects and issues. The Fire Marshal's office also provides annual fire prevention
inspections for all places of assembly (schools, restaurants, stores, shopping malls,
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meeting places), industrial and commercial buildings, day care facilities, gasoline, heating
oil, and propane facilities.

Fire Stations

The Department continues to plan for the expansion and addition of emergency facilities
in the Town. The Town has placed plans for the renovation and expansion of the South
Merrimack Fire Station in 2003 on hold. Renovation and expansion of the building is
needed to relieve cramped conditions and to provide additional space needed for
apparatus, storage, living quarters, training and meetings, offices, and a fitness room.

The Town owns land on Baboosic Lake Road, at the intersection of McQuestion Road.
This land was purchased for the dual purpose of building the Northwest Fire Station and
developing the remaining land into playing fields. This fire station will protect the
“Northwest” section of the Town, near Baboosic Lake. Response times in this area are
some of the longest in the Town. Access to the Buker property, the site of the proposed
school, is immediately behind this property, with the access road running along the
southern boundary. We are presently working with the School Department, Public
Works, and the Parks and Recreation Department to develop this property. A Capital
Reserve Fund was established for this purpose in 2000. Unfortunately, the funding and
construction of this needed station has also been delayed.

Pians are also being made for the renovation of the Reed'’s Ferry Fire Station. Originally
built simply as a garage, the building lacks adequate living quarters, office space, and
training facilities. The renovation will be funded from the Shedd-Harris Fund, resuiting in
no impact on the tax rate. Full-time personnel also need to be added to this station, to
ensure a rapid response to the northern section of the community.

Honor Guard

The Fire Department Honor Guard played a vital role in our ceremonies to remember the
victims of 9-11. Combining resources with the Police Honor Guard, the Honor Guard
made frequent appearances throughout the Town during the year. The Honor Guard
participated in many events including the Fourth of July Parade, the Northeast Police
Expo at Anheuser-Busch, the Christmas Parade, the Pearl Harbor Memorial Ceremony
and the Town Memorial Service on September 11, 2002. During September 11, 2002,
the Honor Guard made four separate appearances. The Honor Guard was also featured
during the Fire Department Memorial Service on October 12, 2002.

Led by Captain Larry Rothhaus, the Honor Guard members include Master Firefighters

Wayne Perkins, Greg Regan, Brian Borneman, Brian Dubreuil, Richard Gagne,
Firefighter/Paramedic Paul Kelly, and F irefighter Shawn Kimball.
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Local Emergency Planning Committee

Fire Marshal Mike Currier serves as the Chair of the Local Emergency Planning
Committee. This Committee is responsible for developing and maintaining an emergency
response plan for the community as defined under the Environmental Protection Agency
(EPA) Superfund Amendment Reauthorization Act {(SARA), Emergency Planning and
Community Right-to Know Act of 1986. This Committee is comprised of business and
government representatives. The Committee provides guidance to the Town on matters
relating to hazardous materials and related issues and emergency management issues.
They also ensure industry has provided proper information and support to the emergency
services of the Town so they are prepared to handle hazardous materials and related
disaster and emergency management issues.

Our Mission Statement

“Help others, show you care, go home safe.”

A mission statement is developed to set the tone for personnel who work for an
organization. Itis designed to send a message to the personnel of what is expected of

them.

Our Vision Statement

“To provide quality, customer-oriented service, which is provided in a safe, caring,
professional and consistent manner. ”

A vision statement is developed to communicate the goals and values of the Department
to the people who we protect. Itis designed to send a message to the public of what they
can expect for service and assistance.

Personnel Milestones

During the year, several personnel changes were made. Mike Currier was hired as the
Fire Marshal. Veteran Fire Inspector Al Britton retired on February 12, 2002. He died on
October 3, 2002 and received a full-department funeral. Al's career spanned 42 years.
Several employees were honored for their longevity with the department. Lieutenant
Charles Smith completed 20 years of service. Completing fifteen years of service
included Captain Scott Simpson, and Master Firefighters Mark Akerstrom, Richard
Barrows, Marc Bechard, Gerry Beland, Norm Carr, Jr., Bruce Cornelius, Thomas
Kennedy, Carl Nelsen, and David Trepaney. Master Firefighter Richard Gagne was
recognized for five years of service.

Walter Alford, Shawn Farrell, and Mike Kiernan were hired as call firefighters. Jennifer
Kojo, Melissa Jewel, Carol Rivard, and Robert Tackett were hired as EMS Volunteers.
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Services Provided
The Department also provides the following additional services:

e Fire safety inspection

» Courtesy wood stove inspection

+ Burn permits

e Blasting permits

» Oil burner installation permits

o Fire station tours

 Fire extinguisher training

» Appearances at company and neighborhood functions
e CPR and first aid training to business, industry, civic groups and Town employees
« Safe haven from domestic violence

« School education programs

*» Assistance with water emergencies (broken pipes, etc.)
 Carbon monoxide monitoring

e Assistance with smoke in the home (wood stove, cooking)
* Ambulance, rescue and fire coverage at special events
e Employee health fairs

» Medical coverage at football/soccer/basketball games

» Assistance with smoke detector location

+ Blood pressure monitoring

¢ Department Honor Guard

» Assistance in lifting people who have fallen

¢ Juvenile fire setter diversion program

» Fire Explorer Program for young adults interested in fire and rescue work
* Youth Observer Program for young adults interested in ambulance work
e Residential lock-outs

» Certificate of Occupancy inspections

¢ Hazard mitigation

* Emergency planning

 Local Emergency Planning Committee

Technology

Great strides were made this year in the area of technology. Laptop computers were
installed in the first due fire apparatus to provide the fire officer with rapid access to
critical information. For years the fire officer rode in an apparatus cab filled with
reference books, maps, hydrant location lists and a host of other information. Now this
information can be located in a single source. The computers allow firefighters to quickly
access pre-plans, including floor plans and site plans, for local commercial facilities.

Town property records, pre plans, and other local information have been loaded into the
computers. In the coming year we will be working with E911 to begin using a mapping
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orogram. The Department plans to continue to add more information to the computers.
This completes Phase |. Phase il will include a wireless connection to the Internet from
the apparatus, probably through a cell phone connection utilizing the Nextel phones
already installed in the apparatus. Assistant Chief Dave Parenti coordinated the project

for the Department.

The Department is eliminating staff workstations, and replacing them with laptops. The
laptops are equipped with a port replicator that allows them to be used with a full-size
monitor and keyboard during the day, and then taken home to be used at meetings,
schoo!, emergency scenes, or other locations. Staff vehicles will soon be equipped with

mobile docking ports.

The Department is also connecting all stations to the main server, located at the Central
Fire Station. A new server with a dual hard drive was recently installed. The South
Merrimack Fire Station (Station #2) was recently connected and the Reed’s Ferry Fire
Station (Station #3) will go on line this summer. This has allowed all reports to be
completed at the station where the information is generated, which in turn allows all
information to be immediately entered into the main server, and automatically into the

daily log.

The Department web site has been significantly revised thanks primarily to Webmaster
Arthur Stockhausen. A great deal of new information, including photos of apparatus,
stations, and staff have been included. New sections for Call, EMS, LEPC, Training,
Operations, Support Services, History, and Frequently Asked Operations have also been
added. The main page also lists what new information has been added each week. All
press releases and The Week in Review, the weekly department newsletter, are
accessible on this site. The web site can be reached at http //fire.ci.merrimack.nh us

The Department continues to increase our capabilities through technology available in
critical equipment. With the support of the Town Manager, Board of Selectmen, and
residents of the community, we have been able to purchase specialized equipment. This
year, two additional thermal imaging cameras were purchased. These cameras will
improve our ability to rapidly search a smoke filled building. This new rescue technology
has the ability to detect the heat profile of a person in a building where visibility is zero,
resulting in the possible rescue of this person. These cameras have also been used to
locate hidden fires in walls, resulting in rapid extinguishment and limited damage.
Cameras can also transmit a signal outside the building, allowing incident commanders to
monitor the activities in the building. The units can also be used to locate people lost in
the woods, or assist the police in locating a suspect in hiding. Cameras are now located
on fire apparatus at all fire stations.

Weather stations were installed at the Central Fire Station and at the South Merrimack
Station. The weather stations will allow on duty personnel to monitor the weather
conditions, especially during times of severe weather.




Training

Training is a regular component for all personnel who work for the Department. Our
personnel realize that training is essential to maintain the life saving skills that they
employ everyday. Training is conducted on many levels, including regular on shift
training, monthly training, annual refresher training, and specific courses offered
throughout the year at the New Hampshire Fire Academy in Concord.

During the week of March 20-23, 2002 Department personnel participated in a live fire
drill at 40 Meetinghouse Road. Several training fires were started in the building each
day. The house and out buildings were razed to make room for a new housing
development. Personnel received valuable, real life training with thermat imaging
cameras, the personnel accountability system, and incident command.

The personnel accountability system is a system of identification cards carried by all
personnel. Personnel “check-in” with the incident commander and present one card to
him/her to indicate they are present on the scene of the emergency. If they enter a
hazardous area, the second card is taken by the safety officer. The value of this system
is it allows the incident commander to rapidly account and locate all personnel in the
event of a catastrophic event like a building collapse or explosion. It will also indicate
who is missing, so an immediate search can be launched.

On Saturday, November 2, 2002, the former Open Arms Church on Daniel Webster
Highway was utilized for “live fire” training. The training allowed new firefighters to gain
‘real life” experience under controlled situations. Personnel also practiced with the
thermal imaging cameras, the personnel accountability system and the Rapid
Intervention Team (RIT) operations. RIT is a program designed to teach firefighters how
to save themselves or other firefighters trapped in a burning building. At the conclusion
of training, the buildings, including the three-story house and two barns, were burned to
the ground in a spectacular fire. The buildings were razed to make room for the Reed’s
Ferry Mall.

Specialized training programs attended by Department personnel included Response to
Terrorist Bombings, Planning for Terrorism, Mercury Spills, and Decontamination
Procedures for EMS personnel. Other specialized training programs included joint
training with full-time and EMS volunteer personnel, Preventing Sexual Harassment in
the Workplace, Improving Communications in the Workplace, and the Commercial
Drivers License Course.

Several personne! graduated from the New Hampshire Fire Academy this year. They
include Firefighter/Paramedics Shawn Brechtel and Bill Pelrine, and Firefighters Mike
Kiernan, Shawn Farrell, and Walter Alford. Many personnel received advanced training
including Master Firefighter Rick Barrows and Firefighter/Paramedic Scott Bannister who
attended Rescue Systems II, a specialized course focusing on building collapse rescue.

In an effort to increase training opportunities for all Department personnel, and allow the

residents to view fire/EMS related information, the weekly training program was
expanded on Channel 20, MGTV. Each week training videos are shown depicting fire
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and medical training. Personnel on and off duty can view these programs. Citizens at
home can also view these programs. The show times are Monday at S5pm, Tuesday at
8am, Wednesday at 8:30pm, and Friday at 12:00pm.

The People Who Serve the Town

The Department is comprised of many people working together to serve the people of the
Town. Some personnel are full-time, some are part-time, some are on call and some are
volunteers. The largest work group in the Department is the full-time personnel. A total
of 42 personnel work in this group. This includes the administrative staff, which works
Monday through Friday, and four, nine person shifts, which provide 24-hour emergency
response coverage for the community. Six part-time personnel work on a weekly basis,
including the fire inspectors and the daytime ambulance attendants. On call firefighters
consist of 20 personnel who serve as firefighters on an on call basis and are paid hourly
for the time worked. This means they are only called when needed to supplement the
full-time personnel, in times of multiple calls, and during storms or other major events.
EMS Volunteers receive no compensation and respond to ambulance calls at night and
during the weekend.

Administrative Staff

Merrimack Service Time

William H. Pepler, Jr. Fire Chief 3.5 years
Howard Young Asst. Fire Chief 28 years
David Parenti Asst. Fire Chief 16 years
Michael Currier Fire Marshal : 18 years
Fran Dupuis Adm. Lieutenant 22 years
Leo LeBlanc Fire Inspector _ 2 years
Pip Adams Fire Inspector 1 year
Cathy Nadeau Office Manager " 14 years
Pastor Bill Balson Chaplain 7 years
“A” Shift

Captain Larry Rothhaus 24 years
Lieut. Richard Pierson 12 years
Master Firefighter Wayne Perkins 21 years
Master Firefighter Mark Akerstrom 15 years
Master Firefighter Brian Borneman 8 years
Master Firefighter Brian Dubreuil 8 years
Firefighter/Paramedic Paul Kelly 3 years
Firefighter Shawn Kimball 1 year

Firefighter/Paramedic Bill Pelrine 1 year



“B” Shift

Captain Richard Todd

Lieut. Charles Smith

Master Firefighter Danny Belanger

Master Firefighter/Paramedic Dave Nickerson
Master Firefighter Carl Nelsen

Master Firefighter Tom Kennedy

Master Firefighter Tom Dalton

Master Firefighter Matt Duke
Firefighter/Paramedic Shawn Brechtel

“C” Shift

Captain Scott Simpson

Lieut. Shawn Allison

Master Firefighter David Joki
Master Firefighter Gerry Beland
Master Firefighter Norm Carr, Jr.
Master Firefighter Bruce Comelius
Master Firefighter Jason Marsella
Firefighter/Paramedic Robert Panit
Firefighter/Paramedic Jason Case

“D” Shift

Captain Bill Cashin

Lieut. Ron Hansen

Master Firefighter Richard Barrows
Master Firefighter Marc Bechard

Master Firefighter Dave Trepaney
Master Firefighter Greg Regan

Master Firefighter Richard Gagne
Firefighter/Paramedic John Demyanoavich
Firefighter/Paramedic Scott Bannister

Day Time Ambulance Attendants

Paramedic Kevin Culpon
Paramedic Kevin Hevey
Paramedic Kara Thiboutot
EMT Arthur Stockhausen
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20 years
8 years
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15 years
7 years
4 years
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15 years
13 years
19 years
15 years
15 years
15 years
6 years
1 year

1 year

23 years
19 years
15 years
15 years
15 years
12 years
S years
2 years
1 year

1 year
1 year
1 year
1 year




Call Firefighters

Deputy Chief Marty Carrier

Special Services Company

Lieut. Jack Higgins
Firefighter Joe Comer
Firefighter Manny Marcel
Firefighter Joe Belanger
Warden Clancy Worster

Operations Company

Lieutenant Vacant
Firefighter Roland Blanchette
Firefighter Chris Wyman
Firefighter Art Stockhausen
Firefighter Abe Azzam
Firefighter John Manuele
Firefighter Derek Bosquet
Firefighter Dan Newman
Firefighter Brian Packard
Firefighter Walter Alford
Firefighter Shawn Farrell
Firefighter Mike Kiernan

EMS Volunteers

Deputy Chief Steve Bachand
Lieut. Matt Pfeifer

Lieut. John Chisholm

Team Leader Tom Arnold

Team Leader Rob Veale

Team Leader Gary Gauvin

Asst. Team Leader Jennifer Chisholm
Asst. Team Leader Walter Alford
Paramedic Kevin Hevey

EMT Stanley Heinrich

EMT Sherri Gauvin

EMT Sarah Packard

EMT Richard Smith

EMT Paul Mondoux

EMT Jennifer Kojo

EMT Melissa Jewel

EMT Carol Rivard

EMT Richard Tackett

27 years

25 years
28 years
19 years
25 years
54 years

12 years
5 years
5years
5 years
2 years

1 year
1 year
1 year
9 months
9 months
9 months

12 years
9 years
5 years

14 years
8 years
6 years
2 years
2 years
2 years

18 years
6 years
3 years

1 year

8 months

7 months

3 months
1 month
1 month




LEPC Members

Mike Currier, Merrimack Fire Marshal, Chairperson

Bill Pepler, Fire Chief/Emergency Management Director
Richard Todd, Captain/Deputy Emergency Management Director
Dave Parenti, Assistant Fire Chief

Norm Carr, Sr., BOS Representative

Cec Curran, Merrimack Health Officer

David Mark, Merrimack Building Official

Ken Bradbury, Fidelity Investments

Heather Anderson, Merrimack Communications Director
Matt Chevenauh, School District

Roland Vance, Anheuser-Busch

Cecil Williams, Jones Chemical

Mark Tyers, Kollsman

Paul Rivard, Kollsman

Raymond Pieczarka, Nashua Corporation

Michele Doiron, Percardia

Matthew Shevenell, Merrimack School District

Lisa Dubois, Xanoptics

Saint Gobain

BAE Systems
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2002 Annual Report of the

Fourth of July Committee
Submitted by Brenda S. DuLong
Secretary

July 4, 2002 was the sixth year the current Fourth of July Committee ran the Town of
Merrimack’s celebration. This year July 4" fell on a Thursday. The theme for the
celebration was extremely patriotic with “Stars and Stripes Forever.

The celebration began on July 3" with a performance by the Merrimack Community
Concert Association. It was held at the bandstand in Abbie Griffin Park. The festivities
included a hat contest as well as raffles for prizes. Picnic dinners were available so the

audience could sit back and enjoy the music.

July 4™ was the main event. With a clear forecast, it began with the annual Rotary
Club’s Pancake Breakfast, held at the Merrimack High School Cafeteria.

Naticook Counseling Resources, P.A. donated awards for the Sidewalk Chalk Art
Contest held in the parking lot at Town Hall. This year's event went off without any
problems. There were many entrants in both the adult and child categories.

Our Grand Marshal, John Lyons, led the parade, which stepped off around 12:00 p.m.
There were many spectators watching the youngsters with their decorated bicycles,
wagons, and dolii carriages. The floats were spectacular. This year's “Best School
Float” was from Thornton's Ferry Elementary School. The parade was full of antique
cars, Boy Scout marching units, local color guards, and New Hampshire’s Governor
Jean Shaheen. This year we were fortunate to have the Spartan Junior Marching Corp.
and the Patriots Drum and Bugle Corp. from Rochester, New York. The parade ended
at the High School on O'Gara Drive where vendors had food. Amusements were
available for all ages. They were operated by many of the small non-profit groups in
Town, including Girls Volleyball, F.1.R.S.T., Boys Baseball, Wrestling (all 4 from MHS),
MYA Girls Softball, Boy Scout Troop 401, Girl Scout Troop 1014, and other civic
organizations.

Even with the extremely high temperatures, the Sixth Annual Pie Baking Contest was a
success. Again, we had pies made by both adults and children. The day ended with a
colossal fireworks display provided by Telestar Fireworks, which lasted 35 minutes.

Donations were accepted for Papergraphics for the printing of the advertisement/activity
flyers, Merrimack Connection for the layout of the flyer, and Fidelity Investments for the
two Spartan Junior Marching Corp. and the Bugle Corp.

This event would not have taken place without the assistance of the Merrimack Police

Department, Merrimack Fire Department, Merrimack Department of Public Works, and
Merrimack Ambulance and Rescue Service First Aid personnel.
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A special thank you goes out to the School District maintenance and janitorial staff.

Without them, and the use of the school grounds, we would not be able to celebrate this
community family event.

Members of the Committee

Thomas Mahon, Chairman
Brenda Dulong, Secretary/Treasurer

Jack Balcom
Lex Keefe

Ruth Liberty
Judy May

David McCray, Selectmen’s Representative
Jean Shankle
Carmen Vacchiano
Brian Wilson
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2002 Annual Report of the

Greens Pond Master Plan Committee

Submitted by Debra Huffman
Chairman

At the 2002 Town Meeting voters approved the purchase of 563 acres of fand
commonly known as the Greens Pond property. On June 27", 2002 the Board of
Selectmen established the Greens Pond Master Plan Committee and subsequently

chartered the committee to:

" research and develop plans and policies for this 563 acre site which will promote
conservation, open space, recreational and other allowable municipal purposes as
approved by the voters of this Town at the Town Meeting held on April 9, 2002 (Warrant
Article #10). ...The plans shall inciude past history, current uses and proposais for the
future that will encourage controlied development to its fullest potential as benefit to the

community now and in the future.”

To this end, the Committee has conducted walks to familiarize Committee members
with the property; enjoyed presentations from the New Hampshire Fish and Game
Department, Society for the Protection of New Hampshire Forests, and the UNH
Cooperative Extension service providing their perspectives on use of the property; and
the Committee has held a visioning session to determine the features, problems, and
constraints presented by the land.

The committee has formed 14 subcommittees to research various aspects of the
property and its potential uses, spanning tasks from historical research to evaluating
potential access points to conducting a natural resource inventory. They have posted
information on the Town's web site to keep the community informed of their activities,
and have appointed a Community Input Coordinator to gather information from

interested citizens.

The Committee expects to complete a first draft of the master plan in June 2003.

Greens Pond Master Plan Committee

Shannon Barnes John Buckley Ruth Roulx
Tim Tenhave Jim Taylor Newton Coryeli
Denise O'Dwyer Gregory Kirby Susan Siena
Charles Buker David Rutzke Bill Keating
Lynn Wenz Timothy Dutton Janet Cormier
Andy Powell Debra Huffman Mike Ruggiero
Constance Kreider Amanda Boerner Ed Carballo
Karen Mattor Catherine Provencher Roger Blais
Harold Watson Steven Keach Nancy Gagnon
Peter Kahn Chris Christensen Nelson Disco
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2002 Annual Report of the

Merrimack Health Division
Submitted by Cec Curran
Health Officer

The Health Officer is responsible for the licensing and inspection of all food service
establishments (twice yearly) in Merrimack. Inspections are done on Day Care and
foster homes, prior to licensing by the State. Public bathing areas are inspected before
licensing, plus additional inspections as required.

All new or replaced septic systems are inspected to ensure compatibility with the
respective soils, compliance with approved plans, and use of proper methods and
materials.

Service requests related to improper handling of trash, violations of sanitation in public
buildings/areas, or actions which compromise the public health in any way, are
addressed by the Health Officer.

In the interest of public health, this office has the authority to condemn a building,
revoke a food service license, or close a public bathing area when conditions warrant.

The Center for Disease Control would use this office as a primary contact to conduct an
investigation into an outbreak of contagious disease or food-borne illness. The Health
Officer is actively involved in all counter measures for Bio-Terrorism being addressed by
the State.

The goal of the Health Officer for 2003 is to implement electronic inspections of
restaurants using a Personal Digital Assistant (PDA).

2002 Statistics
Food Service Licenses 117
Public Bathing Area Licenses 20
Day Care Centers and Private Homes 20
Foster Homes 10
New and Replaced Septic Systems 99
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The Merrimack Heritage Commission completed its second year since its
establishment. The Commission is an important part of the Merrimack community and

fulfilled many accomplishments in the past year.

Accomplishments:

2002 Annual Report of the

Merrimack Heritage Commission

Submitted by Florence M. Brown
Chairman

Projects and Events:

Development of a Records File at the Community Development Department
Inventory of Historic Buildings and Places

Library of Information about Historical Preservations & Restorations
Overlay Map of Historic Places (Nashua Regional Planning Commission)
Completion and Approval of Merrimack Heritage Commission By-Laws

Thornton Cemetery Restoration with the help of Local Landscapers,
Volunteers, the Department of Public Works, and the Merrimack Village
District

Dedication of a Reeds Ferry Plaque at Depot Street to Commemorate the
Annexation of this Area on June 5, 1750

Military Kiosk Provided by the New Hampshire Army National Guard at the
Merrimack Police Department During the Memorial Day Weekend
Nomination of the Captain John Chamberlain Bridge that will be placed on the
New Hampshire State Register of Historic Places

History Awareness Forum Dedicated to the History of Town Government with
Participation by Town of Merrimack Staff on October 21, 2002 (Event was
video taped.)

Commitment to the Restoration and Preservation of the Historic Spaulding
House {Approved by the Board of Selectmen)

Ongoing Projects:

*

Historical Markers and Signs for Historical Buildings
Advising Local Boy Scouts on Eagle Scout Projects that are of Historical

Interest
Working in an Advisory Capacity with the Parks & Recreation Committee on

Future Historic Trails

Merrimack Heritage Commission

Florence Brown, Chairman Ann Burrows, Alternate
Jackie Flood, Vice Chairman Terri Maloon, Alternate
Charles Hall Steven J. Mayo, Alternate
Ruth Roulx Fran L'Heureux, Selectman Rep.
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2002 Annual Report of the

Merrimack Public Library

Submitted by Janet D. Angus
Library Director

The Merrimack Public Library had an exciting year in 2002. The Building Committee and
the Board of Trustees, along with input from the library staff, have been working this year
to come up with a new plan for a new library building.

There were a few staff changes this year and we ended the year with only one vacancy.
The library said good-bye to Charles “Bud” Stevens, a page, Lydia Campos, our first
YA/Reference Librarian, and Lindsey Jackson, a library aide in the Children's Room.
Dana Forsman became the new YA/Reference Librarian in October 2002. We also
added two new pages, Susan Primeau and Lisa Mandela.

| would like to publicly thank all of the library’s dedicated staff members: Assistant
Director, Debra Covell: Administrative Assistant, Joanne Marston; Circulation Staff, Jane
Loughlin, Natasha Bairamova, Madeline Bennett, Gigi Dahl, Diane Lauze, Sandra
Meehan, Nancy Placentino, Jennifer Stover, Tyler Meehan, Patti Finlay, Susan Primeau,
Lisa Mandela, and Katherine Lachance; Reference Staff, Katie Martin, Lydia Campos,
Dana Forsman, Jan Conover, and Lee Gilmore; Technical Services Staff, Darcy
LaBrosse, Nancy Vigezzi, Kathy Starr, and Debra Herget; Children’s Room Staff, Beverly
Little, Suzanne Wall, Lindsey Jackson, and Kate Szopa; Custodial Staff, Dan Hastie and
Joan Vadney; and newsletter Editor, Jan Segedy. Milestone service anniversaries
included: Joan Vadney, 20 years, Jan Segedy, 10 years, and Suzanne Wall, Jennifer
Stover, and Jan Conover, 5 years. Our current volunteers are Pat Fiynn, Ginny Robbie,
and Tricia Tancill.

| would also like to thank the Library Board of Trustees, Library Development Fund, the
Building Committee, the many Town departments including folks at Town Hall, Highway,
Police and Fire Departments, Wastewater Treatment, and Recycling. | would also like to
thank Papergraphics for printing our newsletter, Merrimack Flower Shop and Greenhouse
for their lovely flower arrangements on the Circulation Desk; Tortilla Flat for the salsa and
chips at Cinco de Maio; and Shaw's Supermarket for their support. | heartily want to
thank the faithful Friends of the Merrimack Public Library who help us with so many
projects such as Library Festiva!, Book Sales, Raffles, wreaths on the doors for the
holidays, and their very successful Books for Babies Program which received a check for
$2,000.00 from Fidelity Investments. The Friends also helped to fund the live
performances of Jessa Piaia as Amelia Earhart, Mike Francis as Galileo, and Ted
Zalewski as Teddy Roosevelt. Friends President, Lauree Gross moved to Vermont
during the summer. Meg Hamm is now the President. The group meets the second
Thursday each month in the library’s Kiumpp Room. They are always looking for new
people to join them.
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This year's Statistical Report corresponds with the fiscal year (July to June). The
circulation for 2001-2002 was 237,293 items. Our collection consists of books in regular
and large print as well as bocks on tape and compact disc, music CD’s, CD ROM's,
videocassettes, DVD's, museum passes, and toys. We added museum passes to the
Society for the Preservation of New England Antiquities, the Mt. Kearsarge Indian
Museum, and the Squam Lakes Natural Science Center bringing our total to 13 passes.
Many patrons come to the library to use our public Internet computers, word processing
and our online products. Patrons can place requests for materials, renew materials, and
access our many databases from home. '

Programs for people of all ages continue to be a popular use of the library. Inthe
Children’s Room we have Storytimes for all preschoolers beginning at age 12 months.
We continue to offer American Red Cross Babysitting classes about three times each
year and always have a waiting list. The American Girl Teas continue to be popular
events. Here is a brief list of the other activities and programs offered by the Children's
Room: Mad Hatter's Tea Party, Library Book Round-Up, Hanukkah Card and Gift Making,
We Love Clifford, Lindsey's Fortune Telling, and Fun and Facts with Fire Inspector Pip
Adams.

Our Young Adult department also offers programs for our teens such as The Art of
Journaling, Make Your Own Lip Balm, and Mother's Day Jewel Box Craft. We have set
aside a back table for exclusive use by our Young Adults during the after-school hours.

In addition to Internet Classes and monthly Book Discussions we added Poetry Night at
the Library the First Tuesday evening every month from October to June led by local poet
Rae Marie Bruce. We also offered adults many other programs including Databases for
Seniors, Sleeping Strategies, Reiki, Road to College, Pumpkin Carving, Scrapbooking,
Magnetic Health & Energy, Cooking with Oonagh Williams, and Flower Arranging with
Darlene Belleville from Merrimack Flower Shop. We also had three costumed
performers: Jessa Piaia, as Amelia Earhart, Mike Francis as Galileo, and Ted Zalewski
as Teddy Roosevelt all co-sponsored by the Friends. In December, as a way of thanking
our library patrons and Town departments, we held the Third Annual Holiday Tea.

The Summer Reading Program has become a part of the summer for all ages including
children, young aduilts, and adults. The children’s program (Lions, Tigers, and Books, Oh
My) ended with a party held at Abbie Griffin Park which included games, food, and prizes.
The young adult and adult programs were popular again this year with more people
participating.

The Merrimack Public Library has much to offer the community of Merrimack. The

Library’s great staff, supportive Friends of the Library, and dedicated Library Trustees
look forward to continuing to serve the community with new materials, more programs,
and helpful databases.



Janet Angus
Debra Covell

Joanne Marston
Jan Segedy

Jane Loughlin
Madeline Bennett
Gail Dahl

Diane Lauze
Sandra Meehan
Jennifer Stover
Natasha Bairamova
Nancy Placentino
Katherine Lachance
Tyler Meehan

Patti Finlay

Merrimack Public Library Staff

Administration

Circulation

Charles “Bud” Stevens (Jan. to Feb.)

Lisa Mandela
Susan Primeau

Katie Martin

Reference & Adult Services

Lydia Campos (Jan. to Sept,)

Dana Forsman
Jan Conover
Lee Gilmore

Darcy LaBrosse
Nancy Vigezzi
Kathy Starr
Debra Herget

Technical Services
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Library Director

Assistant Director, Head of
Automated Services

Administrative Assistant

Newsletter Editor

Library Aide Il
Library Aide |
Library Aide |
Library Aide 1
Library Aide |
Library Aide |
Library Aide |
Library Aide |
Substitute
Library Page
Library Page
Library Page
Library Page
Library Page

Head of Reference & Adult
Services

YA/Reference Librarian
YA/Reference Librarian
Librarian |

Library Assistant ||

Library Assistant Il
Library Aide Il
Library Aide |
Library Aide |




Youth Services

Head of Youth Services

Beverly Little

Suzanne Wall Library Aide Il
Lindsey Jackson (Jan. — Dec. 6) Library Aide Il
Kate Szopa Library Aide/Page

Maintenance

Custodian

Danie! Hastie
Custodial Aide

Joan Vadney
Volunteers
Patricia Flynn

Tricia Tancill
Ginny Robbie




Adult Fiction

Adult Non-Fiction
Large Print

Young Adult

Books to Go

Classics

Paperback

Children’s Fiction
Children’s Non-Fiction
Children’s Audiovisual
Children’'s CD ROMs
Children’s Periodicals
Easy Books
Periodicals

Sound Recordings
Video Recordings
Compact Discs

DVD

CD ROMs

Museum Passes
Other

Total

Database Usage
Website Usage

2001-2002 Library Statistical Report

Circulation

Telecommunication Access

Network Users in Library

Total Library Card Holders
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41,976
36,415
3,839
5,581
107

1
5,709
19,103
26,099
1,920

907

560
45,177
8,095
12,341
14,484
8,323
1,938
651
o76
3,491

237,293

5,848
33,939
9,104

18,455




2001-2002 Library Collection Report

Number of Items per Collection as of June 30, 2002

Books

Adult Fiction 24,432
Adult Non-Fiction , 29,873
Young Adult Books 2,874
Children’s Fiction 5,604
Children’s Non-Fiction 12,915
Easy Books 8,669
Videocassettes 2,227
DVD’s ' 173
Books on Cassette , 1,616
Books on CD 131
Music CD’s 1,360
CD ROM's 105
Children's Audiovisuals 476
Children’s CD ROMs 70
Children’s Toys 38
Total Collection 90,563
Magazine Subscriptions 199
Newspaper Subscriptions 17
Microfiche 36,908

Museum Passes 13




2002 Annual Report of the

Library Board of Trustees
Submitted by Pat Heinrich
Chairman

it has been another busy and rewarding year at the Merrimack Public Library. More and
more, residents have come to realize the Merrimack Public Library is more than just a
warehouse for books.

The Building Committee was reconvened to help the Trustees come up with a formal plan
for a new library. In addition, they were asked to make a recommendation regarding
where to site the new library and when to put a library on the ballot. Their
recommendation was to propose a new library on the site next to the Post Office on the
2003 warrant.

As a result, the Trustees and Building Committee began bi-weekly meetings with an
architect and other own officials to prepare the new library plan. This proposal, “The
future @ your library™", represents months of discussion, hard work, compromises,
meetings, and traveling to libraries all over New England. The Committee and the
Trustees have put together a well thought out, affordable, and workable plan for a new
library that will meet library needs in Merrimack through build-out. Many, many thanks to
all the members of the Library Building Committee!

The Trustees have also been working on “The present @ your library™". Over 19,000
people have library cards. An average of 12,000 people visit the library each month. A
traffic study done for the Building Committee showed that over 400 cars come into the
library parking lot on a routine day. Circulation is over nine items per capita. Programs
and program attendance have reached an all time high. The public access computers
are constantly busy.

However, the library is now in a zero collection growth situation. Our collection features
fiction and non-fiction books for adults, children and young aduits, large print books,
magazines, newspapers, video cassettes, DVDs, books on CD, books on cassette, CD
ROMs, audiovisuals, museum passes, and toys. While new items are continually being
added to our collection to meet the interests and demands of the residents, staff must
constantly weed the collection in order to accommodate these items.

Others issues of note in the last year include several problems with the HVAC system,
upgrading the library’s circulation and cataloging system, and three potentially hazardous
emergency incidents. Kudos to the staff for swiftly, safely and appropriately responding
during these challenging situations. Patron and staff safety is an important library goal,
second only to quality patron service.
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Beautiful weather again shined on the Annual Merrimack Library Cardboard Boat
Festival, which featured TV50 Weatherman and Merrimack resident, Al Kaprielian, as
guest announcer. Many thanks to the Friends, volunteers, staff, various Town
departments (Parks and Recreation, Police, Fire, Ambulance, and Public Works), boat
builders, race watchers and Laidlaw Transit who make the Festival a truly memorable

fundraising event for the library.

In closing, on behalf of the Board of Trustees, thank you for your continued support. We
hope “The future @ your library™ is immediate passage of the new library bond. But
until then, we are committed to meeting the needs of the residents of Merrimack within

the confines of our current space. Come check us out!

Merrimack Library Board of Trustees
Ann Burrows, Secretary
John Buckley, Treasurer
Patricia Heinrich, Chairman
Robert Kelley
Duncan Morrill




Merrimack Public Library

Trustees Accounts

Fiscal Year 2001-2002

Special
Balance as of July 1, 2001

Receipts

Book Sale

Food for Fines

Gifts

Interest

Library Festival
Miscellaneous
Transfers

Trust Fund

Watson Interest Income

Disbursements

Advertising

Book Sale (Friends)

Equipment (Gifts)

Food for Fines

Hospitality

Library Festival

Library Festival-MPL Development Fund
Materials (Gifts)

Memberships

Merrimack PL Development Fund
Miscellaneous

Programs

Supplies (Gifts)

Training

Transfer to Fidelity Mutual Fund
Watson Book Purchases

Balance as of June 30, 2002

3,008.45
665.89
14,544.93
11.42
2,799.45
1,350.56
1,000.00
2,350.82
1,000.00

(302.00)
(839.75)
(0.00)
(665.89)
(1,373.54)
(3.208.53)
(2,965.76)
(62.06)
(751.45)
(13,944.93)
(970.51)
(2,100.15)
(48.40)
(565.00)
(0.00)
(1,214.26)
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3,253.02

29,730.96

(29,012.23)

3,971.75




FINES

Balance as of July 1, 2001

Receipts

Copy Machine

E-Rate Reimbursement

Fines

Interest

Miscellaneous

NH State Library-Interlibrary Loan
Non-Resident

Disbursements

Equipment

Materials

Miscellaneous

Supplies

Telecommunications (E-rate)
Transfer to Fidelity Mutual Fund

Balance as of June 30, 2002

1,231.14
0.00
16,959.99
26.41
0.00

0.00
200.00

(0.00)
(3,860.05)
(0.00)
(40.15)
(295.40)

(14,000.00)

14,135.20

18,417.54

(18,195.60)

4,357.14




Fidelity Special

Balance as of 7/01/2001

Withdrawn deposit to Special Checking
Balance as of 6/30/2002

Fidelity Watson ($25.000)

Balance of 7/01/2001

Withdrawn deposit to Special Checking
Balance as of 6/30/2002

Fidelity Fines

Balance as of 7/01/2000
Deposited to Account
Balance as of 6/30/2001
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27,671.80
(1,000.00)
21,787.24

25,549.21
(1,000.00)
26,549.06

72,313.43
14,000.00
91,995.19




2002 Annual Report of the

Nashua Regional Planning Commission

Submitted by Andrew Singelakis
Executive Director

The Nashua Regional Planning Commission (NRPC) provides transportation, land use and
environmenta! planning services and technical assistance to twelve Hillsborough County
communities. NRPC stands ready to assist its member communities with any planning and
transportation issues of concern. We at the NRPC are grateful for the participation of
Merrimack’s NRPC Commissioners: Jean Weston, Nelson Disco, Donald Wunderlich,
Richard Roulx and Norm Carr. The following is a summary of our accomplishments on
behalf of the Town in FY 2002:

Transportation

NRPC, as the designated Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) for the region is
responsible for developing and maintaining the region’s transportation planning program.
This includes soliciting, prioritizing, and making recommendations on regional and local
transportation projects that are funded through Federal or State sources. In addition, NRPC
is responsible for developing the region’s portion of the State’s Transportation Improvement
Program (TIP) and for conducting the required air quality analyses.

. Continued to update and maintain the regional traffic model. The model forecasts
growth in traffic throughout the region, and enables NRPC, NHDOT and consultants to

evaluate the effects of proposed transportation projects.

. Worked with the Nashua Transit System, NH Department of Transportation, NH
Department of Health and Human Services, the Federal Transit Administration and the
Towns of Amherst, Merrimack and Milford to extend bus service from Nashua to the
Milford Oval. NRPC developed the successful application for the Job Access Reverse
Commute Program, which was the primary source of funding. The project was initiated
in December of 2001 and has enjoyed ridership that exceeded our expectations. NRPC
has applied for additional funding through this grant program.

. Substantially completed a comprehensive master plan for the Route 101A corridor from
the Everett Turnpike to Milford. VHB is the consultant working with NRPC on this
project. The plan will determine the programming priorities for available state funding,
will provide a parce! specific plan for planning boards in the communities for use when
reviewing development proposals, and will also recommend long term traffic
management strategies. An interim report was prepared and distributed to the
communities along with draft guidelines for stormwater management for site planning.
The entire plan is expected to be completed by autumn 2002.

. Conducted automated traffic recorder counts at over 150 locations throughout the region
during the course of the year. The Nashua Area Traffic Count Summary is published

annually and distributed to the communities.
. Surveyed all new roads in the region by community and collected information including

width, number of lanes, miles of Class V roads, and other pertinent information. This
information is used to determine local allocations for Block Grant funding and other

available transportation funds.
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Consulted with the Town Parks and Recreation Director on issues related to vehicular
access to the beach front at Wasserman Park. NRPC staff visited the site and provided
a list of recommendations for consideration.

Began the development of a traffic study to determine the need for Exit 12 northside
ramps. When complete late in 2002 this study will analyze existing a future intersection
Levels of Service for key intersections throughout Merrimack both with and without the
proposed Exit 12 northside ramps. The study will include a traffic forecast and will also
provide a financial analysis of the increased toll revenue due to additional traffic at the
Bedford Toll Plaza.

Published “Access Management Guidelines”, a training tool for Planning Board members
and local officials using examples from the region.

Advocated for and continued to be a key participant in the State’s efforts to extend
commuter rail service to the region. Preliminary engineering on the project will be
completed later this summer, after which the project will move into the final design
phase. Since last year the project was awarded significant funds by the State and
Federal government.

Began the process of updating the region’s “Bicycle and Pedestrian Plan,” which should
be completed by June 2003.

Began the process of updating the region’s “Transit Plan,” which also should be
completed by June 2003.

Land Use and Environmental Planning

NRPC provides technical assistance on land use and environmental issues to planning
staff, and to the Planning Board and Conservation Commission.

Assisted the Planning Board with the development of the Town’s Master Pian. This
included a comprehensive update of the Town's GIS database, and an update to the
Town's Build-Out Study.

Assisted the Lower Merrimack Advisory Committee with the citizen water quality
monitoring program and the review of plans involving wetland permits and development
proposals that may impact the river.

Assisted the Souhegan Watershed Association with a citizen water quality monitoring
program, and provided staff support to the Souhegan River Local Advisory Committee.

Completed the “Model Non-Residential Site Plan Regulations” and accompanying
explanatory text for Planning Board members in the region.

Provided technical assistance to the Town for its applications to the Land and
Community Heritage Program (LCHIP)

Summarized available 2000 census data by community and published it on our web-site
as the "NRPC Census 2000 Profile™.

Completed a final draft of the 2002 NRPC “Regional Plan.” The Plan is to be used to
reinforce local planning goals and to provide guidance for NRPC in making policy
decisions and developing its work programs and grant funding priorities.
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Provided extensive technical assistance to local staff, Planning Board members and
Conservation Commission members on all aspects of land use and environmental

planning.
Assisted the Conservation Commission with trail mapping.

Hosted training for new Planning Board members on the elements of subdivision design
and engineering review.

Tracked housing sales by community for each quarter of the year and summarized the
results on our web-site.

Geographic Information Systems (GIS)

NRPC continues to maintain a diverse collection of GIS data including local roads, real
property parcels, zoning, land use, and environmental conditions. This data was used in
general mapping and analysis for local and regional projects.

Completed extensive, small scale mapping of the NH 101A corridor for use in the
Corridor Plan. '

Processed the inventory of critical facilities into a GIS database by locating each facility
and recording feature information. This format permits facilities to be mapped and
analyzed alongside other relative information.

Updated NRPC's GIS Parcel database to reflect new subdivision activity or improve
spatial accuracy. Also updated companion data including focal zoning and
transportation systems.

Provided mapping support for the local Master Plan update process.

Mapped town-owned properties and facilities and improved the land use designations
contained in NRPC’s GIS System to reflect current (2002) use patterns.

Updated the statewide conservation lands database to capture new or missing
conservation areas since 2000.

Completed process of mapping agricultural lands in the region in the 1970s and in the
present for the purpose of demonstrating loss of, or changes, in this resource.

Incorporated new aerial photography into the GIS system
Maintained the NRPC point database for major employers.
Incorporated Census 2000 data into the GIS system.

Mapped quarterly real estate transactions for the years 2000-2001 in order to monitor
residential sales trends.

Addressed numerous general mapping and information requests from Town officials and
the public.

Positioned new roads in Merrimack in order to update the Town base map and road
inventory for 2002.

Tracked and mapped the location of local licensed child care facilities.




2002 Annual Report of the

Naticook Day Camp

Submitted by Michael Housman
Parks and Recreation Director

One of the greatest challenges facing this community and our nation is the education of
our children. Education can take many forms and occurs in many locations. Some of the
most apparent are schools, in homes, and with friends. These are very important, but do
not overlook the value of the camp experience.

Child and youth development experts point to four needs which are important for children
to grow into happy, healthy, and productive adults. These four needs are self-esteem,
responsibility, courage, and cooperation. Studies indicate these skills are developed and
enhanced in the camp setting.

Camp is built around the needs and interests of children. ltis a place to meet new
friends, learn new activities, and have fun. The programs and activities are designed to
help improve the inner self.

| would encourage parents and grandparents to consider a camp as an option for their
children. There is one to meet the needs, interest, and personality of just about every
child. The camp experience cannot be duplicated anywhere and offers children skills and
fond memories that last a lifetime.

Enroliment:

Over the course of four, two-week sessions from June 24" through August 16™, the camp
had an enroliment of 509; that number includes repeat sign-ups. Similar to last year, an
estimated 80% of campers were from families who live or work in Merrimack.

Budget:
In calendar year 2002 the camp spent $125,765, versus $138,969 in revenues.

Acknowledgments:

Everyone is involved in Naticook Day Camp in order to serve children and their families,
which we believe we certainly do. We provide a valuable resource for parents, and their
testimonies speak eloquently of the impact we have.

The Selectmen deserve credit for agreeing to operate a day camp. By doing so, they
aliow for a very productive use of the camp facilities that came with Wasserman Park.

Town Manager Dean Shankle and especially the dedicated camp staff, merit recognition
and our genuine support for making it all work.

The camp has been a part of Merrimack's history for over 60 years and we want to see it
continue for many more.
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2002 Annual Report of the

Parks and Recreation Department

Submitted by Michael Housman
Parks & Recreation Director

The Parks & Recreation Department has enjoyed a year of continued traditions and has
welcomed the onset of new possibilities. With the Town’s purchase of the Greens Pond
property, many residents eager to enjoy the site, have come out to explore the trails and
consider the possibilities that await us there. It will be wonderful to see the Greens Pond
Master Plan Committee at work and this property enjoyed by so many. We continue to
delight in our role of helping to bring a wonderful variety of programs to the Town of
Merrimack. We look forward to your input and participation in some of these opportunities
in 2003!

Saturday, January 12" we offered our first of two winter bus trips to the Fleet Center in
Boston. This first trip was for sports fans to see the Boston Bruins take on the NY
Islanders in ice hockey action. It was a great game enjoyed by all. We hope to be able to
offer this trip again in 2003 and welcome you to join us!

The 10" Annua! Winter Carnival was held on Saturday, January 26". The gentle
temperatures and lack of snow made for a fun and interesting day. Sleigh rides were
easily replaced with wagon rides. Sledding was replaced with fun at the playground on
the swings and monkey bars. Ice sculptors David Soha and Dennis Hickey provided
priceless entertainment by generously donating their time and talents to demonstrate two
amazing ice sculptures. The ice-fishing derby sponsored by the Lions Club was in full
swing on Naticook Lake with approximately 40 participants competing for awards. Girl
Scouts from Troop 1014 offered face painting and free samples of Girl Scout cookies.
Indoor entertainment was provided by the children’s 4H Group “Pups R Us”, under the
direction of Pat Lane and the Independent School of Karate under the direction of Kyoshi
Peter Desmarais. Local non-profit groups offered refreshments to raise money for their
causes and share information about their organizations. A very special thank you goes
out to the Parks and Recreation Committee for making this event possible.

Friday, February 15" we returned to the Fleet Center for the Disney on Ice Show, “Toy
Story 2." These shows are always spectacular and this was no exception. In 2003 we
plan to return to the Fleet center for the newest Disney adventure. We hope you will be
able to join us!

Saturday, March 23" the Easter Bunny joined us at Wasserman Park for the 10" Annual
Easter Egg Hunt. Once again, the weather challenged event organizers by sending a little
snow our way. This only added to the excitement as parents, spectators and event
organizers watched the children search for treasures. Special thanks to our co-sponsor,
Merrimack Friends & Family, for helping to make this event possible!




Many groups enjoy the parks throughout the year. Various scout troops and packs,
families, and businesses rent Wasserman Park. Spring and summer are the most popular
times for family reunions, company outings, and a variety of other functions. Girl Scouts
held their annual Camp-O-Ree the weekend of May 31% through June 2™, Boy Scouts
enjoyed their camp-out that same weekend. Area schools visit the parks for science
projects, “end-of-the-year” picnics, and a variety of other occasions.

Lifeguards were on duty at Naticook Lake for public swimming from June through August.
The water in Naticook Lake is tested weekly during the swimming season to ensure public
safety.

Naticook Day Camp ran from June 24™ through August 16™ where staff members provided
children with an enjoyable summer of funfilled activities. We extend an enormous thank
you to our staff for their dedication, quality time, and attention to the children.

Summer programs were offered from June 24™ through August 16™. A certified
Lifeguarding Course, youth Red Cross swimming lessons, basketball camp, volleyball,
soccer, and tennis lessons offered residents with a variety of recreational opportunities.

Independence Day festivities incluced the Merrimack Community Concert Association’s
evening concert on July 3. Thursday, July 4" festivities opened with the 5™ Annual
Merrimack 5K Sparkler Road Race at the YMCA. The Parade started at 12:00 noon
ending at the mid-way. Chalk art, a pie-baking contest, vendors, and concessions were
all part of the day. Fireworks were enjoyed that evening. Thank you to the 5K Sparkler
and Fourth of July Committee’s for your commitment and countless hours of preparation.

Merrimack enjoyed its third year of weekly summer concerts at the Abbie Griffin Park
Bandstand. A delightful variety of music was heard from May through August. Special
thanks go out to Ruth Liberty and the Abbie Griffin Park Committee for ali your help.

The 10™ Annual Halloween Hayride was held at Wasserman Park on Friday, October 25™.
Special thanks to the Boy Scouts and Girl Scouts, who helped haunt the park, provide
games, and offer refreshments. We extend our appreciation to Pat Lane and her 4H
Group “Pups R Us", who did a great job co-hosting this event with a spectacular Haunted
House. Thank you to the Parks and Recreation Committee, and the many volunteers for
coming out to share your time and energy with us.

The 10" Annual Holiday Parade, with the theme “Holiday Traditions” took place on
Sunday, December 8". Temperatures were cold enough for the spirit of the day, but mild
enough to bring spectators out. Entries included many of the favorites along with a few
new ones. We would like to thank all those who participated. Thank you to the Chamber
of Commerce for your help in co-hosting this event. Special thanks to Tom Nutting and
Custom Electric for decorating the Town Hall and Fraser Square. Our sincere gratitude
and heartfelt thanks go out to Santa and Mrs. Claus for sharing this very special time us!
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The 8™ Annual “Santa Calling Program” delighted children pre-school! through second
grade. On Thursday, December 19" approximately 200 children received calls from
Santa. Our special thanks go to Santa’s helpers, Don Lewis, Brian Wilson and Dick
Roulx.

We would like to thank the following groups for their outstanding community support:
Ruth Liberty and the Abbie Griffin Park Advisory Committee

Merrimack High School Class of 2002, who helped clean up the parks an Earth Day
Merrimack Conservation Commission for their help cleaning up the trails

Sno-Buds who groom the trails for cross-country skiing and snow-mobiles

e Girl Scouts and pre-schools who plant the beautiful flowers for us to enjoy

Thanks to your sense of community, Merrimack’s parks are here for all to enjoy!

Department Goals for the year 2003 include, but are not limited to:
Increase the number of programs offered by the Department
Complete our four year paint cycle per maintenance plan of Wasserman Park
Increase our number of playing fields in Merrimack

Begin development of the Bishop property

Stay involved with the Wright Avenue superfund site

Maintain ACA Camp Accreditation

Maintain excellence with Naticook Day Camp

Revise fee schedule

Improve handicap access at Wasserman Park

Renovation of Wasserman residence

Maximize public relations using all available means

In closing, | would like to thank the citizens of Merrimack for your continued support.

Statistics from Day Camp 2002

Session One

126 Registered Campers 89 Merrimack Residents 37 Non Residents
37 Children Utilized Extended Care Before and/or After Camp

Session Two

129 Registered Campers 104 Merrimack Residents 25 Non Residents

32 Children Utilized Extended Care Before and/or After Camp

Session Three
128 Registered Campers 107 Merrimack Residents 21 Non Residents
37 Children Utilized Extended Care Before and/or After Camp

Session Four
126 Registered Campers 118 Merrimack Residents 24 Non Residents
33 Children Utilized Extended Care Before and/or After Camp
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Statistics from Summer Programs 2002

Swimming Lessons 147 total enrolled
Lifeguard 5 total enrolled
Basketball 295 total enrolled
Soccer 54 total enrolled
Volleyball 35 total enrolled
Tennis 90 total enrolled

Junior Tennis 70 enrolled
Teen Tennis 12 enrolled
Adult Tennis 8 enrolled

Parks and Recreation Department

Michael Housman, Director
Perley Rogers, Maintenance Supervisor
Sherry Kalish, Office Manager

Parks and Recreation Committee

Janet Cormier
Jean Shankle
Robert Lynch
Ruth Roulx
David Denton
Norma French
Brian Lawrence
Fran L'Heureux
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2002 Annual Report of the

Merrimack Planning Board
Submitted by Nelson R. Disco
Chairman

The Merrimack Planning Board held 34 regular meetings during 2002, primarily for the
review of subdivision and site plans. The Board reviewed five subdivision plans which
contained a total of 30 new conventional residential building lots compared to 29 lots in
2001 and 40 lots in 2000. These subdivision approvals consisted of a 19-lot residential
cluster subdivision off of Meetinghouse Road, a four-lot subdivision off of Baboosic Lake
Road, and three two-lot subdivisions, one of which was for industrial use. A new
subdivision of three lots was created by combining 160 camp lots at Baboosic Lake.

Residential, industrial, and commercial site plans were reviewed. Approvals were
granted for seven home occupations and the Board granted three waivers of full review
for minor plan changes. The Board also reviewed and approved the plan for a
proposed new Middle School for the Merrimack School District, and the Town Capital
Improvement Plan for 2003 through 2009. Members of the Board worked with the
Nashua Regional Planning Commission on plans for future improvements to Route
101A and attended several Planning Workshops and Planning Law Lectures during the

year.

Residential site plan approval was given to a residential site plan for Parker Village, an
80-unit residential development of single-family detached condominiums for the elderly

on Front Street.

Industrial site plans approved this year included; a 37,500 square foot building for the
service and sales of RVs on Technology Park Drive for Camper's inn; Mid-City Paving's
contractor's yard on D.W. Highway; a 20,000 square foot industrial building on Henry
Clay Drive for Astoria Properties; a propane facility for Bot-L-Gas on Star Drive; and
Colt Refining's 49,500 square foot industrial warehouse on Star Drive.

The major commercial development site plan approved during this year was for the
Reeds Ferry Crossing shopping center located on D.W. Highway on the site formerly
occupied by the Open Arms Church. This site, when completed, wili provide 170,150
square feet of commercial retail space. Approval was given to develop the site in
phases and the first phase, a 70,000 square foot Shaw's Supermarket, is presently
under construction.

Other commercial site plans approved included; U. S. Cellular's 9,120 square foot
Switching Station on Columbia Circle; an 8,135 square foot warehouse and showroom
for Crocker Sales Spa and Hot Tub on D.W. Highway; Chesapeake Development's
6,988 square foot retail and wholesale building at Twin Bridge Road; a 2,940 square
foot 7-Eleven convenience store on D. W. Highway; and MET Contracting's office and
storage buildings on Jennifer Drive.




Changes to previously approved site plans were approved for GT Technologies, Saab
North, Silo’s Steak House, Robinson’s Country Store, Talarico Automotive, and Tortilla
Flat Restaurant.

Under review by the Board and staff at the close of the year was a plan for 256 units of
multi-family residential housing adjacent to the Harris Pond Development, a contractor's
yard off of Henry Clay Drive, Astoria Properties’ 60,845 square foot
wholesale/warehouse facility on Henry Clay Drive, and a three-lot subdivision on the
Merrimack/Bedford Town line. '

Following a Public Hearing in December of 2002, the Planning Board adopted a revised
Master Plan for the Town of Merrimack. Thirty citizens of the community, the Town
planning staff, and Town department representatives met 21 times during the past two
years to complete this project. The final plan document was prepared by the Nashua
Regional Planning Commission and the Community Development Department staff.
The Pianning Board is very grateful to the staff and members of the Master Plan
Advisory Committee who aided with this project.

The Planning Board prepared and presented to the voters eight Zoning Ordinance
Amendments which were adopted at the Town’s Annual Meeting in April. These
amendments were consistent with the present Master Pian and included articles which:
(1) adopted the most current Life Safety and Fire Prevention Codes; (2) clarified the
definition of frontage for building lots; (3) require that principal residential buildings and
septic systems be located within the minimum contiguous non-wetland area of a
building lot; {4) permit camouflaged telecommunications towers in the residential zone
by special exception; (5) require ground signs to display the property address number:
(6) clarified the purpose and intent of the Wetlands Conservation District; (7) increased
fines for land use and building code violations; and (8) clarified the definition of the
Wetlands Conservation District.

Changes to the Town's Subdivision Regulations were made during the year to establish
Standards for Landscaping on commercial and industrial developments, and establish
Access Management Regulations to restrict access drives onto Route 3, and encourage
cross site easements for access.

The Planning Board has also developed a set of Lighting Standards for commercial and
industrial developments to be adopted as part of the Subdivision Regulations. These
standards are scheduled for public hearing early in 2003.

In September the Planning Board entered into a contract with Comprehensive
Environmental, Inc. to develop regulations for the Town for the management of storm
water in accordance with the Phase 1l rules recently developed by the U. S.
Environmental Protection Agency. This work will be completed in 2003.

In January Ken Sheppard resigned from the Board, and in March Carmen Vacchiano
was appointed to a three-year term as an alternate member. In April Nelson Disco was
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re-elected Chairman and Arthur “Pete” Gagnon was re-elected Secretary to the Board.
David McCray was appointed to replace Norm Carr as the Selectman's Representative
to the Board. in June Florence Brown and Carol Ann Grondin-Morrison were appointed
as regular members of the Board. In November Pete Hinkle resigned. At year end, the
Board consisted of six full-time members: Chairman, Nelson Disco; Secretary, Arthur
“Pete” Gagnon; John Segedy; Carol Ann Grondin-Morrison; Florence Brown; alternate
member, Carmen Vacchiano; and Selectmen's Representatives, David McCray and
Fran L'Heureux.

Jay Minkarah, Community Development Director, William D'Andrea, Planning and
Zoning Administrator, Susan Domanico, Planning and Zoning Assistant, the clerical staff
of the Community Development Department, hired engineering consultants, and the
staff of the Building and Health Departments continue to serve as staff to the Planning
Board and technical assistance is provided to the Board by the Department of Public
Works and the Fire Department.

Members of the Town Master Plan Advisory Committee who have assisted the Planning
Board in the development of the Master Plan are listed below:

Richard Barry Linda Bonetti Florence Brown
John Buckley Roger Camire Chris Christensen
Ken Coleman Janet Cormier Kathi Custer

Tina Demember Peter Flood Pamela Gosla
Ross Hall Carol Lang George May

Ed Marcinkowski Joseph Mitchell Ron Morand
Mary Moriarty Duncan Morrill Tony Pelligrino
T.K. Plant Andy Powell Rosemary Rung
Ed Silva Robert Slater Kyle Stringham

Cindy Taylor Pam Tinker Lenny Worster




2002 Annual Report of the

Merrimack Police Department
Submitted by William F. Mulligan
Chief of Police

To the Honorable Board of Selectmen, Town Manager, and the Citizens of the Town of
Merrimack. | hereby submit my report for the Merrimack Police Department for the

period covering January 1, 2002 through December 31, 2002. As the new Police Chief,
| must acknowledge the efforts of Chief Joseph R. Devine (retired) during this past year.

This report will identify the dedicated men and women who serve the Merrimack
community, activities that have taken place during the 2002 calendar year, and
accomplishments that have occurred.

As | submit the Annual Report for the 2002 calendar year, your police department is
looking toward the future. We will be working in partnership with the community to
develop a 5-year strategic plan. Itis the goal of the Merrimack Police Department to
anticipate and prevent problems, to look at innovative solutions, and respond to issues
with fairness, sensitivity, and compassion.

As a community oriented Police Department, we are always looking for ways to interact
with our community and we recognize that our mission is and will continue to be service
to the Merrimack community.

The Merrimack Police Department members thank the Town Manager, Board of
Selectmen, Town Staff and most of all the citizens for their continued support during the
calendar year 2002. We take great pleasure in serving you and welcome visits to
YOUR police station.

Lists of programs for your review are submitted with the report.
» School Based Partnership Program

<+ Mastricola, Reeds Ferry, and Thornton’s Ferry Elementary School
Reading program brings the Police and youngsters together.

\1

Mastricola Middle School active partnership in our D.A.R.E. Program

Merrimack High School/School Resource Officer has an active
participation in developing innovative approaches to maintain a non-
violent school environment and reducing problems.

‘ k4

v

Department Community Service Officer
“ Programs for local businesses and members of the public
pertaining to their personal safety.
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< Group discussion with community members assisting with problem
solving techniques.

& Active participation in Crimeline and Merrimack Crime Watch
Program.

» Uniform Patrol Officers
& Involvement in Direct Patrol for businesses and homeowners.
% Officer Appraisal Program for information between the Police and

residents.
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In Memory

John F. Pelletier

Chief of Police
1970 - 1981

In 1970 the Town of Merrimack appointed it's first full-time Chief of Police. John F.
Pelletier came to Merrimack from Pepperell, Massachusetts. Prior chiefs served on a
part-time basis.

In 1970, under the leadership of John F. Pelletier, it was brought out publicly for the first
time that police officers needed to be professionally trained. The need for specialists
within the agency was also addressed. Updating the equipment to current technology
was one of his goals. The agency had three cruisers and a hand full of officers, most of
which were Auxiliaries and Special Officers. This is the year that the Department
moved from the Town Hall to the basement of the now John O’Leary Adult Community
Center.

In 1975 the Department grew to 19 full-time officers and 15 part-time officers, with a
$350,000 budget. Chief Pelletier hired the Department's first full-time female police
officer in 1977 and she was assigned to the Juvenile Division. That year the
Department answered 31,700 calls for service.

By 1980 Chief Pelletier's budget surpassed the $1 Million mark and he had a staff of 24
full-time officers and 18 part-time officers.

John F. Pelletier took a fledgling agency, which was made up of mostly part-time
officers, and with a progressive and professional agenda, brought the Department into
the twentieth century.

John F. Pelletier passed away on September 15,
2002 at his home in Florida.

“Chief Pelletier was my first Police Chief, and he
was an old-time chief. As hard as he had to be, as
kind as he could be. He was a good man.” Chief
William Mulligan
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Dedication to Chief Joseph R. Devine

(Retired)

Joseph R. Devine was born on February 25, 1933 in Johnston, Rhode Island to Joseph
and Gladys Devine. He has two brothers, Donald and Edward, both of whom have
passed away. He entered the U.S. Army in May 1954 until he was honorably
discharged in June of 1959.

He was hired by the Johnston Rhode Island Police Department as a Special Officer
from 1956-58 and was hired as a full-time officer in 1958. He continued in his career
with the Johnston Police Department reaching the ranks of Sergeant in 1962, Captainin
1965, and Deputy Chief in 1870. He retired from the Johnston Police Department as
their Deputy Chief in 1975.

Joe Devine was then hired as Chief by the St. Johnsbury Vermont Police Department in
1975 where has stayed for a short time. He then applied for and was hired as the Chief
of Police for the Claremont Police Department in July of 1976 and remained their Chief

until May 1981.

Chief Devine came to Merrimack in May 1981.
He was only the second full-time Chief of Police L
Merrimack had. Previous chiefs served in a L
part-time capacity.

Chief Devine attended Bryant Coliege and

graduated on July 24, 1970 with an Associates . ‘" A T
Degree in Law Enforcement and furthered his bl -3
education with a Bachelor's degree in Police o~ \,
Administration in June 1972. S ~s

During his career he has received numerous
awards. The VFW Certificate of Appreciation for
Community Service; Life Membership Award
from the International Association of Chief’s of
Police; Professionalism in Law Enforcement

Award from the International Association of v j
Chief’s of Police. . _
Chief Devine has been married to his wife ~. . :'""“‘
Deborah Devine for 27 years. He has one child, o T

Joseph R. Devine Jr.

« want to thank Chief Devine for his leadership over 21 years. His legacy will live in the
women and men of the Merrimack Police Department.” Chief William Mulligan




Table of Organization

Chief of Police

William F. Mulligan

Patrol

Deputy Chief Paul V. Stavenger — Patrol Commander
Captain Mark E. Doyle — Assistant Patrol Commander
Lt. Lawrence Westholm — Shift Supervisor
Lt. Brian Boutay — Shift Supervisor
Lt. Richard Desmond — Shift Supervisor
Sgt. John Maille — Shift Supervisor
Sgt. Paul Trepaney - Shift Supervisor
Sgt. Daniel Edmonds — Shift Supervisor
Sgt. Paul Poirier — Shift Supervisor

Off. Michael Murray (School Resource Officer)

Off. Robert Kelleher Off. Christopher Morency
Off. John Dudash Off. Kenneth Stimson
Off. Dennis Foley Off. Carl Scott
Off. Ken MaCleod Off. Joseph Goodridge
Off. Ronald Levierge Off. Thomas Prentiss
Off. Mathew Tarleton Off. Eric Marquis
Off. Edward Pane Off. Christopher Dowling
Off. Theodore Dillon Off. Brian Levesque

Criminal Investigation Unit

Det./Lt. Michael Dudash — Unit Commander
Det. James Hughes
Det. Theodore Curtis
Det. Scott Park
Det. Dean Killkelley
Juv./Det. Ronald Ketchie
Juv./Det. Denise Roy
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Administrative Services Division

Captain Michael Milligan — Unit Commander

Lt. Peter Albert — Prosecutor
Officer Walter Kwiecinski — Community Service Officer

Caro! Yule — Office Manager

Holly Estey — Secretary to the Detective Unit

t aurie Lafluer — Records
Judy York — Records
Martha Walent — Records (Part-time)

Animal Control Unit

Kelley McKinney — Animal Control Officer
Carol Rivard — Part/time Animal Control Officer

Special Police Officers

S/0 John Demyanovich S/0 Walter Alford
S/0 William McGowan S/O Darin Brown
S/0 Lisa Hunter S/0 Ken Macleod
S/0 James Sullivan S/0 Jose Ramirez
S/0 David Mercer S/0 Karl Flemming

S/0 Daniel Lindbom

School Crossing Guards

Roy ingerson
Ellen White
Ken Stimson Sr.

Patrol Division Activity and Service for 2002

During 2002 your police department responded to 13,520 requests for police service.

Request for Service by Beats:

2000 2001 2002
Beat #1 3341 3366 3288
Beat #2 4173 4726 4960
Beat #3 3249 3196 3332

Beat #4 1660 1866 1940




Request for Service by Time of Day:

0700 — 1500 5350 6097 5898
1500 - 2300 4867 4882 5342
2300 - 0700 2206 2175 2280

12423 13154 13520

Other Police Activity:

2000 2001 2002
Ambulance Assists
Bomb Threats 859 947 976
Fire Department Assists 2 0 1
Animal Complaints 859 803 810
Bank Escorts 852 318 835
Missing Persons 0 0 0
House Checks 67 45 358
Unsecured Premises 368 325 72
Good Morning Calls 218 231 209
Motor Vehicle Lockouts 2151 2543 449
Bank Checks 235 266 0
Burglar Alarms 766 111 796

Patrol Division

The Patrol Division of the Merrimack Police Department is comprised of professional
law enforcement officers dedicated to working in partnership with the residential and
business community of Merrimack to fight crime, reduce fear, and improve the quality of
life.

Our Mission Statement sums up our Officer's commitment to the Citizens of
Merrimack... “OUR PRIMARY MISSION IS TO ENFORCE THE LAWS OF SOCIETY,
MAINTAIN ORDER WITHIN THE COMMUNITY, PROTECT LIFE AND PROPERTY
AND TO ASSIST THE PUBLIC AT LARGE IN A MANNER CONSISTENT WITH THE
RIGHTS AND DIGNITY OF ALL PERSONS AS PROVIDED FOR BY THE LAW
UNDER THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES AND THE STATE OF NEW
HAMPSHIRE." We believe strongly in our Motto, “SERVICE TO THE
COMMUNITY/COMMITMENT TO EXCELLENCE." Your Police Department will
continue to work hard to meet these goals and provide the highest level of service.

Your Patrol Division patrols the Town of Merrimack 24 hours each day, 365 days each
year. The principles upon which we base our policing are human life. The protection of
human life is our highest priority. We will demonstrate integrity and honor in all of our
actions. Our efforts to address neighborhood problems will be based on forming a
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partnership with the community. We look forward to the future and to serving the
citizens of Merrimack in every way we can.

Crime Factors
The presence of crime is a matter of serious concern, not only to the law enforcement

profession, but also to society at large. Some factors affecting the volume and type of
crimes occurring from place to place are:

Population density and degree of urbanization in a given area.

Stability of population with respect to residence mobility, commuting patterns,
and transient factors.

Modes of transportation and highway system.

Economic conditions, including income and job availability.

Family conditions with respect to divorce and family cohesiveness.

Effective strength of the law enforcement agency, attitudes of citizenry toward

crime.
« Crime reporting practices of citizenry.

Crimes Cleared by Police in 2002
A crime is cleared when at least one person is arrested, charged with the commission of

the offense and turned over to the courts for prosecution. Several crimes may be
cleared by the arrest of one person, while the arrest of many persons may clear only
one crime. The police may also clear a crime by exceptional means when some
element beyond the control of law enforcement precludes the placing of formal charges
against the person. Examples of an exceptional clearance would be the death of the
offender, or the victim's refusal to cooperate with the police. Of particular interest to the
citizens of our Town, are crimes against the person and crimes against the property of
another. These crimes are classified as Part #1 and Part #2 Offenses and are
reportable to the State of New Hampshire each month.

Part #1 Offenses

Rep. Clr. Unf.

0100 Murder 0
0200 Rape 6 3 1
0300 Robbery 0
0400 Assault (Aggravated) 0
0500 Burglary:
Residential 18 2
Non-residential 12 3

0600 Larceny:
Over $100 122 12




*Under 1500 38 3

0700 Auto Theft 11 3
0800  Assault (Simple) 28 1 1
0900 Arson 1 1 0
235 38 2

*

Rep.= Reported
CiIr. = Cleared
Unf. = Unfounded

Part #2 Offenses

Rep. CIr. Unf.

1000 Forgery & Counterfeiting 6 4
1100 Fraud 46 2 1
1200 Embezzlement 0
1300 Possessing Stolen Property 0] 9
1400 Crimina! Mischief:
Over $100 275 10 26
Under $100 39 3
1500 Weapons - Carrying & 1 1
Possessing
1600 Prostitution 3 3
1700 Sex Offenses 6 2 1
1800 Narcotic Offenses 27 16
1900 Gambling Offenses 0
2000 Offenses Against Family & 131 97
Child/Domestic Abuse
2100 O.U.LL. 66 63
2200 Liquor Law Violations 20 g
2300 Intoxication 23 21
2400 Disorderly Conduct 22 1 0
658 250 28
Motor Vehicie Accident Summary
2001 2002
Fatal Accidents 0 0
Personal Injury Accidents 92 113
Property Damage Accidents 566 535
Non-Investigated Accidents 22 24
680 672
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Motor Vehicle Enforcement Summary

2001 2002
Motor Vehicle Summons 1395 1340
Summons Issued at Accidents 0 1
Summons Issued with Reports 50 101
0.U.1.L. Arrests at Accidents 2 0
Parking Enforcement 40 24
Traffic Warnings Issued 7224 6640
Defective Equipment Tags Issued 952 759

“Drive Defensively at all Times”
Traffic accidents are more likely to occur in the Town of Merrimack between the hours
of:

7AM. -3PM. = 314
3PM.-11PM = 263
1MTPM-7AM = 95

During 2002 between the hours listed above, a total of 672 traffic accidents occurred
within our Town.

School Resource Officers Report

The School Resource Officer (SRO) is primarily responsible for working within the
school system to enforce the laws while promoting a safe and drug free environment
and building positive relationships between students, faculty, and the police. The SRO
must be motivated to work with youth and have the ability to gain the respect of
adolescents and teenagers while holding them accountable for their actions. The SRO
must have the unique ability to perform functions of law enforcement officer, educator
and counselor while becoming an integral member of the school community.

The information provided below, reflect activity between September and December 31,
2002.

Activity 2002
Calls for Service 78
Incident Reports 13
Arrests 4
Accident Reports 0
Theft Reports MV/Other 1
Criminal Mischief 3
Assaults 4
Weapons Confiscated 5
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Drugs Confiscated

Racial Incidents

Court Appearances

Possession of Tobacco Products

D ~NO -

Educational

Counseling Sessions w/Students 215
Counseling Session w/Parents 32
Classroom Lectures 7
Professional Development Programs 0
Miscellaneous 3
Truancy 0
Agency Referrals 0
Meetings Attended 10
School Events Attended 7
Student Mediation 6
Hearings: Suspension/Expulsion 0
Meetings/Contacts With Juvenile Service Officer 13
Animal Control Officers Report for 2002

2001 2002
Animal Control Complaints 785 833
Cruelty Reports 6 1
Bites Reported 16 13
Abates Served 44 18
Running at Large 326 257
Nuisance Offense 60 40
Vicious Offense 23 6
Summons Served 2 0
Stray Farm Animals 8 15
Wild Life Calls 255 224
Dogs Impounded 91 53
Dogs Released to Owners 69 48
Dogs Adopted 1 1
Dogs Released to Humane Society 13 4
Cats Impounded 24 19
Cats Adopted 9 5
Cats Released to Humane Society 14 11
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Prosecutor's Report

Motor Vehicle Activity

Speed

Uninspected
Unregistered

Financial Responsibility
Revocation/Suspension
O.UlL.

No Valid License

Stop Sign

Traffic Light

Solid Line

School Bus Violations
Change of Address
Parking Violations
Reckless Operation
Miscellaneous Violations

Criminal Activity

Criminal Trespass
Bad Checks

Sex QOffenses
Criminal Mischief
Assault / Reckless Conduct
Animal Complaints
Resisting Arrest

Drug Cases
Disorderly Conduct
Possession of Alcohol
Theft

Miscellaneous

Felonies:

Indicted by Grand Jury
Probable Cause

Town State Law
Ordinance
0 168
0 38
0 53
0 7
0 79
0 84
0 69
0 8
0 12
0 12
0 6
0 5
0 3
Q 41
0 118
Town State Law
Ordinance
0 23
0 9
0 2
1 31
0 72
0 0
0] 10
0 89
0 22
1 60
0 39
0 21
0 31
0 48




Criminal Investigation Division

The Criminal Investigation Division of the Merrimack Police Department conducts
investigations for the Police Department as well as other branches of Town government.
The unit consists of seven detectives, commanded by a Lieutenant.

The unit has one Juvenile Officer, one D.A R.E. Officer, three criminal investigators, and
one detective assigned to narcotic investigations. The Merrimack Police Department
recently suspended assigning an officer to the State of New Hampshire Attorney
General's Drug Task Force. This officer will be reassigned to the Patrol Division to
assist with the increasing load for service pending future special assignments.

The Criminal Bureau has had a very active year. The Narcotics Unit had over 81
arrests for various related offenses during 2002. The Criminal Bureau jooks forward to
providing investigative support where it is needed to make Merrimack a safe place to
live and work.

D.A.R. E. Program

D.A.R.E. is the acronym for Drug Abuse Resistance Education, the single most widely
used substance abuse prevention and safety promotion curriculum in the world. First
developed in 1983, D.A R.E. has undergone multiple revisions as research findings
increased knowledge of effective substance abuse prevention among schoof aged
youth. The main core class component of the D.A.R.E. program is the 17-chapter
presentation given to James Mastricola Middle School 6th grade students.

The D.A.R.E. Program curriculum will be updated and revised so that it will meet the
demands of the new year and continue to be an effective educational force to defeat the
war on drugs and violence.

The D.A.R.E. Program is currently under a new, state-of-the-art substance abuse
prevention curriculum and is presently being tested in six U.S. cities. This new D.ARE.
Program is designed to reduce the use of tobacco, alcoho! and drugs, as well as
prevent violence among our nations youth. This new revision/update curriculum is to be
in place by the next schoo! year (2003/2004).

The James Mastricola Middle School 6th grade student population that graduated from
D.A.R.E. consists of three clusters, B6-1, B6-2, and B6-3. The D.AR.E. Program has
reached over 7,000 Merrimack school children since 1989. The Merrimack Police
Department D.A.R.E. program hopes to expand into the elementary grades on a regular
bases. Education was key to achieving the goals of the D.AR.E. Program along with
keeping this program updated and continual support from the community. The
Merrimack Police Department's D.A R E. Program goals are to help youngsters lead
safe, healthy, drug-free lives. Youngsters are provided with factual information about
the consequences of drug and alcohol! abuse, but lessons do not end there. D.A.R.E.
reaches much deeper...shoring-up the student's self-esteem, solidifying strong
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character traits, giving youngsters the tools and internal assurance to resist drugs and
violence.

In the nearly two decades since its beginning, D.A.R.E. has gone on to become the
world's most widely implemented and most successful drug education and prevention
program. D.A.R.E. now operates in 80% of all school districts around the country and
reaching over 36 million young people. D.A.R.E. is the most extensive substance
abuse prevention delivery system in the country. Today, D.A.R.E. enters the new
millennium with the following strengths and accomplishments:

» More than 43,000 police officers have been certified as D.A.R.E. instructors.

« Officers from 8,600 law enforcement agencies are currently teaching D.A.R.E.
in over 10,000 communities across America.

= Nearly 80% of our nation’s school districts offer D.A.R.E.

= Drug abuse is a borderless threat and D.A.R.E. has responded by
implementing programs in 51 other nations. In addition to the 47 states which
have D.A.R.E. training centers, D.A.R.E. training sites have been established
in the United Kingdom, Costa Rica, Canada, the Philippines, Brazil, the
Caribbean, Honduras, and Columbia.

= D.A.R.E., which is funded almost entirely through private donations, has
received both praise and support from corporate America. Sponsors currently
include Herbalife, K-Mart, Mattel, Polaroid, Protection One, Ralph's Food 4
Less, Warner Brothers, and Western Union.

The D.A.R.E. Program was implemented into the Merrimack School District in 1989.
The D.A R.E. Instructor, Det. Ronald Ketchie, who began the program in 1989 is still
teaching D.A.R.E. to Merrimack youngsters. In 1999 Officer Car! Scott became a
second D.A.R.E. instructor for the Town of Merrimack.

During this past year Officer Walter Kwiecinski graduated from D.A.R.E. School in 2002,
and finished #1 in his class. This will give the department three officers trained in
D.A.R.E. allowing the flexibility of new programs.

Being a D.A.R.E. Officer has been, and will continue to be, a rewarding experience.
The United States Congress awarded the Congressional Law Enforcement Medal for
exceptional work in the D.A.R.E. Program with New Hampshire youngsters, recently
recognized Ronald Ketchie. In 1999 Detective Ketchie was chosen as the New England
D AR.E. Officer of the Year. In 2002 Detective Ketchie was chosen at the co-recipient
of the New Hampshire D.A R.E. Officer of the Year. Detective Ketchie also received the
New Hampshire Excellence in Education Award (Eddy Award).

D.A.R.E. officers are grateful for the donations and support from Merrimack community
clubs, groups, and business organizations. Without your continued support, the
D.A.R.E. Program could not be successful. Thanks to all. We need to continue our
efforts against the threat of drugs and violence. With your continued support, we will

succeed.



NIU (Narcotics Investigation Unit

2002 has proven to be another successful year in the fight against illegal drugs within
our community. The Patrol, Criminal and Narcotics Divisions again coordinated their
efforts and worked closely with other local, state, and federal agencies. Through their
hard work, a major and highly organized cocaine distribution organization, which had
been in business for over a decade, was dismantled. This crganization was distributing
dangerous narcotics in the communities of Merrimack, Nashua, and the Sea-Coast of
New Hampshire. There have been many federal indictments in the case and already
some of the conspirators have been sent to prison. '

In another case, Merrimack undercover officers arrested a Merrimack man who was
dealing illegal narcotics from his home and as an intimidation factor he used a handgun
during his transaction. Thus, showing the dangers the undercover narcotic officer must
face. This man has been sent to federal prison for the next five years.

The Narcotics Unit continues to be tenacious in its efforts. With help from the Patrol
Division, numerous motor vehicle drug interdiction stops were made, which resuited in
several search warrants. These warrants netted a significant number of drug seizures
and arrests.

The Merrimack Police Department will continue to work hard making the community
safe from illegal drugs. Arrests in 2002 involved the following drugs: Cocaine, Crack,
Ecstasy (MDMA), Heroin, Hashish, Ketamine, along with a variable cornucopia of
prescription drugs. The choice of drug in Merrimack stili appears to be Marijuana.

Drug Arrests

January
Transportation contro! drug (1)
Possession of marijuana (5)

February
Possession of marijuana (3)
Narcotic drug by fraud (1)

March

Possession of marijuana (8)
Transportation control drug (6)
Possession control drug ( 1)

April

Possession of controlled drugs (3)
Transportation control drug (1)
Sale of control drug (1)
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May
Possession of marijuana (4)
Transportation control drug {(3)

June
Possession of Cocaine wiintent to distribute (2)
Possession control drug (2)

July

Possession of controlled drugs (7)
Possession with intent to distribute (1)
Sale of a control drug (3)

August
Possession of controlled drugs (10)
Transportation control drug (1)

September

Possession of marijuana (4)
Transportation control drug (2)
Possession of prescribe drugs (fraud) (1)

October
Possession of control drug (4)
Transportation control drug (1)

November
Possession of control drug (3)

December
Possession of controlled drug (2)
Transportation control drug

Juvenile Division

A full-time Detective assigned to the Criminal Bureau staffs the Juvenile Division. This
past year proved to be a very busy and productive period where the Juvenile Officer,
Detective Dean Killkelley, worked closely with the Court Prosecutor, the School
Resource Officer, School Officials, and members of the Hillsborough County Family
Intervention Program. The Family Intervention Program helps youth improve their
social skills, school habits, and encourages positive behaviors. The major focus of this
program is to prevent court involvement of these youth offenders. The program proved
to be a major asset to our Department by helping families and their children work
through tough times by having regular meetings with social workers who worked with
families in their homes. The Merrimack Police Department experienced a couple of
changes with the retirement of Chief Devine. Lt. Dudash was transferred to the Criminal
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Bureau as the “Commander”. Officer Roy was transferred to the Juvenile Division and
will replace Detective Killkelley , who will be transferred to the Criminal Bureau (adult
matters). Detective Poirier was promoted from the Criminal Division to the Patrol
Division as a Sergeant.

The Juvenile Division also received a grant from the Office of Juvenile Justice and
Delinquency Prevention to help combat the problem of underage drinking. The
initiative, which involves the towns of Merrimack, Bedford, and Amherst, is a
coordinated response, administered by the Merrimack Police Department Juvenile
Division. The initiative, called the “Tri-Town Underage Drinking Initiative” focuses on
preventing the sale to, and purchase of alcohof by minors. This initiative has conducted
several undercover patrols, store compliance checks, and has posted information
notices in the schools and throughout the community.

Juvenile Division Activity
Aggravated Assault

Burglary

Larceny — Theft (Except Auto Theft)
Motor Vehicle Theft

Assaults (Except Aggravated Assault)
Arson

Fraud

Stolen Property (Buying, Receiving, Possessing)
Vandalism

Weapons

Drug/Possession

Liquor Law Violations

intoxication

Disorderly Conduct

Other Offenses (Except Traffic)
Uncontrollable (CHINS)

Runaways

—

—

NN
~NNOLAOQOQOROMNMOOO 20RO

Age Groups
10 Years of Age

0
11 Years of Age 2
12 Years of Age 3
13 Years of Age 8
14 Years of Age 18
15 Years of Age 46
16 Years of Age 36
17 Years of Age 11

*Note: 17 year olds are only considered “juveniles” in situations of runaways, protective

custody, uncontrollable behavior, etc. In Criminal situations, 17 year olds are
considered adults.
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Juveniles Involved

Male: 92 Female: 32

Residence

Local: 112 New Hampshire: 11 Out of State: 0
Disposition

Handled Within the Department and Released 5

Referred to Juvenile Court 153

Referred to Welfare 0

Referred to Another Police Agency 0

Referred to Criminal/Adult Court 0

Referred to Diversion 23

Administrative Service Division

“Service to the Community” “Commitment to Excellence”

It is the philosophy of the Merrimack Police Department that we engage in actions that

promote and support organizational strategies that address the causes and reduce the

fear of crime and social disorder through problem-solving tactics and community/police
partnerships. Community Policing is actually a return to traditional methods of policing.
Community Policing is a return to the roots of law enforcement. Community Policing is

proactive, solution-based, and community driven. A partnership with those we serve.

Your Department serves you in a variety of ways. We serve by controlling traffic, giving
aid in emergency situations, investigating crime, handling complaints, writing reports,
controlling crowds, testifying in court, and most important, patrolling our neighborhoods.

Your Department continues to be responsive to the needs of the community by
continuing programs, which encourages the community to have input into the service
we provide. Our Officer's Appraisal Program, Community Services, Officers Interaction
to community groups, and our “open-door” policy for all members of the Merrimack
community are just a few examples.

Qur Community Policing program offers a variety of seminars to the public. This past
year, the Merrimack Police Department hosted seminars in areas such as Women'’s
Self-Defense and Rape Awareness, Home Security Awareness, Children Safety and
Stranger Awareness. We speak to schoolchildren at the elementary level on safety
topics as well as the use of 9-1-1. Every 5™ grade student participates in a discussion
of Respect and Responsibility, and of course, we continued our very popular reading
program to the 1%- 3™ graders. This is as an excellent segway into our 6" grade
D.A.R.E. programs.




We plan to continue to engage and educate our children during the next year. We will
again offer a two-phase seminar on “Internet Awareness” for parents and their children.
We hope that many of you take advantage of the knowledge that will be given.

During this past year we began the MERRIMACK POLICE CITIZENS ACADEMY.
These classes allow for our citizens to enjoy an insiders view of police work and the
operations the their department. The ten-week courses showcase the talents of our
many police instructors. We plan to run two sessions per year. Watch for our
advertisements and join a class! '

This past year saw a change in leadership within the Department. Chief Joseph Devine
retired after 21 years of dedicated service. The programs and philosophies that Chief
Devine instituted have helped make our agency one of the states finest. Our new Chief,
William Mulligan, has pledged to continue our committee outreach programs and
continue to strive to serve the community of Merrimack the very best we can.

Available Community Service Pro rams

Neighborhood Crime Watch Bicycle Safety

Stranger Awareness School Bus Safety

Child Abuse Highway Safety

Theft & Shoplifting Emergency Response & Liability
Home and Business Security Surveys Baby-sitter Safety

Drug & Alcohol Abuse Halloween Safety

Operation House Check Station Tours

Good Morning Program Operation !dentification

Rape Awareness/Self-Defense Child Safety Seat Loan Program
Operation Safe Return Disconnect the Violence

Child Safety Seat Check-Point Cell Phone Loan Program

How We Kept Busy During 2002

Our Community Policing also offers a wide variety of programs to the public. This past
year the Merrimack Police Department offered seminars in Internet Safety and
Awareness, Woman's Self-Defense and Rape Awareness, Home Security and
Neighborhood Watch Programs, Credit Card Fraud and Counterfeit Money, and Senior
Fraud. Also, we are able to offer to the public the opportunity to have a car seat
checked for proper installation or assist in the installation of a new car seat. We also
participated with AARP with their 55 Alive Driver Safety Program.

We continued our reading program with the 15t- 3™ graders and spoke with elementary
grade students and pre-schools regarding 911, stranger danger, and consequences for
your actions. We participated with the Junior High and High School students in Project
Safeguard making available DWI glasses. These glasses simulate impairment and
show the student the effects of drinking and driving. We made a presentation to the
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Middle School on bullying and the consequences. We have also assisted the Middle
Schoo! and High School in their discussions on Search and Seizure.

In addition to participating in our schools and community, we also work with other
organizations within the community. We spoke to the Merrimack Chamber of
Commerce on security and credit card fraud. We also participated in various events
around our community, the Library Festival, Halloween Fun Day at the Bandstand, and
as a guest reader during Education Week. We fingerprinted children during breakfast
with Santa sponsored by the Knights of Columbus. We continue to serve on the board
of Crimeline as well as the Drug Advisory Council to name a few.

You may also find us at the Pheasant Lane Mall for Nashua Police's Law Enforcement
weekend.

Good Moming Merrimack .

Senior Citizens and people with disabilities call the Communications Center each
morning between 8:00 AM and 10:00 AM to report that all is well with them. [f they fail
to make the call, a police officer is sent to their residence to check on their welfare.

House Checks

Holiday and vacation seasons bring many requests from the public for the police to
check on residences when they leave for either the holiday and/or vacation. The
Department makes an effort to get by these vacant homes at least once per day.

Officer Appraisal Program
Each six weeks one complainant that each police officer has had contact with is
revisited and questioned pertaining to:

» Was the complainant satisfied with the response time? If priority was
given to another call, was the complainant told by the dispatcher when
she/he reported the incident?

= Attitude of the dispatcher?

« How was the officer's appearance?

« What did the officer do and was the citizen satisfied with what action was
taken?

« Questioned as to what we could do to improve our service to the public?

Walk-A-Long Program

Each shift supervisor directs each police officer to two particular locations. The officer
will park his vehicle and walks the area for 30 - 60 minutes. Public contacts are made
and the locations may well be a shopping center or a condo development.




Bicycle Patrol

Officers assigned to bicycle patrol, park their vehicles at a designated safe house,
remove the bicycle from the patrol car, and will patrol a given area on bicycle. In each
neighborhood he must make one contact with a citizen. If the officer receives a call for
service he returns to his cruiser and answers the call.

Goals/Objectives

Each squad selects areas they will concentrate on d uring the six-week cycle they wiil be
working in, selecting various areas according to the shift, and documentation is returned
showing how they met their quota.

School Reading Program

During the hours between 7:00 A.M. and 3:00 P.M. officers are assigned to the
elementary schools, grades 1 — 3, to read a story and answer questions that youngsters
might have. A very worthwhile program that brings the Department into a very positive
light with the students.

Special Olympics
We support and participate in the Special Olympics Torch Run and opening ceremonies
at the New Hampshire Special Olympics program in Durham, New Hampshire.

Citizen Police Academy
The Citizen Police Academy is a 10-week program for citizens that allow an inside look
at police work and the Merrimack Police Department.

Accreditation Program
Participation in the State of New Hampshire Public Safety Service Accreditation
Program. The Department is moving along toward a Level #1 accreditation.

Directed Patrol

Selective Enforcement or “Directed Patrol” is given to areas within the community that
have experienced an increase in a particular ctime or dangerous situation. For
example, if there was a road in Town that had just recently been paved, and the speed
of the motoring public increases, we would set up a directed patrol to monitor the speed
of the traffic. If a particular area of Town had experienced an increase in vandalism or
theft, we would set up directed patrols in these areas, to establish a higher police
presence, determine the cause of the situation, and to take steps to deter further
problems.
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Police Honor Guard
The members of this unit participate in community activities whenever asked. This
award winning Honor Guard brings honor and credit to the Police Department and to the
Town of Merrimack.

Operation Safe Return

This program is a voluntary program administered by the Merrimack Police Department
and offered to the citizens of Merrimack as a means of enrolling memory/non-verbal
persons with the police to ensure their safe, dignified return to their home or place of
care. This program is available to all persons school age and older.

Disconnect the Violence

This program is designed for men and women who are victims of domestic violence.
The Department has available several cellular telephones to loan to those who qualify.
These telephones allow the victims of domestic violence to travel anywhere with the
safety and security of knowing that assistance is just a phone call away.

If any of our programs interest you or should you have questions, please contact us.

Career Development

The Merrimack Police Department continues to make training a high priority. it has
been shown that a well-trained police force is directly linked to professionalism. Itis our
goal to continue to present to the community a well-trained and professional staff.

The New Hampshire Police Standards and Training Council has been our primary
source for training, however, other outside agencies have supplemented training
resources.

The column entitled # of officers reflects the number of officers that have attended
outside training during that particular month. The # of hours column represents the
number of training hours that the officers attended.

Month # of Officers # of Hours
January 3 72
February 0 0
March 4 104
April 4 112
May 7 200
June 1 32

July 2 16
August 1 16

-
(0]

September 98




October 15 144

November 6 48
December 9 72
69 914

These figures do not include such training as intoxilyzer re-certification and other re-
certifications as required by the State. Intoxilyzer re-certification was again 88 hours
and each officer was required to qualify with his or her service weapon, those hours
were 1241. In-house roli call training, which is training given to each squad by their
respective squad commanders and usually occurs prior to their shift, was approximately
1150 hours.
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2002 Annual Report of the

Merrimack Public Safety Dispatch Center
Submitted by Michael Milligan
Police Captain
Administrative Services Commander

Assistant Supervisor
Michele Dudash

Dispatchers
Anna Chaput Erika DeWyze
Rise Scheurich Karen Stys
Susan Sutton Mathew Canavan
Karl Flemming (part-time) Emmanuel Marcel (part-time)

The Merrimack Public Safety Dispatch Center continued to see changes in its personnel
over the previous year. We have hired two individuals who are scheduled to begin their
training in January 2003. Our communication division continues to serve the public with
the highest leve! of professionalism.

We have been busy setting up, installing, and training our officers in the use of the
mobile data terminals placed in each of our marked cruisers. This system will allow our
officers to remain on the street and do their reports without having to come fo the

station.

In the event that our dispatchers were unable to work from the police station, a system
has been designed where they would travel to Central Fire and dispatch from that
location. |wish to thank Fire Chief William Pepler, Jr. and his staff of firefighters and
E.M.S. personnel for their assistance in the past year.

| want to commend all of the dispatch personnel for their understanding and support
during the past year. | also wish to thank the Board of Selectmen, Town Manager, and
Departments Heads for their continued support, which allows us to operate at the level
expected by the citizens of Merrimack.

Just a quick word regarding 9-1-1. We strongly encourage everyone who has an
emergency situation to dial 9-1-1. Remember! stay on the line with the 9-1-1 operator
until they tell you that it is OK to hang up. Emergency personnel NEED to know
updated information as they respond and staying on the line will provide that much
needed information. If you should dial 9-1-1 by accident, STAY on the telephone and
explain to the operator that it was in error. You may expect an officer from the Police
Department to respond to your home and verify that everything is OK! For any
business calls please dial 424-3774.



Telephone Calls Placed
Telephone Calls Received
Radio Transmissions
Burglar Alarms Answered
Good Morning Calls
Window Service

Activity During 2002

2001

16,269
69,909
297,211
865
2543
10294
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16,133
64,258
311,776
796
1717
12408




2002 Annual Report of the

Department of Public Works

Submitted by Earle M. Chesley, P.E.
Director of Public Works & Engineering

We are please to report that the Department of Public Works had a very successful and
productive year in 2002. For the third time in just eight years, our Wastewater Division
received a National Award from the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. On this
occasion, the Environmental Protection Agency recognized the Town of Merrimack as a
national leader in the beneficial reuse of the biosolids which we successfully market -
throughout New England and New York. Qur program had its roots in the early
seventies and has grown to a very prominent program through the efforts and support of

the Town.

We also reached another milestone toward the closure of our landfill. Many residents
who visited this year were able to observe the construction effort required to properly
close a sanitary landfill. The construction contract included final grading and placing an
impermeable cap with a vegetative cover aver the lower portions of our active landfill,
which permits the Town to continue to use the upper portion for solid waste disposal
until December 31, 2003. Over the years, Merrimack has been able to extend the life of
its sanitary landfill through recycling and managing our solid waste disposal practice.

As we more forward, it will become increasingly important for all of us to minimize the
solid waste we produce given its high cost of disposal.

Our Department’s greatest asset is our staff. This year we were please to promote Jeff
Strong to Foreman, Larry Gay to Equipment Operator |1, Ernie Doucette to Equipment
Operator Il, and Jake Stevens to Equipment Operator |. We also want to welcome
aboard Ernie Buck as a new Foreman in our Highway Division, Herb Merrill and Ken
Vallancourt who are Highway Maintainers, and lan Robinson and Robert Golemo who

are Solid Waste Recycling Attendants.

This year closed with a bang with two significant snow storms; the first on Christmas
Day, the second on New Years. | would like to say thanks to the Highway crew who
made it possible for all of us to enjoy our holidays without missing a beat.

Significant accomplishments for the year include:

Administration/Engineering

¢ Administered construction administration of electrical upgrades for the Wastewater
Treatment Facility, Seaverns Bridge Reconstruction, and Active Landfill Closure,

Phase I.

+ Administered Odor Control Study for the Wastewater Treatment Facility.
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L

¢

Administered construction administration of roof replacements for the Town Hall and
MYA building.

Technical advisor to the Merrimack Planning Board.

Highway Division

*

Performed construction inspection of Town funded roadway and drainage
reconstruction projects on Seaverns Bridge Road and Sunnydale Drive.

Performed construction inspection of new subdivision streets including Merrill
Commons, Samuel Drive, Chandler Place, and also roadway improvements to West
Chamberlain Road, East Chamberlain Road, and Bretton Drive.

Performed overlay pavement on Beimont Orive, Waterville Drive, Country Club
Lane, Center Street, Bow Street, Daniel Webster Highway, Depot Street, Mill Street,
Front Street, Griffin Street, McElwain Street, and Turkey Hill Road.

Performed utility inspections for waterline construction on Bean Road and Baboosic
Lake Road area roads, and gas line installations along Daniel Webster Highway.

Conducted Operation Brightside Program including park restoration of Twin Bridge
Park along U.S. Route 3 and median restoration of Executive Park Drive.

Renovated Bise Field including sodding the infield, and top dressing and reseeding
the outfield.

Installed new fencing in Twin Bridge Park.
Reseeded and fertilized 21 acres of Town owned athletic fields.
Initiated playground inspection program to conform with CPSC standards.

Maintained Town cemeteries including installing granite post and chain fence at
Mathew Thornton Cemetery.

Administer Town wide street sweeping program.

Constructed drainage improvement on Naticook Road, Danbury Drive, Turkey Hill
Road, Brenda Lane, and Blair Road.

Instalied new guardrail on Island Drive.
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Equipment Maintenance Division

¢ Set up three six whee! dump trucks including installation of hydraulic systems, plow
frames, emergency lights, and communication equipment.

¢ Set up three new police cruisers including emergency lighting and communication
equipment.

¢ Set up three trucks for the Merrimack Village District including emergency lighting
and communication equipment.

+ Maintained and repaired all police vehicles, fire trucks and equipment, public works
trucks and equipment, and Town owned vehicles.

Buildings and Grounds Division

¢ Planted annual and perennial flowers.

+ Maintained buildings and grounds at the Municipal Office Complex and Police
Station.

+ Supported concerts and functions at Bandstand.

+ Supported 4th of July activities at Town Hall.

¢+ Supported Christmas activities at Town Hall and Bandstand.

+ Provided maintenance to the John O’Leary Adult Community Center.
+ Maintained grounds at Abbie Griffin Park.

¢ Had vertical blinds installed in Courtroom.

+ [nstalled three new doors in the Finance Department.

Solid Waste & Recycling Division

¢ Recycled and marketed more than 1,880 tons of materials which includes glass,
cardboard, newspaper, plastics, aluminum cans, tin cans, magazines, tires, scrap
metal, white goods, automobile batteries, used automotive oil, and antifreeze.

¢+ Composted approximately 500 cubic yards of yard waste and provided product to
residents at no charge.
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Disposed of approximately 23,780 tons of municipal solid waste and construction
debris.

Coordinated the Nashua Regional Household Hazardous Collection Days.
Monitored groundwater quality with triannual testing program.

Provided extended hours of operation during the summer.

Wastewater Division

¢

The Merrimack Wastewater Treatment Facility collected and treated over 1.1035
billion gallons of wastewater with approximately 98.03 percent removals for
biochemical oxygen demand (BOD) and approximately 96.67 percent removal for
suspended solids (SS).

Received 2002 National 1* Place Award from USEPA for our Biosolids Management
Program in Large Operating Project Category.

Completed comprehensive Odor Control Study, and currently evaluating our options
to further reduce off-site odors.

Completed second year using sodium hypochlorite for disinfection of effluent with
SCADA monitoring and control.

Completed second year using urea in place of ammonia with SCADA monitoring and
control.

Continued computer-based collection system inventory and maintenance schedule.
Continue to upgrade SCADA system to include new systems.
Laboratory continues to receive National Accreditation.

Treated approximately 4.744 million gallons of septage for Merrimack homeowners
and neighboring Souhegan communities.

Continued with routine cleaning of sewer lines with sewer vac truck.

Phase | of electrical system improvements, including replacement of electrical
switchgear and transformer is substantially complete.

Installed covers on sludge holding tanks and installed a biofilter to reduce odor.
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Completed Phase |l of electrical system improvements, to include main pump station
switchgear and feeder wires near completion.

¢ !mplemented trickling filter modifications. Preliminary evaluation indicates more
improvements are necessary at this time.

+ Successfully completed eighth year of operation of enclosed organic waste
composting facility.

+ Continued to receive approval from Massachusetts Department of Environmental
Protection, New York Department of Environmental Protection, and Rhode Island
Department of Environmental Protection to market stockpile and current production

of compost.

¢ Produced 16,500 cubic yards of compost, marketed 14,500 cubic yards of compost
in New Hampshire, Massachusetts, Connecticut, and New York.

Provided 2,000 cubic yards of compost to Merrimack residents.




MERRIMACK DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS

ADMINISTRATION AND ENGINEERING DIVISION

Director of Public Works & Engineering
Earle M. Chesley, P.E.

Office Manager
Rebecca Starkey
HIGHWAY DIVISION

Assistant Director of Public Works/Highway Division
David C. Lent, P.E.

Highway Coordinator
Bruce W. Moreau

Foremen
Ernie Buck
Joe Maguire
Jeff Strong
Secretary
Sue Gerow
Robert Burley, Equipment Operator | Wayne Lombard, Equipment Operator |
Steve Curtis, Equipment Operator | Robert Lovering, Equipment Operator ||
Scott Daley, Equipment Operator | Herb Merrill, Maintainer
Ernest Doucette, Equipment Operator [l Jason Schick, Equipment Operator | **
Lawrence Gay, Equipment Operator il Dean Stearns, Equipment Operator |
Leonard Heath, Equipment Operator | Jacob Stevens, Equipment Operator |
Thomas Hudon, Equipment Operator | Robert Sullivan, Equipment Operator 1lI
Jason Kimball, Equipment Operator | John Trythall, Equipment Operator |
Louis Lapointe, Equipment Operator | Ken Vallancourt, Maintainer

** Resigned
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EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE DIVISION

Equipment Maintenance Foreman
James Graham

Ronald Bergeron, Mechanic |l William Gilbody, Mechanic Il

Robert Fisher, Mechanic il Sam Walker, Mechanic |
Brian Friolet, Mechanic 1l

SOLID WASTE & RECYCLING DIVISION

Solid Waste Foreman
Steven Doumas

Scale Operator
Lon Woods

Earl Dubois, Equipment Operator lli Kevin Holt, Equipment Operator llI
Robert Golemo, Recycling Attendant lan Robinson, Recycling Attendant

BUILDING & GROUNDS DIVISION

Custodial Maintenance Supervisor
Philip Meschino

Custodial Maintenance Workers
Steven Cook
Nathan Latour

Ed Champagne




WASTEWATER DIVISION

Assistant Director of Public Works/Wastewater Division
Larry R. Spencer

Chief Operator
James E. Taylor

Assistant Chief Operator Maintenance Manager
Wayne Johnson Lee Vogel

Sewer Inspector
Donald A. Hamel

Laboratory Manager
Sharan Facteau

Industrial Wastewater Pretreatment Manager
Roger Descoteaux

Secretary

Becky Sullivan
John Adams, Equipment Operator III Donald Lavoie, Mechanic !l
David Blaine, Operator | David Lyons, Operator |
Richard Blanchard, Operator ll/Lab Technician Gary MacGrath, Equipement Operator lII
James Davala, Operator | Robert MacGrath, Mechanic II
Donald Doucette, Equipment Operator !I Cecil Peters, Operator Il
James Dwire, Mechanic Il James Sheldon, Mechanic il
David Evans, Equipment Operator [lI Lindsay Wilson, Mechanic Il

Stephen Garczynski, Mechanic |
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2002 Annual Report of the

Adopt-A-Road Program
Submitted by Bruce W. Moreau
Highway Coordinator

We are pleased to provide this report of the volunteer Adopt-A-Road Program that is
now going into its forth year. The program allows persons, organizations, and
businesses to ‘adopt’ all or parts of Town roads for the purpose of litter pick up. Sponsor
plates recognizing the volunteers are posted at each of the adopted areas of roadway.
Our volunteers through 2002 were: :

American Legion, Post 98 — a portion of Baboosic Lake Road
American Legion Auxillary, Unit 98 — Hillside Terrace, Church Street
Bailey’s Towing & Autobody — Back River Road
Bob Ferguson — a portion of Bedford Road
Boy Scouts of America, Troop 15 — a portion of Naticook Road
Boy Scouts of America, Troop 401 — Pearson Road
Carlson/GMAC Real Estate — a portion of Turkey Hill Road
Charlie McCaffery, Carlson/GMAC Real Estate — a portion of Wire Road
College Mums — a portion of Baboosic Lake Road
Debelis Family, The — Meetinghouse Road
F. Thornton Family, The — Atherton Road
Grace Baptist Church Youth — portions of Bedford Road and Wire Road
Heron Cove Homeowners — Manchester Street
Hickory Hollow Farm — County Road
Knights of Columbus, Queen of Peace Council —a portion of Baboosic Lake Road
LCM Remodeling — Amherst Road
Merrimack Conservation Commission — Lawrence Road
Merrimack Crimeline — Daniel Webster Highway
Merrimack Friends & Families — a portion of Naticook Road
Merrimack Veterinary Hospital — a portion of Seaverns Bridge Road
Merrimack Village District — Greens Pond Road
Reagh Greenleaf, Sr. — a portion of Camp Sargent Road
Tom Howe Septic Systems — Patten Road
Transupport, Inc. — Wright Avenue
Warren & Nancy Pease — Peaslee Road
The Whitney Family — Trowbridge Drive

We offer our participants a very big THANK YOU!

The program has been very successful but we do have more ‘orphans’ that need
‘parents’. For further information and applications, interested persons, businesses, or
groups may contact our Public Works Department at 424-5137.



2002 Annual Report of the

Adopt-A-Spot Program
Submitted by Bruce W. Moreau
Highway Coordinator

We are pleased to provide this report of the volunteer Adopt-A-Spot Program. This
pragram, modeled after our Adopt-A-Road Program, allows persons, organizations, and
businesses to ‘adopt’ specific areas in Town for the purpose of litter pick up and general
improvement. Signs recognizing the volunteers are posted at each of the adopted
areas. This program is a year old and we presently have only two sponsors.

Former Selectman Tony Holevas has adopted the cul de sac area on Danforth Road as
his location. Tony is really enthused about the program and has already instalied some
flowers and other plantings, at his own expense, and is looking forward to more
improvements each summer. :

CP Management, Inc. and Cambridge Landscaping have, as a team, adopted the island
on D.W. Highway between King Kone and Horseshoe Pond Condominiums. This area
over the last few years has slowly been improved. These sponsors have taken over the
maintenance of the area and already their professional touch is noticed.

We offer these participants a very big THANK YOU!
As the program continues we know that there are more areas that could be adopted. If

any person, business or organization has a location in mind that they would like to adopt
please contact our Public Works Department at 424-5137.
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2002 Annual Report of the

Town Clerk/Tax Collector’s Office

Submitted by Diane Pollock
Town ClerkiTax Collector

A good economy and continued growth in town are reflected in the revenue figures for
the Department. During fiscal year 20012002, auto registration revenues continued to
increase and property tax collections remained strong. The Department processed
3,000 more registrations than in the previous year, bringing the number of transactions
to over 26,000 and only two properties were tax deeded. This year's auto registration
revenues rose over $187,000 from last year to bring the total revenues collected to over
$3.9Million.

This year also saw a record number of dogs being licensed. Over 3,000 dog tags were
issued. Most of this is due to dog owners complying with licensing laws, and some is
due to the Town's enforcement of dog licensing laws. State law requires owners of
dogs three months and older to license their dog annually, on or before May 1%,
Owners must present a valid rabies certificate and a neuter/spay certificate, if
applicable, to the Town Clerk’s office to obtain a license. Per state law, owners who
had failed to license their dogs received a civil forfeiture notice to license and a $25.00
fine from the Merrimack Police Department-Animal Control Division. In addition o
annual licensing, there is another time that a dog owner may receive a notice to license
and a civil forfeiture fine if they fail to license their dog. This occurs when an owner of a
new dog has their dog vaccinated for rabies. Veterinarians are required by law to notify
town clerks that a dog has received a vaccination. Clerks are required to check and see
if the owner has licensed their dog, and if they have not, then the clerk must send them
a notice to license. An owner who then fails to license their dog receives the civil
forfeiture notice to license and a fine.

The project of scanning and archiving of the Town’s permanent records continued with
over 67,000 pages being scanned during the past year. Managing the Town records
has become increasingly challenging as the vault is at capacity. The office was granted
storage space in the vault in the old Town Hall basement, and as records are scanned
they are being transferred to this storage area. Deputy Town Clerk/Tax Collector Linda
Hall and | attended records preservation and storage management workshops to help
broaden our knowledge of the best way to handle records. The Department appilied for,
and received, a grant from Dartmouth College as part of the New Hampshire Local
Records Education Project. The grant allows for a consultant to review and assess our
storage and management techniques and make recommendations for the best methods
to handle and store records given our space constraints. An on site review and meeting
with the consultant is scheduled for early 2003.

Education, training, and professicnal development continue to be an important aspect

for the Department. Staff completed various development programs and attended
training seminars related to specific job functions such as motor vehicle issues, tax
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collection workshops, vital records processing, customer service, and computer related
courses. Deputy Town Clerk/Tax Collector Linda Hall completed year one of four, of the
New Hampshire City and Town Clerks’ and Tax Collectors’ Joint Certification Program.
| was elected to serve as 5™ Vice President for the New England Association of City and
Town Clerks' Association. As a member of this association, | plan to further my
education by attending classes of the International Institute of Municipal Clerks.

Several students from the Merrimack High School Work Experience Program and the
New Hampshire Job Training Council Work-to-Learn Program worked in the
Department this past year. Students usually work for a semester or a summer period;
however, this year was different as it was the first year that the Department worked with
students for the entire year. We had several students working at various times and two
students worked during two different time periods. The students who worked were Bill
Stipe, Shane Burke, Betsy McMahon and Michael Maglio. Bill Stipe and Shane Burke
worked from January to June. Bill Stipe and Betsy McMahon worked during the
summer, and Michael Maglio and Shane Burke started work in September and will
complete their assignment in January. These programs provide valuable work
experience to students with challenges. We enjoy working with the students and find it
to be a very rewarding experience.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank the staff, Linda Hall, Janet Killpartrick,
Nancy Deslauriers, Maureen Covell, Tammie Lambert, and our part-timers Ruth Liberty
and Marge Petrovic for their continued hard work and dedication, and also to thank you,
the community, for your continued support.
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2002 Annual Report of the

Town Manager
Submitted by Dean E. Shankle, Jr., Ph.D.
Town Manager

As most of you know, in October of 2002 | told the Board of Selectmen that I did not
want to renew my contract when it expired on June 30, 2003. Therefore, this will be my
last Annual Report as the Merrimack Town Manager. Although 2002 was certainly an
interesting year, | would like to take this opportunity to recap some of the things that
happened during my nine years here that | think are most significant. '

| believe that the acquisition of land that has occurred during my tenure is probably
going to have the greatest long-term impact on the Town. When | arrived the Town
owned just less than 500 acres of conservation and recreation fand. Since then we
have acquired, either through purchase or donation, nearly 1,000 acres.

We went, for example, from owning zero acres on the Merrimack River (there was one
town-owned boat access point at Depot Street in Reed's Ferry) to nearly 50 acres,
which includes a second boat access in Thornton's Ferry and three beautiful islands in
the river. The Town also approved the purchase of one piece of land, presently referred
to as the Green’s Pond property, which contains more than 550 acres.

In addition, there were other significant additions to our real estate holdings. We
acquired 191 acres of forest (Grater Woods) in the northwest corner of Town; three
important wetlands including 35 acres of White Pine Swamp, the 36-acre Leather Leaf
Bog at DW Highway and Merrimack Tech Park and a 32-acre site on Mast Road and
the 25-acre Gilmore Hill Memorial Forest on Greens Pond Road. Since | am a history
buff, 1 am particularly pleased with the donation of the small but historically important
Waeston Park that helps protects the original Meeting House site and historic cemetery.

In the area of economic development Merrimack positioned itself quite well to take
advantage of the boom of the late 1990s. We managed to attract Fidelity Investments
and its more than 3,000 employees. PC Connections, one of the premiere businesses
that was born and raised in New Hampshire, moved its headquarters here, refurbishing
an empty strip mall. The Town saw an increase in both the industrial and commercial
sectors. Since my first job with the Town was as its first Community Development
Director, these accomplishments are especially meaningful to me.

There were also some strides that we took to improve the active recreational
opportunities available to the Town. We took over the operation of the Naticook Day
Camp at Wasserman Park and have turned it into one of the best in New Hampshire.
The Skateboard Park, which began as a donation in the memory of Michael Flerra, has
become a very popular spot. The Independence Day celebration has grown
significantly and now includes such things as the very popular annual Sidewalk Chalk
Art Contest.




general administrative offices were able to take on & more professional look. Fire
Station #1 underwent a significant growth and remodeling.

Both internally and externally, we changed our operations through the use of
technology. When I first came, the Town had very few computers and no network. We
had no presence on the web (which of course, was in its infancy) and no cable access
channels.

Over the past eight years all of that has changed. All of our computers have been
networked to allow for real time information sharing. Specialized computer programs for
the Assessing Department, Finance, and the Town Clerk/Tax Collector have been put
on line. Community Development and General Government now have integrated
computer programs that make their operations significantly more efficient. Each of
these development programs have been undertaken to improve our service to the
public.

The Town of Merrimack was one of the first towns in New Hampshire to have an online
presence. Our website has grown into a communications medium used to inform the
public on Town affairs and issues. My son, Jeremy, first developed the website when
he was 15 years old and he maintained it for several years. This volunteer effort was
necessary in the early days when the real value was not yet understood. It has grown
into an integral part of our communications program:,

Through negotiations with a series of cable providers, the Town has three access
channels. One for public access, one for the schools, and one for the Town
government. These are used to provide residents with information in a format that
would otherwise be impossible.

Emergency management and public safety has also been improved through the
application of technology. Certainly, the addition of thermal| imaging cameras in the Fire
Department was a huge step forward, both to improve rescue efforts for the public but

provides ievels of information to personnel in a timely manner that was not formerly
possible. We have continued to upgrade the communications capabilities.

I could go on. There have been many changes in organizational structures and
processes. There have been a number of significant public works projects and there
have been many significant events that have occurred. Some have been the result of
local actions; some have been the result of state or national events. There is not nearly
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enough room in this book to recount everything of significance that has happened over
these last nine years. '

[ do want to take this opportunity to set the record straight on one very important event
that occurred. Soon after | started as Town Manager, | convinced Betty Spence to
leave her position as Town Clerk/Tax Collector and to take the job that is now the
Assistant Town Manager's position. During the first week, | took her out to the area
between the two buildings that comprise the Town Hall and pointed over to the Civil War
Monument across Baboosic Lake Road. '

“Merrimack’s 250" Anniversary is coming up and | think it would be nice to build a
bandstand over there.” | explained. “I think it would be a good focal points for the
celebration and would help to define this as the Town Center.” Betty, who has worked
for the Town for thirty years, explained to me that people had talked about doing
something like that in the past but that no one was actively working on it. She said she
wasn't sure that where | was pointing was the best place, but she would give it some
thought.

Within a week Betty asked me to go for a walk with her. She led me outinto the parking
lot and then walked me over to an overgrown, wooded area between the Town Hall and
Daniel Webster Highway (DWH). “We own this land,” she pointed out, “and | think that
this would be a great place for the bandstand.” We walked down the first hill, across a
flat area and to the top of the incline that goes down to DWH. We started talking about
how the topography created a natural amphitheater.

We walked around for a few minutes. We talked about the beauty of some of the white
birches (which have since been removed after a lightening strike) and how this place
could become a center for community activities. We talked about seeing older people
on their lawn chairs with little children running around while the Community Band
played. We talked about the weddings that could take place there.

One of us, | don’t remember which, picked up a stick as we walked and talked. Atsome
point, we stopped, looked around us and both realized that this was the spot. The stick
was shoved into the soil. The bandstand sits within ten feet of where that stick was
planted. Many people helped make that dream of a community gathering place a
reality, but that is how it all started.

Of course, over the nine years | have spent here there have been many highs and some
lows, both professionally and personally. That is inevitable. However, when | look back
on my time working for the people of Merrimack 1 will think fondly of the things 1 did and
the people | met. | want to take this opportunity to thank all of those employees,
volunteers, and Selectmen who have helped and supported me over the years. And
certainly | want to thank my wife, Jean, my son, Jeremy, and my daughter, Audrey for
all of their support. It has been a team effort and | have been on a great team.
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2002 Annual Report of the

Welfare Department

Submitted by Patricia A. Murphy
Welfare Administrator

History

Merrimack has always provided relief to those in need since its inception in 1734.
Over the years, the state and federal government have relieved the towns and cities in
the long-term care of the blind, the elderly, the disabled, troubled juveniles, and families

with children.
Overview

All towns and cities in the State of New Hampshire are required to provide general
assistance per say RSA 165:1 (1), “Whenever a person in any town is poor and unable
to support himself, he shali be relieved and maintained by the overseers of public
welfare of such town...”

The Town of Merrimack administers this responsibility through the Welfare
Administrator whose responsibility is to assess individual need as determined by
detailed written guidelines adopted by the Board of Selectmen.

General/Emergency Assistance is provided by vouchers for basic necessities such as
rent, utilittes, and food until a long-term referral agency can assist or until families
become self-sufficient again. Merrimack requires welfare recipients, who are able to
work, to work for the Town in exchange for assistance. Liens are placed on property.
Recipients are required to repay the Town once they become financially able to do so.

Welfare Budqget Overview

FY 99/00 FY00/01 FY01/02
Total Operating Budget $ 140,572 $ 150,428 $ 162,449
Client Expenditures $ 45,118 $ 55,528 $ 64633
Client Expenditures Broken Down:
Housing $ 25,389 $ 36,277 $ 49,395
Qil/Gas/Propane $ 1,344 $ 1,267 $ 2,053
Electricity $ 8721 $ 4,089 $ 4,133
Food $ 4,951 $ 9,663 $ 3,267
Prescriptions $ 1,023 $ 367 $ 2,900
Other $ 3,691 $ 3,865 $ 2,885




Interesting Happenings in Merrimack

The Welfare Department experienced increased costs as the economy slowed but
housing costs continued to escalate. Prescription needs grew due to the delay in
Medicaid and the higher costs of medications. Heating costs also increased due to the
cuts in the Federal Fuel Assistance Budget.

Over the years a number of community organizations and private residents have
generously provided their assistance to the needs of Merrimack residents and continue
todo so. A summary of programs and services are as follows:

Abbie Griffin Hospital Fund: Established for the purpose of paying hospital expenses “in
whole or in part of bonafide residents who are financially unable to do so.” Applications
for this fund are available in the spring from the Welfare Office and assistance will be
paid to hospitals by the end of June each year.

Food Pantries: These programs are a valuable resource to those needing to
supplement their monthly food budget. There are four located throughout the
Merrimack area, run by local churches and sponsored by many residents and
businesses of our Town.

Merrimack Heating Oil Fund: This assistance for heating oil to Merrimack families on a
one-time basis is available from the Merrimack Fire Fighters Union. This fund is a
tremendous help to families and very appreciative by families in need.

Naticook Day Camp: Scholarships this year were awarded to 12 children of Merrimack
for two fun-filled weeks of learning and skill building at Naticook Day Camp. We were
very fortunate and grateful to have Merrimack Rotary Club, The Sean A. Looney Athletic
Memorial Fund, Bear Christensen Trust, and Merrimack Community Girl Scouts donate
funds for those financially in need of scholarships.

Seasonal Assistance: This year Merrimack children received 40 Easter Baskets and 36
backpacks with school supplies from the innovative donations by Merrimack Friends
and Families. Thirty families were assisted with donations of food boxes, Christmas
trees, gift cards, and of presents from Operation Santa. This was provided through the
generosity of the Merrimack Firefighter's Union, Merrimack Police Union, Lioness Club,
Rotary Club, Merrimack Friends and Families, Merrimack Girl Scouts, and Kids Inn.

Southern NH Fuel Assistance Program: This program begins December 1% and runs
through May 1% each year to provide assistance to heat homes during the winter
season. Eligibility and benefit amounts are determined by gross household income,
number of household members, and vulnerability to heating costs. Appointments are
necessary. Interested persons should contact the Nashua area office at 889-3440.

By contacting Pat Murphy at 423-8535 you can obtain additional information about
these and other programs.
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2002 Annual Report of the

Zoning Board of Adjustment

Submitted by Richard W. Barry
Chairman

The Zoning Board of Adjustment held 13 meetings from January 1, 2002 through
December 31, 2002.

Seventy-one petitions for variances, special exceptions, equitable waiver, and appeals of
administrative decisions were received in 2002. This is compared to 51 petitions in 2001,
48 in 2000, 35 in 1999, 43 in 1998, and 57 in 1997.

Summary of petitions submitted by type and resulting action:

Variances Granted Denied Withdrawn*
Signs 2 0 0
Yard Setbacks 9 4 2
Lot Regulations 0 2 0
Use 1 2 0
Septic System Setbacks 4 1 1
Expansion of Non-Conforming Structure 1 0 0

Special Exceptions

Use 5 2 0
Accessory Dwelling Unit 15 1 1
Yard Setbacks 8 0 0
Disturbance of Wetlands 2 0 0
Other

Appeals of Administrative Decisions 1 4 0
Appeal of Building Code 1 0 0
Appeal of N.H. R.S.A. 674:41 1 0 0
Equitable Waivers 1 0 0
Request for Rehearing 0 3 0
* or tabled

In January Ross Hall was appointed a full-time member of the Board, filling an unoccupied
seat. The Annual Meeting in July saw the re-election of Richard Barry as Chairman and
Mark Kanakis as Vice-Chair. In September Mark Kanakis resigned as a full-time member
of the Board but was appointed as an alternate. William Barry was appointed to serve as a
full-time member. In December Timothy Dutton was elected Vice-Chair. At the close of
2002, the Board consisted of five full-time members: Chair Richard Barry, Vice-Chair
Timothy Dutton, Patricia Mellor, Ross Hall, and William Barry. The Board also has two
alternate members: Mark Kanakis and Richard Hinch. Members this year amended the
By-Laws to make them gender neutral.

The Board continues to be staffed by Community Development Director Jay Minkarah,
Planning and Zoning Assistant Susan Domanico and the clerical staff of the Community
Development Department.

221 -




OHIESSOA LIANVF OYIFSSOA AIAvA d08VY.L NOSNY YNHSVYN ve
MIIAVIIFHS MIIA HIHJOLSIYHD 1390149 YN313INW VNHSYN 44

AINN3d 3nInnr AINN3Id ¥313d H.138VvZi73 3700IN VYNHSVYN £e
NVHHEND LLIANNAT NVH¥ND 14380Y VIOITY NATYAvin VNHSVYN 8l
NNYOOW YANIT NNVOOW advma3 QUYMAO3 YONNOD  VIN "HILSIHONIM Ll

SIT3 31YHOT SIT13 S3THVYHD NHO WvQv VNHSVYN 9l
IMSNIOSN ATT3HS IMSNIOSN L1H¥390Y H138vSI13 ANY d31SIHONVYIN gl
JHOWSNIA ATH3IaNIN JHOWSNIQ 13VHOIW VYA NYOIW VYNHSVYN 9l
31NY9 NMvQ 3TNHE AVr 3aSINOT A3 VNHSYN 145

NYHOW vdnvi NVHOW NOLSaM NOLS3IM d3dvr VNHSYN 142
J31LN3dd NAGOY JOIINIYd SYWOHL NOSVN SYWOHL YNHSVN €l
IXOINSYYA 3INr IMDINSYHA NHOr 11394YO Wvay VNHSYN £l
dNIOONVYH 350N dNIO0ONYYS NHOI 13VHIIW A9700 VNHSYN (3
ONITHILTIOH 3LLaNVYT ONITH3LI30H Nvr d3AIN0 L1439 VYNHSYN LI
AVINNW INVIQ AVHAHNI NIATA ANIFIHLY NIY3 d31SIHONVYW oL
113TINN 31 L113TINW sSvY19N0Q NOSTIM 13NNYS VYNHSYN ol

13TON AQNIM 1370N aInva 13H13 YNNYIYE VNHSVYN L
d3HONOY ADVHL d3HON0T MIHLLYIN IV 3IM13 YNHSVYN S
SIANOC 10Vl SINOM Nvidg WYITTIM H37AL VNHSVYN G
d390uNgI344 HYH04d3a d30¥N8ITHS 13VHOIN VNNV [DHVYW d31SIHONYIN 14
1S3IM 3T1TIHOIN 1S3IM S3NvVr HIANVYXITY YITAL VNHSYN 14
NYZHANO0Y NI THLIWH NY3daNo8g INVa H138vZ)13 39Ivd H31SIHONVYW £
AH33IHS NvSNS AH3ZIHS YUYW 3813 31NMVLYN VNHSVYN €
d3TINW NIWYVYD 3NN NVILSIHHD VNHSVYN 143904 NIA3r 4
IZZOGNVY4 INNVIAr 1ZZOAONVY4 13VHOIW 337 3T1139YNNY VNHSVYN 2
1002 "100

INVHO 1390149 INVHO NIAGA AONLVYd YIHS  VIN "HILSTHONIM 0c

1002 "1d3S

H3IHL1OW 40 JWVYN d43H1Vd 40 JWVYN JWVYN S.OTIHD _ H1¥Ig 40 3ov1d 31lva

2002 ‘L€ ¥39W3D3Q ONIGNT ¥V3IA
HN ‘MOVINIMYIW 40 NMOL 3H1 NI 34318193y SHLYIg

-222 -




NOSdWOHL 3s113 NOSdWOHL 1Nvd T3VHOIW NIWVYENZg YNHSYN 1
1002 '03Q

SINYVYE NONNVHS SIANYVYE QHVYHOIA SIANVI HYON AdY3d (119
AQUVYHOIY NYOT OYYHOIY NIATLS A3T113N 30AH8 HILSTHONVIN 6¢
MVYHS NIHWYA MVHS dvdd Hd3sSOr 13vHOIW HIALSIHONVYIN 8¢
J9AIHA00O 319908 I00IHMA009 M3ldlvd H139vZIN3 NvO3W VYNHSYN 9Z
OXro1 HYdvS OMrOT M3HLLYN H139VvZI13 NJHNY YNHSYN T4
WYHLINVYHO Y34INNI3TC WYHLINYHO AYH3r NOHIWYD NY1AQ YNHSVYN 9¢
AINVH NAHYHS AINVH dINIHd diHd 13vHOIN YNAHSVYN Ge
WOY1SO YI4INNIr WOYI1SO Q¥VYHOI MIYUANY NIJJIHD VYNHSYN ve
MOTHYE NI THLYA MOTHYE A31avdd JIHVIN YNV HILSTHINVIN (44
NYHVYWOW H3JINN3r NYHYWOW N3TVO SIWVT g31v0 aw ‘vas3H1i3g A4
NOLHSIVT idIZH NOLHOIVY1 NHOP L13HYVYO 13VHIOIW YNHSYN 02
HOIHHIW ONOAIN ADIHHIW NN3TO Ydd31S A¥¥3d 6t
OHOVYWYD-ITTIVAN JANVIOS ZANILHVYIN-ZINY NvNr NVYILSvd3sS YNHSYN 6l
MDOIONVH 3DIANVI MOOONVH NHOr INNIZ.HNYT 3IZNIAOVIN YNHSYN gl
Y13HOV1 3T1aHOIN V1340Vl AIAvYd MV VIAYAIN YNHSVYN 9l
INVIdOD VLIONVYS ITYAY HSIHVYH YHSV.LYN YNHSYN Gl
JSIHOHVYIN FIVHO JSIHIOYVYN AYVHIOIA JTODIN VSSIYYN YNHSVYN el
JINAMOQ 3ITNr JINMOQA 14380Yd JIHVIN AT YNHSYN cl
INOY3d NIHYA INOY3d NOSVI MIHLLVYIN NOYHINYD HILSIHONYN ol
SS0Y vO0383Y SSOY ITT1ANVA 3S0Y JIANVS GHOONOD L
1¥3aMO3 H13gvZI13 1¥3I03 dIVYNOQ Hd3SOr AHLOWIL YNAHSVYN L
¥oNng 3SIN3A MONg NJA3LS N3IAILS VIOIW YNHSVYN g
AASOUHVYML Y3JINNITP AASOQHUVYML JO1H3 T3INVA HYIHYHOVZ YNHSYN €
204340 LIYOIANNY 3014340 Hd3sor NNV HYHVYS YNHSYN €
SNIT102 TAY3IHD SNIT10D SIAVT VSSATY NJHNY HILSTHONVYIN [
1002 'AON

HINIW INILSIYHD HINIW HJIsor ANOHLNY NYA3 YNHSVYN 62
H317139 VYN 347139 MHVYN ONOWAYH AUOVI HI1SIHIONVW 8¢
00SN4d VSIHVIN 0JSN4 MNvYHA 13VHIINW JININOJ YNHSYN T4
YA3IWIVv NIib3 VYA3IW1Y ainva FOVvHO NITTHLYA a}=[o}e]\[e)e) 14
HIHI1OW 40 3NVN d3aH1vYd 40 JNVN JANVYN S.G1IHD HLYIE 40 30V'1d 3Jlvd

-223-




ONILHVIN NIFTHLIWH ONILYVIN NHOY ANILSIHHD YNNYINF VNHSVYN 0]3
AVINZOM ATHIGNIN AVINZOM SSOY SSOY AVP H31STHONYIN ol
INVIMYT Y339y INVIMVI 1339VYN 1339vN YN3r VNHSVYN 6
SILTNHS-NVYL NNV SILTNHS L1028 T3IVHOIN NYION YNHSYN 8
TIVH YONOHY TIVH T3VHOIN d00VI MIHLLYN VNHSYN L

d3AQ ¥3HINNIP Y3AQ A3H443r  NOSTI3N AIH443r a3yvr VNHSYN 14
NIMANA A0Vl NIMANA QIAYQ MIYANY %01 LYd VNHSYN €

2002 'NVT

301 ILSIYM 32idd 37vd JIVHIIW 23TV HILS3IHONVI 33
Y3LSIATAS HAJINNIM  ¥ILSIATAS HIHJOLSINHD NOST3aN HYNOr HILSIHONVW 3%
HOONOW JINVIIN HJOANOW Hd3sor NOLS3Y¥d SAWvr Y31SIHONYW oe
NOSJ4VLSND NVYSNS NOSJVLISND AYVYD VIHANY H3LSTHONVYI 6¢
NYWHIHS ATH3gNIN NVIWHIHS WVITTIM NOSIHYVYH H314vD H31STHONVI 8e
WOJSNVH AH3aNIN WOJSNVYH 0143 AJNLLYd NIWVINIgG VNHSVYN gc
SIAVHO YANIHE S3IAVYO NHOr INIY3IHLYD YI3ONY VNHSVYN ve
NOSMOVI VL1SIYM NOSHOVI NIAIN VHL3YVYOHVYN 3930Hd 431S3IHONVIN ve
MIHAVW v20393y MIHAYIN HHVYIN NNAT Nvador HILSTHONVW [44
NOSGIAYQ ATT13HS NOSQIAVA AW3¥3r SIHVYANNY A3TVYH H3I1SIHONVI 0¢
JL1INOSSIE I01MLY3g JLLINOSSIF MOy 1vd 3T0DIN AGNAAS H3LS3IHONVIN 8l
HOI-MYHS AT13M HOIYVYHS AHLOWIL NHOP-S3IWVI NVYLSIML d31S3IHONVYW 8l
NOSYHI3ANY NO13avi NOSHIANY MHiA 1138dWVYD NIUVYN VNHSVYN Ll
Q33d4SA00D AONVN 033dSA009 DUV QYVHOIY M3IHLLYW VNHSVYN 9l
VYN3d NI43 YN3d STHANY JIHVYA VITVLYN VNHSYN 1

YIOAN3IW 3102IN VIOGN3IW HOLVATYS 3T0DIN INOTON VNHSVYN 142
J0vVO 3nnr JOVO Wvav ANITIAVIA YIANO VNHSYN bL

AHANYT ITI3HDIN AHMONY 14380 di3d NOT1IQ H31SIHONVIW 0
SH3LYMSSYd 3NVIQ SHALVYMSSV TIVHOIN T3VHOIN ¥43HJOLSI¥HD VYNHSVYN L
AINNNYEG YONVAY AZNNNYE INvd TIVHSHVYIN N3alv VNHSVYN 9
NVISONIM NIITHLWYA NVYISONIY N3A3LS d3HD1314 Hd3sor dILSIHONVW 9
LNVYNOO 31nr INVHNOD 3A31S NVYAY dOoYdvr VNHSVYN 14
T1A3G 3JINVT T1A3EG 1Y390Y NAGOYH VIHOLDIA d31SIHONVYW 14
NOSNIFOY 1IVD NOSNIGOY NIAIN SIWVr ¥3¥3d VNHSVYN }
43IH1O0W 40 JNVYN Y3H1V4d 40 JWVN JWVN S.ATIHD  H1XIF 40 39V1d diva

~224 -



SYIHOO0USIAA INNVIINT SHIHOOHSIA 1IVHIIN NERIAERLELE 4 HILSTHONVN 1A%
OTTVWWIL VIOUVYIN OTIYWWIL AHOD3EO 11098 13INVA v ‘NO1S08 el
NVIH3HD 3NILSIHHO NVIdIHD advMa3 NOAIT M3IHLLYW YNHSYN § ]
NOLIHM Y13ONY NOLIHM NVIY8 ONITH31S gOIvr YNHSYN ol
WNLHIH NVA YON3H8 WNLHIH NYA QYYNO3T AyvYNO31 SYWOHL YNHSYN ol
avsyvid INVIA avsydd 1INV HYWNX YNHSOr YNHSYN ol
SVYITTIM ILSIEA SWYITTIM NOSVT NOSVYI AHVYHOVZ HILSIHONVIA 6
TIOHHYD ATHI8NIA 770HEVD NOSYr H138vZi13 7ivoiavy VYNHSYN L
770HHYD ATd3I8WIA T10HYYD NOSVYT H3ATLND 902V VNHSVYN L
VZ2ZYW A3 vZZVW 14390 ATHYD vSS3al VNHSYN l

IDINNIHD V117071 IDINNIHD Hd3sOor SINYI ANOHLNY YNHSYN L
SIATV AOVHl SIATY HAISOr INNY VIINF VYNHSYN 9
NINFYHYANIAOD YHLY  NvdaNVHOVAVY HYWNHHSIWYY YYHL3AIN HILSIHONYA G
: 200z "d3d

WHYHONA-NOANIA A3HYD JWHYHONA HA3SOr NOANIX NOL1XVd HALSIHONVYIN 0¢
ONISNIYH NATOHYD ONISN3H Nvidg 31V1 YIANVYXITV VYW ‘NO1SOgd 8¢e
AYvHO39 43dd3d aydvHO39 alAvd MIHLLYW NOL1VA YNHSYN 8¢
A71314H21LNYD YNIYLYA G71314HOLNED NOUYY NOSHIAANY NY1AQ VI ‘NOL1S04 T4
IAIN ATHIGNIA JAIN NOSYT v3aHY JITIVH VYNHSVYN Ge
S3I0ONVYA idvYWNAd S3IOONVYA SIN3A SYWOHL NVAY YNHSYN T4
NINYE3A YNILSIEA NINYE30 ANOWAYY AVY NONNVYHS H31SIAHONVYI G2
INVYHOH3W 3INVYIA LNVYHOH3N AInVd AINVA SYTOMJIN VNHSVN €e
314vNA INITHLVA 314vYNAa HYON av3d 800Vl YNHSVYN 2Z
30va-NIONYLS vIN3uNy 3avg Hd3sOor 1AVHOIWN NVILSVYE3S VYNHSVYN A
3avg-NIDNVYLS VINANY 3avg Hd3S0r Hd3sSOr dinva YNHSYN [44
HLIWS A3 HLIWS A34d43ar HILSIHONYIW  QHVYNY3d NvdIVY ¥4

133MS FIHYNVSIT 133MS AYHIA J700IN NOSITIV VN "YILSIHONIM 6l
TIVEWIM ¥3HLVY3H TIvaWIX NOSYT NVAY NOLN3H1 YNHSYN gl
NOSNHOT VSSIT3W NOSNHOP M3IHLIYW QOOTEGONNOA T3INVHLVYN YNHSYN 8l
WOOONVH 114l WOOONVH N3Yuva SN g00vr YNHSVYN Ll
ZNdHVA 3INVIZN ZN4HYN N3HYvd SINVIE LNJONIA VNHSVN Gl
Ad4Nd 3NYID Ad4Ng y313d H313d NYaNIH9 HI1SIHONVN 4’
HIHLONW 40 JNVN ¥3HLVY4 40 3NYN JWVYN S.QT1HD  HLlMIg 40 33V1d 31vd

-225-



NOST0 3INVIAN ONIQYIVS NOQH09 JIVHO YIINr YNHSYN €
S991dd 3171T0H S9O9I1449 gaol NYOJOW IHN00Hd YNHSYN [4
HOYWYM VYOINOY3IA HOYVYY A3Y443r NV3ITOW NVYOOT VYNHSVYN 2
002 "Hdv

AVINId HONAT NOSITTY AVINId QHvy3IO VIL IVAINVYHD VNHSYN 8¢
NOSNHOF [43HD NOSNHO NOSVYTr dd0OH F1131H9YD VYNHSYN ve
WYHONIHLOYA YNYIQ WVYHONIHLOY 4 dIAVA 1O02TOM M3IHANY HI1ISIHONYIN A4
SYHNA AHLYA SYHNA NOr IviN ATING YNHSVYN 0¢
H3d33ax1S 334IS3g H3d33yLS D13 SNVS A3 YNHSVYN 0¢
N3STO INNVIOHYD N3S10 Nv3Q SYWOHL 35334 VYNHSVYN 14"
3NDYNY YHLNVWYS JN0DYNG Nv3S HIHJOLSIYHD H3TAL YN ‘WITVS 14"
WY1SI 3T1T13HOIN WY1SI QvWWYHOW H138V7ZI13 HYHVYS VYNHSYN 6
NIVIHIEWVYHI-OOHOW YNIL NIVIH3aWVvHD QIAYQ Hd3SOr M3HL1YW YNHSYN 8
NOLdWVYHD NNY H134 NOLdWYHD Nime3 JIAVIN AT YNHSYN 8
HINYVYd NOSITY HINEVd 30NHg ITIVHOIAN NYHLYN VAHSVYN 8
JI1A08 VIHLNAD 37A08 2143 QYYMA3 L13HHYD YIISIAHIONVIN L
SNIDNOLS AHLOYHOQ SNIDNOLS AHVYD AYUVYHIIY 130N YNHSYN 9
NOSVYW NVSNS NOSYN NHOT TAVHIIN X3V YNHSYN 14
NOLJWNS YHVYS NOLdWNS aianva 0ZN3 dIAvYd YNHSVYN £
INOdNA AMO3g 1INOdNA aiAva 1IVO YNVIHY H31STIHONVIN I
VAVYNVYD H34INNIP VAdvIAVD AIAVA IV NOSITTY VNHSVYN l
¢00Z "UYW

NOSYHIANIH 3IY3TVA NOSY3IAN3H 331 337 VHANIM IININ HILSTHONVIN 8¢
NYW33IH4 AONIM NYW334H4 11008 N3V A910D YNHSYN 8¢
H3LSIATAS HYIT HI1SIATAS 1HIF0H AJNY AQOoyg YNHSVYN 9¢
341 H139vZIN3 341 M3IHLLYIN H3dHVYH YNHSOr YNHSVYN 9c
ZIAHONVS 3INVIQ ZIHONVYS T3INVa NNV Y1AYA VYNHSYN £C
LHIASIOF HILINNIr 1HIASIOI NHYIN I31-daVYO HYr3 YNHSYN 6l
SINTINOL VST S3IHNTINO4 NIWVYIrN3g NIWNVYINIE AHYHOVZ H31SIHONYIN Gl
NOLMVYT HLIanr NOLMYT AW3Y3r QYUYMQAO3 NIAAVH H31SITHONVYIN 14"
QHO44IO YHANIN Q404419 NOHVYY NOYVYY NYILSIYHD YNHSVYN 14"
NILEVIN V13148YD NILIVIN MIHLIVYIN 34S343H1 HYHVYS H3ILSTHONYA vl
43HION 40 VN d3HLVd 40 JWVYN JAVYN S.dTIHO  HLYIF 40 32VY1d 31vQa

-226 -



S3T1YY3AS INWISA $3TdVY3S A3Y443r N3Q10H ¥34002 VNHSVYN Sl
s0Jdva INNVIINP SOL1YvE AONTHMYT NHOr HYON VYNHSYN Sl
NOTIA ATI3A NOTTIa 3¥0A03IHL NAYHLYY 317130V Y31SIHONVIN 145
SWVITIIM 3T00IN SWYITTIM XV MIHLLVYIN NVAY YNHSWVN 142
NYAITNS YNILSIHHD NVAITINS aiAva YHNYT NOSITIV H3LSTHONVIN 142
SYMOIAVS H3JINNIAP SYMOIAYS SANWVF SY.LNVLIAA NOSIWVT HILSTHONVN 147
NYW413H-HOTAVL V830 NYWAT13IH LNVHO NOVN YILNNH VYNHSVYN [4
ALYIHOA NIEWA I¥31N3ANYD ¥313d VIOIYL1lVd HYHVS YNHSWYN 6
[HOONZ VOISS3r IHOJNZ NIWVIN38 13HHVYO SIWVP VNHSVYN 4
SNI1DOIA ATd3aNIA SNI9D9OIA N3A3LS SY19N0a NY3S VNHSYN b
2002 AVIN

MNVH SIHA ANYH4 NIHO 39I1¥d NOSIavIN HILSIHONVIN 62
SYIMO AUV SY3IMOd NV3S AINYa NV3IS VNHSYN Le
37UV ANILSIEHO ITIVA NHOP MIHLLYN NVYAN3HE HILSIHONYW T4
NYOHMVY1 YIHLNAD NYOHMY1 AIAVA QIAva A3y VNHSYN T4
NO¥VO N33H00 NOY¥YO MIHLLYW 370DIN VSSATY VYNHSWYN LLA
JOYNOW H139 JOUNNN STWVT INIYIHLYA ASNAAS VNHSVN 1574
31138 3dOH 31138 Hi¥3 3IT3HE8VO YIWN3 YILSIHONVIN €¢
NILHVIA VIOIELvd NILYVYIN IONIEMY] 3713HOIN IH00U4L VYNHSYN [A44
TIIMLINYD VI3HS TIIMLNYD 30NYE H138vZI13 A THSY VNHSVYN (X4
MYMON JINVHJI3LS MYMON HIINNINA ayvmQa3 HONNOD VNHSYN (¥4
3Q4¥NO01d NILSIEHD 304N0Td SINVT H139vZI13 NvQdor HILSTHONVIN 0¢
[41S3IATUS AVSANIT I41S3ATIS GIAVA AIAva NvH13d VNHSVYN 6l
NIFVIN 3TAVYO NIdYIN NHOP vQIv 43H1S3 "3ILSIHONVIN 8l
NYIZGN3Z N3HVA NVIZAN3Z AlAvd H139vZ\13 3188Y VYNHSVYN Ll
ST13INVA 3NILSIIHO ST3INVA SINOT Ivd NvO3IvIN JYOONOD 142
NYWNSO 3INIY3HLVO NYINNO HHVYIN 143804 13vHIIN VHSVN Zl
NYIWND INIEIHLYO NYWND XAV NHOr AHLOWIL VYNHSYN Zl
9YIGHO0UE YIUANY 9¥3gGX004dd NHOP HYNNVSNS NNIND H3ALSIHONVIN bl
NI¥3113d H13avZIld NIY31713d NINVYIN3E H138vZI13 NYO3IW H31STHONVIN 8
INOLS ATI3A INOLS L10JS AVMNI A AUVHOVZ VNHSVYN 8
HOTAYL YNVAIY HO1AVYL VNHSOr OMOAM AT VNHSVYN L
Y3IH1OW 40 JWVN H3H1Vd 40 JWVN JWVN S.01IHD  Hiyig 40 30V1d 3iva

-227 -




S3TIVIS AOr S37UVIS NYHd3LS MIHLLYW N3I12N7 VYOHSYN 143

AYYYE ¥3aH1v3H AdYVvE 13VHOIN JHVWN vXITV d31S3IHONVYI €l
HSId AI¥ONI HSId ATYNOY SINWVI NYiIN VNHSYN £l

JHOOY YIgny JHO0YH NIATN OIVHO ¥3AL YNHSYN cl

JH09O ATHIgAIN 3809 NaA3alLs SIAVQ NHOTr d31SIHONYI 4]
QUOIMYYD NILSIMN JHOAMYHD NIATN JOVHO INVLVYN VAHSYN 8
NIYNSYH YNINVYS NIVNSVYH DIVl NYHS YAHSYN G
VILIVINIA JINVHJILS VILLYNIQ 1S3INY3T LS3INY3I SYI0HIIN VNHSVYN 14
IASNINNY YNOIJ  INSNINNY d3HdOLSIYNHD Y3ANVXITY Nv43LS YAHSYN ¢
JHUIVIIH 1S ¥34INNTP JHIVIIH 1S ¥YVYIN 143904 NvH13 YAHSYN b
FTIVLVYN INNAT FIVLYN YIHHOLSINHD JRYW V113 VNHSVYN 2

¢00Z INNr

ALIHM 3703IN J1IHM N3A3LS IHYIW HYNNYH Y3 LSIHONYI (1%
389NY39 INNv33Qq 38NY389 NIAIH 13VHOIN NYHLVYNOr VNHSYN 0e
NONOVO ATy3gniy NONOVO ayvHOIY J3INIY ATI0H VNHSYN oe
NOSMOVTI 31yviN Nvar NOSMOVI NIyHvMm YN AT VYNHSVYN 6Z
NIMQOO9 YaNIT NIMQOO9 13VHIIW 13VHDIW NHOr H3LSIHONVYIN ve
HIHOSId YIJINNTP Y3HOSI4 NYILSIMN 3S0Y YHINVYAVYS VNHSYN 1974
S1371S3Aa-NNim vyg3q S137S30 N3ATLS NNIM 31TvLYN VNHSVYN 1574
HIASIISD WyIN3 A3SVISO NIHJ3LS 3ON3S0 Y31SIHONYI 94
NOLLNA NONNVYHS NOLLING T3vHOIW SNV MIHLLYW VNHSYN 14
YUVA vdvO VHVA 3xvr TOSVIN VLINV4T1ST ADVIWIHHIW (A4

4318V v20393y 431HYD ¥IHJOLSIYHD M3IHANY Nviyg H3LSIHONVIN ¢e
¥3IOOIHEYH INVIQ Y3993HAVH 13INva ANAVIE A3SVYD d3LSIHONYI ¥4
Y31SIAI A3OVNL d31S3AI Tv3N VAN NYAY Y3 LSIHONVYI ¥4
SHNVaYIVY Y3H1Y3H SYHNVEYIVA 13INVHLYN 143804 NOLAV1D VNHSYN (74
d39vN TP d38VN HDId1vd TIFHOLIN 800vr VNHSYN 0¢
YIT1SSNIH AONYN 43ISSN3H Savr HNHLYY 37AN YNHSYN (174
ddOHLMYD 3109IN d¥OHIMVD QAO14 H138VZi73 Nvoaw HILSIHONVYW 6l
NITTV 317713y NITTV SYWOHL NV3r vHONIY HILSIHONYI Ll
SHIALIVM 3IT13HIIW SHILIYM AVITTIM WYITTIM NOSYIN VYNHSVYN 9
YIWIHOVIN VST Y3IWIHOVYW ATyd43r SITUVYHI AIH443r YNHSYN Sl
Y3HLONW 40 JWVN Y3H1vVd 40 JWYN JWNVN S.J7IHD _ HLMIA 4O 30Vd 3lva

-228 -



NIVIOW INNVZNS NIVIOW SIONYYA INAYM NHOT VNHSYN 9l
NYWL110O 313HIIN NVYW1LO H3H3QA ANTYI VIAVAIN YNAHSYN gl
TIIMOT I1SIEA TI3MOT SANVTE NOSIWVI XV VYNHSVYN al

YHOY IANILSIHHD HHOY 14380y YIOITY ¥3HLVY3H HILSIHONVIN al
1v3a¥dl v30383d 1V3HL1 NIAIA NNV 31AY VYNHSVN Gl
WVYZHHOrVIN NS WYZHHOrYW AIAVA aiAnva MIHLLYW YNHSYN 14}
3103 V13ANVd 31090 SYWOHL INCWIS 39Ivd VNHSWYN 14"

NIMOW NATOYYD NIHOW dvd39 3S0OY IANNINDIVE VYNHSVN 192
YINA v203934 V1NXA NHOTr 3JSIHIHL INOIS YNHSYN [4"
ZIATNWZNOD YNHO Z3TVZNODO 3S0r S3A3oHIN VIH13aW3aAa VNHSYN 1
H3avd 1393aidg H3avd Nv3S IYNI AGINNI3A HILSTHONVA L
AMSNITAOW-HOIVH 13HOYE  AMSNITAOW-HOIVH NILYYIW 8 307 HILSIHONVIN ol
OYIFSSNVYHLS AQNI 9YIFSSNVYHLS MIHANY HIOD0H NYHLYN VNHSVYN 6
NYW39aiyg ¥3HLv3aH NVYAITINS A913HS H13dvZIN3 337UvA HIALSTHONVYIN 8
IMVYEA AITI3HS IMVYHA T3VYHOIN H3INNOD NOONVHd YNHSVYN g
SWYITIIM 31HNYT SWYITTIM TNYd 13VHOIN X3V VNHSVYN 8
HIANVYLIHM ¥YNILSIYHD HINVYLIIHM AHLOWIL HOTAVL 3T131H8VYO HILSIHONVIN 9
A3d YAONVNNS A3Aa SIHSVYE3Ad HINOVS YNHSYN I
ANVYHOIW TAH3HS ANVYHOIN NIHd3LS NIATVYD SIANVYr HI1LSITHONVIN 8
200z ATnr

JNHONQOA 321d1v3d INHONOQ SATIHVHD WYITIIAM NIAAY YNHSYN 0¢
NIOAOr-ONNQOA 11ddVv NIOQOM 14380y NNV 307HD YNHSYN 8¢
S3gH0O4 NATOD S39404 11008 NAYSG JlvoAdY HIL1STHONVW LZ
H3dNS AHVYIA y3dns 13vHIOIN JIHYW INIHIHLYA YNHSVYN J XA

713AN3H HL38YZI13 T3AN3H SVYIOHDIN SNLIL NYHLVYNQOrP YNHSYN | LA
vS3dd 3iT1g YSIHd AUV Hd3SOor Wwav YNHSVYN A
SNOTIN4 1P ONOTHNd SYWOHL VIHLNAD 13HOVY VNHSYN I
NIAVEHD NAYHLYA NIAYHO 135SNY IANILSNONY ATSYD VYNHSYN ¥4
ONSOVYWILNOW INOI AllHD A3dd43ar 377139 YHANVYSSYD YNHSVYN 114
3344NAJW IAI3H 3344NA0NW 1L103S VSSITYW HOI3TAVH HI1STIHONYN 8l
AHNGSHMIL I13HIIN AUNasSHMIL NMYHS SYWOHL g02vr HILSTHONVIN Sl
Y113Z0 AONVYN v113Z0 advHIIH AYvHIIY AQOD VYNHSYN 14"
HIHLOW 40 JWVN HIAHL1Y4 40 VN JWNVYN S.AQTIHD  HLYIg 40 30V'1d Jivd

-229 -



J31LHVD YHANVS d314v0 Invd AHYYW NOSVr VNHSYN c

2002 "1d43S

NILIVIN NAYHLYY NILIVIN SONIHEMV 3AJvHO vInr Add3d 0¢
1LSVH YNMVYHS dILSYH 13INVQA 13INVa 931v0 dALSIHONYIN 0¢
JHY3IdVT AIOV JHH3IdVT AHLOWIL INIFH XIX3TV VNHSVYN ot
YILSEIM HISINNTP d31S83M ¥313d 3OVYHO AN VNHSVYN 0c
NNYW33S VS 1va3adl NvvY VZI73 13HOVvY d31SIHONYI 0¢
LOIHTIVIA SNNYZNS LOIHIIVIN NYAY YW VIHANYX3 Y H3LSTHONYIN 6l
N3IAILS vOO383y SN3AIJLS NvIHg ATT131E NISOL d31S3IHONVI Ll
AYANYT N33T700 AYANVYT AHOD3YD HL138vZIn3 3Invr VNHSVYN St
AUYWVZ OF AUVYIN AUVINVZ NYIHE JIEVIN NATLIVA VNHSYN €l
ANOVYO AGNIM INOVO A3Yd43r AZH443r X3v d31SIHONYIW ¢l
dWIHOS ANY dWIHOS 14380y AUN3H IV VYNHSYN 0}
dOYOIOOHAYN VONOHY  3DHOIDOUAYIN 13VHIIN HIANVYXITVY AN VYNHSYN ot
3NAYT Y3JINNTr 3NAV1 AdvYHOId ANVYHS YNHSOr VNHSVYN 8
NOSLYM I3T3NNY NOSLVYM AHLOWIL 3SINOT-3IYVYN J140S VNHSVYN g
OLSNI v¥g3Q OLSNW T3VHIIN VIHOLJIA 32VYD VYNHSVYN 14
SILYND ATHIGNIN SILYND T3INVA dNHLYY Wvavy VNHSYN A
2002 'onv

S19NA IYHIHS S19NA NvIiyg 3V 3vYN3Hg VYNHSYN o€
O33NV 13iIYYN TVEVZNYYY JNIVE JNIvr VNHSVYN 6¢
SIAVA AINGAS SIAVA Nvlyd 39Ivd H3LSTHONVIN T4
TIANOGYYD LIHVYOUVYIW MVYNHSYQ NHOP ERREISL R Mlelo)f| VYNHSVYN T4
NY3IHONVYYY HYyd0d3a NYIHONVYHE NVAY AJTHSY YdIr VAHSYN T4
IINIONI INILSIYHD INIONI Q4YHOIY QdVYHOIY NYION VYNHSVYN ¢e
NOLMIN-NINOYY AHYIN NOLM3IN 14380Y SINVI NYHLYN VNHSVYN A4
0ZZNd 1407 0ZzZnd nvd T3VHIIW YNHSOr VYNHSVYN ¥4
NVIWNY3LLO ATINT SONINAND WYITTIM WVITTIM NYION VNHSYN e
INNOIQ Y34INN3P INNOIAQ 3INVYNQ NOSVYW IN3Q VNHSYN 6}
NISNVH ¥3H.LVY3H NISNVH MIy3 NNAT ATING VNHSVYN 6l
S3av18 NNY S3Aav1g NHor AYYIN HOIZTVH VNHSYN 6l
TYOINOCOIW v83a IVYOINODIN M NYMOYH WYITTIM VYNHSYN 8l
43H1O0W 40 IWVYN 43H1Vd 40 AWVYN JWVN S.A7IHD _ H1YIg 40 30v1d 3iva

-230-



LIINNTG VIHOLIIA L13INN3IE MIHLLVYN T3INVA D1YH3O YNHSYN 0l
HINOOOVM VSSITIW YINOOOVYM NYHLYNOP AHO93HD OIANI HILSTHONVYN ol
TJI1IANVYM NVSNS T1IANVYM NOPI 40 NIHOT YNHSYN ol
avaavH vNv3d gvaavH NiLsnr NILSNF NOSIWVT H31SIHONVI 6
1839 31vA 1838 14390d 14380¥ 13INVd HILSIHONYW 6

MHY1D VSIT MHVY1D NNVHS NYAYH HYON VYNHSYN 8
NY9O01370JIN NvOO01 1Nvd AIYYW NOSIAYIN YNHSVN 9
HOT13N VIOIHLlvYd 1SNONY NIHd3A1S HOT13INW SIM3T NOWIS VNHSYN S
MINOV VIHOLIIA NOAT NVHLYNOIr AISAVYH T3NAVYS YNHSYN £
INODYID-HLIAIYIW YHANOAVT INQODOHID MNYYHd INZM VI YILSIHONVYIN £
ONILNV1SOD NATOHVYO ONILNVYLSNOD 3A1INVQA 321HdVO YNNVY3A Add3d 4
J1V1S H34INNAr J1v1S 13vHOIN SIANWVYI ITAA YNHSVYN 4
2002 "100

HITLSOH NVO3IN HIN1SOH AYVHOIA QuvHOId NOSVYT H3IL1STHINVIN 8¢
Y390 INIINVI Y390 AQT04VvH AWM NNV YNHSVYN T4
NIdvO YNIEYWN N3dvO HOIY 3IYYW NOSIAYIN YNHSYN 144
AGINOONVYLS VIHVYIA JGINOONVLS 13VHOIW NIAIv WYITTIM YNHSVYN €e
NILYEVAN 31oM NILYVYN NMVHS 3SINO1 YNNVITNT VNHSYN €c
SILIH1090T 1O SILIH109D017 1038 Y3ANYX3TyY 900Vl HILSIHONYW %4
AINAVA NFHVYH AIFNAVA AHLOWIL SNV AHLOWIL YNHSVYN A
LINYNIHJENS IvINVYNNY LINYNIHdHNS NIAIA NOSVYI T3NAVS YNHSYN 8l
SITVHOW ATI0H SITVION 11008 YIAITO NAT3AT VYNHSVYN Ll
3717139VS| ANILSIHHD J1139vs! HAd3SOor Hd3sOr 4ONNOD YNHSYN gl
NYWAYM AHLYD NYWAVYM TYNOQ J1IVO WAISS3r HILSTIHONVYN g1
AIAVYId AWAVYL Il ASAY3d NHOr agol Hd3sor YNHSVN gl
AONOWAVYYH SIdA ANOWAVY dIAvd AIAVA NvOOT HIALSIHIONVIN Sl
S3IAON AT13HS SIAON NYAYH NAYHLIYA AGNY13A YNHSYN 8
J11SIHL NI3THLYA F1LSIHL NHOP I EEREN D YNHSYN L
TTINNOD.0 NI3T1100 NONOVO NYAH 73714 NVY13VO YNHSVYN 9
1SOA3YHd AaQnr 1S0ATHd NIHEVA A3vdg X3y YNHSVYN 9
S1049nAa Y34INNAP $109N34 L1008 VYN NYOIN YNHSVYN €
HILHYD YHANVS HIL1LHVYO 1Nvd vid3g0Y IX31 YNHSVYN [4
H3IHLOW 40 JNVN Y3HLVd 40 SWVN JWVYN S.G1IHD  H.lYIg 40 30V'1d 31va

-231-



NOAQQ annr NOAOQ 1dvD dLL3INIO 30THD d31S3HONVYN (514

SINNEG YNILSIHHD SINNG YYD d3HdOLSIYHD goovr VNHSWYN 8l
IdUVHS 31NV IdUVHS NIAIN 143804 T13HOLIW H31LSTHONVYIN 147
AD078 NILSIEM AD078 NN31D H138vZI13 livolay VNHSYN 142
SIANOCr ILSIUA S3NOr 113ssny T113SSNY NIAWYD VNHSVYN bl
S3IVHS3A INNYIHYN S3IVHS3A A3Y443r d3aNNOQD NILSNr d31STIHONYIW Ll
NOST0 NvsSns NOST0 3143 NOYVYV Jvvs| VYNHSVYN bl
SYAOQ NIITHLWH SYAQQ 13vHOIW N3AAvN NFUNVT YNHSVYN bl
AJOVLS HIJINNITP AJOVIS 39H0I9 3Avr NOSIavIN VNHSVYN 0l
11NOA H138vZI3 11NOA M3YANY 1H390Y MIYANY VNHSVYN 6
NYWY3IHS INNVIQ NVYINY3IHS T3VHOIN ANNVYHLINY 13HOVY VNHSWYN 6
003HOIVd ANVIONT 0O03HOVYd NOSHIANY ONILTV ZI¥1v3g VNHSWYN L
JIVSVD 3T1T3HIIW FIVSVYD TvaN 1103S SYTOHIIN VNHSYN L
IdNOHNOT YavN Yv430Aa3 a3WvHON FAVA 4 VNHSVYN 8
ST1aM 3T113INVa ST1IM 11349 NIT HYIHYWA VNHSYN 9
¢00Z "AON

ST YYD ST Y3LS3HD DINT NOHINWYD H31SIHONVYIN (3>

SNOAT YON344g SNOA NHOr NNAT Y38V VAHSYN 1€
J13INYA NIITHLWM J73INVA ANOHLNY 37138vSI vI1o3d HILSTHONVI 0€
HOO 139 NVYL YNH NVHLYNOr d3ILSTHONVI 0}%

NOSHOVT 198089 NOSHIVI STAVP d3ANVYX3TV Nvag VNHSVYN 62
S3IHONH NIY3 S3IHONH N3A3LS INVYE NANLNY VYNHSVYN 6¢
AQHVYH ADVYL AGQYVH N3Hyva T139HNEG NINVIN3g VNHSVYN X4
AGQYHVH ADVYL AQYVYH N3Xdva NNV HYHVYS VNHSVYN e

OVY ILYHONNYY  NVSVAINIIHS HSYHENS NILSNI NYHOY YNHSVYN Gc
ISHOW H3JINNAr ISHONW NVVY SIANVFE HIAAY Ady3a ¥4
L1399V INIYIHLIVY L13HYVE MIYAONY 30VHO TIvoigy VNHSYN (34
OOI4VIONYIW M3 4INNTP OJIJIVIONVW NIWYYD ANIYIHLYD TIvoIgyY VAHSVYN 02
NITAYH TIddv NITAVH TdvD HITAL VD VNHSVYN vi
M3OIN VTIINOLNY M3DIN OJSIONVUA 3OVHO YNVIQ d31S3IHONVYW 142
ONIM3IAZHD LODYYN ONITIATHD NOUYY T13INVA L1348 VNHSYN Zl
Z13d v4833d Z13d Hd3sor Hd3SOf N3AJLS VNHSVYN 3
d43H1OW 40 JNVYN H3HLVd 40 JNVYN JWVN S.ATIHD _ HL¥IA 40 Jov1d 31va

-232 -



A337 3HEVS A337 STNVP NVYHLVN N3A3YL YILSTHONVIN 0}
ddvH Hvd0830 ddvH AW3Y3r NHOM NYH1VN VYNHSYN 6¢
IVLNIND 138VS| AVININD 30dO0r YNI43SOr VId0S VNHSVYN 8¢

J3IAM IININA HIAM AHOO3HO ONVNH NJOXA VNHSVN 9c
ONITVAS NILSIEA ONITYAS AW3H3r T3VHOIN NOYHVY VNHSVN ve
OVLNOS H3dINNIP OVINOS QHVHIIA VIHOLOIA VOIBY VNHSVN 154

SYNN3H NVSNS SVYNN3H S3NWVT 3OH03O NYHLVN VNHSVYN e
OYIANIANVA WIA OYIGANIANVA AOHL NVO3IIH MIHANV Y31SIHONVIA x4
AINOTVW 3T1T3IHOIN AINOTVW T3VHIIN INIYIHLYD 3 TT1IEVNNY YNHSVN 0¢
YHVYHO33d VHLIAVA YdvHO33d 1INNS VLIHWYS VYNHSYN 6l
SONIYYW JINVTP SONIMYW MIHANY MIHANY NOSHOVL YILSTIHONVIA 81
SYNHO8 NOYVYHS SYNYO4 SINVT VOISS3r HYAVS VYNHSVN Ll
NY3LNIYVd H1IgvZI3 NYILNIHVYd SITHVHO H138vZIN3 ATIN3 VNHSYN 9l
3113N0Vd ATd39WIA 3113N0DVd NVAY NVl VSSATY VNHSVYN Gl
advXOvd NAGON QUVYHOVd NIAIM 14390d NYHLVN VNHSVN 145
MOO0TIVH V1Nvd MO0TVvH Nvd aIvNOQ NY'ININD VNHSVN vi
NILIYW AON3M NILYVYIN SENVT 3371 NOLXvd YNHSVYN Ll
V1dN9O INIHOS V1dNo dNav dNHOAYUY YNHSVYN 0l
NOLXVS 3INVHJ3LS NOLXVS SINVT ANCHLINY ¥31AL VNHSVYN 9

NNvHE HLNY NNvHg9 AHLOWIL MIHLLYIN NVH13 d31S3IHONVI g
MIQVYS YNNYHOP MIAVYS NYWHYHH3AaY VWO YNHSVYN G

AIN3A Q13X ATT13¥ AHVYMA3 QyvMa3 avyd VNHSVN 14

NOYVI N313H NOHYD T3VHIIW JT13VHOIW 3INVHJ3LS H3LSIHONVIA 14

XNOAIgoy ININ3NDIVF XNOQJIs0d XYY S3THYHO LNIONIA VYNHSYN £
J1OVIS VIO 3719V1S ATVNOHY NYOHOW VIHOLLIA H31S3IHONVIN [4

2002 "O03d

AINITd AHHIHS AIN3I34 NIAILS HYdVvS 3NITOUVD VNHSVYN (11

NIGOr ¥34INN3P NIGOr 1nvd Nvd X3 VNHSYN e
ANV1AY1 1300144 ANVTAVT NINVIN3G v11389vS| 30Z Y3LSTIHONVIA 9Z
SIATVHON VIdYIW SIATVHOW 1FNOIN 31135113 NIHdVY3S H3ILSTHONVIN G¢
SITIGNVSAYA VSSITIW  SIN3FWVYSdVYA S310143d VYWW3 J0THO VNHSVYN £c

NOAOQQ AINr NOAOCQ THYO INTH! HYNNVYH d31SIHONVIA €Z
HIHLIOW 4O JNVN d3H1Vvd 40 JWVYN JWVYN S.A1IHD__ H1YIg 40 3JV'1d 31va

-233 -



MOVINIYYIW INVIVA 'V VIHLNAD MOYIWINYIW TI3IMINYD '3 NIATY €l
MOVININYEIW HL31Y 1 vIsSar MOVNINYIW NMOXE ‘W WYITTIM 9
MOYIINYEIN YILSIATAS ‘W NVYSNS MOVWINYIW NOS10 'V 0143 9
VNHSYN 470M "9 YNYIWOY MOVAIRIYIW  OLI9vY ¥ ¥IHJOLSINHI 9
Z00Z "¥dV

MOVINIYHIN vIgNa 'd 37109IN MOVIWIYHIW QyIv1 'O AWINIr 0g
MOVINIYYIW 3SYHO 'V HYY083a MOVININYEIW 337 'V QIYNOY 0g
MOVININYINW YONOAGYHO "4 ATuanY VNHSYN HLY3H T QIAVa 9
NOVIWINYIW AYVYNAYA 'S ¥34INNIP MOVAIYEIN OroX 1 113s8NY 4
HOVININYIW ANVHOMYIN "7 HYy083a HOVININYIW NYANOr ¥313d z
Z00Z "HYW

HOVIWINNEIW ONOTHNA 'V 31Nr 14 'VIV00 1130AYM 'O QHYNY3Y €2
MOYIWIHYIW AT3LYO ‘W N3TI3 MOVWINYIW A2TMOND " TIINVQ €2
MOVIYHIN IMOH "M 13UVOHYI VNHSYN FTUANDI ‘M LH¥390Y 9l
MOVINIEHIW 1134 T NILSNQ ay04q3g SNWVHINYd '8 ¥HYW Sl
MOVINIEYEIN TUHYD TT1IHOIN MOVINIYYIW HIYHID 'g DYV Pl
HOVININYIAW ¥N04Na "W YNILSINHD MOVINIYYAW ANVIHVIOVYIW T QTYNOQ €l
MOVWINYIW SSOMD W YyvL HOVWINYIW 370L3.7 W SYIOHDIN 6
MOVIIYHINW ANYISS3IY 'S NINWY MOVYIINYIN AYHENIN T NIAI 6
MOVWINYEIW INIVLNCA 'H YNIO MOVIINYIW NOSHILIVd ‘W NvIYg 4
AOVAIMEIW  T13N0SNYD W LIHVYOHYIN MOVNIYYIN MYNHSYQ "L NHOr |
200z "'g34

ayodasa YNVOVYT W 317N MOVININYIW WNNYYH "W M3HLLYW 92
MOVINIYHIW QUYTIV "8 YHLINVIAYS HOVIWINYIW 3INOYNG ‘W Nv3s SL
VNHSYN VATIS VINVAT MOVINIYHIW AOOMYON 'V 1S3INY3 9
MOVININYEIW 304 "W YNNOQ HOVININYIW AGNIH D THVD 9
1SYIHAY QYYM "D ADNYN MNOVIWIYYIW INOINIS "4 1100S !
200Z 'Nvr

MOVINYIW SOT0NA ' ¥IJINNIF MOVININYIW SHIAW 'd HLIFN 1€
MOVYININYIW NI3LSd3 ‘W aINITuva VNHSYN ANOIVZNY T QHVYMQ3 62
MOVINIYNEIW NOSNIMOIQ "W AWWY L AOVWIMYIW  NOSNIHOLNH ‘H SYWOHL €2
NOVWINYIW Q¥VYHONO8 "W IQIZH AOVWINMIW  aNOWHOIM 'Y ¥IHAOLSINHO ez
3ON3aISTY | JNVN S.3aiNg | 3ON3AISTY | JWYN S.NO0UD | 3Lvq

-236 -



MOVWIEHIW INVHNA ‘9 H3AINNI® 0 'NOLIIONId dWVD JHVYAIA T HOLOIA Gl
MOVWINYIW ADOY3d ‘A YSIMaW MOVINIHYIN ADVHL 'Q NIAIM Sl
MOVINIHYIN NITO 'S VYANI MOVWINYIW NYIHY 'S AIAvVd i
MOVWNINE3INW QyVD ‘W TAY3IHS MWOVAINYIW  13SLILS '3 H3IHJOLSINHD 8
MOVWIYYIW 37Ny '3 AT MOVININYINW 3SSYOV T AIAVA 8
MOVINIYMYIW SINYYD T NILSIHN MOVAIIYIEINW Z1HVAMHOS 'O NHOr 8
MOVIWINYEW JAATD 1VYSSIN3NW YNHSVYN HOSIN3VH "D NOSTIM 0
MOVAIMYIWN  WODTVE "D NNV LIUVYOUYIN WvH13d Mvava 1 nvd Z
MOVIEYIW SIAVH H ITIIHOIW MOVIHYINW NOQ13M '3 13INvd I

HILSIHONYIW HONNOD O ‘W YNIL MOVWINNIW HSid 'V NIWYIrN3g |
MOVINIYYIW HSOLNIOW 'V ¥S3y3l MOVWIHYIW ATIINNOG ‘g Hdasor L

Z00Z INNr
MOVINIHE3W 3QIgy¥NL v 313INVd MOVININYIN HIINNOrOW 1 SINYI x>
MOVIWIHYIW a33y v VIOINLlvd MOVWIHYIW HLINS 'O WYITTIIM sz
MOVYWIHEIW ANSOHA IYNIHIF YW ‘NOLIIWYH 'S TIYANGON "Z Ag808 Sz
WOVININY3W WINNOM '8 VHI3N MOVWINHIW 30N134d ‘N QI¥NOY GZ

YILSTIHONYIN SIAYYOL "A 3ITYOVIN MOVINIHEINW IMOY 'V QYVHOIN sz K
MOVININEIW JIMMOT W INILSIYHD MOVWIYHINW SINYZNOQd '3 a1vNOY A
MOVAIRIEINW SINYVH VIV MOVAIYEINW ANY44Na ' ¥313d gl
MOVWINYIW THOIYM 'V ¥I4INNAP H3LSTIHONYIN Ool199vW3aad ‘d Wvyay 8l
MOVIWINHIN INIWAYC T HLIONP MOVWIEYIN NYWSSVY1D 'S AHOOIND 8l
MOVWINYIN NYAITINS "1 vS3y3alL MOVIIYEIW ONIHSND ¥ NHOr Ll
MOVININHINW AQYYH 1 3INVHA3ILS MOVWIMYIW S¥3L3d ‘M 11008 Zl
MOVNIENIW NIYNA ‘W L3NVT MOVYWINYIW T1IH T NIWYrN3g Ll
MOVWIYEIW JOHOIO H ATINT YW 'WYHONIWWVYAS SNOA1 1 Hd3sor b1
MOVWINYINW QyvsSS31 W YHANYS MOVWIHYIW 3102 'd T3VHOIW !

Z00Z AV

MOVINIHYIW AINYIW g NITTHLY MOVWINHINW N3ISSNVYH "L NILSNP lZ
YNHSVYN AYI443r 1 YNIMLYH MOVWIHYIW  HONOHESIHD "H 13VHOIN Iz
MOVWINHEIW SNIAILS '3 ¥IHLIYIH MOVWINHEIW HOVNOQOW ‘W M2IN1Yd ¥z
MOVWINNEIW ATYNOAQOW '8 ANY MOVIYEINW HIOW ‘W NHOr vz
MOVINYIW SITIVY 'S YOISSar WOVNINYIW NMYH ‘A Hd3SOr £l
39N3qIsaY | JWVN S.3Q1Hg | 3ON3AIS3Y | JWVN S.NO0H9 | alva




MOVIWINYIW TALYYW D HL38VZIT3  ON 'SLIOTHVHD NOLdWOD 'V INVd Lz
MOYWINYIW 3DVN ‘W NAGOY MOVWIHYINW YILSILLIHD ‘W 1¥380Y 12
MOVAIYYIW AYNO T VS MOVWIYYIW YITOIVH "d STTHYHD 2
MOVININYIW ¥3ddNH D JINVT LSHIHAY 3SOA 'Y SIyM 12
MOVINIYEIW NOSNHOI ‘W LANVF IYYIM AYN3IH "L NIAILS 0z
MOVINIYYIW SY1I¥378 "1 A3Or MOVWINYINW IMOH 'S HLINNIN 0z
MOVWINYIW 1H3gNVYT Y IIYIHD MOVWINYIN NIOYVD ‘W SYIWOHL 0z
MOVAIIHIW JI0AYT 1 ANY MOVWINYIW YILHONOY 'd AHLOWIL 0z
¥3L3x3 HOVNYS ‘g AYVYW MOVWIYYIW NIAAYT ' MHVYW 0z
YNHSVYN voN13d D Y13INYQ MOVAIYEIW GTVNOADVYW '© MIHLLVIN 61
MOVINIENIW ONWY WIS-NIHD VIN ‘“TIIHY3AVH AINLSYHO QHVHIIY vl
MOVYWIHNYEINW AIvYNOQOW 'Y vydg3a MOVININYIWN OLSNW T 13VHDIW el
MOVINIYYIW NIMIYLINI T10VHL VYNHSYN OYIANT "D ATH443Ar 21
MOVWIMHIW XN3IW3T "D INNVZNS MOVWINYINW dyv1Iv ‘M 394039 L
MOVIWINYIW HIMIVM T HIAINNIP MOVWINEIW AJOVLS ‘¥ 39Y03IO 9
Z0oz ANr

NOL31111 PYHNL T YIHLNAD MOVINIMYIN VIOHYYM "D T13VHIIN 62
MOVYWIHYIW IVANG M VIDINLVd MOVWINYIN SNIM3 'V SIAVr 62
MOVAIYYIN JHINOVN 'V ¥IHLVY3IH MOVWIHYIW ONOT ‘W NYINg 62
MOVIWIYEIW NOQOAOH ' INIYIHLIYD MOVWINEIN NITHONYIOW "4 ¥3.13d 62
MOVININYIW HLINS "W AT13M MOVWINEIW AINVdIHL 'V INVd 8z
MOVININYIW NINVdd31 9 1Ie MOVYWINYIW Y3NY3I1 1 1100S €2
MOVIWINYIW 3700 ¥ AT MOVWINYINW H3IAVHL ‘M NOr 2z
NOVWINYIN ONYQ¥OI9 1 AQNYL MOVIWINYIN VvZY3LY1 T QTvNOY ze
MOVWNIMNIW JLIVW VY ¥IAINNIP 1SYIHWY NHONVA ‘M L1348 A
HILSIHONYI AONITUMYT W AWNYL MOVWIMYIW NOSYHINOV ' SYWOHL 22
MOVININYIW IL1V1 'V ANN3d VNHSYN ILLYT "W AIAVYQa zZ
YNHSYN 2314 "W YNV MOVWINHIW AYOMDIE T SYIOHIIN i
MOVWIYHINW AYYIGUYD ‘W YNVILSI¥HD MOVWINYIW  NO313d 'W HLINNIM NHOP 8l
MOVIWIHYIN SNIMNIr INTY| MOVWIHHINW 1ZZ0¥Id " LNIDNIA i
MOVININYIW HLNONI3N ‘W NAMVA MOVIWINYINW NIJO9 3 IYNOQg Sl
VI ‘SONIHMYT ONIYY3dS M AINVHAILS MOVAINYIN NYWHO9 ¥ Y3430 Sl
JONIAISTY | IWVN S.3a149 | 39N3AIS3Y | JWVN S.WOo0N9 | 31vad

- 238 -



MOVWIHY3IW aNVITIH g THdY YN Y3 LSIHONIM ALHIADOVH "4 NHOT L
WOVINIYEEW NYOVNY1d VIGAT MOVWINHIW NILYVYW ‘G IV /
MOVAIYYINW S¥339 1 AWAVYL MOVWIMYIW N3ISHILId LNWT3H l
MOVIYHINW JYvd 'd JIATAS MOVIWINEIW 314391V N 1Nvd !
200Z ‘143S

NOVAIEYIW JATYONYL T ANY MOVWINYIW AVINNC 4 A34443r 1>
MOVAIYEINW OMSYM 'V VIOIdLvd IN ‘VINOGITVD YOTAVL 'L ACHL Ve
MOVIIEHIW JYOOW T HLIa3d3an WOYWINYIWN  V11INOE S3HO014 'A 1Y387V 8¢z
MOVWNIMEIW NYWI102 ‘W IL1IANY MOVIWNINYIW o112 "2 ININOQ 8z
MOVWIIEEW J0UNNW "3 INT VA MOVAIEYIW HLHOMSTII 'V WYITTIM vz
MOVINIEHINW 1NO1S '8 1Ivo MOVIWIYEIW ¥IMO14 '3 TaVHOIN Ll
MOVININYIW HINHNLNOD ‘W YAON3HE WOVWINHINW NINDYd "o SNV Ll
MOVYWINEIW 13V W H3SINNAP MOVYWINYIW WNVaHNg 'Y NOHLYNOP Ll
MOVINIYHIW Y3T1MOg ‘W 3NIYN3HLYD MOVWINHIW AYYdIHS 1 SITHVYHD Ll
WOVIWIEYIW VATIS M YIHANY MOVWINYIW S3IAVH 'L Ly¥3g0d Ll
YW “113MO1 v1S0D 'S YNVN1 MOVIINYIW TISHDLIA T WVYITIM 9l
MOVIWIYHIW 3730HL 1 JINVP MOVWINYEIW aYvHONOE Y HLINNIX Sl
MOVIWINYINW 3113773N0 T Y3IHLY3IH NOVWINYHIW NONIOY3E T AHODIUD ol
MOVIWIYY3INW 19N 1 YILINNIC MOVWIHYIW IMSYUWIIA ¥ INVd ol
MOVWIMEIW H3ILNOTD 1 ITIFHOIW HOVWINYIN Tv23N3S 'V INvd 0l
MOVWIMYIN AJTNOG 1 VHANVYSSYD MOVAINYIW SdiTIIHd 'V HLI3X o]}
MOVIIEYINW HIIQHYEWOE INIYIHLYD vIAl ' INOW138 AVHENW T NYAY 0l
WOVWINEIW 113MY3TING '3 HL3g INOW139 OTIIINOD 'S SIONVYAS ol
MOVNIEYINW AT13M '@ INNVOT MOVWINHIW ¥3I9I39 'd H43SOor 8
MOVWINE3IN ONIYHIOO '8 NAYID MOVAIRYEIW NOSNO¥34 "0 ATYNOQd 6
MOVWIHHINW 3113773N0 1 ¥2ISS3r MOVWINEINW NIATVYD 'S QYVHOIY L
NMOLSIONVYS SWYITIM ‘M YIHANY NOVWINHIN 3113HD0Y ‘A NOUYY 2
MOVNIEHIW ANIMHOSO 1 3T13AHoIN 19 ‘ITUANIVd V1iVL L MHVYIN €
Z00Z "ONY

MOVINIEYINW SITI19 'Y NOYYHS MOVININYINW 110d '© SINVP lZ
MOVWIYEIW ¥IHOSI4 'O AHLOYOA MOVININYIN HILHYD 1 MEVYIN 12
MOVIWINYIW I4dNY3d W 3NILSIYHD ayo4TIN STIW ¥ NIAILS Ik
39N3AIS3N | JWVN S.3ang | 39N3QIS3Y | JWVN S.WOOND | 31va

-239-




DEATHS REGISTERED IN THE TOWN OF MERRIMACK, NH

YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2002

DATE

NAME OF DECEASED

PLACE OF DEATH

OCTOBER, 2001
2

4

12

14

26

26

27

29

NOVEMBER, 2001
4

6

19

22

26

DECEMBER, 2001

DOWOHWUNWa

11
15

16

JANUARY, 2002
2

14

15

20

20

22

27

FEBRUARY, 2002
4

5

14

14

16

17

22

TODD P. GAGNON
JANET MCKENNA
ELIZABETH J. STARR
ROBERT G. ANNAN
ERNEST C. BURKE
JEFFREY A. LAFOND
CARMELLA M. SCOPA
FAY W. READ

IRENE ROBERTS
KENNETH J. MASON
MARGARET L. DWYER
THERESA M. PEROZZI
LORRAINE M. LAROUCHE

JEFFREY P. ESBJORN
RICHARD E. DAMERY
JAMES H. SPRIGGS
RICHARD H. PERAULT
RICHARD A. BROWN
FLORENCE D. GAMSBY
JOHN F. JOYAL
CHARLES W. DELUCA
IRENE R. ADAMS
RAYMOND J. CASEY

CLARENCE R. MCCONNEY

JOHN AHEARN
ROSS B. MCKINLEY

GERTRUDE I. NEUBERGER

MARGUERITE M. GRIFFIN
ARTHUR F. FRENCH
SUZANNA M. ALMANZAR

LOUIS H. WATKINS
GINETTE TURCOTTE
MARY F. MAYHEW
EVELYN FITTS
ROSEMARY H. REUTER
DANIEL C. BERNARDIN
ROBERT W. PEASE
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MANCHESTER
MERRIMACK
NASHUA
MANCHESTER
MERRIMACK
MERRIMACK
NASHUA
NASHUA

NASHUA
BOSTON, MA
BURLINGTON, MA
MERRIMACK
MANCHESTER

NASHUA
NASHUA
NASHUA
NASHUA
BROCKTON, MA
MERRIMACK
MERRIMACK
MERRIMACK
NASHUA
MANCHESTER

MANCHESTER
NASHUA
MERRIMACK
BEDFORD
NASHUA
MERRIMACK
MERRIMACK

MANCHESTER
MERRIMACK
MERRIMACK
MERRIMACK
MANCHESTER
MERRIMACK
NASHUA




DATE

NAME OF DECEASED

PLACE OF DEATH

25

MARCH, 2002
2

5

5

10

1

15

15

17

17

18

18

24

26

28

29

APRIL, 2002
2

4

6

10

14

MAY, 2002

3

5

11

16

17

17

18

19

21

! 25
. 25

JUNE, 2002
1

11

14

23

. 25

! JULY, 2002
6

' 6
3 8

LEONARD JERLINSKI

DOROTHY M. TINLEY
RUTH E. MCCORMACK
PATRICIA A. BLAKE
CHARLES J. FINOCHIARO
JOHN F. COTTER

JOAN ROBBIE
ELIZABETH H. AHRENS
WILLIAM S. STEWART
LOUIS C. BALBAN
GLENNA B. PHILIBOTTE
CECILE MOQUIN

MARY L. CHAMPAGNE
JOHN J. COYLE

ERNA E. WHEATLEY
GLENNA E. READ

TERESA M. SCHULTZ
RAYMOND R. LESSARD
KATHLEEN |. NORMAN
MARY B. CONSTANTINE
LOUISE KOLBE

EDWARD R. SMITH
MARIE J. PEZZINI
LINDA A. ROGERS
MARGARET E. COX
LENNART M. GRUPPOSO
STEPHEN E. PIERCE
RITA O. PARADIS
ARLEAN M. PIKE
DANIEL G. PELOQUIN
OSCAR E. DECATO
CHRISTINE L. BROWN

GEORGE M. ANDRZEJEWSKI

WILLIAM G. SILLS
ARTHUR J. QUILLETTE
GERALD ZABELL
MICHAEL J. TURCIO

JOANNE P. LANGIS
WILLIAM J. RUTKOWSKI
PHYLLIS A. MILLINA

NASHUA

MERRIMACK
MERRIMACK
ROCHESTER, NY
MANCHESTER
NASHUA
BEDFORD
HUDSCN
MANCHESTER
NASHUA
MANCHESTER
MERRIMACK
NASHUA
MERRIMACK
MERRIMACK
PLYMOUTH

MERRIMACK
MERRIMACK
NASHUA
MERRIMACK
MANCHESTER

NASHUA
MERRIMACK
NASHUA
BEDFORD
MERRIMACK
NASHUA
MERRIMACK
NASHUA
NASHUA
NASHUA
NASHUA

SALEM
NASHUA
MERRIMACK
NASHUA
NASHUA

NASHUA
NASHUA
MERRIMACK




BALLOT 1 OF 4
Sample
OFFICIAL BALLOT
ANNUAL TOWN ELECTION
MERRIMACK, NEW HAMPSHIRE
APRIL 8, 2003 TOWN CLERK

INSTRUCTIONS TO VOTERS
A. TO VOTE, completely fill in the OVAL to the RIGHT of your choice (s) like this: @
B. Follow directions as to the number of candidates to be marked for each office.
C. To vote for a person whose name is not printed on the ballot, write the candidate’s name on
the line provided and completely fill in the OVAL.

SELECTMEN BUDGET COMMITTEE LIBRARY TRUSTEES
Yobe for not Yote for not Vote for not
(3 Years) more than two {2) {3 Years) more than four (4) (3 Years) more than two (2)
“DICK™ HINCH (O [NATHANEL "NAT*L FARBANKS (O | ROBERT "BOB™ N. KELLEY
"FRAN" L'HEUREUX () |NANCY GAGNON O | CAROL . LANG O
CAROLYN G. WHITLOCK (O |CAROL J. LANG o ey (O
ey (O |"CHUCK™ MOWER O writein)
wieim) (O |CARMEN VACCHIANO O
owrteay () TREASURER
for
SELECETBA'“N“ writer) () {3 Years) more k‘:,:r‘r one r(\::;
[ Yewr) more than one (1) wrieimy 0 | LINDA B, WILSON [ D)
"NORM" CARR (] (Writedn) Wrtein) )
RICHARD DUMONT -
STANLEY R. HEINRICH O BUDGET COMMITTEE TCWN CLERK/
MICHAEL MCKEON O [ ovea e e e TAX COLLECTOR
JONATHANE. OKEEFE (O |PAUL HASENFUSS O | 3 vearn rrors han ame (1)
weey () |MARK P. MERCIER (O | DIANE POLLOCK o
owriteay () writedn)
TRUSTEE OF THE
TRUST FUNDS
Vote for not
(3 Years) more than one (1}
JOHN E. LYONS 'S
(Wrtesn) ()
ZONING QUESTIONS
Article 2. Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 1 as proposed by the Planning Board for the Town
Zoning Ordinance as follows:
YES &

Amend Section 1.03, Definitions, and Section 2.02.1(B)(2) District R-Permitted uses, 1o provide clearer NO O
standards for approving special exceptions for Accessory Dwelling Units?

Article 3. Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 2 as proposed by the Planning Board for the Town
Zoning Ordinance as follows:

Amend Section 3.09, Special Exceptions, to add additional Special Exception requirements that must be YES O
met by applicants for additions to nonconforming structures to more clearly reflect the intent of this NO O
section of the ordinance?

Article 4. Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 3 as proposed by the Planning Board for the Town
Zoning Ordinance as follows:
YES O

Amend Section 8.09 of the Zoning Ordinance to state the current Legal standards for the granting of a
variance? NO O

TURN BALLOT OVER AND CONTINUE VOTING
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ZONING QUESTIONS CONTINUED

Article 5. Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 4 as proposed by the Planning Board for the Town
Zoning Ordinance as follows:

Amend Section 8.07 to provide that variances and special exceptions granted by the Zoning Board of YES (O
Adjustment are valid for two years and expire if no building permit or cther land use approval in reliance N
on the ZBA approval is issued? 0O

Article 6. Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 5 as proposed by the Planning Board for the Town
Zoning Ordinance as follows:

Amend Section 2, Establishment of Districts, by adding 8 new Section 2.02.6 entitled Sexusly Oriented
Businesses, in order to prevent the inappropriate location and concentration of sexually oriented bus+ YES O
nesses in the Town, to protect minors from potentially harmful influences and prevent problems of blight

and deterioration which accompany and are brought about by the inappropriate location and concentra- NO O
tion of sexually oriented businesses?

Article 7. Are you in favor of the adoption of amendment No. 6 as proposed by the Planning Board for the Town
Zoning Ordinance as follows:

YES O
Amend Section 2.02(A), Permitted Uses-General, o permit the installation of salar, wind or other renew- NQ )
able energy systems intended primarily for an-site use in accordance with applicable health and safety
requirements in all zoning districts?

Article B. Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 7 as proposed by the Planning Board for the Town
Zoning Qrdinance as fallows:

Amend Section 2.02(B) and Section 2.02.4(A} to more clearly reflect when the Planning Board shall  YES O
adopt standards fo ascerain whether proposed land uses comply with general use standards pertaining NO T
to odars, fumes, smoke, dust, vibrations, noise, light or other objectionable features?

Article 9. Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment Mo. 8 as proposed by the Planning Board for the Town

Zoning Ordinance as follows: YES ()

NO O

Amend Section $.03{A)}34) to replace the definition of the term "maoblle home™ with the term "manufac-
tured housing™ as defined in NH RSA 674:317

QUESTIONS

Article 10. Shall the Town vote ta raise and appropriate the sum of $8.000,000 for the construction, equipping

and occupancy of a new library building, and to authorize the issuance of not more than $5,800,000 of bonds or

serial notes in accordance with the Municipal Finance Act (RSA 33), and ta authorize the Board of Selectmen to

issue, negotiate, sell and deliver said honds of notes and to determine the rate of interest, the maturity, and other

terms pertaining thereto; furthermore to authorize the withdrawal of $2,000,000 from the Library Construction

Capital Reserve Fund, accept $125,000 from the Library Trustees Special Funds and to use $75,000 of interest

sarned on the investment of related bond proceeds as offsetting revenues. Additionalty, 10 raise and appropri-

ate the sum of $170,000 for the purpose of 2003-04 bond issuance costs and interest on said bonds or serial

notes, to name the Board of Library Trustees as agent to expend, and authorize the Board of Library Trustees

and the Board of Selectmen to take any other actions or pass any other vote relative o said purpose and financ- YES O
ing? (By Petition) (6C% ballot vote reguired) (Recommended by the Board of Selectmen 5-0-0) {Recommended NO O
by the Budget Cemmitiee 15-0-0)

Article 11. Shall the Town raise and appropriate as an operating budget, not including appropriations by Special
Warrant Aticles and other appropriations voted separately. the amount set forth on the budget posted with the
Warrant or as amended by vote of the first session, for the purposes set forth therein, totaling $24,369,7757
Should this Article be defeated, the operating budget shall be $21,795,847, which is the same as last year, with

cerlain adjustments required by previous action of the Town or by law, or the governing body may hold one spe- YES O
cial meeting in accordance with RSA 40:1 3, X and XVI, to take up the issue of a revised operating budget only. NO O
(Recommended by the Budget Committee 14-0-0) (Recommended by the Board of Selectmen 5-0-0)
Article 12. Shall the Town vole to:
A. Raise and appropriate the sum of $1.,500,002 to construct and equip a new solid waste transfer
facility at the Fearcn Road a/k/a Lawrence Road Landfill site (rescinding that part of Article 25 of the 2002
Town Meeting that could prevent a transfer facility from being constructed at that site) and to raise said
sum, without taxation, by authorizing useltransfar of the June 30, 2003 General Fund Surplus for this
PUrpGose;
B. Rescind Article 17 of the 1988 Town Meeting, which created the Solid Waste Disposal Revenue Fund
and transfer to the General Fund all monies (approximately $1,500,000) in said revenue fund as of June
30, 2003; and
C. Reduce the operating budget, Article 11 in the solid waste disposat line by an amount up 1o $376,691 10
reduce taxes.
YES O

It is understood that if this article fails that it is the intent of the town to enter into a contract for curbside collec-
tion of solid waste and to operate a drop-off and recycling facility on Fearon Road a/k/a Lawrence Road. NO O
{Recommended by the Board of Selectmen 4-1-0) {Not Recommended by the Budget Committee 7-6-0)

GO TO NEXT BALLOT TO CONTINUE VOTING




BALLOT 20F 4

ABSENTEE
OFFICIAL BALLOT
ANNUAL TOWN ELECTION
MERRIMACK, NEW HAMPSHIRE
APRIL 8, 2003 TOWN CLERK

QUESTIONS CONTINUED

Article 13. Shall the Town vote to appropriate $1,500,001 withot further taxation, for a six-month curbside pick-
up and recycling program of solid waste servicing all residents (including condominiums), obtaining this money
by:

A, Voting to rescind Article 17 of the 1988 Town Meeting, which created the Solid Waste Disposal Revenue
Fund, and to transfer to the General Fund all monies in said revenue fund on June 30, 2003.

B. By voting to appropriate the necessary $1,500,001 from the General Fund to be used for a six-month
conlract for curbside pickup with recycling with a private vendor beginning on December 31, 2003, when
the landfill closes, together with:

C. Engineering work to increase the safely of Lawrence Road and other ancillary work at the YES (O
Fearon/Lawrence Road site for the handling of bulky items and yard waste, in accord with the plans of NO O
the Ad-Hoc Committee on Salid Waste. {By Petition) (Not Recommended by the Board of Selectmen 4-
1-0) {Not Recommended by the Budget Committee 9-5-0)

Article 14. Shall the Town vote fo raise and appropnate the sum of $350,000 to be added to the Library YES (&
Construction Capital Reserve Fund? (By Petition) {Passage of Article #10 concemning the construction of a new

library will render this article null and void) (Recommended by the Board of Selectmen 3-0-0) (Recommended by NO O
the Budget Committee 12-3-0)

Article 15. Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $85,000 for the purchase and installation of

a diesel powered generator with a 24-hour base tank to be located at the Mastricola Middle School for emergency

shelter purposes? This is a special warrant article, per RSA 32:3 (V1), reflecting an appropriation that will not YES O
tapse until the monies are expended, of June 30, 2008, whichever is the earfiest. (Recommended by the Board NO O
of Selectnen 5-0-0) (Recommended by the Budget Committee 15-0-0}

Article 16, Shall the Town vote to establish, in accordance with RSA 35, an Emergency Traffic Signal Pre-emp-

tion System Capital Reserve Fund, for the purpose of replacing, updating and instaling emergency traffic signal
pre-emption controls on all appropriate intersections in town which will ailow fire, rescue and ambulance vehicles YES O
1o gain control of and move safely through the intersections; to raise and appropriate the sum of $85,000 to be

placed in said fund; and to designate the Board of Selectmen as agents to expend? (By Petition) (Recormmended NO (O
by the Board of Selectmen 5-0-0) (Recommended by the Budget Committee 13-0-0)

Article 17. Shall the Town vote fo raise and appropriate an amount up 1o $50,000 or 100% of the unencumbered
surplus funds remaining on hand in the Library Operating Budget at the end of the fiscal year 2002-2003,
whichever amount is less. and transfer that amount ta the Library Gonstruction Capital Reserve Fund? (By YES (O
Petition) (Recommended by the Board of Selectmen 5-0-0) {(Recommended by the Budget Committee 12-3-0) NO OO

Article 18, Shall the Town vote to autharize the Board of Selactmen pursuant to RSA 658:10 1o provide one or
more additional polling places within the Town of Merrimack and 10 determine the boundaries of the voting dis- YES (O
frict to be served by each such additional polling place? i NO (O

Article 19. Shall the Town vole pursuant to RSA 31:3%a to adopt the following Code of Ethics?

Town of Merimack
Code of Ethics
For Town Officlals, Board Members and Employees

PREAMBLE

Itis the pelicy of the Town of Memimack to uphold, promote and demand the highest standards of ethics and conduct from all
of its employees and officials, whether elected, appointed or hired. The Board of Selectmen, all Town employees and all mem-
bers of Town boards, commissions, and committees shall maintain the highest standards of personal integrity, truthfulness,
henesty and faimess in discharging their public duties, and never abuse their positions or powers for improper or perscnal
gain.

JHE CODE

I No conflicts of interest
fl. A duty to recuse

. Aduty to disclose CONTINUES ON BACK OF BALLOT
TURN BALLOT OVER AND CONTINUE VOTING
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QUESTIONS CONTINUED

Article 19. Continued.....

IV.  No unfair persenal use of town property
V. No misuse of confidential information
Vi No improper gifts

Vil. A duty to cooperate

VI, Fair and equal treatment

IX. Exemption Period

PURPOSE

The purpose of this code is to establish guidelines for the ethical standards of conduct for town officials, board members and
employees. \

We expect our public servants and volunteers to act in the best inlerest of the town.

We expect town officials, board members and employees to disclose any personal, financial or other interests in matters
affecting the town that come before them for action.

we expect town officials, board members and employees to remove themselves from decision making if they have a conflict
of interest. .

We expect town officials, board mermbers and employees to be independent, impartial, and responsible to their fellow towns-
people in their actions. I

Wa expect that the town's official decisions and policies be made through the proper channels of govemment,

We expect that public office or a volunteer position in our town not be used for personal gain, It is important that the public
has confidence in the integrity of its government and
that town officials, board members, volunteers and employees have an opportunity to protect their personal reputation.

This code establishes a process by which one may obtain guidance regarding potential ethical issues and it establishes a
course of action for resalving disputes in a manner that is fair to all of the parties involved.

EXPLANATION OF CODE PROVISIONS

I. No Conflicts of Interest
Officials, board members and employees of the Town of Merrimack shall avoid conflicts of interest.

As a town official, board member or employee, you shall not participate in any matter in which you, or a member of your fam-
ily, have a personal interest that may directly or indirectly affect or influence the performance of your duties. In such instances,
you shali recuse yourself from discussion and decision-making. Recusal means to remove yourself completely from all fur-
ther participation in the matter in question.

Officials, board members or employees who have been recused shall immediately leave the room or shall seat themselves
with the other members of the public who are present. When recused, you shall not participate in further discussions, unless
you clearly state for the record that you are doing sa only as a general member of the public. As a recused person, you shall
not deliberate or vote on the matter in question.

Il. A Duty to Recuse In Quasi-Judicial Actions

A *quasi-judicial action” is any action where the board or committee you are @ member of is acting like a judge or a jury. For
example, when your board of committee has a duty to nofify the potential parties, hear the parties, and can enly decide on
the matter after weighing and considering such evidence and arguments as the parties choose to lay before you, you are
involved in a quasi-udicial action, The work of the planning and zoning boards is largely quasi-judicial. Not only do officials,
board members and employees of the Town of Merrimack have a duty to recuse themselves as outlined in the section above,
you must recuse yourself in a quasi-judicial action if you would not be qualified to sit as a juror in that case. For example,
jurors are not qualified to sit in a case if they have advised or assisted either party in a matier being decided, are prejudiced
to any degree regarding the pending matter, or believe they cannot for any reason be totally fair and impartial. As a repre-
sentative of the Town of Merrimack, you are expected to hold yourself to this same standard.

1ll. A Duty to Disclose

As an official, board member or employee of the Town of Mermimack, you shall not participate in the conduct of business on
behalf of the Town or enter into discussion or deliberation of any matter without first, publicly and on the record, stating all
possible conflicts that may exist between you and your family, and the principals or the issue under consideration.

CONTINUES ON NEXT BALLOT
GO TO NEXT BALLOT TO CONTINUE VOTING
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ABSENTEE BALLOT 30F 4
CFFICIAL BALLOT
ANNUAL TOWN ELECTION
MERRIMACK, NEW HAMPSHIRE
APRIL 8, 2003 TOWN CLERK

QUESTIONS CONTINUED

Article 19. Continued.....

V. No Unfair Personal Use of Town Property
No official, board member or employee of the Town of Mertimack shall use town property, services, or labor personally, or
make the same avaitable to others unless such use is available to other residents upon request on equal terms.

V. No Misuse of Confidential Information

No official, board member or employee of the Town of Merrimack shall use any confidential information acquired by virtue of
that individual’s cfficial position for personal benefit, or for the benefit of any other person of business, This does not apply to
information, which is readily available to the general public.

In addition, no official, board member or employee of the Town of Merrimack shall violate the privacy of others by publicizing,
gossiping, or discussing infermation confidentially acquired in the course of official duties without a legitimate reason to do so.

V1. No Improper Gifts

No official, board member or employee of the Town of Mermimack shall accept a gift (or allow acceptance of such gift by a
family member} from any individual, group, or corporation that has or is likely 1o have a matter pending before the board, com-
mittee, or commission on which the official or ernployee serves. This provision of the code is not meant to apply to gifts tra-
ditionally exchanged between family members at holidays or birthdays, for example.

Vil. A Duty to Cooperate
Al officials, board members and employees of the Town of Memimack shall cooperate with the Ethics Commitiee regarding
any complaint or inquiry alleging violation of this Code of Ethics.

VIIl. Fair and Equal Treatment

Acting in their official capacity, all officials, board members and employees of town govemnment shall give each and every per-
son fair and equal treatment. No official, board member or employee shall in the course of their official duties give or deny
any person special consideration, advantage, or treatment as a result of the person's public status, position, sex, race, reli-
gion, creed, sexual orientation, or national grigin,

1% Exemption Period

Any Town Official, Board Member or Employee elected, appointed or employed on or before the effective date of this Code
of Ethics, shall be exempt from its provisions untit Aprt 6, 2004.

DEEINTIONS OF TERMS

As used in this ordinance, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:

Board: Any board, committee or commission, permanent or special, established by the Setectmen under New Hampshire law,

Complainant: A resident of the Town of Memimack who has submitted a petition lo the Ethics Committee requesting an
inquiry or alleging a viclation of the Code of Ethics.

Conflict of Interest: A siuation, circumstance, or financial interest that has the potential to cause a private or persanal inter-
est to interfere with the proper exercise of a public duty.

Employee: A person wha is paid by the Town of Merrimack for histher services, but who is not an independent contractor.
Ethics Committee: The committee established by Section IV of this ondinance.

Family: Any person who is related to the official, board member or employee in one of the following ways: spouse, parent,
grandparent, child, grandchild, sibling, or similar relation to the individual's spouse. This includes all persons who are mem-
bers of the same household as the official, board member or employee in question, regardiess of whether they are related by
blood or marriage.

Interest: Any legal or equitable right, share, or claim, whether or not subject to an encurnbrance or a condition, which is
owned or held, in whole or in part, jointly of severally, including but without limitation, a right, share or claim to land.

Offictal: Any elected or appointed cfficer, board member, or agent of the Town of Merimack,

Princtpals: Those pecple who are the subject of the action or application that is before the board.

CONTINUES ON BACK OF BALLOT
TURN BALLOT OVER AND CONTINUE VOTING
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QUESTIONS CONTINUED

Articte 19. Continued.....

Public Servant: A person who serves the town of Merrimack in an official capacity, whether elected or appointed, paid or
unpaid, any town official, board member or employee.

Recuse: Officials, board members or employees wha have been recused from a matter, shall remove themselves complete-
ty from all further participation in the matter in question. Officials, board members or employees who have been recused shall
immediatety leave the room or shall seat themselves with the other members of the public who are present. The recused per-
sons shall not participate in further discussions, unless they clearty state for the record that they are doing so only as gener-
al members of the public. Recused persens shall not deliberate or vote on the matter in question.

Respondent: Board member or employee named in a petition submitted to the Ethics Committee as an inquiry or alleging a
viotation of the Code of Ethics.

Reslident; A resident of the Town of Merrimack.

Quasi-judicial Action: Any action where the board or committee has a duty to notify the potential parties, hear the parties,
and can only decide after weighing and considering such evidence and arguments as the parties choose to tay before them.

Town: The Town of Memimack, inciuding a!l of its departments, boards, commissions, and committees,
EXCLUSIONS
The provisions of this Code of Ethics shall not be interpreted $0 as to bar.

A. Any official, board member or employee who is a resident of the Town of Mermimack from fully participating in any Town
Meeting;

B. Acceptance of donations for the expressed purpose of financing a political campaign, provided such contributions are
reported in accordance with all local, state and federal laws that pertain to such donations:

C. Participation in a matter that relates to a person or business from which an official, board member or employee has mere-
ty purchased goods or services, if the individual in question has no other conflict of interest relating to that person or busi-
ness;

D. Pofice officers, fire fighters, and other emergency personne! from acting in the course of their official capacities when
responding to emergencies in accordance with the rules and regulations of their departments; and,

E. Supervisors of Town employees from appropriatelty carrying out personnel policies.,

MERRIMACK ETHICS COMMITTEE
The Town of Merrimack shall establish an Ethics Committee fo:
Educate officials, board members and employees of town government regarding the provisions of the ethics code.

Provide advice and counsel to officials, board members and employees regarding ethical issues with which they are con-
fronted,

Hear and resolve ethics complaints, which are filed against officials, board members and employees of town government.
A. Formation of the Ethics Committee

1. The Ethics Commitiee shall consist of five residents of the Town of Memmimack. A quorum of three or more committee mem-
bers shall be necessary to hear any complaint that is filed.

2. Initially, a Committee composed of the Town Moderator, the Chairman of the Board of Selectmen and the Town Manager
shall appoint five residents to serve on the Ethics Committee for a one-year term.

3. Beginning in April 2004, the voters of the Town of Mermimack shalt elect residents to fill all five positions on the Ethics
Committee. At the first election twe members will be chosen for one-year ferms; two members shall be chosen for two-year
terms and one member will be chasen for a three-year term. At fulure elections, as terms expire, all members of the com-
mittee shall be chosen for three-year terms.

4. Should a vacancy in the committee arise, the remaining members of the Ethics Committee shall elect a town citizen to
serve out the remainder of the term. Any tie shall be resolved by the vote of the Town Moderator.

5. The members of the Ethics Committee shall elect a chairperson on an annual basis.

_CONTINUES ON NEXT BALLOT
GO TO NEXT BALLOT TO CONTINUE VOTING
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BALLOT 4 OF 4

ABSENTEE
OFFICIAL BALLOT
ANNUAL TOWN ELECTION
MERRIMACK, NEW HAMPSHIRE
APRIL 8, 2003 : TOWN CLERK

QUESTIONS CONTINUED

Article 19. Continued.....
B. Education

1. At the time that each newly elected or appointed official, board member or employes takes the oath of office, they shall
receive a copy of this code, and acknowledge in writing that they have received a copy of this code.

2. The Ethics Commitiee shall hold a meeting each spring for newly elected or appointed officials, board members and
employees so they may familiarize themselves with the provisions of this code.

3. It shall be the responsibility of the supervisor of any new empioyee 1o ensure that the new employee familiarizes them-
setves with the provisions of this code.

€. Inquiries

The Ethics Committee shall establish a mechanism by which officials, board members, employees and residents of the Town
of Merrimack may obtain advice and counsel from the committee regarding ethical issues that may arise from time to time.

Upon request of a town official, board member or employee, the Ethics Committee
may issue a written advisory opinion in response 1o such an inquiry.

D. Complaints
1. The Ethics Committee shall:
a. have the power to investigate all written complaints, which are filed;

b. establish forms by which officials, board members, employees, and residents of the Town of Memimack may file
complaints or request that an inquiry be made;

€. only review complaints based on alleged violations of Sections | - 8 of this ordinance.

All such requests or complaints must be in writing, shall specify the provision of the code which the complainant
believes was violated, and must be signed by a resident of Memimack.

When signing the complaint, the complainant shalt certify that he or she has read the Code of Ethics, that they believe
the matter within the complaint is a fair subject of inquiry, and they have exhausted all other avenues of relief

available to them within our town govermnment.

2. Any official, board member or employee against whom a written complaint is filed shall be given a copy of the complaint,
and upon written request shall be afforded an opportunity to be heard and to present evidence to the Ethics Commitiee.

3. The Ethics Commitiee shall have sole discretion for setting rules regarding the conduct of hearings. The committee shall
seek 1o make sure that both the complainant and the respondent have an cpportunity to be heard and to present evidence,
but the committee may limit the testimony and evidence, which is presented to it if in the opinion of the committee the testi-
many and evidence in question is irelevant, unnecessary, redundant, or unreliable.

4. The Ethics Committee may require, with sufficient written notice, any official, board member or employee of town govemn-
ment to appear before it to provide testimony regarding pending complaints. The Ethics Committee, for this purpose, may
administer oaths and require the production of evidence such as documents.

5. Within thirty (30) days of concluding an investigation into a written complaint, the Ethics Commitiee shall issue a written

staterment setting forth its findings. The Ethics Committee shall not have the power 1o impose any manetary or other penalty,
only 10 issue a written statement as set forth abave.

YES O
NO OO

TURN BALLOT OVER AND CONTINUE VOTING
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QUESTIONS CONTINUED

Article 20. Shall the Town vote to have the Board of Selectmen adopt the following resolution?

Whereas, New Hampshire residents pay the 12th highest cost of insurance in the country; and

Whereas, the cost of health insurance premiums for families has increased by 45%
over the past three years; and

Whereas, 100,000 New Hampshire residents have no health coverage and 77% of them have a full-time worker
at home; and

Whereas, due to these rising costs almost half of New Hampshire's small business cannot afford health cover-
age for their employees, therefore be it resolved

That we, the citizens of Merrimack, New Hampshire, call on our elected officials from all levels of govemnment,
and those seeking office, to work with consumers, businesses, and health providers to ensure that:

+ Everyone, including the self-employed, unemployed, un- and underinsured, and small business owners
has access to an affordable basic health plan similar fo what federal employees receive;
« Everyone, including employers, consumers, and the state, local and federal govemment makes a
responsible and fair contribution to finance the health care system;
- Everyone receives high quality care that is cost efficient and medically effective; and
« That these efforts help contral the skyrocketing costs of health care. YES O

(By Petition) (This resolution is non-binding and represents no fiscal impact.) NO O

Article 21. Shall the Town vote to rescind Article 17 of the 1988 Town Meeting, which created the Solid Waste

Disposal Revenue Fund, and to transfer to the General Fund ali monies in said revenue fund at June 30, 2003; YES O
all of said monies to be used for propetty tax abatement? This aticle will be invalid if any warrant article pro- Ny )
posing an alternate use of this money for solid waste disposal is approved. (By Petition)

Article 22.  Shall the Town vote to change the location of the "bulky item drop off site” as indicated in Article #12
and Article #13 which is currently proposed to be built on Fearon Road a/k/a Lawrence Road in the Town of
Merrimack to Town owned land off Mast Road in the industrial area for the purpose of reducing traffic on
Lawrence Road provided however, this Aticle 22 shall only be binding on the Board of Selectmen if they deter- YES O
mine that it is legal and practical to locate the bulky item drop off site at the Waste Water Treatment Plant on Mast
Road? (By Petition) NO O

YOU HAVE NOW COMPLETED VOTING
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2003 OFFICIAL BALLOT
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Merrimack residents will have an opportunity to vote on the proposed budget and other
Town matters by answering “yes” or “no” to the articles on the official ballot that
will be used in conjunction with the annual election to be held between 7 AM and 8
PM on April 8. If you live north of Amherst Street or Greeley Street, your polling
place will be at the Mastricola Middle School All-Purpose Room at 26 Baboosic

Lake Road. If you live on or south of Amherst Road or Greeley Street, your polling place will be at St.
John Neumann Church at 708 Milford Road (Route 101A).

The following information is provided as a public service to enable citizens to better understand the
matters on which they will be voting. Additional information may be obtained by calling the
Selectmen’s Office at 424-2331.

ARTICLE 1
ELECTION OF PUBLIC OFFICIALS

To vote, completely fill in the box next to your choice on the ballot. Follow the directions
as to the number of candidates to be marked for each office. To vote for a person whose
name is not printed on the ballot, write the candidate’s name on the line provided and
completely fill in the box.

_ ARTICLES 2-9
ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENTS
’ These eight articles reflect amendments to Town Zoning Ordinances that have

z been proposed by the Planning Board. Each is explained briefly below.
AP Additional information and associated maps may be obtained by calling
@

/' the Community Development Department at 424-3531.

Estimated 2003 Property Tax Impact: None

Article 2. Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs)} are intended to be secondary dwelling units
located within single-family homes that are designed for the use of family members. The
creation of an ADU is not intended to convert a single-family home into a two-family home.
While the existing ordinance contains provisions to regulate unit size, occupancy, and certain
internal design features, the ordinance lacks provisions that address the functional
relationship between an ADU and the principal dwelling or provisions that address exterior
design issues. This proposed amendment would restrict the use of separate garages,
driveways, utilities, and other improvements associated with the development of ADUs to
maintain the functional relationship between an ADU and a principal dwelling while
preserving the appearance of the home as a single-family residence. The amendment would
also move certain ADU requirements from the Definitions section of the ordinance to the
Residential section of the ordinance.
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Article 3. Section 3.09 of the Zoning Ordinance was adopted in 2001 to
make it easier for the owners of homes and buildings, which do not meet
current zoning setback requirements because they were built before zoning
existed or because they were built to meet zoning requirements that have
since been changed, to make additions and other improvements without
having to obtain a variance. This amendment would continue to allow such
property owners to make improvements, but would require that all
reasonable efforts be made to comply with existing zoning requirements.

Article 4. In 2001 the New Hampshire Supreme Court decided a case that established a
three-part test for determining whether or not a petitioner for a variance met the hardship
criterion. Since that time, the Zoning Board of Adjustment (ZBA), amended the findings-of-
fact forms that its members use when deciding a case to reflect this three-part test. This
Article would amend Section 8 of the Zoning Ordinance to make the criteria in the ordinance

consistent with the ZBA's findings-of-fact forms.

Article 5. Currently, the validity period for variances and special exceptions granted by ;
the ZBA is nine months. Recent 7BA cases and court decisions, however, have 75
brought the applicability of this validity period into question and raised
doubts over the reasonableness of the nine-month limit.  This
amendment would increase the validity period to two years and -

would more clearly define the actions or circumstances that would ~7 %77 N7 -
i J \.‘ -
or would not cause an approval to expire. .

Article 6. The existing Sexually Oriented Business section of the Zoning Ordinance was
adopted to regulate the areas in which sexually oriented businesses (SOBs) could be located
to protect the community from certain secondary impacts related to crime,
harm to minors, property values, and other areas of concern. Recent court
decisions, however, have scrutinized the record on which a SOB ordinance
has been adoptedin addition to the wording of the actual ordinance itself.
To protect Merrimack's SOB ordinance from a legal challenge, the

Planning Board has reexamined various reports and studies related to the
impacts of SOBs, has made sure that these reports and studies are included
in the record, and has proposed that this section of the ordinance be
readopted in its current form to provide continued protection for the community.

Article 7. A change to state law was recently passed encouraging the
installation of renewable energy systems such as solar panels, windmills, and

other similar systems, as well as prohibiting the undue restriction of such |
systems in local ordinances. This amendment would allow renewable energy l
systems intended for on-site use to be installed in any zoning district so long as

all required health, safety, and building codes are adhered to.




Article 8. This amendment is intended to add light to the existing list of potentially injurious,
noxious, or offensive impacts that can result from development that is cited in the Zoning
Ordinance and to clarify the Planning Board’s role in adopting regulations to address such
impacts.

Article 9. The Zoning Ordinance currently provides a definition for the
f""r\’\‘\,-)} term Mobile Home and uses that term in various sections of the

ordinance. In the state statutes, however, the term Mobile Home

has been replaced with the term Manufactured Housing. This
= amendment would replace the definition of Mobile Home with the
" current state definition for Manufactured Housing and would specify
that the term Mobile Home should be understood to mean Manufactured
Housing anywhere that it appears in the Zoning Ordinance.

ARTICLE 10
LIBRARY CONSTRUCTION BOND

According to the Library Board of Trustees, our population growth has created an increased
demand for library services and materials and a critical need for additional library space. This
petitioned article authorizes financing, construction, and equipping of a new Merrimack Public
~ Library to meet this need. A two-story building with a partial basement would be constructed
on property next to the Post Office, which was purchased by the Town in 1996 for this
purpose. The total project cost is $8 million, which would be financed by the issuance of
bonds in the amount of $5.8 million, by the transfer of $2 million from the Library Construction
Capital Reserve Fund, by the withdrawal of $125,000 from existing Library Trustee funds,
and by the use of $75,000 of interest that is expected to be eamned on the temporary
investment of bond proceeds.

The new facility has been designed to meet the Town’s library needs through build-out.
Building plans have been reviewed by Police, Fire, Community Development, and Public
Works Departments. This project was identified as ‘necessary” in the capital improvements
program that was adopted by the Planning Board. Article 10 has been unanimously
recommended by the Library Board of Trustees, the Board of Selectmen, and the Budget
Committee.

The maximum annual debt service cost (bond principal and interest) would be approximately
$500,000, which is roughly equivalent to the amount that previous Town Meetings have
annually appropriated for transfer to the Library Capital Reserve Fund. This means that a
new facility may be built now for the same annual property tax investment that would be
required to save for future construction. Additional staffing may be required in
the near future to realize the full potential of the new facility.

Estimated Property Tax Impact: $7 Per $1 00,000 of Assessed
Valuation in 2003 And Declining Amounts Of Between $23 And $13
Per $100,000 of Assessed Valuation Thereafter During The 20-Year
Bond Term
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ARTICLE 11

MUNICIPAL OPERATING BUDGET

The municipal operating budget,

which is the subject of Article 11, funds the general costs of

operating all Town departments. The municipal operating budget is summarized below by
department and graphically by function and by object.

Department Amount
General Government $ 1,509,583
Assessing 286,273
Fire 4.451,241
Police 4,150,243
Communications 468,804
Public Works Administration 301,973
Highway 3,330,409
Solid Waste Disposal 1,898,532
Wastewater Treatment 2,918,592
Parks & Recreation 797,235 o
Library 1,271,634
Equipment Maintenance 420,842
Buildings & Grounds 283,067
Community Development 730,976
Town Clerk/Tax Collector 386,150
Welfare 171,711
Debt Service 992,510
Total $24,369,775

2003-04 Budget By Object

Debt service
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increases in personal services
indicated below.

_

operating budget of $24,369,775 represents an increase of
d to current appropriations. This increase is due primarily to
costs (wages and benefits) and solid waste disposal costs, as




Increase

(Decrease)
Personal services costs $ 1,208,863
Solid waste disposal costs, excluding personal services 1,363,806
Sub total 2,662,669
Debt service 214,932
Police outside traffic details (fully offset by revenue) 112,791
Capital outlay, excluding bulky waste drop-off area ( 248,894)
Other — less than $100,000 57,067
Net increase $2,798,565

Personal Services Costs

The recommended budget reflects the elimination of two Solid Waste Disposal full-
time positions due to the mandated closure of the landfill and the remote disposal
of solid waste. A part-time Custodian position in Buildings & Grounds has been
proposed in lieu of a full-time Custodian position, and the reclassification of two
full-time positions (one in Assessing and one in Community Development) has
also been proposed. The net decrease relating to these staffing changes is
$68,382. Health insurance costs continue to spiral. Our premiums increased by
34% in each of the last two years and are expected to increase by another 25% in
2003-04. As a result, related appropriations have increased by $411,117. Due
apparently to retirement plan investment losses over the last two years,
contributions to these plans must increase dramatically in 2003-04 (NH Retirement
System ~ approximately 43% for Police personnel and 97% for Fire personnel: Town defined
benefit pension plan — 108%). As a result, related appropriations have increased by
$309,799. 2003-04 is one of the occasional fiscal years for which we must budget for fifty-
three weekly payrolls rather than fifty-two. The associated budgetary =
impact is $184,918. The balance of the $1,298,863 increase in -~
personal services costs basically reflects the following wage - -

adjustments.
AFSCME Council 93 employees 5.0% (includes merit)
IAFF Local 2904 employees 3.0% (consists solely of cola)
Other union employees 4.0% (includes merit)
Library employees 3.0% (includes merit)
Gther non-union employees 4.0% (includes merit)

Debt Service

The Camp Sargent Road bond issue matured in 2002-03, reducing debt service costs by
$115,940. However, this decrease was more than offset by 2003-04 principal and interest
payments of $330,872 on recently-issued Greens Pond land acquisition bonds. Thus, the net
budgetary impact is an increase of $214,932.
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Solid Waste Disposal

By state mandate, the landfill must close by December 31, 2003. Sufficient funds have been
accumulated in a capital reserve fund to fully finance the costs associated with the closure.
After the landfill is closed, however, solid waste must be transported from Merrimack to a
remote disposal site. The result is an increase of $1,330,844 in the Solid Waste Disposal
budget, consisting of the following.

2002-03 2003-04 Change

Personal services cosis $328,350 $ 295388 $( 32,962)
Other operating costs 239,338 1,353,144 1,113,806
Bulky waste drop-off area 0 250,000 250,000
Total $567,688  $1,898,532 $ 1,330,844

The proposed 2003-04 budget is based on providing residential
curbside collection on a contractual basis beginning on January 1,
2004. If a post-closure transfer station operation is selected instead
by the passage of Article 12, this budget will be reduced by
$376,691.

Capital Outlay

The proposed budget includes $1,248,000 for transfer to capital reserve funds. Other
proposed capital outlay consists of the following. '

Police vehicles $102,000
Windsor Drive reconstruction 75,000
Road paving and minor reconstruction projects 275,000
Bulky waste loading area 250,000
Other items - less than $50,000 220,007
Total $922 007

The Town of Merrimack has long supported the concept that the use of
capital reserve funds is the most cost-effective method of financing the
R ILANCE purchase or replacement of facilities, equipment, and infrastructure. As
reflected above, consistent amounts are included in annual

® L )/ budgets for transfer to these funds, so that sufficient

_ monies are available when purchases or replacements are

required. This spreads the related cost over the funding period, rather than

requiring a large appropriation in the year of purchase or replacement, and
thereby helps to stabilize property tax rates. Also, interest earned on monies
held in capital reserve funds offsets a portion of the purchase or replacement
cost and/or serves as a hedge against inflation. These capital reserve funds provide for the
replacement of fire trucks, bridges, ambulances, police communications equipment, and
Highway Division trucks and heavy equipment as well as for the closure of the landfill and
other major capital outlay needs.




Default Budget

If Article 11 should fail, a total related appropriation of $21,795,847 would automatically
become effective in accordance with New Hampshire Statutes. The Board of Selectmen
would then be responsible for either holding a special meeting at which a revised Municipal
Operating Budget appropriation would be considered or developing a revised Municipal
Operating Budget within this reduced amount.

Projected Tax Rate

Based on the proposed budget (Article 11) and current estimates of 2003 net assessed
valuations and 2003-04 non-tax revenues, the municipal portion of the 2003 property tax rate
is expected to be $5.59, which correlates to a tax bill of $559 per $100,000 of assessed
valuation. This represents an increase of $1.89 or 51% over the 2002 rate. However, this
projection includes the impact of only Article 11 and not any of the other articles. A significant
portion of this increase is attributable to the fact that $2,479,487 of 2002-03 appropriations
was financed by a withdrawal from General Fund surplus, while only $250,000 of the
proposed 2003-04 budget is so financed.

Municipal Property Tax Rate
9.00

‘%\_\ 8.00
L 7.00

4 500

V- 4.00

Tax Rate Per
$1,000

‘ - 3.00
AP P A RO AN D
D" D7 D 2O 9O
| ,\Q,\%,\%,\%,\%@@r&@rﬁ ’
g Year r
ARTICLE 12

SOLID WASTE TRANSFER FACILITY

The Town’s landfill must close on December 31, 2003. Sufficient funds have been
accumulated in a capital reserve fund to fully finance the costs associated with the closure.
After the landfill is closed, however, solid waste must be transported from Merrimack to a
remote disposal site. Article 12 is designed to give voters a clear choice between the post-
closure curbside collection of residential solid waste and a post-closure transfer facility
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operation, whereby solid waste would be brought to the transfer station by residents,
businesses, and private haulers as it is now brought to the landfill. :

To elect the transfer facility operation option, vote for Article 12. This article provides
$1,500,002 for the construction of a solid waste transfer facility at the current Fearon Road
alk/a Lawrence Road landfill site. Construction costs would be financed fully by a withdrawal
from General Fund surplus. Because operating costs for the transfer facility
option are expected to be less than for the curbside collection option, Article
12 also provides for a decrease of $376,691 in the appropriation for solid
waste disposal that is included in the Municipal Operating Budget (Article 11).

To elect curbside collection, vote against Article 12. The
Municipal Operating Budget (Article 11) includes an appropriation
for solid waste disposal that will fully finance related curbside pickup
operating costs for the six-month period between January 1, 2003
and June 30, 2004.

According to projections of the Solid Waste Ad Hoc Committee, the amount of property taxes,
which must be raised annually to finance subsequent operating costs for the transfer facility
option, would be approximately $600,000 less than for the curbside collection option. Based
on Town staff projections, that difference is approximately $1.5 million.

Estimated 2003 Property Tax Impact: $16 Decrease Per $100,000 of Assessed Valuation

ARTICLE 13
CURBSIDE PICKUP OF SOLID WASTE

After the landfill is closed on December 31, 2003, solid waste must be transported from
Merrimack to a remote disposal site. According to a petitioner, Article 13 provides for six
months of the curbside pickup of residential solid waste (including solid waste from
condominiums), recycling, work to make Lawrence Road safe, and work to make the
recycling facility at the present Fearon Road a/k/a Lawrence Road landfill site suitable for use
as a drop-off facility for bulky items and yard waste. The related cost of $1,500,001 would be
financed fully by a withdrawal from General Fund surplus.

Based on various assumptions, the future property tax impact of curbside pickup is expected
to be between $87 and $109 per $100,000 of assessed valuation

Estimated 2003 Property Tax Impact: None




ARTICLE 14
LIBRARY CONSTRUCTION CAPITAL RESERVE FUND

P A capital reserve fund was created in 1995 for the eventual construction of a new
SN 1 library facility to address the Library’s critical space needs. This petitioned article
é‘_- J s Proposes to add $350,000 to this capital reserve fund to decrease the amount of

_ ) bond financing that may be required for this project in the future. Approximately
$2 million is currently in this fund. This project was identified as “necessary” in

> the capital improvements program that was adopted by the Planning Board. This

article has been recommended by the Library Board of Trustees. Please note that

~ Article 14 will become null and void if the 2003-04 construction of a new library
facility is authorized by the passage of Article 10.

Estimated 2003 Property Tax Impact: $15 Per $1 00,000 of Assessed Valuation

ARTICLE 15
EMERGENCY SHELTER GENERATOR

E Mastricola Middle School has been designated an emergency shelter

for residents who must leave their homes due to flooding, severe
weather conditions, or other such emergencies. This article provides an
appropriation to purchase and install a generator at that location to provide
electricity to the emergency shelter if normal electrical service is interrupted.

e g

Estimated 2003 Property Tax Impact: $4 Per $100,000 of Assessed Valuation

ARTICLE 16
EMERGENCY TRAFFIC SIGNAL PRE-EMPTION SYSTEM

‘ Some intersections in Merrimack are equipped with an emergency traffic
' signal pre-emption system. This system recognizes the approach of a fire,
rescue, or ambulance vehicle through a high-frequency light on the front of
the vehicle and changes traffic signal lights in a manner, which permits the
vehicle to move safely through the intersection without delay. Article 16
‘ ' proposes to establish a capital reserve fund to: replace existing systems,
which were installed in 1988: equip additional intersections with these

systems; and upgrade the systems periodically.

Estimated 2003 Property Tax Impact: $4 Per $1 00,000 of Assessed Valuation
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ARTICLE 17
LIBRARY CONSTRUCTION CAPITAL RESERVE FUND

The purpose of this petitioned article is to authorize the transfer of up to
$50,000 of any unexpended portion of the Library's 2002-03 /
appropriations to the Library Construction Capital Reserve Fund.
Otherwise, said unexpended appropriations would automatically be
added to General Fund surplus. This article has been recommended
by the Library Board of Trustees.

Estimated 2003 Property Tax Impact: None

ARTICLE 18
ADDITIONAL POLLING PLACE

There are currently two polling places in Merrimack: Mastricola Middle School
for those who live north of Amherst Street or Greeley Street; and St. John

Neumann Church for those who live on or south of Amherst Road or
_,_j-’l Greeley Street. To alleviate the safety concerns of school officials and the
“"““Z"" ! congestion that has been experienced inside and outside of Mastricola
T . Middle School on election days, this article directs the Board of Selectmen to

I _— || Ii| I provide one or more additional polling places.

Estimated 2003 Property Tax Impact: None

ARTICLE 19
CODE OF ETHICS

Last year voters directed the Board of Selectmen to adopt a formal code of ethics. The
resulting Board-adopted code of ethics is presented in Article 19 for voter ratification in
accordance with New Hampshire Statutes. It would be applicable to town officials, board
members, and employees and includes the formation of an elected Ethics Committee to
provide related education and advice and to hear and resolve ethics complaints.

Estimated 2003 Property Tax Impact: None

ARTICLE 20
HEALTH INSURANCE RESOLUTION

This petitioned article represents a non-binding resolution, which is designed to send a
message to federal and state officials and to any presidential candidates who campaign here
in the coming year that the citizens of Merrimack are concerned about the need to make
quality, affordable health care accessible to our families.

Estimated 2003 Property Tax Impact: None



ARTICLE 21
SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL REVENUE FUND

A balance of approximately $1,500,000 is expected to be in the Solid Waste Disposal
Revenue Fund at June 30, 2003, representing the accumulated excess of dump fees and
other landfill-related revenues over solid waste disposal operating costs. In conjunction with
the closing of the landfill, Article 21 directs the closing of this fund into General Fund surplus
and its subsequent use in reducing property taxes. By design, this article would become null
and void if either Article 12 or Article 13 passes.

Estimated 2003 Property Tax Impact: $65 Decrease Per $100,000 of Assessed Valuation

ARTICLE 22
BULKY ITEM DROP-OFF SITE

Whether voters elect curbside collection or a transfer facility operation as the preferred solid
waste disposal option after the closure of the landfill, a bulky waste drop-off area must be
developed for storing appliances, tires, yard waste, furniture, and other items, which require
special handling. This petitioned articl
waste drop-off area at the wastewater treatment facili

T

Estimated 2003 Property Tax Impact: None
POLLING PLACES

Merrimack residents will have an opportunity to vote on the proposed budget and other Town
matters by answering “yes” or “no” to the articles on the official ballot that will be used in
conjunction with the annual election to be held between 7 AM and 8 PM on April 8. If you live
north of Amherst Street or Greeley Street, your polling place will be at the

Mastricola Middle School All-Purpose Room at 26 Baboosic Lake Road.
If you live on or south of Amherst Road or Greeley Street, your polling
place will be at St. John Neumann Church at 708 Milford Road (Route
101A). '

265




e0/eL/E

1621 G95'86.'C Gl11'69E've 012'145'12 8Zr'ery'0z Jebpng bunelado |ediojunpy [ejo 1

v L2 ZE6'¥12 015'266 8/5'241 2£6'0£8 90IAL9S 199022
v2'9 160'01 LLL'LLL 029°'1L91 6¥r'2ol QJBJIOM|GT
622 G27'92 051'98¢ GZ6'65¢ 61£'60¢€ 10)09]]0D Xe1NI9|D UMO] |2
669 gzL'ly 9/6'0€. 8bz'e89 1€5'219 juswdojaasq AjJlunwwo) |1z
(¥8'¥) (¥6E'v1) 190'c982 L9b' 162 2.6'6.2 spunolo g sbuipiing|ZL
08'¥ +92'61 Z¥8'ocy 8/5'10v 096'9¢€ asueusjuiepy Juswdinb3|gl
260l 212521 yeg'LLT'L LLF9rL'L 620'0Z0°L Areiqriisl
(05°5) (98¢c'9p) Gez'l6l 129'€y8 189'6L2 uonjesday g syled|cl
80'¢ 6+2'L8 Z65'816'C €¥E'1£8'2 9£8'925'2 uswieal JBJEM3ISEM 0L
ey veET py8°'0ce’L 2£5'868°1L 989'/95 ¥Sv'8L6 [esodsi( 8)SEA PII0S |60
659 168'S0T 60'0EE'E rARRZAR 929'840°C AemybiH|80
196 L1Z'91 €16'10E 292'68¢ 60¥'892 uoleJSILILIPY SHIOAA 2HAnd |20
€6 866'Gl v08'89Y 008'CSY 052'2G¢ SUOHEDIUNWIWOD |G0
LILL yel'ley €pT'0SL'y BLL'ELL'E €/8'069'¢C ao110d |0
vLLL 185'/9¢% KA $G9'€86'E | 018'099'E all4|€0
.59 €19'L1L €12'982 0£9'892 +20'01C Buissassy|z0
(eLre) (s99'291) £85'60G'L 8Y2'CL9'L LIZ'Trr'l JUSLLLWIBAQS) (eIBUaD) | L0
% unowy $0-£002 €0-2002 20-1002 Joswpedsq | oN

(aseal09(]) aseasou| pasodoid 1obpng |[enoy 1daq
11 31011V

1394an9 ONILYYIdO TVdIDINNW +0-£002

266




ANALYSIS OF 2003-04 MUNICIPAL OPERATING BUDGET

Article 11
|
—— |
Summary |
Actual Budget Proposed| Increase (Decrease)
2001-02 2002-03 2003-04 Amount! Percent
Personat services 11,941,605 1 13,670,644 14,969,507 | 1,298,863 9.50
Cther operating expenses 4,643,876 | 4,954 087 6,237,751 1,283,664 2591
Capital outlay 3,021,015 | 2,168,901 2,170,007 1,106 0.05
Debt service 836,932 | 777,578 992510 | __ 214932 27.64
Total 120443428~ 21571210 | 24.369,775 | 2798565 | 12.97
Explanation of Increase (Decrease) i
Wage adjustments and attrition o , ! 382,303 1366
Health insurance rate adjustments i i 411,117 14.69
Workers compensation insurance rate adjustments | (21,362) (0.76)
Provision for compensated absences (38,700) (1.38)
Overtime hours 46,028 164
Staffing changes (see "Personnel” below) , | (68,382) (2.44)
Part-time hours | 5 66,713 238
Retirement plan rate adjustments i ! 309,799 | 11.07
Fifty-three weekly payrolls vs fifty-two ! 184,818 6.61
Duplicate heaith insurance incentive i 15,958 0.57
Excess sick leave purchase 10,799 | 0.39
Other wages and benefits ; (328} (0.01)
Town wide non-union college tuition reimbursement program | 10,000 ! 0.36
Flreg _g[o_tegmn area hydrant fees : (16,700)1 (0.65)
Police outside traffic details | ! 112,791 | 403
Biolegical and chemical threats | {29,618) (1.08)
Maintenance of MYA buildings and fields ' } 27,969 1.00
NPDES storm water permit i 25,000 0.89
Street sweeping | i 10,000 0.36
Street light electricity i 1 {11,853) (0.42)
Landfill cover material | 36,000 ! 1.29
Temporary solid waste relocation services WT ; 25,000 089
Disposal of special solid waste {construction debris, tires, paper, stumps, etc.) 26,750 i 0.96
Increase in other solid waste disposal costs due primarily to landfill c!osure and remote disposal i 1,051,056 | 37.56'
Gas heat for wastewater treatment bio-filters i | 13,000 ; 046
Wastewater treatment chemicals i 1 . 13639 0.49
Sawdust bulking : agen_t for sludge production and composting ! \ (21,143) (0.76)
Engineering study re: increasing wastewater treatment plant capacity | i (15,000 (0.54)
Merrimack Youth Association recreational activities | ) (12,2586) (0.44)
General insurance i i 25,600 0.91
Principal and interest on Camp Sargent Road bond | ‘ (115,940) (4.14)
Principal and interest on Greens Pond land acqu:smon hond f 330,872 11.82
Capltal outlay ; i 1,106 0.04
Other minor changes - fess than $10,000 j ‘ 13,229 0.48
Total increase 1 i 2,798,565 100.00

2/15/03
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ANALYSIS OF 2003-04 MUNICIPAL OPERATING BUDGET

] Article 11
l l |
Personnel 1 | 1 _
2002-03 i 2003-04
FlTime | PatTime | Ful-Time | Pad:-Time B

General Government 1 7 1] 7
Assessrng 4 - 4 - |
Fire 42 7 42 71
Police . B 42 | 5 42 5|
Communications . ! 8 - 8 - -
Public Works Administration _ __ﬁ, 2 - 2 - B
nghway 25 - 25 -
Solid Waste Disposal T 6 - 4 - -
Wastewater Treatment 23 - 23 -
Parks & Recreation 3 - | 3 -
Library 10 19 10 19
Equipment Maintenance O o 6 - | 6| - ] )
Buildings & Grounds 4 - | 3 \____ o
Community Development _ - R 10 - 10 | - .
Town Clerk/Tax Collector T 6 - 6| -
Welfare B T ! - KN

Total

B I 3|l

- 7
ﬁTég‘* 40|

* Excludes electlon workers call ﬁreﬁghters specral | police ofﬁcers. volunteers, and ‘other temporary and casual labor.

— + J—

i
The proposed budg_et t provides for a net decrease of three full-time positions and a net increase of one part-time.

posmon These positions and the & assoaated costs are presented below. I
~] Cfassification l Schedule Cost
" Assessing Admin Assessing Assistant | Full-Time | (37,551)
"Assessing Assessing Coordinator Full-Time 42 596
‘Solid Wasle Disposal | Equipment Operator i} Fuli-Time (28,893)
"Solid Waste Disposal - | Recycfing Attendant | Full-Time (19,170)|
Buildings & Grounds | Custodian Full-Time | (41,649)
Buildings & Grounds__ | Custodian Pat-Time | 16,872
Community Development | Secretay Full-Time | (43.270)
Communlty Development | Clerk Typist il l Ful-Time | 42683
Total o ﬁ | | _(68.382)
] T | | -
. Lapita I l i
Transfer to capital reserve funds I 1,248,000 | |
Election equipment i | 14,500 r B
Defibrillator - Fire ; | 19,000 |
Breathing apparatus - Fire | ! 20,000 |
Fire personnel turnout gear drying systems [ | 15,000 | |
Police cruisers - 3 73,500 | i [
Sport utility vehicle - 4 X 4 - Police 28,500 ! i
Road paving and minor reconstruction projects 275,000 | |
Windsor Drive reconstruction i 75,000 L !
Twardowsky Field irrigation system 5 10,000 |
Twardowsky Field dugouts - 2 @ 10,000 | -
Martel Field dugouts - 2 10,000 i -
Bulky waste loading area at landfill 250,000 |
Computer equipment and software 47,367 .
Other items costing iess than $10,000 74,140
Total 2,170,007
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2003-04 Municipal Operating Budget

01 - GENERAL GOVERNMENT

L]

I

|
|

| !
T T
[] 0

|

| | Actual | Budget | Proposed |
AccountNo.  "/Account Description 2001-02 | 2002-03 2003-04

01]- 01 - [8101 - 0 WAGES-ELECTED OFFICIALS | 15,027 | 15,200 | 15,200
01/-101}-18103 |- {0 WAGES-SUPERVISORY j 206,897 | 239,360 | 253,365
01/-'01 - 8104 |- 0 IWAGES-HOURLY l 192,305 | 199,936 | 208,199
01-101 - 8107 |- /0 ,WAGES - PART-TIME f 645 | 2,458 | 2,518
01 |-'01}- 8111 - [0 [OVERTIME-OTHER i 15,974 | 8,351 | 15,454
01;- 01]-18125 -0 'SOCIAL SECURITY I 34,439 34,007 | 36,507
01]-,01|-18128 |- [0 RETIREMENT [ 32,391 34,084 | 43,756
01-1011- 18131 |- |0 |HEALTH INSURANGE f 71,628 | 96,581 | 111,200
01]-/01}- 18132 |- |0 /DENTAL INSURANCE | 8,764 | 8,862 | 8,925
01)-101-18133 |- [0 |LIFE INSURANCE ; 851 | 864 840
01]-701 - 18134 |- [0 |[SHORT-TERM DISABILITY 4,348 4,936 4,936 |
01|-|01 |- 8135 |- 10 WORKERS COMPENSATION 560 694 685
01}- 01]-/8136 |- |0 {UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 470 223 149 |
01]-,01 - 8142 |- [0 [COMPENSATED ABSENCES | 82,457 | 118,800 80,100
01 - J01 - 8201 |- |0 [OFFICE SUPFLIES 9,146 11,500 | 10,700
01]-701 - 8220 - '0 | PRINTING 14,141 15,400 14,900
01/-,01-18230 |- 0 /POSTAGE | 8,322 8,875 8,925
01-1011- ;8250 |- |0 VEHICLE FUEL 333 432 440
01 - 01 |- 8260 |- |0 |TELEPHONE 11,240 11,650 11,840
01-,01]- 18270 |- |0 [DUES 17,009 17,915 | 18,135
01]-/01]-]8271/- 10 [SUBSCRIPTIONS 750 705 | 480
01]-101]- 18280 |- |0 | GENERAL INSURANCE 3,642 4,000 8,700
01]- /01 |- 18290 |- |0 |LEGAL-RETAINER 37.200 37,200 48,600
01]- 101 - 8293 |- [0 |LEGAL-GENERAL LITIGATION 44,882 72,750 68,040
01 - 01 - 8300 |- [0 |, TRAVEL & MEETINGS | 2,609 4,500 4,550
01|-]01 - 18332 |- [0 IMNTC-VEHICLES | 360 550 350
01-011]-8334 |- [0 ,MNTC-OFFICE EQUIPMENT I 2,136 1,950 2,450
01]-,01-/8351,- |0 CONSULTANTS [ 12,952 | 15,500 10,500
01]- (01 [- 18352 |- |0 . EDUCATION & TRAINING 1 9,310 | 6,600 16,700
01 |- [01 - /8353 |- |0 [COMPUTER SERVICES/SUPPLIES | 27,522 29,500 31,500
01 |- |011-8359 |- |0 [OTHER OUTSIDE SERVICES 70,335 66,200 66,600
01]-01- /8401 |- [0 |BUDGET COMMITTEE 1,538 1,736 1,743
01- 01 - 8405 |- |0 NASHUA TRANSIT SYSTEM 15,600 14,410 18,598
01 |- |01 |- 8407 |- [0 |HISTORIC PRESERVATION 3,200 3,000 3,000
01 - /01 |-18410 |- |0 [ELECTIONSNVOTER REGISTRATION 21,920 24,829 31,538
01]-/01-78420 |- [0 /ADVERTISING 5616 7,100 6,700
01-01- /8460 |- |0 IMISC GPERATING EXPENSES 3,888 4,100 4,100
01-/01/-18501]-,0 LAND - 100 100
01 - 101]- 18504 |- |0 IOFFICE EQUIPMENT 10,337 10,000 32,800
01)-101]-18510 |- |0 INTERFUND TRANSFERS 246,500 232,000 22,500
32 |-01]- 18428 |- [0 [CABLE TELEVISION 176,129 229,700 224,360
337-701 - |8363 |- 0 |FIRE PROTECTION AREA 18,844 75,600 58,900
B [ 1,442,217 1,672,248 | 1,509,583

3/13/03
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2003-04 BUDGET

GENERAL GOVERNMENT
| !
Summary ! ]
Actual| Budget| Budget|
2001-02 2002-03 2003041 Amaum

i e unt|  Percent
Personal services 764,445 | 781,824 17,388 227

666,756

Wage survey
Bus transportation 1o Nashua for elderly and disabled
Elections and voter registration

Other operating expenses 672,349 | 6,647 | 1.00
Capital outlay 256837 242400 | 55400 _(186.700}| (77.12)
Total 1,672,248 1,500,583 | (162, 665) {9.73)]

l !

Explanation of Increase (Decrease) | 1 | l

Wage adjustments | | 10,773 | {6.62)
Employee benefit rate adjustments | [ 28330 (17.42)
Compensated absences l [ (38,700 23.79
Excess sick leave purchase [ | 1,459 (0.90)|
Fifty-three weekly payrolls vs fifty-two 1 9,549 {(5.87)
Overtime hours | 7,940 | (4.88)
Duplicate health insurance incentive ] (1,963) 1.21
Generat insurance ] 4,700 (2.89)

| {4.11)

l

!

|

\

|

i

Legal fees 11
|

l

L ——— -

-

-

|

|

l

|

-

1

|

|

|

l
-

l

|

|

1
I

Town-wide non-union college tuition reimbursement progra 10,000 | (6.15f
Fire protection area fund hydrant fees (16,700} 10.27 |
Cable television studio operations: l
Wage adjustments | 5,955 (3.66)
Employee benefit rate adjustrments ]_ 3,637 {2.24)}
Operating supplies | 5,500 (3.28)
Legal fees | 5,000 (3.07)
“Equipment \ (28,327} 17.41
“Other cable television studio operating costs i 2,895 | (1.78)
Transfer to Land Bank Capital Reserve Fund ‘ | (200,000} 122.95
Other capital outlay | | | 13,300 (8.18)
Other minor changes - less than $2,500 { I_ 1,400 {0.86)
Total increase (decrease) | [ (162,665) 100.00

3/6/03
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GENERAL GOVERNMENT

Eﬂm\\F

2003-04 BUDGET

Full-time:

Town Manager

Communications Director

Assistant Town Manager

Finance Administrator
Account Clerk I

| Office Manager

Accounting Supervisor

Administrative Assistant

Account Clerk 1)

Technology Resources Coordinator

Media Coordinator

| Totai full-time

Part-time {excludes temporary or casual labor):

Seleciman

| Trustee of Trust Funds

Treasurer

" Total part-time

| Total

Computer equipment

Color copier

Election equipment

Contingency for land acquisition

Transfer to Computer Equipment Capital Reserve Fund

Transfer to Heritage Fund

15,000 |
2,500

Transfer to Liabflity Insurance Deductible Trust Funds

Total

3/6/03

5,000
! 55,400 | j
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2003-04 Municipal Operating Budget
02 - ASSESSING
|

. Actual Budget Proposed
Account No. Account Description 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04
01|-|02 |- (8103 |- |0 |WAGES-FIELD PERSONNEL 44,338 65,416 70.066
01|-|02 |- (8104 |- |0 IWAGES-HOURLY ) 55,126 62,452 72,345
01 |-|02 |- (8107 |- |0 |WAGES-PART TIME 3,559 - -
01]- |02 |- 8125 }- |0 |SOCIAL SECURITY 8,645 9,782 10,894
01 |- |02 |-|8128 |- |0 |RETIREMENT 7,929 8,198 12,997
01(-|02 |- (8131 |- |0 |[HEALTH INSURANCE 18,708 36,278 38,200
01{- |02 |- 18132 |- !0 |DENTAL INSURANCE 1,884 2,935 2,625
01 |- |02 |- {8133 |- |0 |LIFE INSURANCE 132 180 180
01-102 |- |8134 |- |0 |SHORT-TERM DISABILITY 892 1,468 1,468
01 |- (02 1- (8135 |- |0 |WORKERS COMPENSATION 1,419 2,475 2,371
01 - (02 1- 18136 |- |0 |UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 75 96 64
01 |- |02 |- [8201 {- |0 |OFFICE SUPPLIES 1,748 3,015 3,089
01 |- |02 {- | 8203 |- |0 |OPERATING SUPPLIES 344 600 900
01 - (02 - 8220 |- |0 IPRINTING 74 500 475
01[-|02 |- |8230 |- |0 |POSTAGE 23 4,185 50
01/-102 |-,8250 |- |0 [VEHICLE FUEL 244 720 825
01-02 |- (8260 |- |0  TELEPHONE 2,365 2,400 2,400
011i- |02 - {8270 |- |0 |DUES 2,727 770 2,228
01|- |02 (- (8280 |- |0 |GENERAL INSURANCE 1,389 1,600 1,500
01 (-|02 |- (8300 |- |0 |TRAVEL & MEETINGS 34 1,000 1,000
01|02 |- (8332 |- |0 \VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 257 1,000 1,000
01(-i02 |- (8334 |- |0 MNTC-OFFICE EQUIPMENT 5,639 7,390 8,040
011]-102 |- |8352 |- |0 |EDUCATION & TRAINING 1,026 4,920 3,540
01-{02 (-|8359 - |0 |OTHER QUTSIDE SERVICES 47,076 46,250 45,360
01 (-|02 |- {8420 |- |0 |ADVERTISING 315 - 500
01|-102 -|8504 - {0 {OFFICE EQUIPMENT 4,046 5,000 4,156
[ | 210,024 268,630 286,273
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2003-04 BUDGET

ASSESSING
Summary !
i Actual Budget Budget| Increase (Decrease)
! 2001-02 2002-03! 2003-04 Amount Percent
Personal services 142,707 189,280 1 211,210 21,930 11.59%
Other operating expenses i 63,271 74,350 | 70,907 (3,443) -4.63%|
Capital outlay ! 4,046 5,000 4,156 | (844) -16.88%
Total 210,024 268,630 286,273 17,643 6.57%
Wage adjustments and attrition 3,307 18.74
Employee benefit rate adjustments | 10,543 59.76
Assessing Coordinator in lieu of Administrative Assessing Assistant 5,045 28.59
Fifty-three weekly payrolls vs fifty-two E 3,035 17.20
Postage for mailing of assessment update notices i (3,740) (21.20)
Other minor changes - less than $2,500 I i (547) {3.09)
Total increase (decrease) ' I 17,643 100.00
Personnel
Budget Budget
2002-03 2003-04
Full-time: |
_Field Assessor 1 1]
Field Assessor 1 1
Administrative Assessor 1 1
Administrative Assessing Assistant 1 -
~ Assessing Coordinator - 1]
Total full-time 4 4|
Part-time (excludes temporary help}: ' i
None - -
Total 4 | 4
I
Capital Qutiay
Copier 1,989
Computer workstations - 2 } 2,167
Total | 4,156
3/6/03
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2003-04 Municipal Operating Budget
03 - FIRE
[ L ! | i
1 l I |

] U_[' | Actual | Budget | Proposed
Account No. |Account Description | 2001-02 2002-03 | 2003-04

61 1-103 |-18102 [- [0 WAGES-CLERICAL | 29,289 30,496 | 32,288
011-1031-18103 - |0 [WAGES-SUPERVISORY | 698,260 | 747737 | 790,404
311-[03 - |8104 |- |0 [WAGES-HOURLY \ 1,121,497 | 1,235,168 | 1,338,845
011-1031-[8105 - |0 |OVERTIME-SUPERVISORY | 102,510 | 114,146 | 130,760
011-1031- (8107 |- |0 [WAGES - PART-TIME 1 86,248 | 113791 | 140,936
01.-103|-|8111]- 0 | OVERTIME-OTHER ] 239,794 | 247,565 | 276,453
011-103-[8125|- |0 |SOCIAL SECURITY 32,919 | 45,035 | 50,031
011-103|-8128-10 [RETIREMENT 145,630 | 161,193 | 342,514
011-103 -1813% |- |0 |HEALTH INSURANCE 323611 | 456,518 | 534,900
01 - |03 |-18132 |- 10 |DENTAL INSURANCE i 39,513 | 41,987 | 40,775
011-103 |- 18133 |- (0 |LIFE INSURANCE | 1,995 | 1,980 | 1,970
011-1031-18134 |- |0 |SHORT-TERM DISABILITY 13,484 | 15,414 | 15,414
011-103 - 8135 - |0 [WORKERS COMPENSATION [ 52,625 | 69.515 | 67,182
01 1-1031-18136 |- |0 [UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION | 765 1,230 | 858
01/-|03 - 8201 - |0 |OFFICE SUPPLIES ] 5,808 5,200 | 6,200
011103 |- [8202 |- |0 [MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES 4134 | 4,500 | 4,500
011-103]-18203 |- |0 [OPERATING SUPPLIES 14,332 | 18,000 | 15,000
01]-103- 8204 |- |0 [UNIFORMS 79,744 | 88,805 | 88,505
01(-]031-[8220- 10 [PRINTING | 620 | 500 | 650
01]-103|-|8230]- 0 |POSTAGE % 1,365 | 1,450% 1,450
011-103 |- 82411- 10 [ELECTRICITY 13678 16,510 17,006
-18242]- |0|GAS i 2,222 2,835 | 3,119 |
011-|03|-18243]- 10 |HEATING OIL | 6,221 7,600 ! 6,460
( -182441- 0 |WATER * 630 630 | 630
0 1SEWER 1 369 | 536 | 536

i 10,870 | 8,832 | 9,500

| 11,803 | 13,048 | 15,612

[0|DUES { 5,640 | 8,402 | 7,752

0 |GENERAL INSURANCE i 23,927 | 26,400 | 30,000

-|0 | TRAVEL & MEETINGS | 2,395 | 4,000 | 4,000

8321 |- |0 [MNTC-BUILDINGS/GROUNDS | 6150 | 10725 9,125

-0 [MNTC-MACHINERY/EQUIP 1,225 | 4,200 | 4,200

0 /MNTC-VEHICLES 34,337 40,000 | 40,000

18334 |- |0 [MNTC-OFFICE EQUIPMENT 2,683 | 3,000 | 9,015
18335 |- |0 IMNTC-COMMUNICATIONS EQUIP | 896 2,750 | 4,190

-78336- [0 [MNTC-OTHER ! 37911 3,500 | 4,600

18352 |- |0 [EDUCATION & TRAINING ; 31,100 | 52,250 | 58,200

-'8359 |- 0 [OUTSIDE SERVICES l - 200 | 200

|-|8406 |- |0 [EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT i 11,598 | 60,006 | 30,461
01]-[03]-18408 |- 0|RESCUE \ 84 | 1,000 | 1,000
01|-[03 - 8420 - [0 |ADVERTISING [ 190_11_ 750 | 750
01]-[03|-|8458 |- |0 [PHYSICAL EXAMS il 909 | 17,900 | 23,100
01103 |- {8502 - {0 |BUILDINGS | - 12,000 ! 4,200
01]-103[-18503 - [0 |VEHICLES | 400 | 5,000 | 5,000
01- |03 |- 8504 - |0 |OFFICE EQUIPMENT | 8617 | 11,500 | 5,100
01 |- 03 |-|8506 |- |0 [COMMUNICATIONS EQUIPMENT | 18,899 | 7,700 | 5,200
011-103 - |8508 |- |0 [OPERATING EQUIPMENT | 100,033 | 50,150 | 62,650
01[-[03]-18510 - 0]CAPITAL RESERVE FUND | 368,000 | 212,000 | 210,000
T 1] a8 | Wﬁ.?ﬁﬁﬁ
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2003-04 BUDGET
FIRE R
5 | | l [
Summary ! f i !
i Actuai _ Budget; Budget| Increase (Degrease) |
Personal services | 2888140 3281775 3,763,330 481555 | 14.67%

Other operating expenses 276,721 | 403529 | 395761 (7.788)]  -1.93%
Capital outlay 495949 | _ 208,350 ' __ 292 450 — (6200} -2.08%

\
I L <20, —dals 0.2l %
Total | 3660810 3983654 | 44512411 467587 11.74%
| ‘ |
Wage s lanation of Increase (Decreasel - ! |
Wage adjustments and attrition

| 123,480 26.41

AL

Total increase {decrease) '

| 467,587 | 100.00

T
! [

!

f
Employee benefit rate adjustments | ! | 252630 54.03
Part-time hours ! I _ 30,085 | 6.43
Overtime hours ! | | 24,148 516
Fifty-three weekly payrolls vs fifty-two | | l 41,173 | 8.81
Excess sick leave purchase I | | 7,202 i 1.5i
Duplicate health insurance incentive | | | r 2,837 ] 0.61
Biological and chemical threats I | ; | (29,618) (6.33)
Medical supplies and oxygen | f | | (3,000}  (0.B4)
Physical exams | ] ! [ 5,200 1.11
Education and training F ! i [ 5,950 1.27 |
Telephone l l l l\ 2,564 | 0.55
General insurance | ﬁ L | 3600 0.77
Computer and software maintenance J I 6,015 | 1.29
Capital outlay F] 1 | (8200) (1.33)
Other minar changes - less than $2.500 _ I l‘ T \ 1,521 032

|

|

[

i i i
Bersonnel ! _
| Budget |  Budget | i
| _ 200203  2003.04] | 1
Full-time: | | | | I
Fire Chief | 1] 11 I ]
Assistant Chief | 2] 2] | |
Captain | 4| 4] i l
Lieutenant ' 4] 4) l |
Fire Marshall 4 1] 1] [ |
Administrative Lieutenant | 1] 1] ] |
| Firefighter and Master Firefighter | 20§ 20 I |
_Firefighter/Paramedic | 8 8 | | {
Executive Secretary ‘ 1] 1] | !
| Total full-time 42 | 42 | ]
Part-time (excludes temporary and casual labor): | | |
Ambuiance Director ! 1 1] |
EMT-P ! 2 2
Fire Inspector | 2 2
Deputy Emergency Management Director | 1 1
Emergency Management Communications QOfficer r 1 1
Total part-time [ 71 7
Total ! 49| 49 | |
3/6/03
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200304 BUDGET
FIRE
Capital Qutlay
Central Station second floor painting 3,500
Central Station bathroom floor replacement 700
Defibrillator 19,000
Automatic tire chains for two fire trucks 5,000
Desktop computer 2,000
Portable radios 2,000
Minitors 3,200
Office furniture upgrade 1,500
Conference room chairs 600
Video camera 1,000
Air packs 20,000
Hose - 4" X 500' 5,000
Gated relief valve 650
Nozzles 3,000
Turnout gear drying systems 15,000
Transfer to Fire Equipment Capital Reserve Fund 200,000
Transfer to Ambulance Capital Reserve Fund 10,000
Total 292,150
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2003-04 Municipal Operating Budget

04 - POLICE
. 1 | l
! Actual Budget Proposed
AccountNo,  'Account Description 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04
01/-i04 |- 8102 - |0 [WAGES-CLERICAL 111,337 117,582 126,110
01 -,04 |- 18103 |- |0 |WAGES-SUPERVISORY i 577.906 607,451 648,039
01 |- |04 i-[8104 |- [0 [WAGES-HOURLY ; 1,410,465 1,492,449 1,547,704
01 - 04 !-18105]-.0 OVERTIME-SUPERVISORY \ 13,097 24,326 26,214
01 - 04 - 8106 |- .0 WAGES-ANIMAL CONTROL OFFICER | 32,025 30,346 31,738
011- .04 |- '8107 I- '0 WAGES - PART-TIME : 56,412 | 65,642 71,948
01|-.04 |- 8111 :-:0 IOVERTIME-OTHER 121,413 136,776 158,821
01 |- |04 |- 8125 ]- !0 ISOCIAL SECURITY 30,385 39,962 42,324
01!-104 |- 8128 |- :0 IRETIREMENT 123,956 133,338 202,033
01i-104 |- 8131 - ;0 :HEALTH INSURANCE 314,217 416,478 | 521,800
01 -:04]-{8132 |- [0 |DENTAL INSURANCE 39,729 39,338 43,400
01]-104 |- 8133 - |0 |[LIFE INSURANCE 1,933 1,980 1,970
01/-104{-[8134 |- 0 |[SHORT-TERM DISABILITY 14,371 15,414 | 15,414
01i-104 |- {8135 |- '0 (WORKERS COMPENSATION 27,803 32,890 | 30,954
01:- 04 |- 8136 |- .0 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 767 1,252 | 847
01}-:04 |- 8201 |- 0 ‘OFFICE SUPPLIES 6,064 7.245 7,480
01- .04 [-:8203 i- .0 .OPERATING SUPPLIES 12,762 13,600 9,294
011-i04 |- 8204 ;- .0 ,UNIFORMS 35,132 34,450 35,200
011-]04 |- |8220-:0 :PRINTING 2,776 2,600 2,900
01/-|{04 - 18230 |- 0 |POSTAGE 2,040 2,000 1,840
01]- |04 [- 8250 - 0 :VEHICLE FUEL 31,132 25,920 29,700
01/-.04]-:8270 - 0 DUES 1,452 ! 660 1,410
01 |- 04 |- 18280 |- |0 (GENERAL INSURANCE 62,157 : 69,300 | 74,000
01|- |04 |- 8300 |- .0 |TRAVEL & MEETINGS 864 i 1,350 1,350
011-104 |- 8332 |- .0 MNTC-VEHICLES 25,946 ! 25,000 27,000
01:-104 - (8334 |- 0 MNTC-OFFICE EQUIPMENT 5,436 ! 5,523 4,886
01.-'04]-:8335 |- 0 MNTC-COMMUNICATIONS EQUIP 1,152 5,000 ! 3,000
01:- 04 |-18352 |-:0 EDUCATICN & TRAINING 17,153 | 25,400 | 26,400
011-:04 |- 8420 1- 0 'ADVERTISING 633 | 300 - 300
01]-.04 - 8430 |-.0 DOG POUND 3,746 | 6,050 ! 6,072
01!-104 |- 8432 i- |0 .OUTSIDE DETAILS 293,423 | 218,729 | 331,520
01 |-:04 .- 8460 |- |0 MISC OPERATING EXPENSES 34,155 3,300 3,300
01]-|04 |- |8503 |- 10 \VEHICLES 186,434 98,800 | 102,800
01{-]04[-[8504 |- |0 |OFFICE EQUIPMENT 5733 2,700 | 5,100
0104 [-[8508 i- 10 IOPERATING EQUIPMENT 37,148 | 600 ! -
36|-[04 |-[8433 |- 0 .DARE 9,719 ! 9,368 | 7.375
| | ] 3,650,873 | 3,713,119 | 4,150,243
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2003-04 BUDGET

POLICE
|
C_ Summay '

Actual Budget Increase (Decrease) |
| 2001-02 2002-03 Amount; _ Percent
Personal services 2,875,816 3,155,224 314,092 9,95%
Other operating expenses 455,795 -]m 25.72%)|
Capital outlay __ 220,31 2.10C _____ 5800 5.68%|
Total 3650873 | 3,713,119 , 437124 M77%

' I
~~Explapation of Increase {Decrease) _=—
Wage adjustments and aftriion  _ =—— 118,160 27.03
Employee benefit rate adjustments ‘ | 147,057 | 3364 |
Part-ime hours w 4156 | 0.95
Excess sick leave purchase , (3.253) {0.74)
Fitty-three weekly payrolls vs fifty-two —— 44,501 10.18
Duplicate health insuranca incentive _—— (4,443) (1.02)
Photography supplies __ (3,636) (0.83)
Vehicle fuel —_—-‘Eﬂ 0.86 |
———-ﬂm 1.08
112,791 2580

General insurance
Police outside traffic details =
Capital outlay ] 5,800 1.33
Other minor changes - less than $2,500 _ _ (403) {0.09)
Total increase (decrease) _—— 437,124 100.00
- -
_I_/M
| T A -1 D N
— g s [ |
Full-time: ——_
Police Chief _l_l__
Doy Chiet R | S | B W
“Captain —‘_
Detacive Liswenart — 1
prosscutor Levtenart ——
_Patrol Lieutenant -I-I__

Community Services Officer N A §

“Sergeant
_Detective First
Master Patrolman and Patrolman

“Animal Gontral Officer 1]

‘Secretary |
_Office Manager S N § N
Soaitine S i — —

" Total full-time

Bartiime (excludes temporary and casual labor): ——
School Crossing Guard -I-l__
Animal Controf Officer — ] ]

Clek Typist e  po— R
Totl partime — st s

Total _ﬂ-ﬂ_ i
— Capital Qutlay ]

Patrof cruisers - 3_ m——

Sport utility vehicle -4 X 4

Emerency fights for cruiser
Computer equipment -m_

| Printer 600
Total 107,900

3/6/03



2003-04 Municipal Operating Budget
) 05 - COMMUNICATIONS
- - Budget Proposed
2002-03 2003-04

01 37,402 | 39,577 40,485
01/-]o5[-I8104]- 150,317 197,154 208,946
01/-05/- 18105 | 1,940 | 3,682 | 3,725
01-05 |- 18107 |- |0 WAGES - PART-TIME ! 4,976 | 6,838 6,838 |
01-105]-18111]- |0 /OVERTIME-OTHER 4 11,970 | 11,267 | 12,216
011106 - 18125 |- 10 [SOCIAL SECURITY ;‘ 15,849 19,777 20,824
01]- 8128 -10 12,584 13,269

105 - 0 |RETIREMENT , 10,082 |
01 lm:-ma 80,400
01- 105 |- 8132 |- |0 DENTAL INSURANCE 3,604 6,273 5,775
o7.i051- 8133 |- O[LIFEINSURANCE _~ | 274 | 360 360
o1 EEI 29%
01/-/05 |- 18135 |- 10 WORKERS COMPENSATION , 374

01 -105[-[8136 |- 0 [UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION — — 146 | 213 142 |
01]-105,-18201 |- '0 [OFFICE SUPPLIES ! 1611 1,500 1,500

01 - 05 - 18203 |- '0 . OPERATING SUPPLIES , 361 | 700 700 |
01]- 105 |- 8204 |- /0 [UNIFORMS 2,272 | 3,300 | 3,300
01 |- 05 |- /8220 |- |0 |PRINTING | 437 150 | 400
01-,05 - /8260 |- |0  TELEPHONE i 14,296 | 15,828 | 16,304
01/-105 |- 18270 |- 10| DUES AND FEES J 4,112 | 250 - -
01 /- /05 |- /8280 |- 0 (GENERAL INSURANCE 1,029 | 1,400 1,200
01/-/05 |- 18321 - |0 BUILDING MAINTENANCE - 350 350
0105 |- 18334 |- 0 IMNTC-OFFICE EQUIPMENT , 15,193 | 18,560 18,760 |
01,-105 |- 18335 |- 10 [MNTC-COMMUNICATIONS EGUIP 2,682 4,000 4,000
01 - |05 |- ;8352 |- [0 IEDUCATION & TRAINING | 699 1,000 1,000
01)- 05 |- 18506 |- 0 [COMMUNICATIONS EQUIPMENT [ 3,938 - -
01|- |05 - 8510 |- "0 |CAPITAL RESERVE FUND 5 35.000 35,000 | 25,000

1] ! 352,250 452,806 468,804
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2003-04 BUDGET
COMMUNICATIONS
Summary
Actual Budget Budget| Increase {Decrease)
2001-02 2002-03 2003-04| Amount; Percent
Personal services 270,620 370,768 396,290 25522 5.88%
Other operating expenses 42,692 47,038 47,514 476 1.01%
Capital outlay 38.938 35,000 25000 | _(10:000)| -28.57%
Total 352,250 452,806 468,804 1 15,998 3.53%
Explanation of Increase (Decrease)
Wage adjustments and attrition © (6467) (40.42)
Employee benefit rate adjustments i 13,913 86.97
Duplicate health insurance incentive | 12,382 77.40
Fifty-three weekly payrolis vs fifty-two 5,101 31.89
Overtime hours 593 an
Transfer to capital reserve fund (10,000)| (62.51)
Other minor changes - less than $2,500 476 296
Total increase (decrease) 15,998 100.00
Personnel
Budget Budgst
£2002-03 2003-04
Full-time:
Assistant Communications Supervisor 1 1
Dispatcher 7 7
Total full-time 8 8
Part-time (excludes temporary and casual labor) - -
Total 8 8
Capital Outlay
Transfer to capital reserve fund 25,000
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2003-04 Municlpal Operating Budget
07 - PUBLIC WORKS ADMINISTRATION

|

|
! Actual Budget Proposed
AccountNo.  |Account Description 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04
01]-:07 -[8102 I- ‘0 [WAGES-CLERICAL 1 34114 35,412 37,524
01 |-,07 [- 18103 I- .0 [WAGES-SUPERVISORY i 80,276 83,548 87,754
01[-:07 [- 8107 - .0 |WAGES - PART-TIME i - 1,390 1,390
011-107 i- /8111 |- 0 |OVERTIME-OTHER | 85 - -
01-107i- 8125 |- |0 [SOCIAL SECURITY ; 8,757 8,966 9,472
01|- 107 |- /8128 |- [0 |RETIREMENT ‘ 10,619 10,291 14,813
01]-107 [-[8131 |- |0 [HEALTH INSURANCE : 18,302 25,440 30,800
011-107 |-[8132 - |0 IDENTAL INSURANCE I 2,450 2,452 2,450
01-.07 [-18133 |- [0 [LIFE INSURANCE | 143 144 140
01-.07 |- i8134 |- 0 ISHORT-TERM DISABILITY ; 649 734 734
01][-:07 |- 18135 |- 0 IWORKERS COMPENSATION i 876 1,058 994
01]- 07 |-:8136 j- .0 [UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 24 52 35
01 - 07 [-18201 i- ;.0 |OFFICE SUPPLIES 1,953 2,000 2,240
01[- 07 |- {8220 |- .0 [PRINTING | - 500 500
01 - |07 |-{8230 |- 0 |[POSTAGE | 17 25 25
01 |- |07 |- [8260 |- '0 [TELEPHONE | 2,433 2,400 2,480
011-]07 |- [8270 |-.0 |DUES | 1,419 1,255 1,422
011-107 I- [8280 |- 10 IGENERAL INSURANCE ! 749 800 700
01]- |07 !- |8300 |- {0 [ TRAVEL & MEETINGS ; 1,378 700 700
01 - |07 - [8334 |- .0 [MNTC-OFFICE EQUIPMENT : 401 295 400
01i-,07 -18351 |- 0 CONSULTANTS | 2,649 5,000 5,000
01:-107 '- 18352 |- .0 EDUCATION & TRAINING | 807 1,200 1,200
01- 07 i- |8420 |- .0 /ADVERTISING [ 308 1,000 1,000
01- 07 i- 8460 |- .0 MISC OPERATING EXPENSES ! - | 100 100
01}- 07 |- 18504 i- .0 |OFFICE EQUIPMENT i - 1,000 100
01]- 071-:8510 - 0 CAPITAL RESERVE FUND ; 100,000 100,000 100,000
] Bl 268,409 285,762 301,973

3/13/03

281




2003-04 BUDGET

PUBLIC WORKS ADMINISTRATION

l

l

|

Actual| Budget| Budget\

Personal services

2001-02 2002-03 |
156,295 169,487 186, 106 16, 619 9. 81%

Other operating expenses 12,114 | 15,275 15,767

|

4921  322%

Qapital outlay
Total

__mM 100,100 ___(aQQ) -0.89%
268,409 285,762 301,973 16,211 5.67%

" Explapation of Increase (Decrease)

I
|

Wage adjustments and attrition

Employee benefit rate adjustments

Excess sick leave purchase

4201 2591
9420 58.11
307 218

Flfty-three weekly payrolls vs fifty-two

2648 | 1633

Other minor changes - less than $2,500

Total increase {decrease)

(@08) _ (2.59)
16,211 | 100.00

1

|

ll
J._
|

l

l

\

_H Budget | Budget |

Full-time: |
Public Works Director 1] 1]
“Office Manager I ) — |

~Total full-time

Pan-time (excludes temp

Total

Computer equipment

Total

i

3/6/03
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2003-04 Municipal Operating Budget '
08 - HIGHWAY
NN ! | r
T T ] [ | .
[ | I [T | Actual | Budget | Proposed
Account No, IAmunlD_aammu I 2001432_]_ 2002-03 2003-04
01]-]08]-T8102 |- [0 ' WAGES-CLERICAL | 30,139 31,304 33,178 |
01|-]08]- /8103 |- |0 |WAGES-SUPERVISORY & PROF | 174,436 | 251,108 | 258,937
01 - 108 [-[8104 |- |0 . WAGES-HOURLY ! 559,512 | 623,883 | 656,799 |
01)-108 - 18105 |- 0/ OVERTIME-SUPERVISORY & PROF i 9,438 | 13,227 | 13,223
01/-108]-18107 - [0 IWAGES - PART-TIME I 648 | 18,965 27,765 |
01)-108-18111-10 | OVERTIME-QOTHER [ 57,004 53,982 | 57,334
01l-108]-T&125]- [0 'SOCIAL SEGURITY ! 63.626 | 75,925 | 80,114
01.-1081-18123 |- {0 RETIREMENT ' 17.628 | 21616 26,804
01]-1081- (8131 [-|0 {HEALTH INSURANCE ‘ 150,839 | 246,872 | 296,500
01]-108]-|8132 |- |0 [DENTAL INSURANGE A 17,500 | 21,548 | 21,350
01-,08 - 8133 [- [0 [LIFE INSURANGE 1 1,009 | 1,197 | 1,190
01]-108 |- 18134 |- |0 [SHORT-TERM DISABILITY i 5,501 | 9,175 | 9,175
01 - |08 |- 18135 |- [0 | WORKERS COMPENSATION i 29,321 | 42,676 | 40,172 |
01]- /08 |- 18136 |- |0 UNEMPLOVMENT COMPENSATION | 369 | 657 | 456
01/-|08 |- [8201 |0 |OFFICE SUPPLIES I 1,758 | 1,787 | 1,759
01]-/08 |- 8202 |- [0 MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES ] 679 | 706 | 800 |
01-[08]-18203 |- |0 |OPERATING SUPPLIES | 8,787 : 8.046 | 8,046
[01 - /08]- (8204 - |0 [UNIFORMS | 12,457 | 14,430 | 15,024
01]-]08]-18212]- [0 EQUIPMENT RENTAL i 2,744 | 3,788 | 4,067
01]-|08 - 18220 - 10 PRINTING i 89 | 611 | 489
01]-108]-[82411-10 ELECTRICITY [ 9,348 | 11,398 | 9,628
01] o8] (8242] 0 GAS | 5162 10,079 | 5.678 |
01)-108)-[8243 |- 0 HEATING OIL ! 553 1 400 | 340
- 18244 |- [0 "WATER I 699 | 500 | 500
-10 [SEWER I 268 | 268 268 |
01-08 |- 8250 |- 0 |VEHICLE FUEL \ 30,370 | 38,638 36,000
01/-108 |- 18260 |- {0 | TELEPHONE f 3,029 | 3,984 | 3,700
01,-108|-:8270]- |0 |DUES i 419 | 1,005 | 805
01]-108 |- 8280 |- |0 |GENERAL INSURANCE | 18,564 20,600 | 23,500
01 ]-108 |- [8300 |- |0 [TRAVEL & MEETINGS | 66 500 | 500
01]-08 |- 8321 |- |0 MNTC-BLILDINGS/GROUNDS | 11,250 25,620 | 20,300
01-]08 [-18322 |- 10 [MNTG-GROUNDS | 30,462 4.000 | 13,233
01]-/08|-18333 |- [0 MNTC-VEHICLES/EQUIP | 45,260 | 74,504 70,673
01]-108 |- [8334 |- |0 MNTC-OF FICE EQUIPMENT i 620 ! 1,543 | 1,412
01 /-108 |- 18335 |- |0 'MNTC COMMUNICATIONS EQUIP | 510 | 281 | 207
01]-108 |- 18341 |- [0/SALT & SAND | 164,198 | 128,000 | 125,842
101 - 108 |- 18342 |- 0 [COLD PATCH t 1,116 | 2,123 | 1,966
01]-.08 |- 8344 .10 [HOT ToOP ] 6.503 | 9,000 | 7.681
01/-'08 |- /8346 |- 0 |ROAD MNTC MATERIAL i 32,401 ¢ 22,578 | 21432
01-108 |- /8348 [- 0 :DRAINAGE MAINTENANCE | 14,412 15,000 | 15,600
01 |- 108 |- '8351 |- |0 CONSULTANTS ! - 12,000 | 37,000
01)-108 |- [8352 |- [0 .[EDUCATION & TRAINING [ 1,580 | 2,400 2,400
01)-108 |- 8354 |- [0 | TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES 7123 ] 8,307 8,307
01]-/08]- 18359 - /G | OTHER OUTSIDE SERVICES 172,976 | 75,020 88,520
01]-[08]-|4361]-16 STREET LIGHTS 64,389 81,758 68,605
01]-1081- 8362~ [0 | TRAFFIC SIGNALS 6,995 9,708 8,496
01]-]08[-18371]-10 |MERRIMACK YOUTH ASSOCIATION - 38,950 66,919
01]- [08]- 8382]- 10| TREE SERVICE 5,650 4,583 5.068
01-/08 |- 8383 |- [0 [CONTRAGCTUAL SNOW PLOWING 5,037 12,734 9.410
01]-108|-[8386 |- |0 |BRIDGE REPAIRS -1 1,000 1,000
01]-:08]-/8404 [- 10 {DPERATION BRIGHTSIDE 4,232 | 17,173 11,630
01]-108 |-18420 |- [0 |ADVERTISING 1,817 | 2710 2,766
01/-108 |- 18440 |- |0 [GRAVE EXCAVATION 3s0 ~ 700 700
01/-:08 |- 8460 [- .0 [MISCELLANEOUS EXPENSES | 176 250 250
01]-[081-18502 - .0 ;BUILDINGS [ 8,435 - -
[01] ﬂ-iasm |- |0 |OFFICE EQUIPMENT | 875 1,500 1,500
01-:08 |- /8505 [- |0 [INFRASTRUCTURE [ 455,369 420,000 | 385,000
01 |- 08 |- 18508 |10 [OPERATING EQUIPMENT | 928 - | -
j01)- 108 |- 18510]- |0 [CAPITAL RESERVE FUND | 824.009 | 624.000 721.000
[ Pl | 3,078,626 3,124 512 3,330,409

313/03
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2003-04 BUDGET

HIGHWAY
]
Summary

Actual Budget Budget! Increase {Decrease)
200102 2002-03 2003-04| Amount; Percent|

Personal services 1,116,870 1,412,135 1,522,997 110,862 7.85%
Other gperating expenses 672,049 666,877 699,912 33,035 4.95%
Capital outlay 1,289.607 | _1.045.500 | _1,107.500 62.000 5.93%
Total 3078626 | 3,124,512 3,330,409 | 2053897 6.59%

Explanation of increase (Decrease)

Wage adjustrments and attrition 19,540 9.49

Employee benefit rate adjustments 54,182 26.32

Excess sick leave purchase 713 0.35

Fifty-three weekly payrolls vs fifty-two 18,884 9.17

QOvertime hours 682 0.33

| Duplicate health insurance incentive 6,962 3.38 |
Part-time hours 9,899 481
Portable toilets at parks and fields ‘ 3,500 1.70
Gas heat (4,401) (2.14)
Vehicle fuel : (2,638) (1.28)
General insurance 2,900 1.41
Solid waste disposal at Town buildings and facilities (7,500) {3.64)
Parks and athletic field maintenance 8,533 414
Maintenance of MYA buildings and fields 27,969 1358
Vehicle maintenance (3,831) (1.86)
Engineering re: mandated storm water permit 25,000 12.14
Street sweeping 10,000 4.86
| Street fight electricity (11.653) (5.66)
Contractual snow plowing (3.324) (1.61)
Operation Brightside {5.543) (2.69)
Capital outlay 62,0600 30.11
L Other minor changes - less than $2,500 (5,977) {2.91)

Total increase 205,897 100.00

Personnel

Budget Budget
2002-03 200304
Full-time:
Secretary 1 1
Assistant Public Works Director 1 1
Highway Division Coordinator 1 1
Public Works Inspector - -
Foreman 3 3
Public Works Maintainer 3 3
Equipment Operator |li 2 2
Equipment Operater li 2 2
Equipment Operator | 12 12
Total full-time 25 |- 25
Part-time (excludes temporary and casual labor) - -
Totat 25 25

356103



2003-04 BUDGET
B HIGHWAY
Capital Qutiay ! |
[ Budget Budget

_ | 200203 200304 i
Windsor Drive reconstruction i - 75,000 !
Computer equipment and software 1.500 | 1,500
Twardowsky Field irrigation system ! - 10,600
Twardowsky Field dugouts - 2 | - 10,000 i
Martel Field dugouts - 2 : - 10,000
Hancock Lane retaining wall i - 5,000
Pavement overlay program 275,000 275,000 :
Bridge Replacement Capital Reserve Fund 25,000 57,000
Road Improvements Capital Reserve Fund | 215,000 225,000 o
Highway Equipment Capital Reserve Fund 175,000 175,000
| Sidewalk/Bike Path Capital Reserve Fund . 30,000 30,000 !
DW Highway Capital Reserve Fund : 38,000 53,000
Salt Shed Capital Reserve Fund ! 56,000 | 56,000
Drainage Capital Reserve Fund [ 50,000 90,000
Playground Equipment Capital Reserve Fund i 35.000 35,000
Other ; 145,000 -
Total . 1,045500 1 1,107,500

3/6/03
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2003-04 Municipal Operating Budget
09 - SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL
Actual Budget Proposed
Account No, Account Description 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04

34 [-[09]-[8103 |- [0 [WAGES-SUPERVISORY 69,298 72,208 79,459
34 |-109 |- |8104 |- |0 |WAGES-HOURLY 91,172 146,096 112,486
34 |- |09 |- 8105 |- |0 [OVERTIME-SUPERVISORY 5,634 4,514 4,200
34 - 109 |-18107 |- |0 [WAGES - PART-TIME 11,798 4679 4,768
34 .09 |- 8111 |- [0 [OVERTIME-OTHER 33,088 18,686 15,406
34 |- |09 |- (8125 |- |0 [SOCIAL SECURITY 17,073 18,832 16,549
34 |-109]- {8128 - |0 [RETIREMENT 3,783 3,836 4,183
34 |- 109 |- [8131 j- [0 [HEALTH INSURANCE 22,991 44287 45,900
34 |-[09]-18132 |- |0 [DENTAL INSURANCE 3,303 4,504 3,938
34 - |09 |- 8133 [- |0 [LIFE INSURANCE 108 288 240
34 |-|09 - 8134 |- |0 [SHORT-TERM DISABILITY 1,256 2,202 1,835
34 |-|09 - 8135 |- |0 [WORKERS COMPENSATION 5,833 8,062 6,318
34 |- 109 |- (8136 |- |0 [UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 88 158 106
34 |- 09 |- 18201 |- {0 |OFFICE SUPPLIES 489 300 300
34 |- |09 |- |8202 |- [0 [MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES . 200 200
34 |- |09 - 8203 |- |0 |OPERATING SUPPLIES 4,427 3,500 2,000
34 |- 109 |- [8204 |- [0 [UNIFORMS 2,517 3,530 3,295
34 (- |09 |- (8212 i- [0 [EQUIPMENT RENTAL 45 858 700 100
34 {-]09]-18220 |- |0 [PRINTING ! 966 2,300 2,300
34|-[09]-[8230- |0 JPOSTAGE ' - 2,991 2,991
34 |-|09 - 8241 |- |0 |ELECTRICITY 8,568 11,184 11,184
34 |- 109 |- |8250 |- |0 {VEHICLE FUEL 21,480 22,068 11,858
34 [- 109 (- (6260 |- [0 [TELEPHONE 722 1,505 1,505
34(-]09 |- [8270 |- |0 |DUES 7.898 8,445 12,199
34 |-109 |- 8280 |- |0 |GENERAL INSURANCE 3,119 3,500 4,000
34 (- |09 - [8293 - {0 [LEGAL 497 - -
34 |-109 |- |8300 |- [0 [TRAVEL & MEETINGS 1,594 500 500
34 |- |09 |- 8321 |- 10 [MNTC-BUILDINGS/GROUNDS 4,019 500 500
34 |- |00 |- 18322 |- |0 [MAINTENANCE-GROUNDS 768 600 300
34 - 09 |- 8333 i- |0 [MNTC-VEHICLES & EQUIPMENT 24,903 15,000 | 7,500
34 |- |09 - 18334 |- {0 [MNTC-OFFICE EQUIPMENT 815 1,200 1,200
341-109 |- |8335 |- |0 [MNTC-COMMUNICATIONS EQUIP - 200 200 |
34 |- |09 |- |8347 |- |0 .COVER MATERIAL 77.821 60,000 96,000
34 - 09 |- 8352 [- |0 |[EDUCATION & TRAINING - 300 300
34 |-|091- 18356 |- 10 [SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL - - 1,066,000
34 |- 109 |- (8359 |- |0 {OTHER OUTSIDE SERVICES 10,496 5,565 31,712
34 |- 09 |- (8370 |- |0 [WELL TESTING 19,537 25,000 25,000
34 .00 |- 8388 |- |0 [SPECIAL WASTE DISPOSAL 37,848 19,500 46,250
34 |- |09 - 8420 |- {0 [ADVERTISING 1,228 750 750
34 |- |09 |- |8505 |- |0 INFRASTRUCTURE 326,409 - 250,000
34 [-109 |- [8510 |- |0 [CAPITAL RESERVE FUND 50,000 50,000 25,000 |

| 567,688 | 1,898,532
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2003-04 BUDGET
SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL
! \ | !
Summary ! l | |
[ Actual| Budget Budget| Ingrease (Decrease)
Personal services | 266,475 | 328,350 295,388 | (32,962)| -10.04%
Other operating expenses | 275570 189,338 1,328,144 | 1,138,806 ! 601.47%
Capital outlay (376400 i 50000 _ 275000 | _ 225000 | 450.00%
Total | 918454 567,688 | 1,898,532 h,sao.a&i | 234.43%
: | i |
Explanation of increase (Decrease) [ ; | _
Wage adjustments and attrition . ; : ‘ 5,896 0.44
Employee benefit rate adjustments i . ; 7,216 0.54
Excess sick leave purchase 194 0.01
Fifty-three weekly payrolls vs fifty-two : , . 3,260 ; 024
Staff reduction due to landfill closure ! | (48,063) (3.61)
Duplicate health insurance incentive : \r 2,959 | 022
Overtime hours i . . (4,424) (0.33)
Regional Solid Waste District dues ! [ | 3.754 | 028
Temporary solid waste relocation services , ] | 25000 188
Tire remaval : - 3,500 0.26 |
Construction and demolition waste disposal 1 20,000 1.50
Stump removal 1 7,000 0.53
Disposal of other special solid waste | ; 2,750 | 021
Winter dump and active area mawing ! 3,700 0.28
Vector management study : \ I (2,500) (0.19)
Cover material | [ ! 36.000 21N
Increase in other operating costs due primarily to landfill closure and remote disposal | 1,039,602 78.12
Bulky waste loading area ~ 250,000 18.79
Other capital outlay | __(25,000) (1.88)
Total increase {decrease) | 1,330,844 100.00 |
Personpel i
Budget Budget 2003-04
2002-03| July - Dec! Jan - June
Full-time: !
Foreman/Supervisor 1 1 1
Secretary/Scale Operator 1 1 1
Equipment Operator (l| 2 2 1
Recycling Attendant 2 2 1
Total full-time | 6 6 41
Part-time (excludes temporary and casual labor); ! - ol -
Total i 61 6 | 4
l ' ! i
Capital Outlay ! |
Transfer to capital reserve fund 25,000
Bulky waste loading area — 250,000
Total 275,000
3/6/03
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2003-04 Municipal Operating Budget
10 - WASTEWATER TREATMENT
HINIE |
e l
| | [T Actual | Budget Proposed
AccountNo.  |Account Description 2001-02 | 2002-03 2003-04
31]-[10]-[8102]-[0 [WAGES-CLERICAL 36,942 | 38,116 | 40,786
311-110]-18103 -|6|WAGES-SUPERVISORY & PROF 383,022 | 395,723 | 419,816
31]- |10 |- 8104 |- [0 WAGES-HOURLY 570,803 | 604,594 626,815
311-[161- 18105 - 0| OVERTIME-SUPERVISORY & PROF 39,149 55,095 57,306
31-110]- 8107 |- |0 [WAGES - PART-TIME - 1,390 1,390
311.|10]-[8111|- |0 [OVERTIME-OTHER 45,410 53,356 59,381
31|-|10 - |B8125 |- |0 |SOCIAL SECURITY 82,475 87,843 92,205
31|-10]- |8128]- |0 ;RETIREMENT 31,744 28,104 49,623
31]-[101-[8131{- |0 HEALTH INSURANCE 160,691 | 227,558 261,700
311-110|- 8132 |- |0 ,DENTAL INSURANCE 18,451 | 19,236 | 18,025
[317-110]-18133]- 10 |LIFE INSURANCE 1,073 | 1,107 | 1,100
31/-]10]-/8134/- |0 [SHORT-TERM DISABILITY 6,582 8,441 | 8.441
31]-110]-|8135 - |0 WORKERS COMPENSATION 8,180 10,586 | 9,853
311-[101-18136- 0|UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 368 556 | 371
31.-110|- |8201 |- |0|OFFICE SUPPLIES 3,016 3,080 3,060
31]-110|-|8202]- |0 IMAINTENANCE SUPPLIES 6,597 5879 5,879
31]-]10]-[8203]- [0 | OPERATING SUPPLIES 2,312 2,700 2,700
31)-110|-|8204 |- [0 [UNIFORMS 9,758 11,080 11,330
31]-|10|-18205 - |0 [LABORATORY SUPPLIES 22,480 21,996 22,500
311-110(-|8212|- |0 |EQUIPMENT RENTAL 2,734 2,900 | 2,900
31|-|10|-18230]- |0 |POSTAGE _ 79 242 242
31]-[10]- 8241 .- 10 ELECTRICITY 388,500 422,989 422,989
31]-[10]-[8242]-|0|GAS 51,471 65.975 78,975
31]-]10|-182431- 0/HEATING OIL 878 1,472 1,380
311-110]-[8244 |- O |WATER 4773 4811 4,811
31|-|10|-|8245/- |0 [SEWER 36,369 54,861 54,861
31]-|101- |8250 |- |0 [VEHICLE FUEL 14,323 15,456 16,510
31!-110|- 8260]- [0 [TELEPHONE 8,138 7450 8,050
31]-|10[-18270]- 10 |DUES 494 2,065 2,065
31]-[10 - 8280 - |0 |GENERAL INSURANCE 28,321 31,400 37,300
34 - [10|- |8293 |- |0 [LEGAL-GENERAL LITIGATION - 10,000 10,000
311-|10]-18300(- 0| TRAVEL & MEETINGS 1,122 3,000 3,000
311-110|-18311]- [0|CHEMICALS 88,040 75,409 89,048
31|-110-|8316 (- 10 [BULKING AGENT 110,004 141,143 120,000
31]-110]-18321 - |0 [MNTC-BUILDINGS/IGROUNDS 4,175 4,120 4,120
311-110]-18322]- [0 [MNTC-GROUNDS 862 600 800
31]-110]-18331]- |0 IMNTC-MACHINERY/EQUIP 96,847 95,739 97,739
31[-|10 - 8332- [0 [MNTC-VEHICLES 12,710 11,700 11,700
31-|10|- 8334 |- [0 [MNTC-OFFICE EQUIPMENT 1,063 3,610 3,610
311-1101- 18335 - |0 [MNTC-COMMUNICATIONS EQUIP - 250 250
311-110|-|8351]- |0 [CONSULTANTS 3.911 29,000 5,000
31|-|10|-|8352]- [0 |EDUCATION & TRAINING 988 7.180 4,380
31]-[10|-18359]- |0 JOTHER OUTSIDE SERVICES 204,399 221,351 220,081
31 -110]-|8381 |- |10 [MNTC-SEWERS 1,545 9,000 9,000
31]-|10]- 8420 |- |0 [ADVERTISING 83 700 700
311-110 - |8460]- |0 [MISC OPERATING EXPENSES 9.971 12,000 12,000
31}-|10|-|8502|- |0 [BUILDINGS 4,154 - -
31]-|10]- |8504 - |0 |OFFICE EQUIPMENT 4,209 5,000 5,000
31-|10[-|8508]-|0 OPERATING EQUIPMENT 17,610 15,500 -
i | 2,526,836 2,831,343 2,918,592
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2003-04 BUDGET

WASTEWATER TREATMENT
- ! | i i
Summary .’ ! J' | ‘
| Actual| Budget| Budget| Increase (Decrease) 1

| 2001-02] 200203 2003.04 ‘Amount| Percent

Personal services © 1,384,800 1,531,705 1,646,612
Other operating expenses ! 1,115,973 i 1,279,138 | 1,266,980

73 (12,158)
Capital outiay 28913 20500, 5000 _ (isc00) rseiy, .
Total i 2,526,836 | 2,831,343 | 2,918,592 87,249 3.08%
' : | |

! i !

Wage adjustments and attrition : ? : 20362 | 2334
Va ! i

Employee benefit rate adjustments ; 1 J 65,262 74.80
Excess sick leave purchase i i | 2,824 3.24

Fifty-three weekly payrolis vs fifty-two | ] 20,967 24.03

Overtime hours ! ! 5,492 6.29
i
I
i

|

|
Gas heat for bio-filters i |‘ 13,000 14.90
General insurance | 5,800 6.76
Chemicals ! ! ] 13639 | 1563

Sawdust bulking ) agent for sludge production and compoesting | l (21,143) (24.23)
‘ \ (9.000) (10.32)

Storm water pollution prevention plan
EMS accredited auditor training i ! (2,800) {3.21)

i
@gineering study re: increasing plant capacity i | (15,000) (17.19)

|
|
Capital outlay ‘ ! | (15,500)  (17.77)]
: |
|
i

Other minor changes - less than $2.500 [ 3248 373

Total increase (decrease) 87249 10000

;
\
!
‘
t
|
\
[
I

‘
i
i
!

] . Budget | Budget I !
: 2002-03, 2003-04| 1 |

' : i f

i

|

\

|

Full-time: ‘
Assistant Public Works Director i
“Chief Operator -
Assistant Chief Operator !
Laboratory Manager |
1
\

|
\ !
|

Industrial Wastewater Pretreatment Manager
Maintenance Manager
Sewer Inspector |
Secretary | i
Gperator ||
Operator H/Lab Technician
Operator |
Equipment Operator |1 !
Mechanic || 1
_Mechanic |
Total full-time
Part-time (exciudes temporary and casual labor):

Total

Am.hm_n_n..n_a_n_n-s—\_n_a

' 8‘—Lm.b.m.a_n_s_n_s_n_n..;_x_n

[ ¥]
(R

[+
(%]

N
[ ]

RId! AU | ;
Computer equipment | 5,000

3/6/03
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2003-04 Municipal Operating Budget

. 13 - PARKS & RECREATION
Actual Budget Proposed
Account Ne, Account Description 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04
01]-[13]- 18103 |- |0 |WAGES-SUPERVISORY 81,674 89,980 96,188
01]-[13]-18104 |- 10 \WAGES-HOURLY 24 927 25,000 27,424
011-|13[-|8107 |- |0 \WAGES - PART-TIME 82,806 105,568 101,339
01 |- |13]-[8111 - |0 |OVERTIME-OTHER 11,403 8,912 10,058
01[-113[-18125- .0 |SOCIAL SECURITY 15,726 17,554 17,977
01]-[13 |- |8128 |- |0 |RETIREMENT 6,769 6,922 7,425
01/]-{13-]8131 |- |0 |HEALTH INSURANCE 25,081 34,863 42200
011-113]-18132 |- |0 |DENTAL INSURANCE 3,132 3,135 3,150
01|-(13(- 8133 |- |0 |LIFE INSURANCE 195 207 200
011]-131-18134 |- |0 [SHORT-TERM DISABILITY 912 1,101 1.101
01]-{131]- 8135 |- [0 [WORKERS COMPENSATION 6,307 5,146 45658
o11-[13]- /8136 - [0 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 182 416 271
01i-|131-18201 |- |0 |OFFICE SUPPLIES 2,743 1,400 2,100
01 |- [13|-[8203 i- |0 |OPERATING SUPFPLIES 6,719 9,000 7,800
01 |- |131-18204 |- ;0 [UNIFORMS 943 650 800
011-]13 [-[8220|- |0 |PRINTING 623 1,850 1,250
01|-{13}-/8230!-'0 |\POSTAGE 412 500 500
01]-]13]-18241|- |0 [ELECTRICITY 20,266 24,000 24,850
01]-:113 |- [82421- 10 IGAS 647 850 800
01i-131-18243 |- |0 |[HEATING OIL 2,375 2,425 2,061
01][-113 |- |8244 |- |0 |WATER 1,800 1,800 1,800
01-|13|- 18245 - 10 |SEWER - 134 134
01[-[13]-18250]- |0 [VEHICLE FUEL 1,027 1,820 1,650
011-[13 |- (8260 |- |0 ;TELEPHONE 5754 6,255 4,380
01/|-113|- (8270 |- ;0 |DUES 1,755 750 750
01[-]13(-18280 |- |0 |GENERAL INSURANCE 7.513 8,300 8,200
011]-]13 - [8300 |- [0 | TRAVEL & MEETINGS 1,489 1,500 1,500
011-]131]-18321 |- |0 [MNTC-BUILDINGS/GRCUNDS 16,199 13,500 18,500
011-113]- (8331 |- |0 IMNTC-MACHINERY/EQUIP 289 250 300
01 |- 13- |8332 - |0 [MNTC-VEHICLES 787 1,600 1,000
011-113 |- 8334 |- |0 [MAINTENANCE-OFFICE EQUIPMENT 313 450 : 350
01]-]13 - 8352 - {0 |EDUCATION & TRAINING 552 1,200 850
011-[13]- (8359 |- |0 [OTHER OUTSIDE SERVICES 2,868 1,500 1,500
01]-1131]-[8371]-10 MERRIMACK YOUTH ASSOC 97,692 133,950 121,694
01 |-113!-18372 |- |0 |[FOURTH OF JULY 21,349 40,000 38,000
011-]13[- (8373 |- |0 [MEMORIAL DAY 500 500 1,000
01]- (13- 18374 |- |0 |RECREATION PROGRAMS 33,743 31,160 | 32,410
011-113 |- 18375 - 10 DAY CAMP 125,617 121,465 | 124,902
01/-[13]-18376 |- |0 |SENIOR CITIZENS 9,305 10,000 ; - 10,000
01(-113]-18377 |- 0 |ADULT COMMUNITY CENTER 14,263 15,908 16,463
01/[-|13|-,8420 -0 |ADVERTISING 832 1,500 1,200
01-13 |- |8502 |- |0 |IBUILDINGS 4,970 7,500 7,500
01 -113-|8504 |- .0 |OFFICE EQUIPMENT 288 1,800 1,000
01[-|{13]- 18505 |- |0 INFRASTRUCTURE 1,934 1,200 -
01|-[13]- 18510 |- |0 |CAPITAL RESERVE FUND 75,000 100,000 50,000
719,681 843,621 | 797,235
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2003-04 BUDGET
PARKS AND RECREATION
! j ] | ;
Summary J y | i
: Actuall Budget Budget!  Increase (Decrease)
Personal services 259,114 298,804 | 311,981 | 13,187 4.41%
Other operating expenses [ 378,375 434 317 | 426,744 | {7.573) -1.74%
Capital outlay — 82192 | 110500 |.__ 58500 {52.000) -47.06%
Total 719,681 | 843,621 797,235 {46,386) -5.50%
!‘ M
Explanation of Increase (Decrease) : |
Wage adjustments and attrition ‘ : ) 8,793 {18.96)
Employee benefit rate adjustments ‘ ! : i 6,644 : (14.32)
Part-time hours : 1 | (4.910) 10.59
Excess sick leave purchase | ! l (1.037) 2.28
Fifty-three weekly payrolls vs fifty-tw i i i 2665 | (5.75)
Overtime hours - | ! | ; 1,052 (2.27)
Merrimack Youth Association ; I | \ {12,256) 26.42
Day Camp | ' ! : 3437 | (7.41)]
Cabin maintenance ;' l 4,500 | {9.70)
Maintenance of other Wasserman park facilities | | 2,500 (5.39)
Fourth of July celebration i ! , (2,000) 431
Capital outlay ! | 1 (52.000)0  112.10
Other minor changes - less than $2,500 f ! ‘ {(3,754) 8.10
Total increase (decrease) \ i {46,386) 100.00
| ! | .
Personnel i | !
| Budget | Budget i
2002-03: 2003-04 i
Full-time: |
Parks & Recreation Director 1 1! :
Maintenance Supervisor 1 1 i
Secretary 1 1!
Total fulk-time B 3! 3
Part-time (excludes temporary and casual labaor) ‘ - - 1
Total ! 3 3! l )
| ! |
Capital Outlay [ ;
Dock and raft replacement { 7,500 |
Computer equipment 1,000 i |
Transfer to Athletic Field Capital Reserve Fund 50,000 ; | {
Total 58,500 | | |
3/6/03
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2003-04 Municipal Operating Budget
15 - LIBRARY

Actual Budget Proposed
Account No, Account Description 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04
01]-[15]-[8103]- 0 |WAGES-SUPERVISORY 181,329 194 844 206,993
01]-]15/- 8104 |- 0 IWAGES-HOURLY 301,820 347,631 395,727
01/-|15|-18107 |- .0 {WAGES-CUSTODIAL 36,021 36,808 39,786
01)-]15(-{81111- !0 |OVERTIME 6,714 7,118 9,852
01]-]15]-18125 |- .0 |SOCIAL SECURITY 40,266 44,861 49,906
01(-[15!-|8128- |0 |[RETIREMENT 28,013 27,008 42 595
01]-115{-|8131 |- |0 |HEALTH INSURANCE 60,926 87,160 112,900
01]-{15|-(8132 |- |0 |DENTAL INSURANCE 7,398 8,525 8,400
01|-|15]-{8133 |- |0 {LIFE INSURANCE 521 558 545
01-15|-|8134 |- 10 |SHORT-TERM DISABILITY 2,736 3,670 3,670
01[-115]-|8135]- |0 |WORKERS COMPENSATION 1,096 1,416 1,428
01(-{15[- 18136 |- |0 |[UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 339 866 660
01/-{15{- 8201 |- |0 |OFFICE SUPPLIES 17,682 13,525 16,771
01/-{15-[8202 - [0 |[MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES 3,228 3,100 3,300
01|-[15]|-|8220 |- D IPRINTING 1,028 1,850 1,550
01|-|15|-8230|- 0 |POSTAGE 3,594 4,057 4257
01|-|{15|- 18241 |- ;0 'ELECTRICITY 13,321 16,658 16,658
01|-|{15(-18243 - 0 {HEATING OIL 1,422 2,800 2,380
01i-{15(-18244 |- |0 WATER 1,024 1,260 1,260
011-|15(-|8245|- |0 SEWER _ 134 134 134
01]-[15|-|8260i- |0 TELEPHONE 8,423 10,606 10,606
01(-|15|-|8270!- |0 |DUES 1,485 1,505 1,580
01[-|15]- |8280{- |0 |GENERAL INSURANCE 5,004 6,000 6,400
01(-[15]-|8300|- |0 | TRAVEL & MEETINGS 5,724 5,400 5,400
01[-]151-|8321 |- |0 |[MNTC-BUILDINGS/GROUNDS 11,501 7.720 11,620
01[-115{-|8334 |- |0 [MNTC-OFFICE EQUIPMENT - 475 475
01]-{15|-|8352 |- |0 |[EDUCATION & TRAINING 3.167 4,500 5,500
01]-115|-|8353 |- |0 |COMPUTER SERVICES/SUPPLIES 30,295 31,580 34,611
01/[-|15/-(83591-:0 {OTHER OUTSIDE SERVICES 1,875 2,221 3,17
01|-[15]-[8374]- .0 |LIBRARY PROGRAMS 11,897 - 2,550 2,550
01-115-{8420 |- |0 |ADVERTISING 146 300 300
01-{15|-|8450|- |0 |[LIBRARY MATERIALS 133,181 124,900 124,348
01|-|15|- |8502 |- |0 |BUILDINGS 5,212 1 1
01-|15|- 8504 |- 10 {OFFICE EQUIPMENT 22191 14,000 15,500
01i-{15}-18510 - |0 |CAPITAL RESERVE FUND 52,000 102,000 102,000
38 |-{15(-|8201 |- |0 |OFFICE SUPPLIES 89 1,000 1,000
38}-|15|-|8202 |- |0 \MAINTENANCE SUPPLIES - 200 200
381- (15 |-|8220- |0 iPRINTING - 300 300
38]-[15]-[8260|- [0 |TELEPHONE 295 - -
38-[15|-|8270}- .0 |DUES 751 700 700
381-|15|-|8300 - |0 |TRAVEL & MEETINGS - 500 500
381-[151- 8352 |- |0 IEDUCATION & TRAINING " 565 - -
38)-(15/-|8374 |- |0 [LIBRARY PROGRAMS 9,114 2,000 2,000
38(-(15|-|8420 - |0 |ADVERTISING 302 - -
38-[15(-|8450 |- |0 [LIBRARY MATERIALS 5,136 20,100 20,100
38|-(15]- (8460 |- |0 [MISC OPERATING EXPENSES 3,010 2,000 2,000
38]-|15!-|8504 |- |0 |OFFICE EQUIPMENT - 2,000 2,000
1,020,079 1,146,417 1,271,634
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2003-04 BUDGET

] LIBRARY
|
Summary i
Actual Budget Budget| Increase (Decrease)
Personal services 667,179 760,465 872,462 111,997 14.73%
Other operating expenses [ 273,497 1 267,951 279,671 11,720 4.37%
Capital outlay f 79.403 118.001 | __119.501 ! 1.500 1.27%
Total 1,020,079 1,146,417 | 1,271,634 125,217 10.92%
Wage adjustiments and attrition 34,691 27.70
Employee benefit rate adjustments i i 33,520 26.77
Excess sick leave purchase i - 755 0.60
Fifty-three weekly payrolls vs fifty-two ! i 12,494 9.98
Overtime hours I | 2,945 2.35
Duplicate health insurance incentive | f 5,600 447
Part-time hours i 21,991 17.56
Office supplies ' i 3,246 2.59
Building maintenance , 3,900 3.11
Computer services ! 3,021 2.41
Capital outlay i 1,500 120
Other minor changes - less than $2,500 i 1,553 1.26
Total increase (decrease) | ’ 125217 | 100.00
| i
Personnel ; ;
1 Budget | Budget | ;
_ - | 2002:03:  2003-04] !
Full-time: i i i |
Director * 1 1 '
Assistan{ Director/Head of Automated Services 1 1] ;
Head of Reference/Adult Services : 1 1 ?
Head of Youth Services ! 1| 1 j
Librarian { i 1 1. ;
Library Assistant !l . 1 1
Library Aide I} i 3 3:
Custodian : 1 1: :
Total full-time i 10 ! 10 | i
Part-time {excludes temporary and casual labor): | ' :
"Page 4 5 :
Librarian | 2 1
Library Aide | i 10 . 9 .
Library Aide II | - | 1] ;
Library Assistant Il I 1] 11 i
_Custodial Aide | 1] 1] !
Administrative Assistant T 1 1 i
‘Total part-time ! 19" 19
Total ! 29 | 29 I
Capital Qutlay i : | '
Transfer to Library Construction Capital Reserve Fund | 100,000 | E i
Transfer to Library Roof Capital Reserve Fund 2,000 | I
Contingency for building improvements 1 |
Computer equipment 12,500 |
Other equipment —2.000 I .
Total i 119,501 | !
3/6/03
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2003-04 Municipal Operating Budget
16 - EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE

Actual Budget Proposed
Account No. Account Description 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04
011-]16[-[8103 |- |0 [WAGES-SUPERVISORY 42,654 46,072 48,548
01- |16 |- (8104 |- [0 (WAGES-HOURLY 185,146 206,397 219,347
01 |- [16 |- |8105 |- [0 [OVERTIME-SUPERVISORY 2,063 3,323 3,435
01]-[16 |- |8111 |- [0 [OVERTIME-OTHER 5,870 14,025 14,870
01]-1181]-[8125 |- |0 |SOCIAL SECURITY 18,480 20,641 21,895
01 - |16 |- 8128 |- [0 [RETIREMENT 4,478 3,900 8,100
01 |- 16 (- 18131 |- |0 [HEALTH INSURANCE 37,340 61,718 69,000
01 |- [16 |- {8132 |- [0 [DENTAL INSURANCE 4,042 5,387 5,075
01|-116 |- [8133 |- |0 |LIFE INSURANCE 244 288 285
01 - |16 |- 18134 |- 10 [SHORT-TERM DISABILITY 1,400 2,202 2,202
011- 16 |- |8135 |- |0 [WORKERS COMPENSATION 3,582 4,570 4,342
011- 116 |- 18136 |- |0 [UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 96 144 96
01- 116 - |8201 |- |0 |OFFICE SUPPLIES 114 200 150
01 - |16 |- |8203 |- |0 |OPERATING SUPPLIES 9,789 10,000 10,000
01 |- [16[- (8204 |- |0 |[UNIFORMS 3,012 3,505 3,402
01 |- |16 |- 8250 {- [0 [VEHICLE FUEL 1,247 2,311 1,750
01(-116{-|8270 |- |0 |DUES 245 345 345
01 - |16 |- |8280 |- |0 |GENERAL INSURANCE 2,471 2,700 2,900
01 |- [16 |- 8300 |- |0 |TRAVEL & MEETINGS - 250 100
01 |- [16 |-[8331 [- [0 [MNTC-MACHINERY/EQUIP 1,421 3,000 1,500
01 |- |16 |- 18333 |- |0 [VEHICLE MAINTENANCE 11,780 3,500 2,500
011 {16 [8351 | |0 |[CONSULTANTS - 100 .
011-1161- 18352 |- [0 [EDUCATION & TRAINING 125 1,000 1,000

01 |- 116 [- 8420 |- |0 |ADVERTISING 196
01 - [16 |- 8503 - [0 [VEHICLES - 6,000 -
01| |16 |8504 | |0 |OFFICE EQUIPMENT 1,165 - -
336,960 401,578 420,842
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2003-04 BUDGET
EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE
Summary i | |
S Actual! Budget| Budget| Ingrease (Decrease)
! 2001-02] 2002-031 2003-04| Amount: Percent
Personal services ; 305,395 ! 368,667 | 397,195 | 28528 |  7.74%
Other operating expenses i 30,4001 26,911 | 23,647 | (3.264) -12.13%
Capital outlay —— 1185 60007 -7 T(6.000) -100.00%)
Total | 336,960 | 401578 | 420842 | 19,264 1 4.80%
| i ! | !
Explanation of Increase (Decrease) ! i I | . -
Wage adjustments and attrition ] i | 7720 . 40.07 |
Employee benefit rate adjustments ! ‘ ! 15686 ¢ 8143
Fifty-three weekly payrolls vs fifty-two : i \ 5122 2659
Capital outlay ' | ; (6,000)] (31.15)
Other minar changes - less than $2,500 ! \ ! (3.264)] _ (16.94)
Total increase (decrease) I % : 19,264 | 100.00
I ! : .
Bersonnel i !
Budget | Budget i R
2! !! 2-! | 1\ 2( !j !;3_! !ﬂ 1 T ! - o
Full-time: | : !
Foreman 1 1] I
Mechanic || 4 4 i
Mechanic | 1] 1i
Total full-time 6 ; 6
Part-time (excludes temporary and casual labor) - | - -
Total B 6
! | : i
Capital Outiay i i | .
None | - | i f
3/6/03

295




2003-04 Municipal Operating Budget
17 - BUILDINGS & GROUNDS
IR ]
I-I-Il—m Proposed
T o LA R TR
o1 uuﬂm-mm 45620
mma:m_-@l 49,483

ot - 17 - 8104 - 0]

O 13108 [0 OVERTIE-SUPERVISORY | 10180} 3013 6,300

i Ha " S—— N

O e lojovermveorer | e el MG

O T eizs ] OlsocwLSECURIY | sseel B 5.105
10,628

01 |-|17 |- |8128 |- 0 |RETIREMENT 7.020 .
34,864 26,800
3.1

1,925

0117 -
o1 |-17]-18133] 150
01 - 17 - [8134 1,101
01 |- |47 |- [8135 |- |0 [WORKERS COMPENSATION 2,558
01 - [17 |- |8136 |- |0 [UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 64 |
01]-[17 |- |8204 [- |0 [UNIFORMS 1,200
01 |- |17]- (8212 |- [0 |EQUIPMENT RENTAL 300
01 - |0 [ELECTRICITY 47,000
01 -[8242]-'0 |GAS 6,339 11,000 11,000
01 - 18243 - 10 [HEATING Ol 2,871 4,500 3,825
01 - 18244 |- 10 WATER 1,660 | 2,450 1,660
01 - |8245 - {0 [SEWER 436 | 536 536
01 ~|8250 |- |0 [VEHICLE FUEL 505 | 550
01 8260 |- |0 [TELEPHONE 1,080
01 - |17 |- 8280 [- |0 \GENERAL INSURANCE 4,500
01]-[17]-|8321 ;- 0 [MNTC-BUILDINGS/GROUNDS 23,200
01 |17 |-|8322 |- 10 [MNTC-GROUNDS 3,140 [ 3,800 4,300
011-117 [-18331 - |0 [MNTC-MACHINERY/EQUIP 118 750 750
01 117 |- 18332 |- |0 [VEHICLE MAINTENANCE | 37 250 250
011-117 - |8352 |- |0 [EDUCATION & TRAINING 1 - | 200 | 200
011~ |17 |- 18420 [- |0 |ADVERTISING | [ -
01 |-[17 |- [8502 |- |0 |BUILDINGS | 11,300
o1 -7 [ SSOSHB.VEHICLES -
1 B 1 275,972 297,461 283,067

3/13/03



2003-04 BUDGET
BUILDINGS AND GROUNDS

Summary | ' [
B i Actual, Budget| Budget Increase (Decrease}
Personal services ; 153,433 172,110 | 171,416 (694)] -0.40%
Other operating expenses : 85,338 99,001 100,351 1,350 | 1.36%
Capital outlay f 37.201 . 26,350 11,300 : {15,050} -57.12%

e —

Total | 275972 | 297,461 | 283,067 | (14,394)]  4.84%
' i i
Explanation of Increase (Decrease) |

Wage adjustments and attrition
Employee benefit rate adjustments

it
1
{
I

1

Overtime hours i

!'

Part-time Custodian position in lieu of full-time Custedian position
Excess sick leave purchase !

Fifty-three weekly payrolis v fifty-two
Capital outlay

Other minor changes - less than $2,500

l !
_ Y i

f

F
i
F

Total increase (decrease) w | I (14,394} 10000 |
T e e e S (=27 I 123

1,350 | (9.38)]

! Budget Budget |

Total full-time :

3 1 2002-03/ 2003-04| ' ‘
Full-time: | |
_Maintenance Supervisor ; 1] 1! |
Custodian w 3 2 f
: 4 3

Part-time (excrudeg,Emporary and casual labor): : !
Custodian :

Total

Capital Qutlay r ;
Carpeting - district court offices : 5,000 ! . !
Carpeting - Town Clerk/Tax Collector offices | 3,300 ¢ | f
Vertical blinds - district court offices 1,500 ; |
Stairway treads - district court ' 1,500 |
Total i 11,300 | I ;
3/6/03
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2003-04 Municipal Operating Budget
21 - COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
—
1) Actual Budget Proposed
Account No.  |Account Description 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04
01]-21]-[8102 |- [0 [WAGES-CLERICAL 80,398 82,576 87,060
01|-|21 |-|8103 - |0 [WAGES-SUPERVISORY & PROF 196,921 202,268 217,256
011- 21 - 8104 |- [0 [WAGES-HOURLY 95,283 98,092 104,568
011-121 |- 8107 |- |0 |WAGES - PART-TIME 1,389 1,965 1,706
o1 -121] - [8111 -[0 [OVERTIME-OTHER 562 218 204
01 -{21]-18125 jro_socw. SECURITY 28,500 29,462 31,432
011-|21 - 8128 |- |0 [RETIREMENT 24,299 23,159 33,002
011- 121 ]-[8131 |- |0 |HEALTH INSURANCE 74,308 102,707 108,900
01 1-|211- 8132 |- |0 | DENTAL INSURANCE 8,081 8,662 8,750
0111271~ 18133 |- |0 [LIFE INSURANCE 528 540 530
01 |- |21 |- 8134 |- |0 |[SHORT-TERM DISABILITY 2,829 3,670 3,670
011-121 - 8135 |- |0 |WORKERS COMPENSATION 5,754 7122 6,819
5172121 - 18136 |- |0 JUNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 145 246 163
01 |- 121 |- 8201 |- |0 |OFFICE SUPPLIES 6.123 5,800 | 6,000
01 - |21 |- (8203 |- |0 |OPERATING SUPPLIES 93 500 | 350
01] |21] [8204 | ;0 UNIFORMS - 500 -
011- |21 |- 18220 |- 10 |PRINTING 1,652 3,450 2,885
017-1211- 8230 - 0 IPOSTAGE 7,528 8,035 | 8,444
011- |21]-|6250 |- [0 VEHICLE FUEL 1,048 1,440 | 1,650
01 - |21 |-|8260 |- |0 [TELEPHONE 6,780 7,050 6,840
01[-121]-[8270|- |0 |DUES 18,474 18,745 18,745
01 - (21 |- 8280 |- |0 |GENERAL INSURANCE 3,089 3,400 3,600
01 1-121 |- |8300 |- |0 [TRAVEL & MEETINGS 186 100 200
01-|21 |- (8332 |- |0 [MNTC-VEHICLES 3,466 2,250 | 3,000
011]-|21 - |8334 |- |0 [MAINTENANCE - OFFICE EQUIPMENT 2,437 3,782 2,782
011- 2118335 - |0 [MNTC-COMMUNICATIONS EQUIP - 100 100
01 |- [21 |- 18351 |- |0 |CONSULTANTS 26,713 - -
011-1211-18352 |- 0 |EDUCATION & TRAINING 2,896 2,579 3,000
011-1211- 8355 |- |0 [ENGINEERING PLAN REVIEW 47,156 40,000 43,000
01]-121]-[8359 -J!FE)THER OUTSIDE SERVICES 18,216 12,635 | 10,135
61 [-121 |- |8388 |- 0 [ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 86 250 | 150
01|-121]-|8393 |- [0 [CONSERVATION COMMISSION 5,345 5,345 | 5,345
01 |- |21 - [8420 |- |0 |ADVERTISING 4,480 | 2,000 | 4,500
01 |- 121 - 8460 |- [0 |MISC OPERATING EXPENSES I - | 100 | 100 |
01 - |21 -|8504 |- [0 |OFFICE EQUIPMENT | 2,772 | 4,500 | 6,000
| U] l 677,537 | 683,248 | 730,976
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2003-04 BUDGET

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
i T | !
Summary | I % B

[ Actual] Budget| Budget| Increase (Decrease)

| 2001-02[  2002:03] 2003-04 Amount| _ Pergent
Personal services | 518,997 | 560,687 604,150 43,463 7.75%
Other operating expenses ' 155768 | 118,061 120,826 | 2,765 2.34%
Capital outlay - 2772 _ 4500 — 6000 _ 1,500 33.33%
Total | 677,537 | 683,248 | 730,976 47,728 6.99%

r | ﬁ

i !

Wage adjustments and attrition ; ? | l 16,085 33.70
Employee benefit rate adjustments T i | 26,483 | 55.49
Excess sick leave purchase ! [ | 1,158 2.43 |
Fifty-three weekly payrolls vs fifty-two [ I ﬁ 8,611 18.04
Duplicate health insurance incentive ! ! | {8,376} (17.55)
Secretary position reclassified as Clerk Typist Il position | l {587} (1.23)
Qvertime hours 1 ' ] 89 0.19
Master plan update | | (7,500) (15.71)
Long-range planning ; 5,000 | 10.48
[Engineering plan review 30000 T 829

2.500 524 |

1,265 263
47,728 |  100.00

Public notices
Other minor changes - less than $2,500

Total increase (decrease)

Personnel

i
; |
' i
|
\r

|
|
Budget | Budget

o
|

Full-time:

Community Development Director
Planning/Zoning Administrator

| Building/Heaith Official r

Health Officer/Sanitarian i

i

|

i

.oa-;-n..;..n_x_x_n-s_;

Building Inspector
Planning Assistant
Clerk Typist !l i -
" Office Manager i 1
Secretary ! 2
1
0

Community Resources Planner
Total full-time 1
Part-time (excludes temporary help)

Total i 10 ;

Capital Outiay

I

{

|

f

Computer equipment | 3,000 |
: 1

i

[

-

Y
o

Color printer X 3.000
Total [ 5,000

3/6/03
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2003-04 Municipal Operating Budget
24 - TOWN CLERK/TAX COLLECTOR
Actual Budget Proposed
Account No, Account Description 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04
01]-{24[-]8101]- [0 WAGES-ELECTED OFFICIALS 42,885 44,528 47,163
01]-124[- 18102 |- 10 |WAGES-CLERICAL 90,777 96,252 102,343
011-]24 |- 8103 |- |0 [WAGES-SUPERVISORY 32,050 36,452 38,531
01/-|24]-[8107 i- |0 |WAGES - PART-TIME 5,051 5,290 5,320
01]-|24]-18111 |- |0 |OVERTIME-OTHER 1,920 3,019 3,149
01/[-124 |- (8125 |- 10 |SOCIAL SECURITY 10,991 11,434 12,109
01!-[24 [-[8128 |- |0 |RETIREMENT 14,592 14,497 19,340
01 |- |24 [-[8131 |- |0 |HEALTH INSURANCE 44,146 61,718 74,700
01]-]24 |- {8132 |- |0 [DENTAL INSURANCE 5,348 5,727 5,425
01]-|24[- 8133 |- |0 |LIFE INSURANCE 322 324 320
011/-(24 |- 8134 |- |0 [SHORT-TERM DISABILITY 1,403 2202 2,202
01 |- |24 (- 18135 |- |0 [WORKERS COMPENSATION 223 277 273
011- [24 |- 8136 |- [0 [UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 111 136 91
01]- |24 }- 8201 |- |0 |OFFICE SUPPLIES 5,846 6,300 6,300
01 (- [24 |- [8220 |- |0 IPRINTING 3,519 4,000 4,000 |
01]-]24 |- (8230 |- |0 |POSTAGE 18,425 25,239 25,239
01]-124 |- 18260 |- |0  TELEPHONE 3,204 3,175 3,100
01]-{24 |- {8270 |- i0 |DUES 175 210 240
01]-|24 |- 8280 |- |0 iIGENERAL INSURANCE 1,033 1,100 2,900
011- (24 |- /8300 [- [0 [TRAVEL & MEETINGS 2,065 2,360 2,610
01]-]24 |- 18334 |- [0 [MNTC-OFFICE EQUIPMENT 5,926 11,935 10,295
01/-|24]-18352 |- [0 [EDUCATION & TRAINING 740 3,750 2,000
011-[24-18359 [- |0 [OTHER OUTSIDE SERVICES 12,838 15,000 15,000
01/[-124]-|8420 |- |0 [ADVERTISING 163 500 500
01]- 24 |- |8430 |- |0 |DOG TAGS 358 500 500
011- 24 |- 8504 |- [0 |OFFICE EQUIPMENT 1,208 4,000 2,500
305,319 359,925 386,150

3M13/03



2003-04 BUDGET

TOWN CLERK/ITAX COLLECTOR

Summary
Actual Budget Budget| Increase (Decrease)
2001-02 2002-03 2003-04 Amount  Percent
Personal services 249,819 281,856 310,966 29,110 10.33%
Other operating expenses 54,292 74,069 72,684 (1,385) -1.87%
Capital outlay 1208 | _4.000 | 2.500 (1.500) -37.50%
Total 305,319 359,925 | 386,150 28,225 7.29%
I
Wage adjustments and attrition I i 7.888 30.08
Employee benefit rate adjustments i 17,151 65.40
Excess sick leave purchase 114 0.43
Fifty-three weekly payrolls vs fifty-two 3,957 15.09
Other minor changes - less than $2,500 (2,885) {11.00)
Total increase (decrease) 26,225 100.00
Personnel
Budget Budget
2002-03 2003-04
Full-time; !
Town Clerk/Tax Collector 11 1
Account Clerk I} 4] 4
_Deputy Town Clerk/Tax Collector 1 1
Total full-time 6 6
Part-time (excludes temporary help) - -
Total 6 6
Capital Qutlay |
Computer equipment i 2,000
Office furniture | — 500
Total | 2,500
3/6/03
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2003-04 Municipal Operating Budget
25 - WELFARE

Actual Budget Proposed
AccountNo,  |Account Description 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04
01[-125]- 18107 |- |0 |WAGES - PART-TIME 16,832 22,043 25,027
011-125]-18125 |- {0 |SOCIAL SECURITY 1,288 1,686 1,915
01|-|25[-[8128 - |0 [RETIREMENT 842 1,102 1,251
011-125 |- 8135 |- |0 [WORKERS COMPENSATION 21 33 35
01 1- 125 |- 18136 |- |0 UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION 16 .2 16
01-125 |- 18201 |- |0 |OFFICE SUPPLIES 251 350 350
01i-|25(-[8230(- |0 |[POSTAGE - a0 97
0% |- |25 |- |8260 |- {0 |TELEPHONE 456 500 500
01]-125/(-|8270 |- |0 |DUES 60 125 125
01 - |25 |- (8280 |- [0 |GENERAL INSURANCE 112 100 | 100
01 |- |25 |- 8300 |- |0 | TRAVEL & MEETINGS 350 500 500
01 |- 125 |- |8352 |- |0 [EDUCATION & TRAINING 113 250 250
01 - 25 |- |8359 |- [0 [OTHER OUTSIDE SERVICES - 90 15
011- 125 |- 8399 |- [0 |SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES 77,475 83,225 87,725
01 |- |25 |- 8481 |- {0 IWELFARE-HOUSING 49,395 35,000 35,000
01 - 25 |- |8482 i- |0 WELFARE-ELECTRICITY 4,133 8,000 8,000
01]-(25|- 8483 - |0 WELFARE-NATURAL GAS HEAT 598 1,000 800
01 -{25 - 8484 - 0 [WELFARE-HEATING OIL 299 500 500
01 |- {25 |- [8485 |- |0 |WELFARE-VEHICLE FUEL 20 50 50
01 - |25 |- |8486 |- |0 [WELFARE-TELEPHCNE 129 50 50
01 |- |25 [- [8488 |- |0 |WELFARE-FOOD - 3,267 2,000 2,000
01]- |25 |- [8489 |- |0 IWELFARE-MEDICAL - 1,500 200
011-125-18490 |- {0 [WELFARE-PRESCRIPTIONS 2,900 - 3,000
01 |- |25 |- |8491 |- |0 |WELFARE-OTHER 2,736 2,055 2,055
01 |- |25 - |8492 |- {0 [CRISIS FUND/SANTA FUND - 600 600
01 |- 125 |- |8495 |- [0 [WELFARE-PROPANE FUEL 1,156 - 800
01 - |25 |- (8493 [- [0 WELFARE-INSURANCE - 500 500
01- |25 - |8494 |- |0 |WELFARE-BURIALS - 250 250
| 162,449 161,620 171,711

3/13/03
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2003-04 BUDGET

WELFARE
Summary
Actual Budget Budget| Increase (Decrease)
2001-02 2002-03 2003-04 Amount Percent
Personal services 18,999 24,885 28,244 3,359 13.50%
Cther operating expenses 143,450 136,735 143,467 6,732 4.92%
Capital outlay - - - - | #DIV/O!
Total I 162,449 161,620 171,711 10,091 6.24%
i
Explanation of Increase (Decrease)

Wage adjustments and attrition 2,821 27.96
Employee benefit rate adjustments 5 0.05
Fifty-three weekly payrolls vs fifty-two 533 5.28
Social and health services 4,500 44.59
Direct assistance 2,300 22.79
Other minor changes - less than $2,500 (68} {0.67)
Total increase (decrease) 10,091 100.00

Personnel ]

Budget Budget
2002-03 2003-04 |
Part-time Welfare Administrator 1 1
Capital Qutlay

None -
3/6/03
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2003-04 Municipal Operating Budget

27 - DEBT SERVICE

{

Actual Budget Proposed

Account No, Account Description 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04

01 1-127 |- 18601 |- |0 [INTEREST-TAN - 1 1
011127 i- 8602 |- [0 INTEREST-LONG TERM DEBT 76,765 149,326 184,932
011- |27 |- 8604 |- |0 [PRINCIPAL-LONG TERM DEBT 392,718 260,802 440,128
31 1- 27 |- |8602 |- |0 INTEREST-LONG TERM DEBT 172,512 163,483 163,483
31 |7127 |- 8604 |- |0 |PRINCIPAL-LONG TERM DEBT 104,937 203,966 203,966
836,932 777,578 992,510
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2003-04 BUDGET

DEBT SERVICE
! |
Summary
Actuall Budget Budget] Increase (Decrease)
Personal services - - - - | #DIV/O!
Other operating expenses - - - - | #DIv/O!
Capital outlay ! - - - - | #DIV/O!
Debt service | 836932 | 777578 | 992510 214932 | 2764%
Total 836,932 | 777,578 992,510 214,932 27.64%
| H
! ! | }
1995 Organic Waste Compost Facility Bonds | 367,449 | 367,449 i 367,449 | - -
1991 Road Bonds : 149,713 | - - | - -
1992 Camp Sargent Road Bonds 121,770 | 115,940 - {115,940) (54)
1989 Wasserman Park Bonds 198,000 | 198,000 198,000 - -
2002 Greens Pond Bonds - 96,188 427,060 330,872 154
Tax anticipation notes - 1 1 - -
Total increase (decrease) 836,932 777,578 | 992,510 214,932 100.00
Personnel
None -
Lapital Outlay
None - i
3/6/03
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Merrimack 2003 Town Warrant

The State of New Hampshire

To the inhabitants of the Town of Merrimack in the County of Hillsborough in said state,
qualified to vote in town affairs:

You are hereby notified that the first session of the annual meeting of the Town of
Merrimack will be held at the Mastricola Middle School All-Purpose Room on Baboosic
Lake Road in said Merrimack on Thursday, March 6, 2003, at 7:00 o’clock in the
evening for explanation, discussion, and debate of each warrant article. Warrant
articles may be amended at this session per RSA 40:13, IV except for warrant articles 2,
3,4,56,7,8and9 whose wording is prescribed by law and cannot be amended per

RSA 40:13, (IV)(a).

You are hereby notified that the second session of the annual meeting of the Town of
Merrimack will be heid at the Mastricola Middle School All-Purpose Room on Baboosic
Lake Road and St. John Neumann Church on Route 10tAin said Merrimack on
Tuesday, April 8, 2003, at 7:00 o'clock in the forenoon for the choice of town officers
elected by official baliot, to vote on questions required by law to be inserted on the
official ballot, and to vote on all warrant articles from the first session on official ballot
per RSA 40:1 3, VIl. The polls for the election of town officers and other actions required
to be inserted on said ballot will open on said date at 7:00 o'clock in the forenoon and

will not close earlier than 8-00 o'clock in the evening.

Article 1. To choose all necessary town officers for the ensuing year.

Article 2. Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 1 as proposed by the
Planning Board for the Town Zoning Ordinance as follows:

Amend Section 1.03, Definitions, and Section 2.02.1(B)(2) District R-
Permitted uses, to provide clearer standards for approving special

exceptions for Accessory Dwelling Units?

Yes No

Article 3. Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 2 as proposed by the

Planning Board for the Town Zoning Ordinance as follows:

Amend Section 3.09, Special Exceptions, to add additional Special
Exception requirements that must be met by applicants for additions
to nonconforming structures to more clearly reflect the intent of this

section of the ordinance?

Yes No

———————————




Article 4. Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 3 as proposed by the
Planning Board for the Town Zoning Ordinance as follows:

Amend Section 8.09 of the Zoning Ordinance to state the current |
Legal standards for the granting of a variance?

Yes No

Article 5. Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 4 as proposed by the
Planning Board for the Town Zoning Ordinance as follows:

Amend Section 8.07 to provide that variances and special exceptions
granted by the Zoning Board of Adjustment are valid for two years
and expire if no building permit or other land use approval in reliance
on the ZBA approval is not issued?

Yes No

Article 6. Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 5 as proposed by the
Planning Board for the Town Zoning Ordinance as follows:

Amend Section 2, Establishment of Districts, by adding a new Section
2.02.6 entitled Sexually Oriented Businesses, in order to prevent the
inappropriate location and concentration of sexually oriented businesses
in the Town, to protect minors from potentially harmful influences and
prevent problems of blight and deterioration which accompany and are
brought about by the inappropriate location and concentration of
sexually oriented businesses?

Yes No

Article 7. Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 6 as proposed by the
Planning Board for the Town Zoning Ordinance as follows:

Amend Section 2.02(A), Permitted Uses-General, to permit the installation
of solar, wind or other renewable energy systems intended primarity for

on-site use in accordance with applicabie health and safety requirements
in all zoning districts?

Yes No

307




Article 8. Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 7 as proposed by the
Planning Board for the Town Zoning Ordinance as follows:

Amend Section 2.02(B) and Section 2.02.4(A) to more clearly reflect
when the Planning Board shall adopt standards to ascertain whether
proposed land uses comply with general use standards pertaining

to odors, fumes, smoke, dust, vibrations, noise, light or other
objectionable features?

Yes No

Article 9. Are you in favor of the adoption of Amendment No. 8 as proposed by the
Planning Board for the Town Zoning Ordinance as follows:

Amend Section 1.03(A)(34) to replace the definition of the term
“mobile home” with the term “manufactured housing” as defined
in NH RSA 674:31?

Yes No

Article 10. Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $8,000,000 for the
construction, equipping and occupancy of a new library building, and to authorize the
issuance of not more than $5,800,000 of bonds or serial notes in accordance with the
Municipal Finance Act (RSA 33), and to authorize the Board of Selectmen to issue,
negotiate, sell and deliver said bonds or notes and to determine the rate of interest, the
maturity, and other terms pertaining thereto; furthermore to authorize the withdrawal of
$2,000,000 from the Library Construction Capital Reserve Fund, accept $125,000 from
the Library Trustees Special Funds and to use $75,000 of interest earned on the
investment of related bond proceeds as offsetting revenues. Additionally, to raise and
appropriate the sum of $170,000 for the purpose of 2003-04 bond issuance costs and
interest on said bonds or serial notes, to name the Board of Library Trustees as agent to
expend, and authorize the Board of Library Trustees and the Board of Selectmen to
take any other actions or pass any other vote relative to said purpose and financing?
(By Petition) (60% ballot vote required) (Recommended by the Board of Selectmen 5-0-
0) (Recommended by the Budget Committee 15-0-0)

Article 11. Shall the Town raise and appropriate as an operating budget, not including
appropriations by Special Warrant Articles and other appropriations voted separately,
the amount set forth on the budget posted with the Warrant or as amended by vote of
the first session, for the purposes set forth therein, totaling $24,369,775? Should this
Article be defeated, the operating budget shall be $21,795,847, which is the same as
last year, with certain adjustments required by previous action of the Town or by law, or
the governing body may hold one special meeting in accordance with RSA 40:13, X and
XV, to take up the issue of a revised operating budget only. (Recommended by the
Budget Committee 14-0-0) (Recommended by the Board of Selectmen 5-0-0)
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Article 12. To see if the Town will vote to:

A. Raise and appropriate the sum of $1,500,002 to construct and equip a new
solid waste transfer facility at the Fearon Road a/k/a Lawrence Road Landfill
site (rescinding that part of Article 25 of the 2002 Town Meeting that could
prevent a transfer facility from being constructed at that site) and to raise said
sum, without taxation, by authorizing useftransfer of the June 30, 2003
General Fund Surplus for this purpose;

B. Rescind Article 17 of the 1988 Town Meeting, which created the Solid Waste
Disposal Revenue Fund and transfer to the General Fund all monies
(approximately $1,500,000) in said revenue fund as of June 30, 2003; and

C. Reduce the operating budget, Article 11 in the solid waste disposal line by an
amount up to $376,691 to reduce taxes.

it is understood that if this article fails that it is the intent of the town to enter into a
contract for curbside collection of solid waste and to operate a drop-off and recycling
facility on Fearon Road a/k/a Lawrence Road. (Recommended by the Board of
Selectmen 4-1-0) (Not Recommended by the Budget Committee 7-6-0)

Article 13. To see if the Town will vote to appropriate $1,500,001 without further
taxation, for a six-month curbside pickup and recycling program of solid waste servicing
all residents {including condominiums), obtaining this money by:

A. Voting to rescind Article 17 of the 1988 Town Meeting, which created the
Solid Waste Disposal Revenue Fund, and to transfer to the General Fund all
monies in said revenue fund on June 30, 2003.

B. By voting to appropriate the necessary 1,500,001 from the General Fund to
he used for a six-month contract for curbside pickup with recycling with a
private vendor beginning on December 31, 2003, when the landfill closes,
together with:

C. Engineering work to increase the safety of Lawrence Road and other
ancillary work at the Fearon/Lawrence Road site for the handling of bulky
items and yard waste, in accord with the plans of the Ad-Hoc Committee on
Solid Waste. (By Petition) (Not Recommended by the Board of Selectmen 4-
1-0) (Not Recommended by the Budget Committee 9-5-0)

Article 14. Shail the Town vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $350,000 to be
added to the Library Construction Capital Reserve Fund? (By Petition) (Passage of
Article #10 concerning the construction of a new library will render this article null and
void) (Recommended by the Board of Selectmen 5-0-0) (Recommended by the Budget
Committee 12-3-0)
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Article 15. To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate the sum of $95,000 for
the purchase and installation of a diesel powered generator with a 24-hour base tank to
be located at the Mastricola Middle School for emergency sheiter purposes. This is a
special warrant article, per RSA 32:3 (V), reflecting an appropriation that will not lapse
until the monies are expended, or June 30, 2008, whichever is the earliest.
(Recommended by the Board of Selectmen 5-0-0) (Recommended by the Budget

Committee 15-0-0)

Article 16. To see if the Town will vote to establish, in accordance with RSA 35, an
Emergency Traffic Signal Pre-emption System Capital Reserve Fund, for the purpose of
replacing, updating and installing emergency traffic signal pre-emption controls on all
appropriate intersections in town which will allow fire, rescue and ambulance vehicles to
gain control of and move safely through the intersections; to raise and appropriate the
surmn of $85,000 to be placed in said fund; and to designate the Board of Selectmen as
agents to expend. (By Petition) (Recommended by the Board of Selectmen 5-0-0)
(Recommended by the Budget Committee 13-0-0)

Article 17. Shall the Town vote to raise and appropriate an amount up to $50,000 or
100% of the unencumbered surplus funds remaining on hand in the Library Operating
Budget at the end of the fiscal year 2002-2003, whichever amount is less, and transfer
that amount to the Library Construction Capital Reserve Fund? (By Petition)
(Recommended by the Board of Selectmen 5-0-0) (Recommended by the Budget

Committee 12-3-0)

Article 18. To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Board of Selectmen pursuant to
RSA 658:10 to provide one or more additional polling ptaces within the Town of
Merrimack and to determine the boundaries of the voting district to be served by each

such additional potlling place.

Article 19. To see if the Town will vote pursuant to RSA 31:39-a to adopt the foliowing
Code of Ethics:
Town of Merrimack
Code of Ethics
For Town Officials, Board Members and Employees

PREAMBLE

It is the policy of the Town of Merrimack to uphold, promote and demand the highest
standards of ethics and conduct from all of its employees and officials, whether elected
appointed or hired. The Board of Selectmen, all Town employees and all members of
Town boards, commissions, and committees shall maintain the highest standards of
personal integrity, truthfulness, honesty and faimess in discharging their public duties,
and never abuse their positions or powers for improper or personal gain.




THE CODE

L No conflicts of interest

I A duty to recuse

lll. A duty to disclose

IV.  No unfair personal use of town property
V. No misuse of confidential information
VL.  No improper gifts

VIl. A duty to cooperate

VIIl.  Fair and equal treatment

IX. Exemption Period

PURPOSE

The purpose of this code is to establish guidelines for the ethical standards of conduct
for town officials, board members and employees.

We expect our public servants and volunteers to act in the best interest of the town.

We expect town officials, board members and employees to disclose any personal,
financial or other interests in matters affecting the town that come before them for
action.

We expect town officials, board members and employees to remove themselves from
decision making if they have a conflict of interest or even the appearance of one.

We expect town officials, board members and employees to be independent, impartial,
and responsible to their fellow townspeople in their actions.

We expect that the town's official decisions and policies be made through the proper
channels of government,

We expect that public office or a volunteer position in our town not be used for personal
gain. It is important that the public has confidence in the integrity of its government and
that town officials, board members, volunteers and employees have an opportunity to
protect their personal reputation. _

This code establishes a process by which one may obtain guidance regarding potential

ethical issues and it establishes a course of action for resolving disputes in a manner
that is fair to al! of the parties involved.
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EXPLANATION OF CODE PROVISIONS

I. No Conflicts of Interest
Officials, board members and employees of the Town of Merrimack shall avoid conflicts
of interest or even the appearance of a conflict of interest

As a town official, board member or employee, you shall not participate in any matter in
which you, or a member of your family, have a personal interest that may directly or
indirectly affect or influence the performance of your duties. In such instances, you shall
recuse yourself from discussion and decision-making. Recusal means to remove
yourself completely from all further participation in the matter in question.

Officials, board members or employees who have been recused shall immediately leave
the room or shall seat themselves with the other members of the public who are
present. When recused, you shall not participate in fusther discussions, unless you
clearly state for the record that you are doing so only as general member of the public.
As a recused person, you shall not deliberate or vote on the matter in question.

ll. A Duty to Recuse in Quasi-Judicial Actions

A "quasi-judicial action” is any action where the board or committee you are a member
of is acting like a judge or a jury. For example, when your board or committee has a
duty to notify the potential parties, hear the parties, and can only decide on the matter
after weighing and considering such evidence and arguments as the parties choose to
lay before you, you are involved in a quasi-judicial action. The work of the planning and
zoning boards is largely quasi-judicial. Not only do officials, board members and
employees of the Town of Merrimack have a duty to recuse themselves as outlined in
the section above, you must recuse yourself in a quasi-judicial action if you would not
be qualified to sit as a juror in that case. For example, jurors are not qualified to sitin a
case if they have advised or assisted either party in a matter being decided, are
prejudiced to any degree regarding the pending matter, or believe they cannot for any
reason be totally fair and impartial. As a representative of the Town of Merrimack, you
are expected to hold yourself to this same standard.

Iil. A Duty to Disclose

As an official, board member or employee of the Town of Merrimack, you shall not
participate in the conduct of business on behalf of the Town or enter into discussion or
deliberation of any matter without first, publicly and on the record, stating all:

dealings

interests
relationships
friendships

and any other possible conflicts that may exist between you and your family, and the
principals or the issue under consideration.
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IV. No Unfair Personal Use of Town Property

No official, board member or employee of the Town of Merrimack shall use town
property, services, or labor personally, or make the same available to others unless
such use is available to other residents upon request on equal terms.

V. No Misuse of Confidential Information

No official, board member or employee of the Town of Merrimack shall use any
confidentia! information acquired by virtue of that individuatl's official position for
personal benefit, or for the benefit of any other person or business. This does not apply
to information, which is readily available to the general public.

In addition, no official, board member or employee of the Town of Merrimack shall
violate the privacy of others by publicizing, gossiping, or discussing information
confidentially acquired in the course of official duties without a legitimate reason to do
S0.

VI. No Improper Gifts

No official, board member or employee of the Town of Merrimack shall accept a gift (or
allow acceptance of such gift by a family member) from any individual, group, or
corporation that has or is likely to have a matter pending before the board, committee,
or commission on which the official or employee serves. This provision of the code is
not meant to apply to gifts traditionally exchanged between family members at holidays
or birthdays, for example.

VIl. A Duty to Cooperate

All officials, board members and employees of the Town of Merrimack shall cooperate
with the Ethics Committee regarding any complaint or inquiry alleging violation of this
Code of Ethics.

VIl Fair and Equal Treatment

Acting in their official capacity, all officials, board members and employees of town
government shall give each and every person fair and equal treatment. No official,
board member or employee shall in the course of their official duties give or deny any
person special consideration, advantage, or treatment as a result of the person's public
status, position, sex, race, religion, creed, sexual orientation, or national origin.

IX. Exemption Period

Any Town Official, Board Member or Employee elected, appointed or employed on or
before the effective date of this Code of Ethics, shall be exempt from its provisions until
April 6, 2004.

DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

As used in this ordinance, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:

Board: Any board, committee or commission, permanent or special, established by the
Selectmen under New Hampshire law.
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Compiainant A resident of the Town of Merrimack who has submitted a petition to the
Ethics Committee requesting an inquiry or alleging a violation of the Code of Ethics.

Conflict of Interest: A situation, circumstance, or financial interest that has the
potential to cause a private or personal interest to interfere with the proper exercise of a
public duty.

Employee: A person who is paid by the Town of Merrimack for his/her services, but
who is not an independent contractor.

Ethics Committee: The committee estab!ished-by Section IV of this ordinance.

Family: Any person who is related to the official, board member or employee in one of
the following ways: Spouse, parent, grandparent, child, grandchild, sibling, or similar
relation to the individual's spouse. This includes all persons who are members of the
same household as the official, board member or employee in question, regardless of
whether they are related by blood or marriage.

Interest: Any legal or equitable right, share, or claim, whether or not subject to an
encumbrance or a condition, which is owned or held, in whole or in part, jointly or
severally, including but without limitation, a right, share or claim to land.

Official: Any elected or appointed officer, board member, or agent of the Town of
Merrimack.

Principals: Those people who are the subject of the action or application that is before
the board.

Public Servant: A person who serves the town of Merrimack in an official capacity,
whether elected or appointed, paid or unpaid, any town official, board member or
employee.

Recuse: Officials, board members or employees who have been recused from a matter,
shall remove themselves completely from all further participation in the matter in
question. Officials, board members or employees who have been recused shall
immediately leave the room or shall seat themselves with the other members of the
public who are present. The recused persons shall not participate in further discussions,
unless they clearly state for the record that they are doing so only as general members
of the public. Recused persons shall not deliberate or vote on the matter in question.

Respondent: Board member or employee named in a petition submitted to the Ethics
Committee as an inquiry of alleging a violation of the Code of Ethics.

Resident: A resident of the Town of Merrimack.
Quasi-judicial Action: Any action where the board or committee has a duty to notify

the potential parties, hear the parties, and can only decide after weighing and
considering such evidence and arguments as the parties choose to lay before them.
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Town: The Town of Merrimack, including all of its departments, boards, commissions,
and committees.

EXCLUSIONS
The provisions of this Code of Ethics shali not be interpreted so as to bar:

A. Any official, board member or employee who is a resident of the Town of Merrimack
from fully participating in any Town Meeting;

B. Acceptance of donations for the expressed purpose of financing a political campaign,
provided such contributions are reported in accordance with all local, state and federat

laws that pertain to such donations;

C. Participation in a matter that relates to a person or business from which an official,
board member or employee has merely purchased goods or services, if the individual in
question has no other conflict of interest relating to that person or business;

D. Police officers, fire fighters, and other emergency personnel from acting in the course
of their official capacities when responding to emergencies in accordance with the rules
and regulations of their departments; and,

E. Supervisors of Town employees from appropriately carrying out personnel policies.

MERRIMACK ETHICS COMMITTEE

The Town of Merrimack shall establish an Ethics Committee to:

Educate officials, board members and employees of town government regarding the
provisions of the ethics code,

Provide advice and counsel! to officials, board members and employees regarding
ethical issues with which they are confronted,

Hear and resolve ethics complaints, which are filed against officials, board members
and employees of town government.

A. Formation of the Ethics Committee

1. The Ethics Committee shall consist of five residents of the Town of Merrimack. A
quorum of three or more committee members shall be necessary to hear any complaint
that is filed.

2. Initially, a Committee composed of the Town Moderator, the Chairman of the Board

of Selectmen and the Town Manager shall appoint five residents to serve on the Ethics
Committee for a one-year term.
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3. Beginning in April 2004, the voters of the Town of Merrimack shall elect residents to
fill all five positions on the Ethics Committee. At the first election two members will be
chosen for one-year terms; two members shall be chosen for two-year terms and one
member will be chosen for a three-year term. At future elections, as terms expire, all
members of the committee shall be chosen for three-year terms.

4. Should a vacancy in the committee arise, the remaining members of the Ethics
Committee shall elect a town citizen to serve out the remainder of the term. Any tie shall
be resolved by the vote of the Town Moderator.

5 The members of the Ethics Committee shall elect a chairperson on an annual basis.

B. Education

1. At the time that each newly elected or appointed official, board member or employee
takes the oath of office, they shall receive a copy of this code, and acknowledge in
writing that they have received a copy of this code.

2 The Ethics Committee shall hold a meeting each spring for newly elected or
appointed officials, board members and employees so they may familiarize themselves
with the provisions of this code.

3. 1t shall be the responsibility of the supervisor of any new employee to ensure that the
new employee familiarizes themselves with the provisions of this code.

C. Inquiries
The Ethics Committee shall establish a mechanism by which officials, board members,
employees and residents of the Town of Merrimack may obtain advice and counsel from

the committee regarding ethical issues that may arise from time to time.

Upon request of a town official, board member or employee, the Ethics Committee
may issue a written advisory opinion in response to such an inquiry.

D. Complaints
1. The Ethics Committee shall:
a. have the power to investigate all written complaints, which are filed,
b. establish forms by which officials, board members, employees, and residents
of the Town of Merrimack may file complaints or request that an inquiry be

made;

c. only review complaints based on alleged violations of Section | of this
ordinance.
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Given under our hands and seal this 18th day of February, in the year of our Lord, Two
Thousand Three.

Merri Board of Selectmen

Attest: A True Copy of Warrant
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Town of Merrimack, NH
Certificate of Service

We certify that we gave notice to the inhabitants within named, to meet at the time
and place and for the purpose within mentioned, by posting an attested copy of the
within Warrant at the place of meeting within named, and a like attested copy at
the Town Hall and Town Library, being public places in said Town, on the 18th

day of February, 2003.

Mem Board of Selectmen




BUDGET OF THE TOWN/CITY

OF: Town of Merrimack

Ms.7

BUDGET FORM FOR TOWNS WHICH HAVE ADOPTED
THE PROVISIONS OF RSA 32:14 THROUGH 32:24

to December 31,

Appropriations and Estimates of Revenue for the Ensuing Year January 1,

or Fiscal Year From July 1, 2003 toJune 30, 2004
IMPORTANT:

Please read RSA 32:5 applicable to all municipalitie's.

1. Use this form to list the entire budget in the appropriate recommended and not recommended area.;
This means the operating budget and alt special and individual warrant articles must be posted.

2. Hold at least one public hearing on this budget, !

3. When completed, a copy of the budget must be posted with the warrant. Another copy must be 5
placed on file with the town clerk, and a copy sent to the Department of Revenue Administration i

at the address below. ‘

This is to certify that this budget was posted with the warrant on the (date) _02/18/03

BUDGET COMMITTEE /

L4, L4, ’//Zf/ & ;4:/4/
s

THIS BUDGET SHALL BE POSTED WITH THE TOWN WARRANT

FOR DRA USE ONLY
NH DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE ADMIN!STRATION
MUNICIPAL FINANCE BUREAU
P.O. BOX 487, CONCORD, NH 03302-0487
(603)271-3397

MS-7
Rev. 07/02
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MS-7 Budget - Town/City of Merrimack Fy2003-04
1 2 3 4 U - N
'; Warr.  Estimated Revenues R:\?;zn.a::es El?i?:ﬁids
i ACCT# ____ SOURCE OF REVENUE __An# Prior Year Prior Year __Ensuing Year
TAXES AKAAXXXXXX HAXAXXXXX AOOOOXXXX
3120 Land Use Change Taxes 100,000 195,689 0
3180 Resident Taxes
3185  |Timber Taxes 13,000 19,898 13,000
3186 Payment in Lieu of Taxes 4.100 3,783 4,100
1189 |Other Taxes 220,000 257,105 220,000
3190 Interest & Penalties on Delinquent Taxes 154 . 450 159,361 154,450
Inventory Penaities
3187 Excavation Tax (3.02 cents per cu yd)
LICENSES, PERMITS & FEES WAAXXXXXX AKX XX AOOXAX XXX
3210 IBusiness Licenses & Permits
3220 IMotorVehicle Permit Fees 4,000,000 3,900,347 4,000,000
3230 |Building Permits 250,000 132,456 210,000
3290 Other Licenses, Permits & Fees 165.143 166,618 165,143
3311-3319 FROM FEDERAL GOVERNMENT 93,825 244,157 25,000
FROM STATE KAXAXXAXXX OOCXXAXXX AXAXXXXXX
3351 Shared Revenues 237,601 237,601 237,601
1352 |meals & Rooms Tax Distribution 136,226 654,540 736,226
3353 IHighway Block Grant 413,257 404,382 413,257
3354 Iwater Pollution Grant 72,451 72,451 72,452
3355 Housing & Community Development
3356 State & Federal Forest Land Reimbursement
3357 Fiood Control Reimbursement
3359  |Other {Including Railroad Tax) 14 .948 4865 321 14,948
3379 FROM OTHER GOVERNMENTS
CHARGES FOR SERVICES AAAXAXAXXX AAXXXAXXX AAXXXXXXX
3401-3406 [Income from Departments 4,672,714 4,338,355 4,702,505
3409 Other Charges ;
MISCELLANEOUS REVENUES AAXXXXXXXX AXXXXAXXX AHAXXAXX
3501 Sale of Municipat Property 5,500 7,954 5,500
3502  linterest on Investments 516,600 403,865 449,550
3503-3509 [Other 139,933 224,663 136,990
INTERFUND OPERATING TRANSFERS IN WOXXXXXX XAXXXAXXAX XXOOOXXXX
3912  |From Special Revenue Funds 0 0 ‘125,000
1913 |From Capital Projects Funds 0 o] 250,000
MS5-7

Rav, 0T/02
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T

FY _2003-04

MS-7 Budget - Town/City of Merrimack
I Y - _ 3 4 S . 6 -
. Actual Estimated -
; warr, Estimated Ravenues Revenues Revenues :
IL_ ACCT.# SOQR;_E_QF__REV_IEE!E _An# __PriorYear Prior Year Ensuing Year ___i
INTERFUND OPERATING TRANSFERS IN cont. XXXXXXNXX XXXAXXXXX AXXXKXXXX
3914 From Enterprise Funds
Sewer - {Offset)
Water - (Offset)
Electric - {(Offset)
Airport - (Offset)
3915 From Capital Reserve Funds 0 0 2 000,000
3916 From Trust & Agency Funds 152 .000 4 186 2 000
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES XXXXXXXXX AXXXXXXXX XOXXAXXXXX
3934 Proc. from Long Term Bands & Nates 4,075,000 0 5,800,000
Amounts VOTED From F/B ("Surplus’) 43,992 1,907,000 220,00
Fund Balance {"Surplus”} to Reduce Taxes 2,435,495 0 s 00
TOTAL ESTIMATED REVENUE & CREDITS 18,517,235 113 820,734 20,211 .72
»BUDGET SUMMARY"" I
= PRICR YEAR SELECTMEN'S BUDGET COMMITTEE'S
ADOPTED BUDGET RECOMMENDED BUDGET [RECOMMENDED BUDGET
SUBTOTAL 1 Appropriations Recommended (from pg. 5 01 571,210 (24,369,775 124, 369,719
SUBTOTAL 2 Special Warrant Articles Recommended (from pg. 6) 4,618,992 8 .750,000 8,750,000
SUBTOTAL 3 “Individual” Warrant Articles Recommended (from pg. 6) A 1 &nn 002 0
TOTAL Appropriations Recommended 26,190,202 134 :619 :777 33,119,775
Less: Amount of Estimated Revenues & Credits (from abave) 18,517,235 02,088,413 (20,211,722
iEs!imatedAmountofTIxestobeRaised F7.672,967 112 .531,364 J12 ,908,053

Maximum Allowable Increase to Budget Committee’s Recommended Budget per RSA 32.18: $2,617,931

{See Supplemental Schedule With 10% Calculation)

Note: Column 4= Estimated Revenues 2002-03; Column 5= Actual Revenues 2001-02

MS-T
Rev. 07/02
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BUDGET COMMITTEE SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE

(For Calculating 10% Maximum Increase)
(RSA 32:18, 19, & 32:21)

WERSION #1: Use if you have no Collective Bargaining Cost items or RSA 32:21 Water Costg]

LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL UNIT: Town of Merrimack pig-al YEAR END_06/30/04

RECOMMENDED
AMOUNT

1. Total RECOMMENDED by Budget Comm. (See Posted
Budget MS7, 27, or 37) 33,119,775

LESS EXCLUSIONS:

2. Principal: Long-Term Bonds & Notes 644,094
3. Interest: Long-Term Bonds & Notes 496,367
4. Capital Outlays Funded From Long-Term Bonds &Notes
per RSA 33:8 & 33:7-b. 5,800,000
5. Mandatory Assessments | 0
) 6. Total exclusions (Sum of rows 2 - 5) < 6,940,461 >
7. Amount recommended less recommended
exclusion amounts (line 1 less line 6) 26,179,314
8. Line 7 times 10% 2,617,931
9. Maximum Allowable Appropriations (lines 1 + 8) 35,737,706

Line 8 is the maximum allowable increase to budget committee's recommended budget.
Please enter this amount on the bottom of the posted budget form, MS7, 27, or 37.

Please attach a copy of this completed supplemental schedule to the back of the budget form.

MBA_10%
Rev. 09/62
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VOTER’S NOTES




Schedule of Meetings

Abbie Griffin Park Advisory Committee 2™ wWednesday of the Month - 7:30 p.m.

Board of Selectmen 1% & 3" Thursday of the Month - 7:00 p.m.
Cable Television Advisory Committee To Be Announced - 7:00 p.m.
Co-nservation Commission om g A" Monday of the Month - 7:00 p.m.
Fourth of July Committee 2™ Thursday of the Month - 7:00 p.m.
Greens Pond Master Plan Committee 4% & 3™ Monday of the Month - 7:00 p.m.
Heritage Commission 1% Wednesday of the Month - 3:00 p.m.
Parks and Recreation Committee 3 Wednesday of the Month - 7:00 p.m.
Planning Board Every Tuesday - 7:30 p.m.
Zoning Board of Adjustment 4" Thursday of the Month - 7:00 p.m.

Note: Meetings sometime vary. Please call the Selectmen’s Office at 424-2331to
confirm the above schedule.

2003 Town Holidays

New Year's Day — Wednesday, January 1, 2003
President's Day — Monday, February 17, 2003
Memorial Day — Monday, May 26, 2003
Independence Day — Friday, July 4, 2003
Labor Day — Monday, September 1, 2003
Veteran's Day — Tuesday, November 11, 2003
Thanksgiving Day — Thursday, November 27, 2003
Day After Thanksgiving — Friday, November 28, 2003
Christmas — Thursday, December 25, 2003

New Year's Day — Thursday, January 1, 2004




Municipal Services

Telephone Directory

A 424-5136
Code Enforcement and INSPECHON ... 424-3531
Community DEVEIOPMENt ... oo 424-3531
CONSEIVAUON COMMISSION ... 424-3531
DUSHICt COUL. .ottt 424-9916
NANCE DEPAMMENL ...t 424-7075
110 DEPAMMNENL.....ovetecosoo T 424-3690
PIGNWAY GAIBGE ...t 423-8551
Landfill and RECYCING vttt 424-2604
UBIATY oL 424-5021
Merrimack Village District (Water Department)......... ..o 424-7171
DAIKS AN RECICEYON.......co.o v 882-1046
Planning and ZONING...costorotttoetcstersesssoee oo 424-3531
Police Department........................ . . e 424-3774
EUDHIC WOTKS AUMINISA@HON................ . 424-5137
S IOCUMEN'S OFCE. vt 424-2331-
PUPCIITHENARNE OF SCNOOIS.......ccroo e 424-6200
Town Clerk/Tax Collector e 424-3651
WD MANQE.......ovrcrcoessso 424-2331
WASIOWIET FACIIY ... 883-8196

Emergency Telephone Numbers |
(Fire - Police - Ambulance)
Dial 9-1-1

‘ Office Hours
Assessing Department................ . Monday-Friday 8:30 a.m. — 4:30 p.m.
Code Enforcement & Inspection...................... Monday-Friday 8:00 a.m. - 4:30 p.m.
Community Development ... Monday-Friday 8:00 a.m. - 4:30 p.m.
District Court.........uovvrmvcreoioeeee o Monday-Friday 8:30 a.m, - 4:30 p.m.
*Landfill and Recyeling ......covoeo -.....Tuesday-Saturday 8:00 a.m. - 4:00 p.m.
"LIbrary ..o Monday-Thursday 9:00 a.m. — 9:00 p.m.

Friday-Saturday 9:00 a.m. - 5:00 p-m.
Sunday 1:00 p.m. - 5:00 p.m.

Parks & Recreation Department................. Monday-Friday 8:30 a.m. — 4:30 p.m.
Planning & Zoning Department.................. . . Monday-Friday 8:00 a.m. — 4:30 p.m.
Public Works Administration........... ... . Monday-Friday 8:30 a.m. - 4:30 p.m.
Selectmen’s Office............eeeenr o Monday-Friday 8:30 a.m, — 4:30 p.m.
Town ClerkiTax Collector ............ .. . Monday-Friday 8:30 a.m. - 4:30 p.m.
2™ & 4™ Monday of Each Month 8:30 a.m.-7:00 p.m. .
Water District.................oo Monday-Friday 8:00 a.m. 4:30 p.m.

*Special Summer and/or Winter Hours - Please call to confirm these hours.




